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PREFACE.

Tae History of the University of Dublin, compiled from the
original documents belonging to Trinity College, has hitherto
never been written. At the suggestion of Primate Ussher,
Bishop Bedell, when Provost, made some efforts towards an
acoount of the foundation of the College, but he failed to
prooure some of the original letters of Queen Elizabeth and
other early documents which he required ; and unfortunately
the transcripts which he made of Chaloner’s papers have been
lost. Provost Hutchinson made some progress in collecting
materials for a history of the University, but the design was
never carried out. Dr. Barrett also collected and copied out
a large number of original documents of great interest, and
even commenced to write a history; but his researches were
oonfined very much to the condition of the College in the
seventeenth century. His papers, which have been written
with little regard to order, but which manifest a great amount
of research, have been preserved in the Muniment Room of
the College. His labours, however, have not been altogether
in vain, for without the materials which he collected and left
in manuscript, the valuable information which was contained
in the earlier volumes of the DuBLIN UN1VERsITY CALENDAR
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could not have been given to the public. The present author
has derived much advantage from Dr. Barrett’s researches,
which directed him to the study of the original documents
and of printed books, which throw considerable light on the
early history of the College.

Some of the early letters which were wanting in Bedell’
time have been supplied from the Smith Manuscript collections
in the Bodleian Library, where they were copied by the late
Dr. Todd, and his transcripts have been used by the author
of the following History. Considerable assistance towards a
full understanding of the condition of the College in the last
half of the eighteenth century was afforded by the manuscript
papers of Bishop Elrington, which are at present preserved in
the College Muniment Room. The author must also express
his acknowledgments to CuarLes H. Toop, Ese., LL.D.,
for his permission to consult the manuscripts which Provost
Hutchinson had left behind him, and which contain a large
amount of information as to the stirring events which happened
in Trinity College during his Provostship. The collections
which Provost Hutchinson had made of materials bearing
on the early part of the last century did not come into the
author’s hands until after the first eleven chapters of this
work had been printed ; but any additional information which
they contain has been embodied in the notes. These papers
of Provost Hutchinson, however, were highly valuable to the
author in writing the transactions of the last half of the
eighteenth century, inasmuch as he had before him at the
same time the papers of the Provost and those of Bishop
Elrington and some of the other Fellows of the period; and
in this way he was enabled to compare the statements and the
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arguments of both the parties to the great internal dissensions
of Provost Hutchinson’s time.

The College Register* in some places gives very full and
important information, and it has been in these cases largely
used; but in the great majority of instances the entries refer
merely to elections and leases, and there is no mention of a
considerable number of important changes which took place
in the College during the last century.

A large amount of useful information has been derived
from the quarterly accounts of expenditure which remain in
the Bursar’s Office; and also from a curious book of receipts
of different sums by the Bursar in the middle of the seven-
teenth century. These documents have not hitherto been
examined.

The records of Admissions and Examinations in the Senior
Lecturer’s books, and of Degrees in the books of the Proctor,
have also been carefully and constantly consulted ; and also
some curious memoranda of Dr. Chaloner and others, which '
are preserved among the Ussher manuseripts.

The author has made considerable use of Dr. Todd’s
interesting matter which is prefixed to the ¢ Catalogue of
Graduates.”

As one of the objects which the author had in view in
writing this History was to collect the information given in
the original documents, and to enable the public to form a
just opinion of the circumstances of the early history of the

* The book in which the records of the proceedings of the Board are contained
was invariably, but incorrectly, called the Registry in the written documents of
the College up to the present century : hence the use of this word in the first sixty- -
four pages of the present work.
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College, he has thought it advisable to add in an Appendix
the most important of these papers, the great majority of
which have never before been printed.

The letters connected with the times of Provost Temple
and of Provost Bedell have been given in full, in order that
the character of the Fellows of the College in those days may
be vindicated from the aspersions which have been cast upon
them. .

The History of Trinity College is brought down in the
present work only to the beginning of the nineteenth century,
because the foundation of the presént greatness of the College
had been at that time well established, while the details of the
earlier College history were likely to be forgotten and lost.
At the same time the enormous progress which learning of
every kind has made in the College during the last sixty years,
and the immense improvements which have been introduced
into every department of the studies of the University during
that period, would well form the materials for a separate
volume.

The author has to express his great obligations to Sir
RoBerT 8. BaLL for his trouble in reading over the proofs,
and in making many useful suggestions.

TriniTy CoLLEGE, DUBLIN,
November, 1889,
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CHAPTER L

ATTEMPTS AT THE FOUNDATION OF A UNIVERSITY IN DUBLIN
PRIOR TO THE FOUNDATION OF TRINITY COLLEGE.

It is not strange that during the reigns of the KEnglish
sovereigns prior to Elizabeth such little success should have
attended any attempts which were made to establish a Uni-
versity in Ireland. The country was in a barbarous and
unsettled state; the English power was limited to a few
distriets, and the English sovereigns were more occupied by
a desire to consolidate their influence in the land, than by any
anxiety to foster and promote learning among the people. Con-
sequently it is not a matter of surprise that the first attempt
to found a seminary, for the education of theologians and
civilians, should have proceeded from the Popes.

Upon the application of John Lech, Archbishop of Dublin,
Pope Clement V., on July 11, 1311, issued a Bull for the
foundation of a University for Scholars, near Dublin; but
in consequence of the death of Lech it was not carried further
at the time. His successor, Alexander de Bicknor, established
in 1320 a University in St. Patrick’s Cathedral, and this was
confirmed by the authority of Pope John XXII. From an
instrument preserved by Ware,* it appears that Bicknor did,
by and with the consent of the two Chapters of the Holy
Trinity, and of St. Patrick’s, Dublin, decree ““To the Masters
and Scholars of our University of Dublin, that the Resident
Masters Regent of the said University may elect for their

* Vol. ii., p. 243.
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2 De Bicknor’'s University.

Chancellor a Doctor of Divinity or of the Canon Law; yet so,
nevertheless, that if in either of the two above-named Churches
there be any Person who has obtained the said Degrees, they
make choice of such for their Chancellor. And in case of dif-
ference of opinion about such Election, the Election to be made
by the majority of the votes of the said Masters Regent. The
Chancellor to be elected within fifteen days from the vacancy,
and within fifteen days after Election to receive confirmation
thereof from the Archbishop. When there should be a suf-
ficient number of Regent Masters, two Proctors actually Regent
to be elected in the same manner as the Chancellor. The
Chancellor to have spiritual jurisdiction over the Masters and
Scholars, where both parties are members of the University.
The Proctors to receive all moneys due to the University, and
to account twice a year to the Chancellor and Regent Masters.
Moreover, Bachelors to be licensed in any faculty shall be pre-
sented to the Chancellor and Regent Masters; and if they
procure a sufficient number of Masters of the said faculty,
according to the time to be by them appointed (whom we are
willing to believe), to swear to their Learning: and others of
other faculties to swear to their Morals, according to their
belief, then they shall pass as Licentiates, notwithstanding any
opposition made by the minority of the Masters: otherwise
they shall be passed by the Grace of the University. And if
a person objeots any matter against one offered to be licensed
in any faculty, and fails to support his charge in form of Law,
he shall be deemed a malicious accuser, and, upon refusal to pay
damages and costs to the party injured, he shall be deprived of
the privileges of the University for a time, or shall be for ever
expelled, as the Chancellor and Regents shall think proper.
Regard being nevertheless had to the nature of the charge
objected and the condition of the parties. And that the Chan-
cellor, by the advice of the Regents and non-Regent Masters,
* if there be a necessity for it, may frame laws for the honour
and peace of the University : such statutes to be presented to
us and our suocessors for confirmation. And the Chancellor to
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take an oath of Fealty to us and our successors. 10 February,
1320.”

In this University William de Hardite, a Dominican Friar,
Henry Cogry, of the Order of Friars Minor, and Edward of
Karmarden, a Dominican, were created Doctors of Divinity,
and William Rodiart, Dean of St. Patrick’s, was promoted to
the Degree of Doctor of the Canon Law, and made the first
Chancellor.*

It appears from the Registry of Archbishop Alan, that -
Edward III. afterwards founded a Lecturership in Divinity
in this University ; and by a contemporary document in Bir-
mingham Tower, it would appear that in 1358 Lectures in
Divinity, Civil and Canon Law, and other clerical studies, were
maintained in it. The King gave special protection to the
students. Even in the time of Henry VII., under Archbishop
Fitz Symons, certain annual pensions for seven years were
granted by a Provincial Synod held in Christ Church.t We
here lose all traces of this University, which has left no further
record in history, and which seems to have failed from want
of endowment. It does not appear that the laity were ever
interested in ite success.

A similar fate, and from a similar cause, attended a Univer-
sity founded at Drogheda in the year 1465, in the reign of
Edward IV., by a Parliament held there by the Earl of
Desmond, as deputy for George Duke of Clarence, which Uni-
versity, by a statute of that Parliament, was endowed with the
same privileges as the University of Oxford.

After the Reformation an attempt was made to resuscitate
this University, and to support it by voluntary contributions.
Sir Philip Sidney, in 1568, offered to settle on the institution
£20 a-year in lands, and to contribute £100 to carry out the
design. In the following year the Lord Deputy and Council in
Dublin wrote to the English Lords of the Council, requesting

* Harris, History of Dublin, p. 383.
t Concerning Bicknor’s University, see Tembrigii Annales, a G. Camden editi,
ad annum 1820, and the 3rd vol. of the Annales Minorum, Luce Waddingi,

B2



4 Sir John Perrot’s Scheme.

them to forward their design with the Queen (see Appendix 1.) ;
this attempt was, however, not accompanied by success. In
1585 Sir John Perrot proposed another scheme. It contem-
plated the foundation of two Universities in Dublin, and to
support them by the lands and revenues then belonging to
St. Patrick’s Cathedral. He alleged that ¢ there were two
Cathedrals in Dublin, of which St. Patrick’s, being held in
more superstitious reputation than the other, ought to be dis-
solved.” That ¢ the revenues of St. Patrick’s amounted to 4000
marks a-year; this would suffice to endow two Colleges with
£1000 a-year each, and the residue may be employed on
the restoration of the church and houses, and be annexed to
Christ Church by way of augmentation of the Choir.” Perrot’s
intention was to have endowed six Masters of Arts, and to have
supported one hundred scholars, who were to be instructed in
each of the two colleges, by masters selected from the most
learned Prebendaries of the Cathedral. This design was op-
posed by the strenuous endeavours of Adam Loftus,* Arch-
bishop of Dublin, and also Lord Chancellor of Ireland, who
succeeded in frustrating it, by means of his influence with the
Lord Treasurer of England.

“

* Adam Loftus was a Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge, who came to
Ireland as Chaplain to Thomas Earl of Sussex, Lord Deputy. He was consecrated
Archbishop of Armagh in 1562, made Dean of St. Patrick’s in 1664, and translated
to Dublin in 1567. He died, April 5, 1605,
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THE FOUNDATION OF TRINITY COLLEGE.

Ar the dissolution of monastic institutions, in the reign of
Henry VIII., there was an old Augustinian monastery of All
Hallows in the suburbs of Dublin, which along with its posses-
sions was granted to the Mayor and Corporation of Dublin, as -
a reward for the loyalty of the city and the assistance which it
afforded to Henry during the Rebellion of Silken Thomas.
The date of the grant was February 4, 1538, and it comprised
not only the site and precincts of the monastery, but also the
extensive lands which constitute the entire parishes of Clonturk
and Baldoyle. As far as we can gather from the recitals in a
lease of the monastic buildings and site, made by the mayor
and sheriffs in the same year to John Spensfield, the precincts,
besides the church, consisted of ¢“a steeple, a building with a
vault under it, the spytor, otherwise called the hall, with appur-
tenances all along to the north cheek of the Bawn Gate.”” We
find that there were also within the precincts of the monastery
“the sub-prior’s orchard, and the common orchard, a field called
the Ashe-park, wherein the Prior and the Monks had their
haggard and cistern, with the wester Store-house by the
Great Bawn, together with a Vestry, Cloister, little garden
within the precinet, and a tower over the gate adjoining
Hoggin Green.” The buildings, without the lands, appear to
have been let to John Pepard, merchant, for sixty-one years, at
ten shillings a year, with a clause restraining him from taking
stones, or slates, or timber out of the precinct : the materials were
to be used only for building on the site. Another lease was
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made to Edward Pepard in 1584 of a small orchard in All
Hallows for thirty-one years at twenty-four shillings a-year,
and in 1583 Edward Pepard had sublet for twenty-one years to
Peter Van Hey and Thomas Seele a garden with a vault at the
north side of All Hallows, at a yearly rent of forty shillings,
with a covenant that they should keep up the garden wall and
the vault. It would thus appear that at this time the Pepards
had acquired the site of the buildings and a small orchard,
possibly that formerly occupied by the sub-prior, as tenants
on a terminable lease.

During the fifty years which elapsed from the suppression
of the monastery the buildings must have suffered very consi-
derable dilapidation. Most likely they had not originally been
erected in a very substantial and durable manner, and little care
seems to have been taken as to the maintenance of the church,
the hall, and the monastic dwellings; they must have been for
the most part in a ruinous condition. The total value of the site
and precinets is stated in a letter of Elizabeth to be £20 a-year.

At the close of Queen Elizabeth’s reign the city of Dublin
did not extend, towards the east, beyond St. George’s Lane, now
called South Great George’s-street. An open space of ground
stretched from that to All Hallows, with paths diverging to
different parts of a small stream beyond which lay the site of
the old monastery. The whole of the precincts at that time
covered about twenty-eight acres, of which twelve were meadow,
nine pasture, and seven orchards; on the north, towards the
river, there was a boggy strip of ground covered by the water
at high tide, and on the south it was bounded by the path lead-
ing to St. Patrick’s Well, near the present Lincoln-place; on the
east it was bounded by lands formerly belongiug to the Abbey
of the Blessed Virgin, but then in the tenure of John Dougan ;
the modern Westland-row would constitute this boundary.

There were at that time in Dublin three men who were
greatly interested in the promotion of learning. Luke Cha-
loner, formerly Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge, James
Hamilton, and James Fullerton, Scotchmen, who were|sent
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over to reside in Dublin in order to forward the interests of
James VI., and to secure his succession when Elizabeth should
die. Hamilton and Fullerton kept a school, at which several
of the sons of the Dublin merchants were educated, and all
three were ready to forward the designs of Archbishop Adam
Loftus, when he undertook the foundation of a new University.

Having secured the support of Elizabeth, through the exer-
tions of Henry Ussher, Archdeacon of Dublin, Loftus addressed
the Corporation at the Tholsel, in a speech which has not been
preserved; and having further obtained from the Queen a
decision that this University should be in Dublin, he delivered
a second speech at the Tholsel soon after the Quarter Sessions
of St. John the Baptist, in which he detailed the great advan-
tages which such a foundation would permanently secure to the
city and its inhabitants. This speech has been preserved,* and
will be found in Appendix 11.

The effect of this address of the Archbishop upon the Mayor
and Aldermen was so powerful that we are told they, within a
very short time, convened the citizens into & general assembly,
at the Tholsel, where they, upon due deliberation upon the
proposal to grant the site of the monastery for the intended
College, immediately proceeded to make the grant. They at once
communicated their decision to Loftus, and within a short time
perfected the grant, a Charter of incorporation of the College
having been first obtained from the Queen on the petition of
Henry Ussher. The letter of Elizabeth to Sir William Fitz-
williams, Lord Deputy, and to the Irish Council announcing her
consent to this arrangement, will be found in Appendix 111}
It is dated December 21, 1591, and on the 3rd of the following
March Letters Patent passed the Great Seal.

¢“A College was incorporatedi as ¢the Mother of an University,’§
under the style and title of ¢The College of the Holy and Undivided

* Archbishop Loftus’ speech is preserved in the Smith MSS., Bodleian Library,
vol. ii., and is printed in Hearne’s Preface to Camden’s Annals, p. lvii.

T Smith MSS., Bodleian Library, vol. viii.

1 University Calendar, 1866.

§ ¢ Unum Collegium mater Universitatis . . . pro educatione, ‘institutione te
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Trinity, near Dublin, founded by Queen Elizabeth.” The object of the
foundation of the Society is stated in the Charter to be ¢for the education,
training, and instruction of youths and students, . . . . . that they may
be the better assisted in the study of the liberal arts, and in the cultivation
of virtue and religion.’*

“In the Charter of Foundation of Trinity College (34 Eliz.), the
Queen nominated one Provost, three Fellows, nomine plurium, and three
Scholars, nomine plurium, to constitute with their successors for ever a Body
corporate and politie, under the name of the Provost, Fellows, and Scholars
of the College of the Holy and Undivided Trinity of Queen Elizabeth, near
Dublin, with the following privileges :—

¢ <1, That upon every vacancy of the Provostship, the Fellows and their
successors, or the majority of them, be empowered to elect another fit Pro-
vost within three months after the occurrence of such vacancy; and in like
manner, on the vacancy of any Fellowship or Scholarship, the Provost and
remaining Fellows, or the majority of them, shall elect such persons as they
shall consider duly qualified, into the vacant Fellowships or Scholarships,
within two months after the vacancy.

¢¢¢2, That the Provost and Fellows may have a common seal for transact-
ing the business of the Corporation, and that it may be lawful for them from
time to time to make, constitute, and confirm, such laws, statutes, and
ordinances, as fo them may seem necessary for the government of their
College ; and that whatever laws of either of the Universities of Oxford
or Cambridge they may judge to be apt and suitable, they shall establish
among themselves; and especially that no other persons should teach or
profess the liberal arts in Ireland without the Queen’s special licence.

¢ ¢3. That Students be admitted, in due course (juzta tempus tdoneum),
to the degrees of Bachelor, Master, and Doctor, in all Arts and Faculties; but
that the Fellows of the College, when they shall have completed the term of
seven years after the degree of M.A., shall be removed from their Fellow-
ships, and others co-opted in their room.

¢4, That the Provost and Fellows, or the majority of them, shall be
empowered to appoint the acts and scholastic exercises to be performed for
Degrees in each Fuaculty, and to elect the Chancellor, Vice-Chancellor,
Proctors, and other University officers, necessary for the more solemn con-
ferring of such Degrees.

instructione juvenum et studentium in artibus et facultatibus, perpetuis futuris
temporibus duraturum, et quod erit et vocabitur Collegium Sancte et Individum
Trinitatis, juxta Dublin, a serenissimd Regina Elizabetha fundatum.”” —Ckarta Reg.
Eliz.

* ¢¢ Ut eo melius ad bonas artes percipiendas, colendamque virtutem et religionem
adjuventur.”’—1I5,
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¢ ¢5, That all the Queen’s subjects and officers be permitted and en-
couraged to grant to the College such assistance as they may be disposed to
give; and that all goods, chattels, lands, tenements, and hereditaments,
belonging to the Provost, Fellows, and Scholars of the said College be for
ever exempted from all burdens, taxes, tallages, cesses, subsidies, exactions,
compositions, or demands whatsoever, as well in time of war as of peace.’

¢ This Charter also nominated seven Visitors, viz., the Chancellor of the
University, or his Vice-Chancellor ; the Archbishop of Dublin ; the Bishop
of Meath ; the Vice-Treasurer ; the Treasurer-at-War: the Chief Justice of
the Common Pleas in Ireland ; and the Lord Mayor of Dublin ; all for the
time being, to constitute a court before whom, or a majority of them, all
strifes, actions, and controversies, which the Provost and Fellows may be
unable to settle, shall be heard, and who shall punish all ¢ graviora delicta’
which the Provost and Fellows may have left unpunished.”

The date of the grant of the site from Thomas Smith,
Mayor of Dublin, and the commons and citizens is July 21,
1592, and on the 16th of August in the same year the Provost
and Fellows empowered George Ray, Esq., as their Attorney,
to take possession of the premises.

It would appear, however, that in anticipation of these legal
formalities, the first stone of the building was laid on March
13, 1591-92. A collection of funds to carry on the work had
been previously made, and Luke Chaloner received and dis-
bursed the moneys, and had a general oversight of the building.
This collection was, in virtue of a circular letter, sent out on the
11th March, 1591-92 from Sir William Fitzwilliams and the
Irish Council to the principal gentlemen in each county of
Ireland, urging the claims of the new foundation upon their
liberality ; they requested each gentleman, with the assistance
of the deputy sheriff, to make a list of all the names within his
barony, and to solicit subscriptions in money, in land, or in any
other chattel, for the furtherance of so good a work as this would
be likely to prove “to the benefit of the whole country, whereby
Knowledge, Learning, and Civility may be increased, to the
banishment of barbarism, tumults, and disorderly living from
among them, and whereby their children and children’s
children, especially those that are poor (as it were incan



10 Contributions to the Building Fund.

Orphan’s Hospital freely), may have their learning and
education given them with much more ease and lesser charges
than in other Universities they can obtain them ”; they are
requested to furnish to the Council, before the -first day of
next Term, a list of the names of the donors, and amount of
the donations, in order that collectors may be appointed to
receive the amount. We find the following sums contributed
for the purpose of erecting the College :—

£ s d
The Lord Deputy, . . . < « .+ . 20 0 O
Archbishop Adam Loftus, . . . 100 0 O
Sir Thomas Norreys. Vice-President of Munster, . 100 0 O
Advanced by his means in the Province of Munster, 100 0 O
Sir Francis Shane, . . . . . 100 0 O
» a-year for hls hfe, . . . 20 00
Warha.m St. Leger, . . . . . 60 0 O
8ir Richard Dyer, . . . . . . . 100 0 0
Sir Henry Bagnall, « « « « « . 100 0 0
Sir Richard Bingham, . . . . . 20 00
‘The Province of Connaught by snme, . . . 100 0 0
The County of Galway by same, .+ . . 100 0 O
The town of Drogheda, . . . . . 40 0 O
The city of Dublin, . . . . 2700
A Concordatum from the Privy Councﬂ, . . . 200 0 O
Alderman John Foster (for the Iron work), . . 3 00
Lord Chief Justice Gardiner, . . . . 2 00
Lord Primate of Ireland, . . . . . 16 00
Sir Henry Harrington, . . . . . 60 0 O
Thomas Jones, Bishop of Meath . . . . 60 0 0
The gentlemen of the barony of Lecale, . . . 89 0 0
Sir Hugh M‘Ginnis, with other gentlemen
of his county, . . . . . 140 0 O
The clergy of Meath, . . 38 o0 0
Thomas Molyneux, Chancellor of the Exchequer, . 40 0 O
Luke Chaloner, D.D., . . . . 1000
Edward Brabazon. . . . . . . . 16 0 0
Sir George Bourchier, . . . . . . 3 00
Christopher Chartell, . . . . . . 40 0 O
8ir Turlough O’Neill, . . . . . . 100 0 O

These sums amount to over £2000, and they must have
been considerably supplemented, for we have a return made by
Piers Nugent with respect to one of the baronies in the county
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of Westmeath, in which he gives the names of eleven gentlemen
in that barony who are prepared to contribute according to their
freeholds, proportionally to other freeholders of Westmeath.

Money, however, came in very slowly, specially from the
south of Ireland ; Sir Thomas Norreys informed Dr. Chaloner
that the county of Limerick agreed to give 3s. 4d. out of every
Plough-land, and he promised to do his best to draw other
counties to some contribution, but he adds, “ I do find devotion
80 cold as that I shall hereafter think it a very hard thing to
compass so great a work upon so bare a foundation.”

Dr. Luke Chaloner seems to have been the active agent in
corresponding with the several contributors, and to have been
most diligent in collecting subscriptions.

The time occupied in preparing the College for the admis-
sion of students was not quite two years, for on the 9th of
January, 1593-94, it was ready for the work of education.
We find a curious statement in Fuller’s Church History,* that
he had heard from credible witnesses who lived in Dublin at
the time, that while the building of the College was proceeding
it never rained except during the night.

No remains of this structure exist at the present day—indeed
no buildings prior to the reign of Queen Anne can be found now
in Trinity College. The Elizabethan College formed a small
square court, which was always familiarly called The Quadrangle,
- until it was removed early in the last half of the eighteenth
century. Some parts of the old monastery may have been
utilized, but not very much. As the visitor approached from
Hoggin Green he crossed an outer enclosed court, which formed
an entrance to the College; he then entered through the great
gate, and found himself in a small square surrounded by build-
ings constructed of thin red Dutch brick, bedded in well-
tempered mortar, with probably a good deal of wooden frame-
work inserted. On the north side lay the old steeplet of the
monastery, having the porter’s lodge on the ground floor, a

* Page 211.  t This steeple was taken down and a new one erected in 1733.
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chamber over it, and on the second loft was the College bell.
Towards the east of the steeple lay the Chapel : on the same
side of the Quadrangle was the Hall, paved with tiles, with a
gellery, and a lantern in the roof. The Hall was separated
from the kitchen by a wooden partition, and in the same range
with them was placed the Library. This room was placed over
the Scholars’ chambers, and had a gallery, and the lower part of
it was fitted with ten pews for readers. The Regent House seems
to have been located between the Chapel and the Hall, for Can-
didates for Degrees passed through the Hall into the Regent
House, and a gallery in the Regent House looked into the
Chapel. This range of building extended beyond the east side
of the court, and under the present campanile. On the north of
this range lay the kitchen, buttery chamber, and the storehouse.
The east and west sides of the Quadrangle contained students’
chambers, and on the south side were placed houses for the
Fellows. The three sides comprised in all seven buildings for
residence—three on the south side, and two on each of the
east and west sides. The windows of the upper story were of
the dormer kind, and mostly formed for leaden sashes. In
the centre of the Quadrangle was the celebrated College pump.
There was also an orchard, and shortly afterwards gardens were
laid out for the Provost and Fellows. At that time, and for
a century afterwards, the College was placed at such a distance
from the city that an extensive prospect was visible on every -
side. Dunton,* who visited the College in 1698, describes this
view: “Leaving the Fellows’ garden, we ascend several steps,
which brought us to a curious walk where we had a prospect—
to the west, of the city; to the east, of the sea and harbour; to
the south, the Wicklow mountains; and to the north, the river
Liffey, which runs by the side of the College.”

In order to lay out the grounds and gardens, the College
made a lease on October 1, 1594, to Peter Vanhey, shoemaker,
of two plots of ground, “one being right south from the

* Life and Errors, p. 625.
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College to the Park of John Segar,* the other, south-west
from the College, bordering northwards to the outer court
thereof, westward to the common green, southward to the way
of St. Patrick’s well, and eastward to the former plot and
Segar’s park:t to hold for ten years, to the end and pur-
pose that he may frame the same and make thereof three fair
gardens, planted with good and profitable herbs, and also fruit
trees of several sorts as shall conveniently be requisite for the
said grounds to be good and pleasant orchards, at a rent of
two pence a-year, he binding himself to have his doors and
free ingress and egress to the said ground, without molestation

or any trouble by any of the said house, except that the Fellows -

shall have free liberties at their pleasure to have their key and
door to walk therein for their recreation, and they are to contri-
bute twenty shillings to make a partition wall of mud between
the orchard lying on the east and the said ground.”

The College having been opened, the difficulty of supporting
it without a fixed endowment began immediately to be felt.
After sundry petitions to the Council and to the Queen an en-
dowment of £100 a-year out of * concealed ”’ lands was granted
in November, 1594, but there were great difficulties experienced
in ascertaining these and determining the title. The College
consequently applied for a perpetual grant of attainted lands in
lieu of these concealed lands; but this, although recommended
by the Council, seems to have been only partially successful—
at any rate there were great difficulties in the matter; and the
title to the lands in question not having passed the Great Seal,
and the College having been involved in considerable debt, a
temporary Concordatum of £100 a-year, for two years, out of
the Queen’s Irish revenues, was granted by the Lord Deputy

* This would be the north-east portion of the Provost’s garden.

+ This would comprise the western portion of the Provost’'s garden nearest to
the house, Segar’s park being the south-eastern part. In 1593 the south closes
and north grounds were set to Segar at £8 a-year. Brandon’s rent for the  great
and small meadows and the two furr closes thereunto adjoining near Trinity
College, in the precincts of All Hallows,”” was £8 a-year for 61 years, from 21st
September, 1593.
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and Council on December 1, 1596.* Towards the end of 1597,
a very urgent petitiont to the Lord Deputy and Council was
presented by the Provost and Fellows, stating the pressing
difficulties under which the newly erected College was labour-
ing, and praying for further assistance. This seems to have
been, to a certain degree, successful. From the moneys raised
for the army in Ireland, a physician’s pay, £40 a-year, six
dead pays, £72 16s., and a Canonier’s pay of £2 per week (or
£104 a-year), were added to the Concordatum. And we find a
letter from the Queeni on the 30th April, 1600, confirming all
these donations, and granting also a further sum of £200 a-year
out of the Royal revenues in Ireland.

The following is the account of the income and expenditure
- of the College in the years 1596 and 1597 :—

1596.
Ordinary. £ s d
Rents of land about the College, . . . . 16 0 0
Rent of Baggotrath,§ . . . 55 14 0
Rents of two Kerry men, . 512 0
Benevolences—Lord Justice and Lord Chancellor, . 15 0 0
' Sir Anthony St. Leger, 613 4
Extraordinary.
By Concordatam, . . . . . . . 100 0 0
Of Sir Henry Wallop, . . . . . . 80 0 0
£278 19 4
1697. EsTIMATED RECEIPTS.
Ordinary.

Rents of College grounds, Baggotrath, Benevolenoes,
and Concordatum, as before, . 193 7 4

Arrears of lands lately granted, which were expeeted
to be received at Easter, . . . 35 0 0
This year’s rent of same lands, .« . . 6000

Eztraordinary.
Of Lord Justice Gardner, . . . . . 10
£298 7 4
* Appendix xir. 1 Appendix x1v. 1 Appendix xvI.

{§ A short terminable beneficial lease, given to the College for a few years, of the
house and farm of Baggotrath. The College appears to have paid £60 a-year head-
rent, and to have received £105 14s. 84., leaving the profit as above,
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Against this income were the following charges :—

Ordinary. £ s d
The Provost, . . . . . 50 0 0
Three Fellows (£6 13s. 4d each), . . 20 0 0
Thirteen Scholars (£4 each for twelve, and £10 for
Mr. Shane’s Scholar), . . . . . . 58 0 0
Butler’s diet and wages, . e .. 10 0 0
Cook’s wages and his boy, . . . . . 810 0
A poor Scholar towards learning, . . 2 00
Firing, lights, and other household charges, com-
monly called Decrements, . . . . . 20 0 0
Ordinary Reparations of the House, ~ . . . 13 6 8
Weekly Sizings for the Scholars, . . 813 4
Eztraordinary.
Increase of charges for Bread and Beer above other
ordinary years, from dearth of the time, . 40 0 0
Strengthening of weak and dangerous parts of the
House, . 20 0 0

Fortravel into anland and contmmng there Sultors
six months for enlarging our Grant; for passing
some part of said book, and some part of Mr. Shane’s
Grant; and for Counsel in Laws for drafts of our
several conveyanoes to the tepants, . . . 108 0 O

£358 10 0

The receipts and expenditure of Mr. Hamilton, the Bursar,
from October 9, 1598, to November 1, 1599, are as follows :—

£ s d

Received for Pensioners’ Commons, . . . 43 2 2
Revenues and Benevolences, . . . . . 120 9 8
£172 11 10

ExPENDED. —_—

£ s d

Sundry works, . . e . 6 3 5
Debts to sundry persons, . . . . . 151 7 6
Commons in meat, . . . . . . . 52 1 3
Detriments, . . . . . . 3118 7
Bread Commons, and fuel for baklng, . . . 15 9 4
Casualties for Extraordinaries, . . 4 19
Further given to Sir Lee and Sir Ussher for Commons, 810 0
Balance delivered into College Chest, . . . 3 00

£272,11d0
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After the grants confirmed by the Queen on the 30th April,
1600, we find the extreme College revenues for the year ending
256th Maroh, 1601, estimated as follows :—

£ s d
Rents of Lands near College, . . . . . 1800
Sir Francis Shane, tn perpetuum, . . . . 10 0 O
Do., durante vitd, . 20 0 O
Lord Chancellor and Archblshop of Dublm durmg 613 4
pleasure, . } 15 0 0
College lands in Munster, passed as pa.rt of our
Concealments (never received by reason of the
Rebellion), . . . about 80 0 O
A Concordatum for the Physwmn 8 pay per annum,. 40 0 0
8ix dead pays per annum, . 7216 0
The Canonier’s pay of £2 a-week (begms), 25th
November, 1599, . 104 0 O
Due by Her Majesty’s Grant upon Casua.ltles by the
Exchequer, . . . 200 0 O
For the Preacher’s pay, due upon the a.rrlval of the
Provost, . . . . 40 0 0
£604 9 4

The College revenues are set down on the 25th March,
1601, at £566 8s. 4d. a-year.

Had the Queen not made these increased grants, it is quite
clear that the pecuniary condition of the College, within five
years from the first admission of students, would have rendered
the continuation of the institution hopeless, as it would have
become completely insolvent, and quite unprovided with any
means to keep the Society together ; nothing would have been
left, after payment of debts, to defray the ordinary expenses
of the house, amounting yearly to the modest sum of £200
(see the statement in Appendix x1v.). In fact, when the
College was first opened, it had no fixed endowment beyond
the rent of the grounds about the building (£16 a-year), and
a problematical £100 a-year, derived from forfeited, but con-
cealed, property, of which latter very little came in during
Elizabeth’s life. This was indeed a scanty provision for the
maintenance of a Royal foundation.

The complete records of the early history of Trinity College
in its University capacity have not come down to us, |We
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gather from the designation of Ussher in the Bursar’s Accounts
of 1599, as ¢ Sir Ussher,” that he must have been admitted
before that year to the B.A. degree. Dr. Smith states that he
obtained it in his 17th year, consequently we may assume that
he graduated in 1597. The first public Commencements were
held in the College on Shrove Tuesday, 1600-1, when Ussher was
admitted to the M.A. degree; and we do not find any record
of another until August or September, 1608. During these
years there were no fixed times for conferring degrees, but
Commencements must have been held when required. Cha-
loner was most likely admitted D.D. as early as 1601. The
first great Commencements were held in St. Patrick’s Cathedral
on the 18th of August, 1614. That place was selected because
of the scarcity of accommodation in Trinity College. On
the same occasion five Doctors of Divinity were admitted, viz.
Dr. Jones, Lord Chancellor, and Dr. King, Bishop of Elphin
(by grace). Dr. Ussher, Dr. Richardson, and Dr. Abel Walsh
(among the earliest Fellows engaged in the instruction of the
students), were admitted by public disputation. In addition
there were three Bachelors of Divinity, fifteen Masters of Axts,
and seventeen Bachelors of Arts admitted on this occasion.*

* An account of these Commencements will be found in the Appendix to Dr.
Elrington’s Life of Ussher, reprinted from Desiderata Curiosa Hibernie, p. 316.



CHAPTER III.
THE COLLEGE IN QUEEN ELIZABETH’S REIGN CONTINUED.

‘Waen the College was first opened the first Fellows, according
to Ware, were Luke Chaloner, M.A.,* William Daniel, James
Hamilton, and James Fullerton, although Henry Ussher, M.A.,
and Lancelot Monie, B.A., are named Fellows along with
Chaloner in the Charter of Queen Elizabeth. The first Scho-
lars were Abel Walsh, James Ussher, and George Lee. Ussher
entered under his former schoolmaster, James Hamilton, who
must have been elected a Fellow in 1593.

The first Provost was Archbishop Adam Loftus, who held
the office for merely a year until a working successor could be
appointed, and the first Chancellor was Cecil Lord Burleigh,
who died in 1598, and was succeeded by Robert Earl of Essex.
The earliest Provost, who was really concerned with the working
of the College, was Walter Travers, formerly Fellow of Trinity
College, Cambridge. Upon the death of Mr. Alvey the Master-
ship of the Temple became vacant, and a strong party, compris-
ing Lord Burleigh among the rest, endeavoured to secure the
succession for Travers (who then held the post of Lecturer in
the Temple). He was a prominent Puritan, and a leader of
that party. His promotion was opposed by Archbishop Whit-
gift,} who informed the Queen that Travers was one of the
chief authors of dissension in the Church, a contemner of the

* Henry Ussher, uncle to James Ussher, was afterwards Archbishop of Armagh,
and died April, 2, 1613. His son was afterwards Provost. William Daniel was
made Archbishop of Tuam in 1609, and died in 1628. Walsh was afterwards Dean
of Tuam, and George Lee, Dean of Cork.

1 Vide Strype’s Life of Archbishop Whitgift, p. 173 and p. 235.
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Book of Common Prayer, and other orders established by
authority, an earnest secker after innovation, and either not in
Holy Orders at all, or else ordained in a foreign country, and
not after the form of the English Church.* Burleigh pressed
the claims of Travers upon the Archbishop, stating that at the
request of the late Master, Mr. Alvey, and several gentlemen
belonging to the Inns of Court, he had recommended him for
the place, provided that Travers would show himself conformable
to the orders of the Ecclesiastical authorities, which he was in-
formed Travers was prepared to do. Whitgift replied that
when Master of Trinity College, Cambridge, he had elected
Travers to a Fellowship, although he had been rejected by
Dr. Beaumont, the previous Master, for his “intolerable
stomach,” whereof he had such experience afterwards that he
was forced to inflict so many punishments that Travers left the
College and went to Geneva. He added that many thoughtful
persons at the Temple disliked Travers, not only for his dis-
orderliness in the Administration of the Communion, and con-
tempt of the Prayer Book, but for his negligence in reading,
his lectures being so barren of matter that his hearers received
no benefit from them. When Burleigh failed to have Travers
appointed to the Temple, he sent him to Trinity College, where he
was elected Provost by Archbishop Loftus and the Fellows, and
was sworn in on December 5, 1595. His salary was fixed at
£40 a-year. On the 10th of October, 1598, Travers left Dublin
and returned to England. It has been said that as he came to
Dublin at the instance of Burleigh, he did not choose to remain
after the death of his patron. Perhaps he felt himself unable
to guide the College in the difficult pecuniary circumstances
under which it was labouring, and which appeared to render
its continuance a matter of great uncertainty.

The College remained without a head until 1601, when the
increase in the Government allowances, confirmed by the Queen,
enabled the Body to invite a gentleman to succeed Travers.
Henry Alvey, Fellow of St. John’s College, Cambridge, and

* Travers was said to have been ordained at Antwerp by ‘Whitaker.
Cc2
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a Puritan of Travers’ party, was elected Provost on the 8th
October, 1601.* The electors were the Fellows : Luke Chaloner,
Charles Dunn, John Brereton, Abel Walsh, James Ussher,
Greorge Lee, James Boyd, John Richardson. His election was
approved by the Lecturers and Masters of Arts. Alvey re-
mained in Dublin until the end of the following March (1602).
He resided in England until 23rd October, 1603, and again left
the College in June, 1604, when the College broke up in con-
sequence of the plague which then raged in Dublin. On both
occasions he left the management of the affairs of the College
with James Ussher, and during the continuance of the plague
Chaloner and Ussher attended to the daily concerns of the
Institution. Alvey returned to Dublin in June, 1605, and
resided in the College until 1609, when he vacated the Provost-
ship. He returned to Cambridge, and died there in January,
1626.

Alvey’s accounts are thus represented by Sir James Ware,
the auditor of the College :—

From 14th June, 1605, to 24th June, 1609 :—

£ s d

Receipts, . . . . . .. 1871 1 23

Expenditure, . . . . 1418 17 5%
Balance due to Mr, Alvey, £41 16 3
Between Midsummer and Christmas, 1609 :—

Receipts, . . . . . . . 6548 8 10

Expenditure, . . . . 40814 1

Balance due by Mr. Alvey, £139 14 9

From Parr’s life of Ussher, as well as from other contem-
porary sources, we may gather that the early Fellows and
Lecturers were most diligent in the work of instructing the

t The following entry appears on the Registry :—¢¢ Noverint universi per pre-
sentes, quod cum Magister Gualterus Travers, nuper Collegii Sancts et Individuse
Trinitatis Reg. Eliz. juxta Dublin Dignissimus Preepositus esset, eodemque munere
. per quinquennium fidelissime fungeretur, quod nunc in ejus locum Magister
Henricus Alvey, qui binis Sociorum Collegii, publicisque Regni senatorum literis
vocatus et invitatus fuit, nobis ejusdem Collegii Sociis et prelectioribus consentien-
tibus suffectus sit. In hujus rei testimonium nomina nostra subscripsimus.’> &ec.
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Students. Most of them lectured three times a-day. At each
lecture there was a disputation maintained upon the subject of
the present or the preceding day. Ussher was in the habit
of reading his lecture to the students, who took notes of it,
and they were expected to be able to answer questions upon
the subject on the next day, and to dispute upon it. The
lectures were in Liogic, Moral Philosophy, Natural Philosophy,
and Astronomy, and were delivered in Latin ; and the examina-
tions of the students in these lectures were also conducted in the
same language. The text of Aristotle was read in Greek by each
Tutor with his pupils, and was explained to them. No lectures
appear to have been given in Mathematics. Notes of these
lectures have been preserved in manuscript, and they are
interesting as showing the state of the knowledge of these
sciences in Queen Elizabeth’s reign. The Astronomy taught
was the Ptolemaic system, and the notions of the magnitudes
and distances of the heavenly bodies appear to us very strange.
On Saturdays, each of the Tutors read a Divinity lecture in
Latin. The lecturers were paid at first £6 a-year, and after-
wards £2 per quarter. James Ussher seems to have been paid
a larger salary, perhaps as Theological lecturer. Some of the
students must have come to College very imperfectly instructed
in Latin, for we found in the accounts that Mr. Woodward was
allowed £2 10s. per quarter as College Schoolmaster, and there
is mention of a book of registration of Matriculations into the
University, and of incorporations into the College of such as
are sent thence to the School.

In the midst of the financial difficulties which surrounded
the College in its earliest days, it was not forgetful of its mission
to extend learning and religion among the native Irish, by
circulating books in their own language.

In the year 1571, before the College was founded, it is re-
corded that two of the dignitaries of St. Patrick’s Cathedral,
Nicholas Walsh, Chancellor, and John Kerney, Treasurer, had
introduced Irish type into Dublin, and obtained an order in
Council that the Book of Common Prayer should(be,printed
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in that language, and that divine service should be read in one
church in each diocese, and a sermon preached in the Irish
language. Kerney wrote an Irish Catechism, which was the first
book printed from Irish types, and Walsh and Kerney, with the
assistance of Nicholas Donnellan, Archbishop of Tuam, pro-
oseded to translate the New Testament into Irish. William
Daniel, who was named Scholar in the Charter of Elizabeth,
and who was afterwards Fellow, and finally Archbishop of Tuam,
completed the translation of the New Testament from the Greek
into Irish. This was printed in 1603, while the Irish translation
of the Book of Common Prayer made by Daniel was printed
in 1608.

A paper remains which contains a proposal made to one
William Kerney,* a printer, from some of the heads of the
College, dated 18th March. 1596. The paper itself recites that
some difficulties had arisen as to a former arrangement with
Mr. Kerney, and it was proposed to him that the following
settlement should be submitted to the College for acceptance, if
Kerney approved of the terms :—

1. He should be allowed the use in the College during his life of a
suitable chamber for his printing, and another for himself.

2. Alsofor himself a Fellow’s Commonsduring his life, at the Fellows’ table.

3. He should be allowed lodging for a boy, and his Commons at the
lower Scholars’ table, Kerney paying for it when he was able.

4. The College issuing to him the balance of 200 marks, and even £20
besides, for the completion of his work.

5. The College allowing him the benefit of all copies sold ; and

6. The College undertaking to help him in printing any other fit books
for his own benefit.

It was proposed that Kerney should leave his printing press
and stock in the College after his death, for the purpose of
continuing the work, and that he should engage to carry

* Kerney was an Irishman who had been practising the art of printing for
twenty years, and who had been sent over by Elizabeth and the Lords of the
Council to Ireland, for the purpose of printing the New Testament in the Irish
tongue and characters, and all other books which were necessary for the good
service of the Church.
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on the printing trade in the College during his life, and train
up a boy, as apprentice, who should succeed him in the trade
in the College after his death.

From the paper it would appear that Kerney had been
engaged before this in the College as printer, and that he had
removed the printing press, types, and instruments of printing,
secretly out of the College. These were his own; but he had
carried away also the stools, shelves, and boards which were in.
the chamber and study, and which belonged to the College.

‘What the issue of this negotiation was we have no means
of knowing. We do not find in the College accounts of the
period any information upon the subject ; nor do we trace the
author of the paper, the substance of which has been just given.

By far the most active man in the foundation, the building
and the early management of the College, was Dr. Luke
Chaloner. He had been a Fellow of Trinity College, Cam-
bridge, and was a man of very considerable erudition, for he
possessed a well-stocked library. The catalogue of the books and
the prices which he gave for them still remain in manuscript.
He was prebendary of Mulhuddart, in the Cathedral of St.
Patrick, and appears to have been a very diligent preacher*
both on Sundays and week days in the city churches. He was
also an excellent man of business. He held a very valuable
lease of the Archbishop’s lands at Finglas, and his papers which
remain give us an interesting account of his income and ex-
penditure. He appears to have supplied the College in its early
and struggling days with corn and provisions from his farm in
the above locality. He was married to a member of the Ussher
family, for his wife’s mother’s maiden name was Eleanor
Ussher, and he had an only daughter Phoebe Chaloner, who was

* From his own memorandum it appears that prior to 1607 he had preached not
fewer than 1428 sermons, of which number 379 were on the book of Genesis. He
spent seven years in preaching on that book, mostly on Fridays. On St. Matthew’s
Gospel he spent five years in preaching on Sunday Afternoons 210 sermons. He
preached in St. John’s Church 147 sermons on the Psalms; on the Commandments
and Lord’s Prayer 46 sermons, and on the Body of Religion 67 sermons ina-year
and a-half.
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afterwards married to Archbishop James Ussher. Chaloner
was also the negotiator with Burleigh as to the grant of lands
and other assistance from Queen Elizabeth to the support of the
College. He appears to have been absent in England for six
- months on College business on this occasion.

‘We find that in December, 1596, the following resolution
was passed by the College:—

¢ It is agreed, by the consent of the Provost and Fellows of Trinity
College Dublin, that Mr. Lucas Chaloner, one of the Fellows of the said
College, by Her Majesty’s Charter, notwithstanding his residences and
dwelling in the city, in regard of his great travail and care for the good
of the said society, from the beginning and foundation of it unto this present,
and sundry other good considerations moving us thereunto, shall be allowed
henceforth his diet at the College charges whenever he shall think fit to
take it in the College, and further £20 per annum to be paid quarterly as
by other of the Fellows of the said society.

¢ (Signed)
¢« WALTER TRAVERS, Provost.
¢¢ JAMES FULLERTON.
¢ James Hamirron.”

On the same day Hamilton’s allowance was made £20
a-year, his diet being part thereof.

Chaloner died April 27, 1613, and was buried in the College
Chapel. We find in the College accounts that incense was used
at his funeral. Another of the Fellows named in the Charter
was Henry Ussher, Archdeacon of Dublin, and afterwards
Primate of Ireland. He had received his education partly at
Cambridge and partly at Paris. In July, 1572, he settled in
University College, Oxford, and was there incorporated B.A.
from Cambridge. He, by great exertions in London, procured
the Charter from Queen Elizabeth. Of Monie, the third Fellow
at the foundation, we know that he was a member of the Chapter
of Christ Church Cathedral, and was at the time prebendary of
8t. Michan’s. It does not appear that he took much part in the
work of the College, and resigned probably in 1594, along with
Henry Ussher, for about that time the Fellows seem to have
been James Fullerton, James Hamilton, William Daniel; and
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Luke Chaloner. Hamilton took a very considerable part in
the work of the College until the death of Elizabeth, when he
went over to London to meet James, was knighted, and was
by his influence with the king the means of obtaining for the
College the grant of the Ulster lands. He was afterwards
raised to the peerage under the title of Viscount Clandeboye,
and he appears himself to have got considerable grants of land
in Ulster. He died in 1643. Fullerton was also afterwards
knighted, and was ultimately attached to the court of James,
and sent as Ambassador to France. In 1599, Luke Chaloner,
Charles Dunn, James Ussher, and George Lee, were the
Fellows.

‘Wefind in the early College accounts some interesting items
of expenditure. In 1600, Mr. Doctor Chaloner disbursed for
the commencements on Shrove Tuesday, for six gowns for six
masters, £17 0s. 3d.; three gowns for sophisters, £3 6s. 0d.
Mr. Ware for the College dinner, £18 6s. 84. At that time
the University beadle had no mace, and we find a collection
made to purchase one, at a cost of £11 19s. 6d. To this Mr.
Ambrose Ussher, Mr. Moulton, and Mr. Hall, contributed 20s.;
Sir Lally, Sir Egerton, Sir Pillen, Sir Birde, Sir Frythe, and
Sir Philips, Sir Robinson, Sir Goldburne, Sir Ankers, 45s.;
Smith and Bouchier, 5s. each. In 1608, we find the first instance
of commencement fees. The receipts were: from two doctors,
40s., four bachelors of divinity, 13s. 4d.; nine masters, £3; seven
bachelors of arts, 35s. The overplus was paid for whitening at
the commencement,* and lining the Chapel and Hall, part of a
chair for the Hall, for lime and stopping up holes in the
windows, and there was an addition made from the College
funds of the balance of the cost of the chair. The beadle’s
stipend was 10s. a-quarter. The Dean was allowed 40s. in the
March quarter of 1609. Mr. King was paid 40s. for ministering
the Communion, and being Dean ; bread and wine for the

* In 1611 there was a charge of disbursments for the scaffolding at commence-
ments, £7 1ls. 1d.; for borrowing the cushion at St. Patrick’s, 3s., do. at Christ
Church, 1s.
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Communion 14d., and in the next quarter three quarts of wine
18d. ; seeds for the garden, viz. carrot, turnip, parsnip, parsley,
spinach, cabbage, onion, leek, and radish, 38s. 24.; women and
men weeding the garden, three weeks at 6d. per day. The
College gardener was paid 20s. per quarter; the cook’s wages was
7s. per week; the cook was paid in advance for four weeks’
commons for seven Fellows, at the rate altogether of 9s. a-week,
36s. ; and for three weeks’ commons for twenty-seven scholars,
at 15s. 9d. per week in all, £2 7s. 3d. Seven lecturers (or
readers) were paid £16 16s. 8d. per quarter altogether; the
library keeper, 1ls. 8d.; washing, 6s. 6d.; the porter, 13s.
The total quarters’ payments for salaries in June, 1610, was
£20 19s. 4d. 'We find a charge for mowing down the
quadrangle, the yard, the orchard, and other places, 3s.;
mowing both the courts, one day’s work, 1s. 84.; an old
soythe, 1s. 4d.

In the records of the early days of the College, we find that
the students were punished for the following offences :—

(1) Lodging in town ;
~ (2) Resorting to ale-houses (for this offence they were
punished with the rod) ;

(8) Absence from catechising and sermon ;

(4) Omitting declamations ;

(6) Playing at cards in the porter’s lodging in the steeple ;

(6) Climbing the college walls ;

(7) A public whipping, at the hour of corrections, for break-
ing the Provost’s windows ;

(8) A student fined 25s. for stealing half a hogshead of the
Provost’s strong beer, through Sir Wilson’s study
wall being broken ;

(9) Made to sit in the stocks at supper-time, for fighting
with weapons ;

(10) A master of arts was expelled for * having a bastard of
a wicked woman at Finglas.”



CHAPTER IV.

TRINITY COLLEGE FROM THE ACCESSION OF JAMES I. TO THE
RESTORATION.

AFrTER Alvey had resigned the Provostship in 1609 the Fellows
offered the post to James Ussher, and, on his declining it, they
elected William Temple, LL.D., of King’s College, Cambridge,
a layman, who had held an office at the Court under the Earl of
Essex, and who was probably recommended to them by the
Chancellor of the University, Sir Robert Cecil, afterwards Earl
of Salisbury. He was sworn on the 14th of November in that
year. At first the salary of the Provost is not specified, but on
the 9th of March, 1611, it was fixed at £100 sterling, current
money of England, as a first charge upon all the income of the
College. A Lecturership of £40 a-year in Christ Church, and
paid by the Government, had been added to Alvey’s salary, but
this was not available for Temple, and the duty and income of
this office was in his time divided among the Senior Fellows.
‘When he became Provost he found the Fellows to be four in
number and the Scholars twenty-eight. By his wise management
of the College revenues he increased the number of the former
to sixteen and that of the latter to seventy, and this within
five years after his appointment. Early in his Provostship we
find the College offices to be placed upon a fixed basis, and to
have been arranged in a manner which has continued to the
present day. These were a Bursar, two Deans, a Catechist, a
Professor of Theological Controversies,* seven Lecturers in
Humanity, an Auditor, a Xeeper of the Library, a Collector of
Rents in Munster, a Bedell of the University, and sundry
inferior officers.

* Now the Regius Professor of Divinity.
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Three years after Temple became Provost he was involved in
a dispute which was not unusual in Puritan times. It appears
that Abbot, who was then Archbishop of Canterbury, wrote to
the Lord Chancellor of Ireland (February 25, 1613) to state that
the King had been informed that the Provost and Fellows of
Trinity College had refused to attend the Chapel services on
Sundays and holidays in their surplices. He commanded them
in the King’s name and by his authority to conform to the laws
and decent regulations of the realm, upon pain of losing their
places.

In reply Temple appears to have sent two petitions offering

reasons why the use of the surplice should not be required of
him—

1. He was a Lay and not an Ecclesiastical person, and he cited several
precedents for such an excuse, namely, Sir John Cheeke, Provost of King’s
College, Cambridge, Sir Thomas Smith, Sir Henry Saville, Provost of Eton,
and others.

2. He asserted that in the College Chapel the use of the surplice had
been adopted by Students preparing for the ministry of the Church.

3. He argued that rules which were obligatory on the Students were not
binding upon the Provost, as he was their Governor, and should no more be
obliged to use the surplice than to perform the scholastic exercises required
of the Students.

4. He asserted that Masters of the English Colleges who were laymen
wore the surplice in conformity with the local Statutes of their Colleges or
Universities and not in consequence of the regular and established order of
the Church of England.

5. He stated that when he held an official post in England, under the
Earl of Essex, he always held the Bishops in great respect, and that he was
the means of advancing several of them to their preferments, and, moreover,
that he did many services to King James during Elizabeth’s reign.

6. He states that of late he has used the surplice and the Book of Com-
mon Prayer, although he would not object to resign his place in Dublin.

Previous to this complaint of Abbot, Temple had gone to
England on the 22nd of June, 1611, and remained there until
August, 1612. In this period he had an opportunity of using
his influence with the King to have the College allowance which
was granted by Elizabeth continued and made perpetual. For
these services, and because the Fellows of the College at that
time held that Temple had postponed his own:private advan-
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tage to the good of the College; and also to reimburse to him
the charges of two journeys to Cambridge on College business ;
we find that he was allowed for his expenses on August 8, 1612,
£100, and on the 12th of the following December, £120.

It was in Temple’s time that the first distinction between
Senior and Junior Fellows appears to have been made. He tells
us that he divided the Fellows into seven Senior and nine Junior
(four of whom were Probationers), and he placed the Govern-
ment of the College in the hands of the former. The Letters
Patent of Elizabeth gave power to the Provost and Fellows to
make such Statutes as were not inconsistent with the terms of
the Charter ; and in conformity with this power Temple appears
to have drawn up the first body of Statutes. The Registry re-
cords that on the 7th March, 1610, Ambrose Ussher, Anthony
Martin, John Egerton, Thomas Pullen, and William Bird, were
sworn and admitted into the full right and benefit of Fellows.
These were probably the first Seniors, and they subseribe the Act
of 9th March, 1610, which approves of the Statutes. These were
afterwards submitted to Archbishop Abbot, who was made
Chancellor in 1612, and obtained his sanction.

Temple, who was educated at Cambridge, and familiar with
the usages of that University, no doubt, based his Statutes on
those which prevailed there. He probably, in drawing up the
University, as distinguished from the College Statutes, followed
closely the Cambridge regulations. We gather that he was
anxious to obtain two distinet Charters—one for the University
and the other for the College—and for this purpose he was sent
to England by the Fellows, and was by their orders allowed
13s. a-day for his expenses as often as he took a journey from
London to the Court, and 8s. a-day when he was not travelling.
He was allowed for his expenses from Chester to London and
back again £4, over and above 8s. a-day.

That Temple was not indifferent to the religious instruction
of the students may be gathered from some entries in the Col-
lege Registry. On August 8, 1612, we find that ¢ Mr. Chapell
of Christ’s College, Cambridge, was entertained in the College,
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as Dean and Catechist to have his diet and £20 sterling per
annum,” and it was arranged that the same sum should be
given to one of the Fellows for discharging like services—

¢¢ December 12, 1612.—Mr. Martin as Senior Dean to have £4 per annum,
and Mr. Donnellan £3: Mr. Martin to read a lecture on the Body of Divinity,
once a fortnight in Term, and out of Term, and to have for his pains £10
per annum and his Commons, and £8 for his Mathematical Lecture.

¢¢ November 15, 1613. —Mr. Martin to supply the place of Catechist, and
perform that service once each week throughout the year, expounding one
week some particulars of the Catechism, and examining the week following
his Auditors, the Scholars of the House, upon the same as formerly ex-
pounded, and that he should, within the compass of one year, expound and
handle all the heads of the Catechism, and that he receive for this twenty
marks per annum.”

The defective school education of the early students may be
gathered from the following entry :—

‘“January 11, 1614-15.—Mr. Donnellan, Junr., to teach such students
as are insufficient and raw in the Latin and Greek Grammar publicly in the .
Chapel, and to be allowed £10 per annum ; and if at the end of the year it
should appear that the benefit of his employment does not amount to £1
more from the Scholars taught by him, his fee from the College shall be
increased to twenty marks.”

Circumstances had occurred after the death of Elizabeth which
rendered the pecuniary prospects of the College more hopeful
than they were before. Hamilton and Fullerton had, since the
accession of James, laboured successfully to secure a portion of
the confiscated lands in Ulster for the further endowment of the
College. In the year 1610 (April 28), Fullerton wrote from
London to Sir James Ware to the effect that in the Plantation
of Ulster he had “laboured to further the interests of the
College with his best endeavours, wishing they had good and
conscionable tenants for their lands, which they had allotted to
them.” He adds: * They have the whole Barony of Armagh,
which is not Bishop’s lands, surveyed at 6000 Irish acres,
which will make 10,000 English acres; and so much of the
Barony of Tyrhugh as does not belong to the Abbey of
Asserow in Tyrconnell, which is surveyed at 4000 Irish acres
(above 6000 English) ; and the Abbey of Kilmacrenan, which



Ulster College Lands. 31

is 81 quarters, each quarter containing 128 acres; and 900
Irish acres in Fermanagh ; all which will make up 20,000
English acres, which he calculated would fill up £53 6s. 84. of
the College Book, which being let for sixpence an acre, one
with another, will produce for the College £500 a-year.”” He
states that ¢ to his knowledge the land is the very best in those
counties where it lies, and if good care be had in the beginning,
this may prove profitable to them in time.”*

The disposal of these Ulster lands formed the cause of the
first dissension between Provost Temple and the Fellows, and
led to bitter feelings on both sides, which continued more or less
up to the time of his death.

The College had, on the occasion of Desmond’s rebellion,
received from Queen Elizabeth a grant of forfeited lands in
Munster, which it was expected would produce £100 a-year,
yet evidence remains of the great difficulty which the Fellows
experienced in the collecting of these rents, and also in getting
a sufficient quantity of concealed forfeitures to complete £100
a-year. They had left the old occupants in possession,t had
charged them only a small head-rent, and had given them fee-
farm grants of their holdings, so that they had no excuse for
withholding their rents, and yet we find that the payments
were very irregular. It is stated by Temple that the Ulster
lands, which were assigned to the College by James, had “now
a long time rested barbarous, rude, unhusbanded, undistin-
guished by enclosures, fences, or bounds ; unfurnished of houses
for habitation or defence; naked of all sorts of buildings for
necessary use ; and consequently no man of sense would take a
lease for a short term of any proportion thereof.” The tenant,
he argues, in order to pay his rent, and at the same time to

* Temple stated that he ‘‘had heard from Dr. Chaloner and others that Sir
James Hamilton was a great persuader and setter on, by his letters and otherwise,
of the Provost and Fellows to be suitors for a part of the escheated lands in Ulster,
towards the filling up of their Book of £100, concealed attainted lands, which had
been upon their hands for ten years fruitless,”” and that he promised to aid them
in getting these lands.

1 See Appendix xv.



32 Sir James Hamilton’s Offer.

make the land profitable to himself, must incur some great
and extraordinary expense, and at the same time be liable to
an average rent, and this he will not do if he has merely a
short lease.

Sir James Hamilton appears to have offered the College to
take a fee-farm grant of all the Ulster lands, and to pay a
perpetual rent of £500* a-year. This would have been ac-
coptable to the heads of the College in the straightened cir-
cumstances in which it was placed. The Provost and Fellows
sought the advice of the Lord Deputy as to the conduct which
they should pursue in the interest of the College. After the
Council had considered the matter, they agreed to approve the
letting of the College lands in Ulster to Sir James Hamilton,
in perpetuity, if he would undertake to pay a fee-farm rent of
£632 per annum, namely, £500, the rent he proposed, £100
additional, giving him the right to nominate some scholars, and
£32, the Crown-rent. The Provost, along with Luke Chaloner
and James Ussher, who had been familiar with the pecuniary
difficulties of the College since its foundation, assented to this
arrangement, and accordingly they sent, in the year 1610, the
following letter to Sir James Hamilton :—

¢ 8mr,—The offer you have made unto us for being our tenant of the
whole proportion of the College lands in the North of Ireland, contained in
the particular you sent, hath been advisedly considered by us. We inter-
pret it as proceeding from you, rather out of a special regard you bear to
the good of the College, than out of a respect therein to your own particular.
Howsoever, we have been moved by many, and some of them of very ho-
nourable rank amongst us, about the disposing of the said lands, yet we
cannot but hearken unto you, in whom we find so much love to the College,
such endeavours to advance the canse thereof, and so special a resolution to
do all the good you can; we do, therefore, willingly accept of your offer,
upon the performance, on your part, of such conditions as are mentioned in
your letters concerning that point. Therefore, this our letter, confirmed by
our public College seal, shall assure you of our acceptance thereof, and of
your right and power to dispose of all these lands for letting them to tenants,
retaining to us the conditions mentioned in your letter; and likewise of
our readiness to give you the best satisfaction we can for the form of your

* His first offer was £280, which was raised to £400, and ultimately to £500,
which included £100 a-year in lieu of fine.
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conveyance, like to that which we have done to the tenants of Munster,
immediately on your repair to Dublin, or (if you will draw the draft thereof
and send it) if you please before.

¢ Thus commending our best love.

¢ WicLLiax TEMPLE, Provost.
¢ Lucas CHALONER.
¢ JamEs UssHER.”

The remainder of the Fellows objected to this letting, on the
grounds that a grant in fee-farm was of special prejudice—that
the specified rent was far under the value of the lands—and that
the assurance mentioned for the payment of this rent was of no
validity. They preferred to let the lands for thirty years only.

Sir James Hamilton pressed the College for a conveyance
of the lands, in perpetuity, in conformity with the above letter,
upon which the Provost appealed to the Lord Chancellor, and
the rest of the Visitors, to decide the matter in dispute. The
reasons which he assigned in favour .of the perpetuity grant
were—

¢ 1, The inducements which the holder of a terminable lease (obtained
by the payment of a fine) has to waste and run out the lands, spoil the
woods, and build no more than he can avoid doing, if he sees no prospect of
renewing his lease. Besides, if he die, and leave his lease to another,
should the latter be outlawed, the lease will be forfeited to the King.
2. He asserted that Sir James Hamilton procured the grant of the lands to
the College, passed it at his own charge, and at half the price of the survey.
3. The College, by refusing this conveyance, would break faith with him.
4. If Sir James Hamilton were to inform his friends at Court of this treat-
ment of him by the College, and through them, or from himself, the King
should be informed that the reason which influenced the College in this
matter is some dislike they have of the Scottish people, the College will
hazard the loss of the King’s favour, provoke the displeasure of the Scotch,
and risk the discontinuance of their annual pension from the Crown.”

" 'We are not informed as to the result of the appeal of the
Provost to the Visitors, but we know that the grant was
never carried out. Indeed we are certain that the majority of
the Fellows, especially those recently elected, carried on the op-
position to Temple’s arrangement, for we find that on the 28th
June, 1613, John Egerton, William Birde, Edward Warren,

D
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and John Piddock, Masters of Arts and Fellows of Trinity
College, passed a bond for £1000, binding them to Sir Henry
Folliott, of Bealanashenny in the county of Donegal, and Paul
Gore, of Mahery Beg in the same county, to the effect that
inasmuch as they have offered to take a lease of the Ulster
lands for thirty-one years, at a rent of £700, the said Fellows
will not consent to lease the lands to any others, unless another
should outbid them by £100 for the whole of the Ulster lands,
in which case the Fellows promise to reserve for Folliott and Gore
the College lands in the barony of Tirhugh at such a propor-
tional rent, taking into account the quality of the lands, as the
remainder is let for to others. (See Appendix xvrir.)

It is clear that although Sir James Hamilton did not get a
fee farm grant of any of the College lands, he obtained a
terminable lease of a large portion of them; for from a deed of
Sir James Carroll, knight, dated 6th December, 1615, whereby
he surrendered to the College the lands of Colures, in the county
of Armagh, it appears that on the 17th March, 1613, a lease of
these lands had been made to Sir James Hamilton by the
College, who afterwards assigned them to Sir James Carroll;
and from a paper dated April 22nd, 1618, we learn that Sir
James Carroll was the tenant of the College for all the Donegal
lands, as well as for several holdings in Armagh asthe assignee
of Hamilton.

In the accounts of May, 1615, we find the College pension
from the Crown set down at £388; the Ulster rents, £600 ;
Kerry rents, £50; Limerick rents, £26; Tipperary, £2 11s.;
Roscommon, £2 ; Down, £8; Isam’s land, £12, in all £1088.

Prior to his journey to England in 1616, for the purpose of
obtaining & new Charter, Temple drew up a paper in which he
contrasts the condition of the College when he became Provost
with the state in which it was after the lapse of seven years of
his management. The changes have been already detailed, and
he records that in June, 1615, the commencements were held
with great solemnity (no doubt after the manner of those at
Cambridge), and that twenty-five graduates were admitted to
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their respective degrees, namely, five Bachelors of Divinity,
soven Masters of Arts, and thirteen Bachelors of Arts. He
also states that whereas, in the few years which had elapsed from
the foundation of the College, it had already yielded sixty-two
able and sufficient persons to the service of the Church, forty of
these were students of the College during the period of his
Provostship ; and, moreover, that at the last Visitation in 16186, .
not a single Puritan was found in the College, and in their
ordinary resort to Christ Church Cathedral* they all used the
Surplice and the Communion Book, and they reverently at-
tended at all consecrations of bishops.

Temple seems still to have had his mind set upon giving
extended leases of the College lands, for we find that in May,
1617, some of the Fellows were so anxious that the revenues of
the College should be increased by running out the existing
leases, which would happen in sixteen or seventeen years from
161§, that they held meetings unknown to the Provost and the
other Fellows, for the purpose of deliberating about College
affairs, and they made humble suit to the Lords of the Council
in England, that they would restrain the Provost from passing
new leases of the College estates. The Fellows who were
opposed to Temple were Robert Ussher, John Pikeman, Robert
Jones, B. Taylor, and Anthony Wainwright : the last four were
elected in 1615. They informed the Lords of the Council that
the revenue at that time derived from the College lands was
£1100 per annum, and that the income might be increased by
another £1000 if the leases then in being were permitted to
expire, but they asserted that the Provost intended to renew

* Tt appears from early records that the students of the College regularly attended
sermons in Christ Church Cathedral, where the heads of the Government constantly
worshipped. They were assigned certain seats, which were both inconvenient for
hearing and exposed to the extremity of the wind and weather, and where they
could not attend to the sermons with any edification. The Fellows consequently,
in December, 1615, asked permission of the Lords of the Council ¢ to seat themselves
and the Students in the Cathedral, in such places as they can hear the sermons best,
until convenient seats shall be assigned to the members of the College.”” The early
accounts show a donation of one shilling to the woman who swept the College seat
at Christ Church.

D2
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these leases for his own private advantage, and to the injury of
the College. By these suggestions, which Temple declared to
be most untrue, they procured a letter from England in compli-
ance with their desires, and an Act of State was made by the
Lord Deputy and the Irish Council forbidding any further leases
_to be made until those in existence had expired. 'We learn from
Temple’s own account that these Fellows made further charges
against him:—

1. That he refused to confirm the above-mentioned Act of State by a
particular Act under the College seal ;

2. That he refused to make an Act of Restraint of letting College
lands for a term exceediug twenty-one years;

3. That he broke the Statutes in a late choice of Fellows ;

4. That being of a weak estate, and wishing to raise his fortune by the
letting of leases, he had disputed against the Act of State, removed old officers,
and made choice of such as were devoted to him, and who would at any time
join him in putting the College seal to new grants and leases ;

5. That he had suffered Juniors to carry themselves irreverently to
Seniors ;

6. That in the absence of a Senior Fellow he had drawn a Junior into
deliberation [which was at that time contrary to the College Statutes] ;

7. That he had suffered the Catechist’s place to remain unfilled ;

8. That he had taken offices from Seniors before the time of expiration
according to the Statutes; and

9. That he would not entertain a grave man for the instruction of young
divines in their profession.

To these charges there remains in Temple’s handwriting a
long, rambling, and rather ill-tempered reply.

‘We have seen that Temple was deputed by the College in-
1616 to proceed to England for the purpose of obtaining two
new Charters—one for the College and another for the University.
It would appear that, when James had been sounded as to this,
he required that the Charter of Elizabeth should be surrendered
in order that he might be designated in the new Charter as the
joint founder of the College. In a letter from the Provost and
Fellows to the Lord Chancellor, August 25, 1614, it is implied
that this proposal came from Abbott, Archbishop of Canter-
bury, then Chancellor of the University. In another letter to



Proposed Supplementary Charter. 37

the Lord Chancellor of Ireland, on the 26th of October they
write to ask that the details of the business of a new Charter
should be managed, debated, and concluded in Dublin, with
the consent of the Lord Deputy, the Lord Chancellor, and the
Primate, and that when so approved it should pass under the
Great Seal of Ireland (Appendix xxir.).

The reasons which the Provost and Fellows assigned for
their unwillingness to resign their Charter will be found in the
Appendix xx1v., and these are very interesting as throwing a
clear light upon the early history of the College. They strongly
objected to the surrender of the Charter of Elizabeth, and of the.
privileges which they had enjoyed under it of electing their
Provost, and of making new Statutes, with the consent of the
Visitors. They were prepared to concede that certain clauses in
the old Charter should be altered and modified in the new, but
they stipulated that those parts which they did not wish to be
changed should receive an express confirmation in the new Char-
ter, and that the Visitors appointed in the Charter of Elizabeth
should be continued without the addition of others. They were
prepared to consent that King James’s name should be joined with
that of Elizabeth in the new Charter, as founder of the College,
in consequence of his great liberality in granting an endow-
ment. They stated that as fault had been found with some of
the Statutes which they had enacted, they desired that these
should be examined by the Lord Deputy and the Visitors, and
they promised that the reforms suggested should be carried out.
They desired that such of the Statutes which they had made,
and which merited the approval of the Lord Deputy and the
Visitors, should be confirmed and perpetuated in the new Charter.
They appealed to the oath which they had taken to maintain the
Charter of Elizabeth, and they stated that they saw no necessity to
surrenderit, and no advantage which might not behad by retaining
it along with another supplementary toit, and they entreated that
they might be at liberty to obey the dictates of their conscience in
thismatter. From a letter which they wrote to Archbishop Abbott,
the Chancellor, it would appear that James was willing to grant
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a separate University Charter, which would empower the Pro-
vost and Fellows, with others of the Academic Senate, to enact
Statutes for the government of the University, and they ask
that the Provost and Fellows may have the same privilege of
making Statutes for the government of the College. They
speak of the then College Statutes made by the College, with
the consent of the Visitors and of Archbishop Abbott, as having
been seven years in force, and of their working well. The
written instructions which the Fellows gave to the Provost,
upon his proceeding to England to wait upon the Archbishop
of Canterbury, in May, 1616, will be found in the Appendix
XXIIL

The University Statutes appear to have been drawn up in
Temple’s time with the hope of getting a separate Charter for the
University. These Statutes, which remain in manuscript, must
be of a date later than 1614, and before 1617. Chapters v.—xI1.,
inolusive, are in the handwriting of Provost Temple, and also
chapter xviz. The concluding part of this chapter (concerning
the powers of the Vice-Provost) is in the hand of Provost Bedell.
The Fellows who signed the University Statutes are Egerton,
‘Warren, Piddocke, Robert Ussher, and Pickman. Selections
from the Regulse, with respect to graduation, will be given in
a future part of this chapter.

Temple remained in England for a year, from May, 1616,
to May, 1617. And he does not appear to have effected the
purpose for which he was sent. No further Charter or Statutes
emanated from the Crown in the reign of James.

After his return to the College from England a very un-
pleasant state of things existed, and during the last ten years of
his Provostship there appears to have been constant and violent
disputes between him and the majority of the Senior Fellows
with respect to the letting of the College lands, to which we
have already referred. The early part of his administration
appears to have been most beneficial to the College, and his
government was founded on the wisest and most approved
principles. It is much to be regretted that he was prevailed
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upon to make a lease to his wife of the College lands in the
manor of Slutmulrooney, in the county of Fermanagh, and of
those in Toaghy ; and to have appointed his son John seneschal or
steward of that manor, as his duties were to watch the interests
of the College in respect of the woods and other property which
were held by the tenants. An unhappy change seems to
have come over his judgment in the latter part of his life, and
he certainly alienated from himself the best of the friends
of the College.

In 1629 Dr. Laud, then Bishop of London, wrote a letter to
Primate Ussher, by the King’s command, asking him what he
thought of the merits of Robert Ussher, whom the Fellows were
anxious to elect Provost, as they had already elected him three
years before, and Ussher replied on the 10th of August, “Of
his ability in government he hath given some proof already
when he was Vice-Provost in that house; where his care in
preventing the renewing of the leases at that time was such that
thereby we have been enabled so to order the matter that within
these six years the College rents shall be advanced to well nigh
the double value that they had before.”” 'We must infer that
Primate Ussher had reason to alter his own views with regard to
the leasing of the Ulster lands, when we bear in mind that he
himself had been joined with Temple and Chaloner, in 1610, in
an arrangement to grant a perpetuity of all the Ulster lands to
Sir James Hamilton, at a rent of £636.

‘When the College revenues had improved to about £1100
a-year in 1613, Temple and Chaloner put forward rival pro-
jects for the number of Fellows and Scholars which should be
supported by the funds of the College.

Temple’s plan is that which was adopted, and which has
formed the basis of the present foundation. He proposed that
the salary of the Provost should be £100 ; seven Senior Fellows
at £8 each; nine Junior Fellows at £3 each; thirty native
Scholars at £3 each ; forty Scholars (not natives) to have their
Commons; Bursar, £10; Professor Controversiarum, £40;
Catechist, £13 6s. 8«.; Primary Reader [or Lecturer], £6; six



40 Temple's Plan of Fellows and Scholars.

Readers [or Lecturers] £4 each; Butler, £2; Cook and Caterer,
£18; Hellier [slater or tiler], £5; Bedell, £2; Library
Keeper, £3; Porter for looking to the gates, chapel, and hall,
£3; collector of rents in Munster, £5 ; fuel and repairs, £50 ;
extraordinaries, £100; in all, £563 16s. 84. In addition to
this he calculated the allowance of the Fellows and Scholars out
of kitohen and buttery to come to in all £531 14s. per annum.
Total, £1095 10s. 84. Temple’s calculations as to the cost of
this allowance are interesting : —

¢ Allowed to each Scholar at dinner 3d., at supper 1d. This allowance
will be to each Scholar, out of the kitchen, 1s. 24d. per week, or £2 13s. 1d.
per annum. After this rate, there being seventeen and a-half messes of
Scholars, and for each mess 3d. at dinner, and 4d. at supper, the allowance
out of the kitchen, made to seventy Scholars, will amount to £185 15s. per
annum, The allowance to a Scholar out of the buttery. To each Scholar
allowed in bread, at dinner }d., and at supper a 3d., and for his weekly
sizings 4d., it cometh to 11d. per week; To each Scholar, in beer, 4d. per
diem is per week, 34d. At this rate a Scholar’s allowance, out of the buttery,
in bread and beer is 1s. 23d. per week, or £3 2s. 10d. per annum. Now the
whole allowance of a Scholar, both out of the kitchen and buttery, being
2s. 23d. per week, and £5 15s. 11d. per annum, will amount for seventy
Scholars, to £405 3s. 4d,

¢‘ The allowance of a Fellow out of the kitchen, 1}d. per each meal, or
3d. per diem, will come to 1s. 9d. per week or £4 11s. per annum: according
to this rate, there being four messes of Fellows, and for each mess, both
dinner and supper, 6d., the allowance of the Fellows out of the kitchen will
be £72 16s. per annum. The allowance of a Fellow out of the buttery at
1d. each for bread, and 1d. for beer, and for his weekly sizings 13d., will be
13, 33d. each, and per annum £3 7s. 2d.: after this the allowances of the six-
teen Fellows out of the buttery in bread, beer, and sizings, is £53 14s. 8d.
per annum,”

Temple adds:—

¢ The Senior Fellows, because they are to assist the Provost in the govern-
ment of the House, and withal have time to enable themselves, by study,
for the following of their profession, I would wish were exempted from reading
lectures, and the charge of performing the said lectures laid upon the Junior
Fellows and such Masters of Arts as are not Fellows; of the sixteen Fellows
four are to be in the nature and accompt of Probationers, and are to rest
satisfied with the allowance of their Commons, and to expect preferment as
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places grow void and themselves deserve. What is gained by Domies, or
allowed from the butler and cook for decrements, may be added to the stock.
And after furnishing of the buildings mentioned [a bake-house and brew-
house] and the stock increased to some reasonable sum, then, out of the said
stock may be allowed some competent portion per annum for furnishing the
Library, and for the Commons of some such Masters of Arts quitting their
Scholarships as are not accepted into the number of the Fellows, but will
be forced for want of maintenance to leave the College before they are fitted
for the Ministry. This allowance to be made to them for three or four
years.”

Chaloner’s rival project seems to have been a foundation of
a Provost, six Fellows, and one hundred and sixty Students
(Scholars), besides Fellow Commoners and Pensioners, viz.
twenty Masters of Arts, twenty Senior Bachelors, twenty Middle
Bachelors, twenty Junior Bachelors, twenty Senior Sophisters,
twenty Junior Sophisters, twenty Senior Freshmen, twenty
Junior Freshmen, or one hundred and sixty in all, at £5 per
annum, each paying 6s. per annum decrements; in all, £752
nett. The Fellows to receive £8 each.

It is interesting to find the calculation which Chaloner had
on a previous occasion, in Queen Elizabeth’s reign, made as to
the expenses of the College. It is preserved in the Manuseript-
room* of the Library in his handwriting.

¢ The Colledge revenew of £400 st. per ann. will mayntayne yearly :—
A Provost havinge a good diet dayley as after apeares £6 and £44 yearly.

¢ Ten Fellowes havinge a good diet dayley and £10 yearly ; forty Scolers

having a good diet and 20s. yearly. The diet must be £133 6s. 8d. for
which wee are to receve victuals at prices :—

‘A mutton alive with the wool at 263d. the pece, . 320 a-year,

¢¢ A befe large and fatt alive at 16s. the pece, . . 54.

¢ Corne at 5s. the peck, market mesure, ¢ « + 200 pecks,

¢ half whete and bear malt ; half ote malt

¢ A Fellowes diet shall be 6 ounces of Manchet a mele a pint and halfe

of good bear the pece, three quarts in the mess, and a sholder of mutton, and
at night a good pece of beatht and porage, more than they can ete, enowe

*D.1.9.

1 Hallewell (Archmic Dictionary) says, that meat improperly roasted is called
in the Midland Counties ‘¢ beathed.”
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for ech, the bread [beare] a farthyng, of mutton 2d., befe 2d., and the heth
[they had] a Second . . . they have £4 a-year a mess besid, for the former
make but £4.

“The Scolers diet is 6 ounces good cheet [7.e. 2% sort of wheaten]
bread for ech, pint of ber the pece, pottell a mess, a joynt of mutton at
supper & mess—and a good pece of befe at dinner at 12 pecesin the quarter,”

The first mention made of Senior Fellows in the College
Registry is in April, 1614, when it is stated “ That the project
for the employment of the College Revenue was agreed upon
then, and particularly that the Senior Fellows should be spared
from reading of the Ordinary Lectures of Humanity, that they
might have so much more time to follow their profession of
Divinity, and that the Junior Fellows should attend and perform
the same Lectures.”

Complaints having been frequently made at this time that
the College did not draw its students from the native Irish, for
whom it was intended, but from the English, Temple replied,
in 1613, that there were then twenty native Irish out of the
sixty-ﬁve Students supported by the College.

There remains also, in Temple’s hand, an account of the
native places of the Members of the College in his time, the
year not stated—Irish by birth, forty-four; Irish by habitation,
sixteen ; Irish Fellow Commouners and Pensioners, eighteen ;
Strangers of Derbyshire, &c., twelve; Strangers of Cheshire,
eight.

And also in his hand a statement of the same in May, 1620.
Natives by birth at present in the College—five Fellows, thirty-
seven Scholars; fourteen Fellow Commoners and Pensioners:
sixteen other students, Irish by habitation, being the sons of
preachers and undertakers, who have left their own country
and are become subjects to his Majesty, as he is king of Ire-
land, and therefore have an interest in the rights and privileges
of this kingdom. Besides these, there are out of Cheshire and
other counties of England nine or ten.
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The following Degrees were conferred during some years
of his Provostship :—

—_ M.A. | B.A. D.D. B.D. ] LL.B. | LL.D.
1

1614, August 18, . .| 15 17 3 3 — —
1615, June—, . . .| T | 18 | — 5 | — | —
1617. July 15, . . . 6 10 — — — | =
1619. June 14, . . .| — 6 | — | — | — I —
1620. July10, . . .| 10 | 10 | — | — | — | —
1621, June 12 and 26, .| 15 22 1 3 1 —
1622. July16, . . .| 7T | 12*| — | — | — | —
1623. July —, . . .| 12 | 16 | — | — | — | 4¢
1624. June 22, . . .| 13 9 1 — —_ ] —
1625, July 11, . . .| 7T 14 | — 2 | — l —_

The education imparted in the College in Temple’s time,
and the requirements for University Degrees, may be gathered
from the University Statutes which he drew up, as well as from
the College Statutes afterwards reduced to shape by Bedell.

The requirements of the College Statutes were as follows :—

The students were then, as they are still, divided into four
olasses. In the first (or junior class) Logic was studied. The
students were required to read the subject through twice in the
year ; they were, moreover, obliged to bring to the Lecturer an
analysis, * Inventionis et Elocutionis Rhetorice.”

In the second year they continued the study of Logic. The
Lecturer explained the controverted heads of logical learning,
and the manner in which false arguments may be detected.

* Private grace for the Degrees in May previous. On May 16, 1616, it was
agreed by the Provost and Senior Fellows that such Bachelors as are Scholars of
the House shall, from the time of their receiving their private grace, be allowed
their Commons at the Fellows’ table till the commencements next following, in
regard that their Scholarships are upon the conferring of that grace determined, and
for this that it were an incongruity to rank them with Scholars after this grace.

t Three Incorporations.
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The students of this class were obliged to present weekly an
analysis, ¢ Inventionis et Judicii.”

In the third year the Lecturer expounded to his hearers the
elements of Physiology. He treated of “mixed or imperfect
bodies, such as are meteors; or of perfect bodies, such as are
metals, plants, or animals.”

In the fourth year the doctrine of Psychology was expounded,
and sometimes certain ethical precepts were discussed. The
students of this class were obliged every week to bring two
Theses or Essays. Some of them were to treat of a Logical sub-
ject ; others of two questions taken from Physiology. The
Logical Thesis was to be treated in a discourse ‘ furnished with
arguments of different kinds, and adorned by rhetorical eloou-
tion.” ‘When the students came together to the disputation, the
Respondent read the prepared Thesis, and the two opponents
brought short arguments in reply to it, framed in a syllogistic
form. The Respondent and the Moderator carefully watched
these syllogisms, and detected the error in their form, if any
such exhibited itself. These disputations lasted for an hour
and a quarter each Monday, Wednesday, and Friday, from
2 o’clock, p.M.

Bachelors of Arts were instructed more accurately by the
Preelector in Mathematics and Polities. They were obliged to
dispute upon a mathematical or physical subject every Friday
during Term, and to declaim every Saturday morning.

Masters of Arts were obliged, in their turn, on every Mon-
day and Wednesday, to treat upon some text of Seripture, in
the manner of a theological discourse, by interpreting it ac-
curately, and accommodating the heads of doctrine deduced
from it to the various requirements of their hearers.

In addition to the above, the University Statutes contained
the following requirements :—

To be admitted to the degree of Bachelor of Axrts, the Can-
didate should have been of at least four years’ standing from
matriculation. He must have publicly disputed in the Schools
concerning philosophical questions, twice as respondent, and
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twice as opponent, as well as privately in the College, according
to the rules prescribed by the Provost and Senior Fellows, and
he must have once declaimed. Then the candidates must be
examined for the degree (sitting in the Hall) on three days,
from 8 to 10 a.m., and 2 to 4 p.M., by examiners appointed by
the Vice-Chancellor and Proctors ; and they were required to be
able to translate into Latin the whole of the Greek Testament.
They must understand the Hebrew Grammar, and be able to
translate the first two Psalms from Hebrew into Latin. When
they have passed this examination they may, with the consent
of the Provost and major part of the Senior Fellows of the
College in which they reside, and by the vote of the majority
of the Senate, and the vote of the Vice-Chancellor, be admitted
to the degree. But their education was not completed until
they took the degree of Master of Arts. They must spend
three years further in their studies, and must each have de-
livered publicly six prelections in the Hall—one in Logie, one
in Arithmetic, one in Geometry, one in Astronomy, one in
Natural Philosophy, and one in Political Philosophy. The
subjects of these prelections were settled by the Vice-Chancellor
and the Proctor. The candidate must have a sufficient know-
ledge of Greek and Hebrew to be able to prelect in each—
namely, in Hebrew in those chapters of Ecclesiastes which were
appointed by the Vice-Chancellor and the Proctor, and in Greek
in that portion of the first book of Homer’s Odyssey which was
appointed by the same. Students, however, who were not sup-
ported at the expense of the College, were exempted from those
exercises for the Master’s degree, which were either theological,
or which required a knowledge of Greek or Hebrew. When
he had responded once to the disputing Master he could take
the M.A. degree, but he must give a pledge to treat some
philosophical question once within a year, and to dispute with a
Bachelor respondent, of the third year if possible. Moreover,
he must twice respond to, and twice oppose, in a philosophical
discussion with men of his own rank; once declaim, and read
one common place. When admitted to the M.A. degree he
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continued a Regent,* according to the custom of Cambridge,
for five years, and must attend the meetings of the University
when they are summoned, and appear in academic costume.

Candidates for the degree of Bachelor of Divinity must be
Masters of Arts of seven years’ standing. Before they could
be admitted to that degree, they should deliver three prelec-
tions in three chapters of the Old or New Testament selocted
for them; two responsions and oppositions in Theology were
required ; one sermon in Latin ad clerum, and one in English
ad populum. Candidates for the D.D. degree must, in addition
to the above, give three prelections on *those capital parts of -
Theology which detect the errors of the Papal religion,” and
must be B.D. of five years’ standing.

Doctors of Laws must be Masters of Arts, and were requu'ed
to have spent seven years after that degree in the study of Law.
Each must prelect six times in the Law School, respond three
times, and oppose three times. Those who obtained the title of
Doctor in Law, were required to devote their study to the laws
of England, that by perceiving the difference between the laws
of their own and of other countries, they may be better in-
structed for carrying on the business of their profession.

Doctors of Medicine must be Masters of Arts of seven years’
standing, and they must have spent that time in the study of
medicine. They must have prelected three times in the Medical
School ; have been present at three anatomical dissections; shall
have completed the cure of four different diseases; and by fre-
quently going over the preparations of the Pharmacopeeia, have
been perfectly acquainted with all the medicines contained in
it, whether simple or compound.

The forms to be observed at the solemn University Com-
mencements were in conformity with the regulations adopted
at the Commencements held in St. Patrick’s Cathedral, on the
17th and 18th August, 1614. The ceremonies continued for

* Regents were at that time engaged in instructing. Non-Regents were those
who had ccased to teach. See the Case of King v. Chancellor of Cambndge,
3 Burrowes’ Reports, p. 1647,
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two days. They commenced at 8 a.M. on the first day with a
concio ad clerum. Then the Proctor clearly explained not only
the cause of that day’s assembly, but the advantages of litera-
ture, and exhorted them all to the pursuit of letters, and to
defend the dignity of the University. Then followed a phi-
losophical disputation among the Masters of Arts, after which
the assembly adjourned to 2 p.m. The Proctor again com-
menced with a set oration, which was followed by a disputation
of Bachelors of Arts; and the proceedings of the day were
concluded by a set oration by some more eloquent Bachelor,
-and a musical performance. On the second day, at 8 A.m.,
the Commencements opened with an address by the Vice-
Chancellor, or by the ¢ Doctor Cathedrs,” or by a Moderator
in Theology. The “Doctor Cathedree  first offered prayer ; then
he addressed those who were present; then turning to his
“ gons,” whom he shall have standing on each side of the
Cathedral, he commended them to his hearers; then he pro-
ceeded to create them Doctors. If there were no Doctors he
addressed the senior of his ¢ soms,” and commanded him to
give a proof of his skill in disputing-upon a theological ques-
tion, and of his ability and progress in Theology. When they
had sufficiently disputed in Theology, the Moderator approached
to determine the dispute, and then there was a musical perform-
ance “to refresh the minds of the audience.”

The theological disputation ended, they proceeded to the
presentation of all the candidates by their respective * fathers.”
Before the presentation each addressed his “sons” in a rather
long speech. The Bedell then announced what each of the
candidates had done, according to the order of seniority ; after
which the Proctor pronounced that by the authority committed
to him they were perfect graduates, and the assembly was
dismissed.

The Caput at that time consisted of the Vice-Chancellor and
the Provost of Trinity College, either of whom could prevent a
grace from being proposed to the Senate, and afterwards could
negative it. Neither, however, could give a peremptory negative
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to the grace for a degree unless a just and grave cause should
be shown why it should not be conferred. ol
There is no mention of the Senior Master non-Regent as -«
being a Member of the Caput, or as possessing a veto, but the = b
Statutes enacted that the Candidates for the Master’s degm '
shall visit* the Doctors and the Regent Masters, or they shall'., .
exhibit proper industry and attempt to visit them, before they -
can be permitted to seek the grace of the University. It would . Y
be a sufficiently just objection to the candidate Master if he £
voluntarily failed in this. 'When the visitation had beem ;. "
completed the degree could be proposed and a scrutiny called - i
for, unless some one gave an undertaking to prove, within eight
days, that the candidate was unworthy on account of want of <43
skill, or infamous from vicious morals, or that he had not done as - *}
the University required, and the vote might be taken three times. ’g
in the Senate. It would seem that the power which was vested- s
in the Regent Masters of Arts of objecting to a degree was aftes %
wards concentrated in one Master of Arts who should not beyjg

of such Masters, and he was ultimately made a member of the : &
Caput with the same power and restraints as the others. &

In Provost Temple’s time the Professorship of Divinity:
appears to have been first founded. An endowment of £1004;

afterwards assured to the College by a deed executed by Ma:- 5§
Hamilton, who borrowed it and charged it upon lands at Holly= '3
wood, Co. Down. James Ussher was the first Professor, nn‘:o'
held that post for many years with great distinction; he e
signed it on being appointed to the See of Meath, on 9th May,.
1621. Mr. Preston, of Queen’s College, Cambridge, was choseit . #
to succeed him, but he did not accept the office, for on the 28tk *
of August, 1621, Samuel Ward of Ipswich was elected Professor -

of Theological controversies, and appointed “ to read the lecture::

‘S-
-'
.|
A

# Dr. Barrett said that the attendance of every Candidate'in the Regent- House k
was usual when he entered College in'1770.
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in Christ Church, and to have the fee due to each lecture.” He
was succeeded in 1623 by Joshua Hoyle, D.D., afterwards
-Master of University College, and Regius Professor of Divinity
at Oxford.
Temple seems to have got into pecuniary difficulties, not-
- withstanding that he had been appointed Master in Chancery.
1% - When he died he owed the College, as acknowledged by himself,
: > £110, besides £50 borrowed beforehand on account of his
s&lary Also for the rent of the “little parks” £2 a-year for

"
. f‘;-,\ P

ey

1T
-

g e .
Gy e KRN

Oommeneement money. These sums were afterwa.rds repzud by
- hls family. Provost Temple and Dr. Dun (Fellow 1593, Vice-
L 3 Ohancellor, 1614) were the first representatives in Parliament
", of the University. James I. having by his Charter, in 1613,
+ granted to the University the right to have two Burgesses to
(¥ represent the College, the first election was held in the College
* by the sheriffs of the city of Dublin on May 17, 1613.

5. Bir William Temple died January 15, 163, and was buried
ik« in the old chapel near the Provost’s Seat. He was the author of
'f}' the Logical Analysis of the first thirty Psalms, dedicated to
Imd Burleigh, to whose exertions he states that, at the fall
@ of Essex, he owed the preservation of his life and fortune.
& Ho had been knighted in 1622.

¥*"  The following extracts from the Book of Censures in
> Temple’s time will throw a light upon the state of manuers in
Pl the College, and the discipline which then prevailed : —

e
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¥ ¢ August 4, 1617.—CGower and Tolles punished with the rod for going
B "# , imto the country and lodging in the town all night. Gower censured for his
ughgenoe in his studies, which was by the Examiners of the Midsummer
iy ‘Term discovered and complained of. Patrick Smith removed from the Col-
R~ Joge for non-proficiency and incapacity of learning.
5 ¢¢ November 21, 1617.—Mr. Taylor, Senior Fellow and Dean, severely
,.?';- oensured and punished for a wound committed upon the person of Gower, a
. Seholar of the House.
3 ¢ June 2, 1619.—Thomas Cuff and Jos. Travers for abusing M. Middop’s
LE» servant, and for their irreverent and savage carriage in the presence of Sir
H " . Jobn King, to make three public acknowledgments of their faults at three
3
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several times in the Hall; to forbear going out into town for six months
except to hear sermons ; and for six months not to keep company with each
other. Cuft, for wounding with a knife the scullion of the kitchen, to lose
his privilege of adult age, and to rest subject to the rod until he graduates.

¢¢ September 15, 1619.—Rowland Eustace, for his drunkenness and other
misdemeanours, was punished with a public acknowledgment of his fault in
the Hall at dinner, to be performed for three days together on his knees,
from the beginning of dinner to the end ; his several offences to be set down
in writing, and delivered to the Senior Fellow that sits in the Hall, and pro-
nounced and confessed before the whole company present. On the 17th of
September the same man, and Sir Dowman, were enjoined to declaim in the
Chapel for drinking in an ale-house. Also the same punishment was in-
flicted upon Sir Toller and Sir Hallowell. Sir Underwood for going to an
ale-house and coming in after the shutting of the gates, was punished by a
declamation openly in the Hall during dinner. Hogan, Hurley, and Lisragh
severely punished with the rod for going out into town without leave, and
tippling in ale-houses. Sir Holland confessed that he waslate out of College
at night, and came into the Chapel by breaking a bar of a window in the
steeple. Beere, Temple [son of the Provost], and Paget, were sharply cor-
reoted for departing from the Sermon [at Christ Church] to go a-walking,
and for consenting to the plucking of cherries from a tree of Dean Wheeler’s
garden hanging on the wall. One, Life, a lewd boy, and an instrument for
them, was banished the College.”

During the Provostship of Temple the right of presentation
to certain benefices was granted to the College by Letters Patent
of James I., dated August 29,1610. They were Arboe, Ardtrea,
Clonfecle, Clonoe, and Desertoreight, in the Diocese of Armagh ;
Aghalurcher, Cleenish, Derryvullen, and Enniskillen, in the
Diocese of Clogher; Ardstraw, Cappagh, and Drumragh, in
the Diocese of Derry; Clondehorka, Clondevaddock, Conwall,
Kilmacrenan, Raymochy, and Tullyagnish, in the Diocese of
Raphoe ; and Killeshandra, in the Diocese of Kilmore. It does
not, however, appear that many of the Fellows were promoted
to these benefices prior to the great Rebellion. The condition of
the country was so unsettled that few were induced to accept
these benefices even if they were vacant.

‘When Temple’s death was approaching, we learn from a
letter of Primate Ussher to Archbishop Abbott, January 10,
1634, that the friends of the College had prevailed mpon Mr.
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Bibbes to succeed Temple ““when time required,” and that they
had at length wrought with Sir William Temple to resign *if
Sibbes could be drawn over.” On the 9th February Ussher writes
that “ many most unfit persons are now putting in for that place
of Provost, and that in case Mr. Sibbes do not come to us I cannot
think of a more worthy man and more fit for the government of
the College than Mr. Bedell.” He asks Abbott to nominate some
worthy man whom the Fellows should elect Provost, and he
tells him that if he do so “ that poor house shall ever have cause
to thank your memory for the settlement of it at such a time as
this, when so many labour to make a prey of it.”

The vacancy in the Provostship, in consequence of Temple’s
death or resignation, had been for some time expected, and a
year before it occurred we find a letter from the Lords of the
Council in England [Appendix xxv.] to Lord Falkland, at that
time Lord Deputy, directing that the King should be informed
of the vacancy when it might ocour, and that the Fellows
may indicate to him the person whom they would desire to
elect, but that they must not on any account proceed to the
formal election until they had received the Royal approval of
the person designated, and that this should be a perpetual rule
as to future elections. When the vacancy took place there
immediately arose a dispute between the Senior and Junior
Fellows as to the persons in whom the election lay [ Appendix
xxv1.] The distinction between the two orders of Fellows had
not been made in the Charter, but had originated in the Statutes
passed by the College in Temple’s time, and approved by the
Visitors and the Chancellor. The Senior Fellows were the
governing body under these Statutes, but the Fellows had the
power of electing the Provost under the original Charter. An
appeal was made to the Visitors, or to as many of them as could
be brought together, and a decision was made in favour of the
Junior Fellows, but inasmuch as the Vice-Chancellor, Primate
Ussher, was away, no effect could be given to it. Woe find,
however, by a letter of Archbishop Abbott, the Chancellor
[Appendix xxviL], that he gave the decision afterwards. in

E2
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favour of the Senior Fellows. The Senior Fellows, on the
15th of March, 1626-7, chose Joseph Mede of Cambridge as
Provost (probably having ascertained that he would be aceept-
able to the King); and having announced the election in the
Hall, they sent two of the Senior Fellows, Temple and Floyd,
to England to announce his election to Mede, and to bring him
or another back with them. The Junior Fellows, to the num-
ber of five, having waited to the last day for the election accord-
ing to the Statutes, chose Dr. Robert Ussher, who had been the
means of preventing Provost Temple from dealing with the
Ulster lands, and had him sworn the same day. Abbott’s
decision as to the right of election had not been given at that
time. Mede declined the office in a letter of the 10th April.

On the 2nd of June Archbishop Abbott, having had
previously an interview with Bedell, at Lambeth, on the 8rd
of May, and having got the King’s letter of approval on the
29th May, wrote to the Fellows the letter [Appendix xxvi1]
recommending William Bedell, a clergyman, then beneficed at
Horninger, near St. Edmundsbury ; and on the same day John
Floyd, one of the Senior Fellows, who was seut to London to
arrange matters with the Archbishop, wrote to Bedell offering
the post to him formally. It would, however, appear that on the
2nd of the previous March, before Mede’s election, Bedell had
been sounded as to the acceptance of the office, and had given a
conditional assent. Bedell was elected by the Senior Fellows,
on the 26th of June, in place of Joseph Mede, resigned,* and all
the dissentient Junior Fellows accepted him formally as Provost
on the 13th of August, Bedell having arrived in Dublin on
the previous day.

On his arrival in Dublin he immediately sought an inter-
view with Robert Ussher, who had been already sworn in as
Provost, and who stood on the right of his election. Ussher
excused himself from accompanying Bedell to Drogheda, where
most of the Fellows were at the time in attendance on the
Primate. On the 16th of August Bedell was sworn in as

* For Mede’s letter of resignation see Appendix xXvi:
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Provost in the College Chapel, but he took the oath with this
protestation before it :—¢ That he intended not to bind himself
to the former Statutes, so as there might not be altered in them,
by addition or explanation, the substance remaining. Item that
the place here being litigious, and his family untransported, he
meant not presently to give up his living, but when with the
convenience of his affairs he might do so.”” After the Provost
was admitted there was a Board held, at which it was agreed
that there should be an amnesty of all former quarrels, and
Mr. Travers demanding to be elected a Senior Fellow in place
of Mr. Broadby, whose Fellowship had expired, the Board
decided that the place of a Senior Fellow did not determine by
lapse of time only, but by an act of the Provost and Senior
Fellows; they declared the place vacant, and co-opted Travers.
At subsequent Boards Mr. Wigget’s place was pronounced
vacant, and Mr. Thomas co-opted in his place; and when it
was proposed to give Wigget a sum of money upon leaving, it
was decided that it could be done only in the case of a Senior
Fellow and in the way of alms ; but on examining the condition
of the funds of the College, it was found that scarcely enough
remained to pay the salaries, and the Provost, out of his own
purse, gave Wigget something as a testimony of his love.
Bedell’s first care seems to have been to examine and
reform the Statutes which were in use in Temple’s time,* and
he must have worked very diligently in copying them out and
arranging them, for we find from his diary that on the 7th of
September the Statutes which had been digested and brought
into order in a new book were finished and consented to, and it
was agreed that they should be read, which was so done the next
day in the chapel. The College Registry states that his object
was to perfect the Statute Book by freeing from ambiguity
those that were before doubtful, and by adding others that
were wanting and necessary—one of which (the Registry
informs us) was to the effect that ¢ none of the Probationers or

# Ussher, in his letter to Laud in 1633, tells him that Bedell’s Statutes were
moulded upon those of Emmanuel College, Cambridge.
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Junior Fellows hath, or ought to have, any voice in the
Election of the Provost, or in matters concerning the govern-
ment of the College.” This was evidently aimed at the
proceedings of Robert Ussher and other Junior Fellows when
they opposed Temple and the Seniors in the matter of the
perpetuities of the Ulster lands.

Having set matters in order in the College, Bedell left
Dublin immediately for England, and he did not again visit
the College until June 7, 1628. He continued to reside in
Dublin until September 1629, when he was appointed Bishop
of Kilmore. It was the prospect of this promotion which led
Bedell to undertake the Provostship, for we find him writing
to Primate Ussher on April 15, 1628, that when the Arch-
bishop of Canterbury had pressed him, in the June following,
to retain the place which he was anxious to resign, he told
Abbott that he feared he would be a bad pilot in so rough a
sea, and complained of his deafness, and that the Archbishop
urged him to go on and not be dismayed, representing to him
the future reward. Bedell replied that if that were not he had
little encouragement. 'We know from his diary that when
Abbott had previously endeavoured to induce him to accept the
office he exhorted him in the words of the 71st Psalm, «I will
go in the strength of the Lord God:” indeed it is clear from
Bedell’s letter that he was afraid that the income of the Provost-
ship would not suffice to meet his necessary expenses, and he
was reluctant to resign his living in England, so that he might
have it to fall back upon should he fail in Dublin.

Mr. Floyd had been elected Vice-Provost, and managed the
College in the absence of Bedell, but he seems to have been a
hasty and injudicious man, quite unsuited to control the
Fellows. His first act was to appoint the examination and
election of the Scholars and Junior Fellows. Some of the
Fellows took exception to the Vice-Provost for proposing for
election only those who pleased him. The Scholars’ places were
filled, the Vice;Provost would not assent to any of the candidate
Fellows being elected (there were four vacancies) except Randal
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Inoce (a Cheshire manj, and that because William Floyd the Vice-
Provost’s countryman, did not obtain the votes of the majority
of the Fellows. William Floyd upon this appealed to the Lord
Deputy, and obtained his mandate to the College to admit him
a Fellow, on the ground that the appointment had lapsed to
the Crown.* George Cottingham and Thomas Vesey, who had
been examined, were included in the mandate, and admitted and
sworn by the Vice-Provost. There was also a controversy
between William Gerald (or Fitzgerald), Junior Fellow, and
Edward Parry, Senior Fellow, on the ground that Parry held
an eocclesiastical benefice in opposition to the Statutes and the
Oath of a Fellow; the Vice-Provost and the Dean had also
called the Bursar, Mr. John Johnson, to account for lavishing
and wasting the College money, and had displaced him and
appointed Mr. Travers in his room. Upon this the Junior
Fellows, to the number of four (being four of the five who had
elected Robert Ussher as Provost and had him sworn in as
Provost), appealed to the Visitors against the conduct of the
Vice-Provost and of Parry on the following grounds :—

1. That he had preferred some of his countrymen to
Scholars’ places, passing over natives of at least equal merit.

2. That he refused to assent to the election of natives who
were candidates for Fellowship, simply because the Fellows
declined to elect his countryman Floyd.

3. That he retained some of the College rents which should
have been received by the Bursar, and expended the money
without the Bursar’s consent or advice.

4. They complained that Parry held a College living more
than three miles from the College.

The result of the Visitation (Feb. 1627-28) was, that the
Vice-Provost was deprived of his Fellowship and declared
incapable of any office or government in the College; he was,
however, allowed to retain his chambers, commons, salary as
Senior Fellow, to have pupils, and to hold his lectureship in

# The Fellows, in their letter to Bedell, April 28, 1628, deny Yhis lapse; and say
that John Floyd ‘¢ was formerly as ready to assert as to deny the same things.”
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Christ Church until he should be provided with a living, or
the statutable time should arrive when his Fellowship would be
naturally vacated; and Parry’s Fellowship was declared vacant.
‘We may gather from Bedell’s letters to Ussher, written
during his stay in England, that he was labouring to obtain
new Letters Patent which, without prejudice to the Charter of
Elizabeth, might modify it in certain directions. It appears
that the original tenure of the Fellowship, which was only for
seven years after Master of Arts standing, was felt to be too
short. Bedell, following the Statutes of Emmanuel College,
Cambridge, had, in the Statutes which he induced the College to
accept, restricted the competition for Fellowships to Bachelors
of Arts of seven terms standing at least, and he was anxious to
lengthen the tenure. On consulting Ussher, the latter expressed
his opinion that seven years might be extended to twelve. Bedell
was also desirous that new Letters Patent should be passed
regulating the proceedings of the University, and he had
during this time drawn the new University Statutes and
Patent. He was anxious that the faculties of Law and
Medicine should be no longer neglected in the University as
they had been, and that the Statutes should not be confined
to the ¢ ordering of one poor College of Divines.”” He proposed
that the University should consist of four Faculties; and in
order to attract a larger number of intelligent students, he was
desirous that the College teaching should include all students
who should be matriculated, though they should lodge in Dublin
in private houses. He tells Ussher that “it is written hither,
and I have seen it with mine eyes, that I am a weak man, and so
thought to be by wise men—this witness is most true.” He then
beseeches his Grace to accept his resignation of the Provostship.
Bedell wrote to the Fellows on the 1st April, 1628, giving
an account of his proceedings in England [see Appendix xxviir].
It would appear from Bedell’s letter to Ussher, April 15,
1628, that the Fellows had not communicated with him in his
absence. He says: “ Methinks the Society, like the Frogs in
the Tale, weary of the block set over them, esteemed me neither
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worthy to be acquainted with the College affairs [namely, the
result of the visitation*], nor so much as answered in my own
[the Government grant of £40 a-year to the Provost in
connexion with the Christ Church lecture]. However, Bedell
informed Ussher that the Lord Deputy had offered him the
Treasurership of St. Patrick’s.+ The Fellows wrote to Bedell a
letter on the 28th April, begging him to return, and entering
into details [see Appendix xxviri]. He did return on the 7th
of June, at Archbishop Abbdtt’s urgent solicitation, and imme-
diately set himself to the work of arranging the finances of the
College. He proposed the following means of securing its
solvenocy : — )

1. Admission or Plate-money to go to the Cista Communis.
2. Provost to pay for his Commons.

3. Native places to be fixed at twenty.

4. The 10s. lately added to Scholars’ stipends to be forborne.
6. Two Junior Fellowships to be left vacant.

He entered into a minute examination of the College
accounts since the foundation, and his report was to this
effect: —

¢ On the 20th August, 1627, when Mr. Johnson became Bursar, there
ought to have been in the chest £693 13s. 1d., whereas there was only
£80, and £28 was put in after September 7, 1627, making in all £108,
also money impressed in brewing £40, and £50 taken out by Mr. Temple
without consent; so that the whole chest has lost from the first inhabiting
of the House £495 13s. 1d. of that only which it is accounted to have
received, besides what is in arrear and was never received, or perhaps never
put in.”

This account of the College funds shows how inefficiently
the Auditor, Sir James Ware, had discharged his duty.

On Bedell’s institution into the Provostship he found that
the Holy Communion had been discontinued in Provost Temple’s
time, and his first act was to see that it should be regularly
administered in future. When he returned in June, 1628, he
introduced the habit of Catechising the Students on Sundays

* Page 56. + Pan’s Life of Ussher, p. 391.
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after dinner ; and he devoted himself at once to the instruc-
tion of the Native Scholars in the Irish language.* For this
purpose an exercise was appointed for them ; they were for the
first month to read and write the Lord’s Prayer in that
language. He appointed an Irish lecture and Irish prayers,
which measures met with the King’s high approbation. He
moved the pulpit in the College Chapel to a more convenient
place.

The following are some of thé more interesting entries in
Bedell's Registry :—

1628. July 16 and 18.—At the examinations each forme was censured,
and it was agreed that none shall ascend out of one forme to another, how-
ever absent, till he be examined.

August 18.—Examination for Scholars—Apposers, Mr. Thomas and Mr.
Fitzgerald.

August 21,—The Bachelors to be hearers of the Hebrew Lecture, unless
they that were able to proceed in that tongue by their private industry, and
those are to help in the collation of the Mss. of the New Testament in
Greek. Twelve Testaments were given by Sir William Ussher for the Irish.

September 13.—The Dean may punish for going in cloaks by the consent
of the Provost and greater part. Mr. Temple’s letters to the Provost and
Fellows answered—his cause of absence to study in Oxford not gravis much
less gravissima.

August 24.—A meeting about the accounts, Warning given of town
haunting and swearing. The Deans requested to appoint secret monitors
for them.

September 22.—The course for banishing boys, not students, by occasion
of Mr. Lowther’s boy striking Johnson consented to, viz. that fire and water,
bread and beer and meat be denied them by the butler and cook, under pain
of 12d. toties quoties,

September 23.—Deane and Wilson muleted a month’s Commons for their
insolent behaviour, assaulting and striking the butler, which was presently
changed into sitting at the lower end of the Scholars’ table for a month,
and subjecting them to the rod.

* In the Lismore Papers, vol. ii., pp. 201, 202, will be found a letter from
James I. to the Earl of Cork, expressing his anxiety that the native Irish should be
taught by clergymen who could speak in their own language, and complaining that
Trinity College, which was founded by Elizabeth mainly for the purpose of pro-
moting this object, had failed in its duty in this respect, and he suggested means
by which an Irish-speaking clergy should be provided for parishes with small
endowments.
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The order for placing the Fellow Commoners by themselves in the
Chapel for having more room begins, Service books bought and bound for
the natives.

October,—Election of Burgesses for Parliament. The Provost and
Mr. Donellan, upon better advice, the Provost resigning, Mr. Fitzgerald was
chosen.

December 28.—The Lord Primate dined in the College at the Hall, and
the same Dr. James Ware presented the petition for renewing the lands of
Kilmacrenny. Jo. Wittar admonished for playingat cards.

January 28.—Tho. Walworth refused to read Chapter, and enjoined to
make a confession of his fault upon his knees in the Hall—which he
disacknowledging—he had deserved expulsion.

July 23.—8ir Walworth said to have sold his study to haunt the town.
Somers, Deane, and Elliott appointed to sit bare for going out of the Hall
before grace, and not performing it, made to stand by the pulpit.

April 2,1629.—The proclamation against Priests and Jesuits came forth.

April 5.—Easter day, at which the forms were used for conveniency
about the Communion Table.

April 11.—Mr. Travers, for omitting his Common place the second time
appointed, punished 13s. Mr. Tho. for omitting prayers reading, 5s.

May 12,—The Sophisters proposed supper to the Bachelors: prevented
by sending for them and forbidding them to attempt it.

July 11,—The Fellow Commoners complain of Mr. Price for forbidding
them to play at bowls in the Orchard ; they were blamed, and it was shown
that by Statute they could not play there.

July 29.—Six natives, D. Kerdiffe, D. Conway, D. Baker, D. Davis,
D. Kerdiffe, jun., and Burton, admonished for being often absent from
Irish Prayers.

August 19.—The natives to lose their weekly allowance if they are absent
from prayers on the Lord’s Day.

August 29.—Sir Springham said to keep a hawk. Rawley, for drunken-
ness and knocking Strank’s head against the seat of the Chapel, to have
no further maintenance from the house.

Booth, for taking a pig of Sir Samuel Smith’s, and that openly in the
day time before many, and causing it to be dressed in town, inviting Mr.
Rollon and Sir Conway (who knew not of it) was condemned to be whipped
openly in the Hall, and to pay for the pig.

August 6.—Communion. Sermon upon Psalm 71. 16.* The Articles of
the Church of Ireland read.

*«] will go in the strength of the Lord God. I will make mention of thy
righteousness even thine only.” The words which Archbishop Abbott used to him
when he urged him to take the Provostship.
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‘We find the following entry in his diary :—¢ All the Fellows
and Masters absent from prayers (being Sunday), the Dean
bidden to look to his duty.”

On the subsequent day a Mr. Underwood disputed for his
degree in the presence of the Bishop of Ferns, and in the course
of his answering he defended many erroneous and false opinions.
These errors Bedell censured after the end of the Divinity Pro-
blem a fow days after, and on the 1st July, 1629, Mr. Underwood
retracted them in the Chapel, and afterwards on the same day
retracted them under his hand in the congregation of the Senate.

On May 1, 1629, a student was punished for striking another
student, and as this was his second offence he should have been
deprived of Commons for three months, but as he was poor,
Bedell changed it into begging pardon in the Hall on his
knees, and then receiving a like blow.

‘We have also some account of the Registry as to the care
which Provost Bedell exercised as to the letting of the College
lands : —Dr. Richardson (afterwards Bishop of Ardagh) was one
of the earliest Fellows of the College; he was Ussher’s school-
fellow and great friend. He held the lands of Kilmacrenan
and Turhew, and proposed a renewal of his lease. He was
asked to pay £140 additional at once. He offered £80 increase ;
he urged that the present value of an increase of £140 was £700.
The College demanded at least £110 increase; he offered to sub-
mit to arbitration. He offered then a present rent of £37 11s. 6d.
(having six years of his old lease to run), and at the end of six
years to make up the rent to £370 : this was accepted on condi-
tion that Lord Clandeboye (Sir James Hamilton) approved of
it. Lord Clandeboye proposed that Dr. Richardson should pay
a present increase of £20, aud after six years £160 more, which
if he would not do, Lord Clandeboye would himself accept the
bargain and pay the money in the meanwhile. Richardson also
requested a presentation to the living of Ardstraw, agreeing
during his life to resign it to a Fellow of the College. The lease
was passed to Richardson, and the living granted to him; and
we find that on the 13th July, 1629, he promised (to give the
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College a further presentation of Communion plate to the value
of £20—a chalice, paten, and stoupe of silver. On this day the
instruments were sealed. This plate is at present used in the
College Chapel, and bears the inscription :—* 1632. Joh®
Richardson, 8.T.P., hujus Collegii quondam Socius; Esse
dedit sui monumentum et pignus amoris.”

Lady Temple proposed to renew her lease of Slutmulroony
(which her husband had secured for her for twenty-one years,
at a rent of £20 a-year) with an increase of one-third part;
the consideration of this was postponed, and in August, 1629,
she got a renewal, at an increase to double the rent after six
years. In the same year, William Allen, her Seneschal of that
Manor, and one of her tenants, Flowerdew, who had sublet to
James Arnott, endeavoured to secure a grant by Letters Patent
of some of the lands there, which in reality belonged to the
College. Bedell was informed of this attempted fraud by one
John Woodhouse, who was appointed by the College the
Seneschal of the Manor, and thus the lands in question were
preserved to the College.

On Bedell’s promotion to the See of Kilmore, in 1629, the
Lord Deputy, Viscount Falkland, wrote to the Fellows on the
13th May, enclosing an extract from a letter from the King to
him, and forbidding them to proceed to an election (see Ap-
pendix xxix.), although under the Charter and the existing
Statutes they had a right to do so. The Provost and Fellows,
on the 28th May, sent Mr. Travers and Mr. William Fitz-
gerald as a deputation to England, with a petition to the King,
asking him to revoke this prohibition, and also with letters
to the Chancellor of the University, the Bishop of London
(Laud), and Sir James Fullerton. On the 18th June, at a
Court at Greenwich, the King granted the Fellows permission
to elect a Provost, provided that they did not admit him to the
office until his name had been submitted to the King. The
Fellows then submitted the name of Doctor Robert Ussher,
whom the juniors had elected on a previous occasion, and who,
as we have seen, had prevented Temple from giving) perpe-
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tuities of the Ulster lands. Laud advised that letters should
be sent from the King authorizing them to elect Robert
Ussher, with the understanding, however, that he was not to
be admitted until Primate Ussher had written to the King
approving of the choice. On the 3rd October he was elected,
Mr. Price and Mr. Ince alone objecting to him. On the 15th
November the election was approved by the King, and on the
13th of the following January he was admitted and sworn by
direction of the Lords Justices.

It will be remembered that in 1612, Temple had induced
Mr. William Chapell to come from Cambridge to Dublin as
Dean and Catechist. He was now Dean of Cashel, and Laud
had been anxious that he should succeed Bedell as Provost.
However, he seems at this time to have exerted himself to obtain
liberty for the Fellows to elect, probably because, as we learn
from Laud’s letter to Strafford,* March 11th, 1633, Chapell
absolutely refused to accept the office. We find from Mede’s
Workst that Mede had also on this occasion been again
sounded as to his willingness to take the Provostship.

‘When Primate Ussher was asked his opinion of his relative,
he wrote to Laud on the 15th August (in reply to Laud’s letter
of the 25th June), recommending his appointment, and promis-
ing that he will carry out Bedell’s designs, probably with regard
to the promotion of the study of the Irish language in the
College. We find from the College accounts that the College was
obliged to pay £10 charges for the King’s letter authorizing
them to do that which was their right to do under the Charter.

One of Ussher’s first acts as Provost was to promote the
study of Irish. He directed that a chapter of the Irish Tes-
tament should be read by a native each day during dinner, and
that this duty should at first be undertaken by the twelve most
proficient of the natives, and continued until the others were able
to do the same. This they were required to be able to do within
six months, under penalty of forfeiting their natives’ places.

* Vol. i. p. 213. t Pp. 782, 783.
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Before his time as Provost it was the custom that dramatic
performances should be given in the College at Christmas.
Thus we find in the Registry—¢ The Senior Sophisters exercise
dominion over the Junior Sort, this Christmas, a Comedy acted
by them and a play by the Bachelors.” However, on the 29th
December, 1630, it was ordered that the Bachelors should per-
form their play, but not in the College. Ware, in his lives of the
Bishops of Kildare, tells us that Robert Ussher was an enemy
to all kinds of theatrical performances, and would not allow
them into College, until he was in & manner ordered to do so
by the Lord Deputy. The number of the Students and Fellows
having increased, and the accommodation in the Elizabethan
College having been very limited, it was necessary to look for
lodgings for the Students elsewhere. Accordingly, on the 19th
February, 1633, we find the College applying to the Govern-
ment for one of the disused ‘ Mass-houses”; and two in Bridge-
street, and soon after one in Back-lane were granted to them.
On the 14th of the following September two Bachelors were
appointed as Masters in Bridge-street, and their places were to
be annually elective. On April 18, 1634, we find that another
was appointed Lecturer of all the Undergraduate Students
in Bridge-street, and they were entitled to receive a quarterly
tuition, and the same quarterly rent for their Chambers there
as was paid for Chambers in Trinity College, namely, 3s. 4d.
for a Fellow Commoner, and 1s. 8d. for a pensioner. In July,
1634; the College lent £20 for the furnishing of the new Col-
lege. The two last classes were to remain there for two years
(except Fellow Commoners).* We know little more about this

# In the College accounts, 1630, The Rector of Kildare Hall and 9 or 10 Scholars
are charged for Kitchen Buttery Sizings, and an extra dinner on Christmas Day.

In December, 1631, Christmas Day, Wine for the Fellows in the College, Kil-
dare Hall, and Bridge Street, £0 13s. 9d.

Christmas Day, 1633, For College, Kildare Hall, and Bridge Street, 10 Fellows,
22 8cholars, Wine, £1 2s. 0d.

1634. Expenses for Kildare Hall, from 4 to 7 Scholars, and for St. Stephen’s,
8 Scholars,

1634. Third quarter—Commons for 3 Scholars in Back.Lane: ODo. for 2
Scholars in St. Stephen’s Hall.
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College. It must have been soon discontinued, for we find
that one of the charges brought against Strafford at his trial
was that he had restored to the Roman Catholics two Mass-
houses.* But in his defence he stated that they had been
restored in consequence of suits at the Council Board, and that
he had endeavoured to maintain the seizure.t

About this time certain dissensions between the Provost
and several of the Senior Fellows arose, which were afterwards
made a pretext for introducing changes into the old con-
stitution of the College. The first was with regard to the
appointment of an Auditor at the death of Sir James Ware,
Auditor-General of Ireland, who had acted in that capacity
with regard to the College accounts from the foundation; and
we have already seen the effects of his gross carclessness in
looking after the receipts and expenditure of the Bursar. The
Provost wished that he should be succeeded by his son, Sir
James Ware (who, however, does not appear to have been a
candidate), and the Provost was joined by two Senior Fellows.
Four of them, however, were in favour of electing William
‘White ; but as the Provost did not vote with the majority no one
was elected at the annual election of officers of 1632, which then
took place on St. John’s Day, in June; and at a meeting in
the College Parlour, on the 13th August, it was agreed that
the Provost (or Vice-Provost), with the Senior Fellows, should
audit all the accounts since Sir James Ware’s death.

Another cause of dissension arose about a letter from the
Lords Justices and the Vice-Chancellor, Primate Ussher, com-
manding the Provost to admit William Newman, a Master of
Arts, to a Fellowship. Newman had already been examined

* ¢ State Trials,”’ p. 706, 18th article. Rushworth, Lond. 1680, pp. 27, 62.

1 The building in Back-lane called Kildare Hall, because the ground on whieh
it stood had been leased by Christ Church to the Earl of Kildare, at a rent of £12,
had been a College of the Jesuits. Tailors’ Hall stands at present on the site of it.
The two in Bridge-street were one a Convent of Capuchin Friars, the other a
secular Chapel. Sce Gilbert’s History of Dublin, vol. i., pp. 242, 243, 328 ; also
Travels of Sir W. Brereton (Chetham Society), pp. 141, 142, who states that a
lecture was given at Kildare Hall every Tuesday.
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for Fellowship, and had answered in a creditable manner. It
was asserted that if he were required to sit for examination a
second time his reputation as a scholar would be injured. He
was a friend of the Lord Chancellor, Sir Adam Loftus, and
became afterwards his domestic chaplain.  This letter was
signed Adam Loftus, Chan.; R. Corke; Ja. Ardmachanus; and
dated June 23, 1632. The Provost was in favour of admitting
Newman. But though in the opinion of the majority of the
Senior Fellows such an act would be a violation of the College
Statutes—one of which at that time declared a man ineligible
to a Fellowship who had procured letters in his own behalf—
Newman proceeded with these letters to London, and, through
the instrumentality of Secretary Coke, obtained a Royal Letter
commanding the College to admit him as a Fellow.

With respect to religious duties and discipline, we find it
enacted on October 23, 1632, that ¢ whosoever shall neglect to
receive the Holy Communion once a quarter (unless he shall
have given to the Provost a satisfactory reason) shall be fined
5s. if he be M.A.; 2s. 6d. if he be Fellow Commoner or Scholar;
and 2s. if he be a Pensioner ”’; and that “ everyone under the
degree of M.A. (noblemen’s sons and heirs of Privy Councillors
excepted) shall uncover their heads when they see the Provost
in the quadrangle.”

About this time the Chancellorship of the University be-
came vacant through the death of Archbishop Abbott; and
Primate Ussher used his influence with the College to have
Archbishop Laud* elected in his room. In his letter to Laud
Ussher urged him to accept this office, to which, on his recom-
mendation, Laud had been chosen by the Fellows with all rea-
diness and alacrity. He tells Laud, that he had caused two
letters to be prepared, one by the Provost, and the other by
Doctor Joshua Hoyle,+ Professor of Divinity ; but he informs
him that ¢“the Fellows of the House were so factious, that

& Pair’s Life, p. 460; Elrington’s Ussher, vol. xv. pp. 672, 574.
+ Afterwards Divinity Professor at Oxford, and Master of University College,
1648. He had been elected Fellow in 1609, and was tutor to.Sir-J. Ware!

F
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nothing could please them which came from their superiors,*
or so idle that they would not take pains to do the like them-
selves.” The Primate says, moreover, that “the Provost, albeit
he be a very honest man, and one that mindeth the good of the
House, yet is of too soft and gentle a disposition to rule so heady
a company.” ¢ Bishop Bedell,”} the Primate continues,  had,
while he was Provost, composed statutes conformable to those
of Emmanuel College, Cambridge ; but there is so little power
given to the Provost to redress things which are amiss, without
the consent of the greater part of the Senior Fellows, that they,
finding thereby their own strength, perpetually join together
in crossing whatsoever the Provost attempts for the reformation
of themselves or the scholars, being sure never to give their
consent that punishment should be inflicted on themselves,
either for absenting themselves from the Church, or lying out
of the House, or frequenting taverns, or other such enormities.”
Finally, Primate Ussher suggests that the Provost, being weary
of his place, should be promoted, and that “a man of more
rigid temper and stouter disposition > should be placed over the
College.

Robert Ussher, however, continued to be Provost for a year
after Laud’s appointment as Chancellor. He vacated the office
on August 11, 1634, on his appointment to the Archdeaconry
of Meath. He was consecrated Bishop of Kildare in the fol-
lowing February. A few days previous to his finally leaving
there appears to have been a reconciliation between him and
the Fellows, for the Provost, upon the request of all the Senior
Fellows, agreed to remit the punishments which had been im-
posed upon the Fellows, and they were allowed their Commons
money for the time when they had been ¢ off Commons.” The

¢ Ussher here alludes evidently to the refusal of the Fellows to admit Newman
to a Fellowship in opposition to the College statutes, in 1632, when they resisted
an unconstitutional order from the Lords Justices, which was signed by Ussher
himself while Vice-Chancellor.

1 Bedell in his letter to Ussher (Elrington’s edition, vol. xvi. p. 458) states,
¢ T have reduced the statutes, hitherto consisting of a few papers tacked together,
part English, part Latin, and all out of order, as orderly as I could.’” .
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Fellows in turn allowed the Provost to receive the entire of the
salary of the September quarter. In this way the matter was
compromised.

Through Strafford’s influence, and with Laud’s approval,
William Chappel, Dean of Cashel, and formerly Fellow of
Christ’s College, Cambridge,* was elected to succeed Ussher in
the Provostship. He has left an account of his own life
in Latin verse, which was published by Hearne at Oxford in
1715.+ From it we gather that he was most reluctant to un-
dertake the office, and that the proposal grieved him extremely.
In May, 1634, he returned, he tells us, to his beloved England,
to see whether he could avoid the acceptance of the Provostship.
He sought Laud, his patron, and begged to be exempted from
serving. Laud would take no excuse. In the beginning of
August Chappel returned to Dublin. Strafford informs Laud$
that “he himself went to the College and recommended the Dean
of Cashel to be elected in Ussher’s room. He told them that
he must direct them to choose the Dean, or else stay until they
should understand the King’s pleasure; and in no case were
they to elect another. They were all willing, and agreed to
elect him on the following Thursday.” This they did on the
21st-August. Laud had written to Strafford on the 14th May,
that the King, he knew, would appoint Chappel in any case.
At Laud’s trial afterwards, one of the charges against him was
that he had preferred Chappel to be Provost; and that from
being a strong opponent of Arminianism, Chappel changed round
to profess those opinions; and Hoyle, one of the Fellows, was
produced to prove that Chappel maintained, while in Dublin,
the dootrine of Justification by Works, and that he had preached
Arminianism in Christ Church.

There was considerable delay in Chappel’s admission to
the office, for he was not instituted as Provost (the oath having

* Chappel was Tutor of the College when Milton was a student, and was sup-
posed by Warton to be the original of Dametas in the Lycidas. Symmons states
that he was the reputed author of ¢ The whole Duty of Man.”

+ 6th vol. of Leland’'s Collectanea.

1 Strafford’s letter to Laud, August 23, 1634.
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been dispensed with) until six months had elapsed from his
election, through the obstacles thrown in his way by some one
whom he does not specify (probably Primate Ussher), because
Chappel had neglected to visit him on his election.* Bedell,
it will be remembered, made it his business to make & journey
to see Ussher at his residence near Drogheda, immediately on
his arrival in Dublin, and before he was admitted.

A further instance of the arbitrary manner in which the
Fellows of the College were treated by Strafford appears in the
same year, 1634. He called a Parliament, and addressed to
the College the following letter (which, as the Register states,
seemed to have been procured by the Provost [ Ussher]) :—

¢ To oUR VERY LOVING FRIENDS THE Provost AND FrrLows oF TRINITY
COLLEGE, NEAR DUBLIN.

¢ After our hearty commendations. Whereas there are two Burgesses
to be elected for the University of Dublin to serve at this ensuing Parlia-
ment appointed to begin on the 14th July next. And forasmuch as we
are desirous that Sir James Ware, Knight, and James Donnellan, Esq.,
may be nominated for the said Burgesses ; we have therefore thought good
to recommend them to you for that employment, that by your good means
and assistance they may be chosen accordingly, who we rest assured will
well and honestly perform the trust reposed in them, and that without any
charge to you or the University. * And so leaving unto your care what may
more conduce to the furtherance of this service, we bid you heartily farewell.

‘¢ From his Majesty’s Castle of Dublin, the 30th May, 1634,

‘¢ Your assured loving friend,
¢ WENTWORTH.

‘¢ Provost of the College for Sir James Ware and James Donnellan.”

The Register informs us that the Provost, Fellows, and
Scholars met in the College Hall on Thursday, June 5, and the
Lord Deputy’s letter was read, and in due obedience to it they
elected the persons designated by him.

On the 13th May, 1634, Laud received his appointment as

# <¢ Nono sequentis Februarii die
(Tandem expiato crimine haud visendi eum
Quum rus abiret) recipior. Recolligo
Me; tum minime omisso oportebat esse animo.’
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Chancellor of the University, and on the following day* he
wrote to Strafford —* Since they have made me Chancellor, and
your Lordship approves them in so doing, I will begin to take
them to task ; and, if I have so much leisure, there comes a
letter with these to the College, which I will pray you to have
delivered.”

In the following October, at Strafford’s urgent request,
Laud undertook to revise the statutes, and to have them passed
under the Great Seal ; and he tells Strafford that he assents to
his suggestion that half a dozen good scholars should be sent
over from England to fill the College. Strafford had informed
him that there would be room for so many once a-year,f and
had promised Laud that he would promote them before any
exoept the Lord Deputy’s chaplains, which were not many. 'We
can only conjecture that this was to a certain extent carried
out in 1637, when John Harding and Thomas Marshall, both
Masters of Arts of Cambridge, were elected Fellows by man-
damus of the Lord Deputy.

Dissensions soon arose in the College between the new
Provost and the Senior Fellows. Mr. Ince died in December,
1635; and the Provost supposing that Mr. Boswell’s Fellowship
would be also vacant from lapse of time, summoned a meeting
to decide the precedence of the Junior Fellows with respect to
their succession to the Senior Fellowships by co-option. The
Provost named Nathaniel Hoyle, T. Feasant,} C. Cullen, and
Arthur Ware,§ who had been elected in 1631, and who were
next in order of seniority. It was objected to Hoyle, who was
the senior of them, that he had never worn a surplice in the
College Chapel. Some also urged against the other three
that they were notoriously negligent in their attendances at
the services in the Chapel. The Provost stated that he was

* Vol. i. p. 253. + Vol. i. pp. 298 and 329.

1 Feasant appears to have been & member of a family resident at Donnybrook,
or Baggotrath. The Commons Journals, vol. i. p. 251, mention that in Chappel’s
prosecution he petitioned the House against him.

§ Fourth son of Sir James Ware, who died 1632, and brother to Sir James
‘Ware, who died 1666,
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aware of this neglect, for during the year of his Provostship,
out of the seven hundred and thirty times when there was ser-
vice in the College Chapel, not one of them had attended thirty
times. He added, that they had many pupils who would be
influenced by their example, and that they were now upon their
probation. The Board washeld on a Saturday, and as it did not
then come to a conclusion, the matter was adjourned to the fol-
lowing Monday, in order that Hoyle might have an opportunity
of attending the Chapel on Sunday in a surplice. He did not
do so, and by this he forfeited the support of those who would
otherwise have voted for him. Yet they would not vote for
another, and thus no candidate had the votes of the four Senior
Fellows who, under the existing statutes, were required to vote
with the Provost to render any action valid. The election was
then again postponed to the following Monday, which was the
last day upon which the statutes permitted the election to be held.
On the intervening Sunday Hoyle attended Chapel in his sur-
plice, and in the end three voted for him and three against him.

The Provost then proposed Feasant, who was generally
rejected, and so was also Cullen, the third of the Provost’s nomi-
nees. As the Board was considering the case of the fourth can-
didate (Arthur Ware), one of the Junior Fellows brought into
the room an inhibition of the whole proceeding under the hands
of the Visitors, which had been obtained under false* representa-~
tions by Hoyle, Feasant, and Cullen. In this the Visitors stated
their determination to decide the controversy at a Visitation.
This inhibition was signed by the Archbishops of Armagh and
of Dublin, the Bishop of Meath (Anthony Martin), the Mayor
of Dublin (Charles Forster), and Adam Loftus (Lord Chan-
cellor). The College Register is silent as to the termination of
these disputes, which appear to have been, to a certain extent,
personal between Primate Ussher (aided by Martin) and Provost

* They asserted that their precedency had been settled by the former Provost
and Fellows at the time of their election to Fellowships; and that it had been
moved before the Visitors at several Visitations in the meanwhile, and continually
allowed by them,
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Chappel. We may gather some information, however, upon
this subject from Laud and Strafford’s correspondence, which
informs us that Feasant was in the end expelled ; for on August
28, 1637, Laud writes to Strafford—¢ Great pity it is that such
young Fellows, and so ill-conditioned as Phesant and Cullen,
should be able to get within the Visitors and cause such dis-
turbance ; but the expulsion of Phesant being so deservedly
laid hold on hath wrought that cure.”

Another subject of dispute between the Provost and the
Visitors, at this time, arose from the action of two of the Senior
Fellows (Newman and Conway) in joining with the Provost in
formally abrogating one of the College statutes, which power
(as Archbishop Abbott had asserted*) was not given to the
College by the Charter of Elizabeth. At that time the govern-
ment of the College was by the statutes vested in the Provost
and greater part of the Senior Fellows, nempe guatuor. The
statutes did not then admit of Junior Fellows being called up
to supply the places of absent members of the Board, nor had
the Provost then the power of using their votes.t Chappel,
Newman, and Conway, took upon them to abrogate the words
nempe quatuor, on the ground that if there were only three
or four Senior Fellows in existence, the elective power might
be destroyed, so that these words which the College had intro-
duced into the statutes were expressly, or by implication, con-
tradictory to the Charter. In this act, which may be found at
the end of the manuscript copy of Bedell’s statutes, Newman
and Conway call themselves the major part of the Senior Fel-
lows. We know that for this action they were deprived of their
Fellowships by the Visitors, although it would seem that this
sentence was not carried out, for they joined Provost Chappel,
as we shall see afterwards, in accepting in the first instance
the new charter and statutes. This we learn from the Report

* See Ussher’s letter to Chaloner (Elrington’s edition, vol. xv. p. 72).

T Indeed the College statutes, which Bedell had reduced to order, specially
classed the Junior Fellows among the Discipuli, and so made the Senior Fellows
the only persons who could, in conformity with the Charter of Elizabeth, be desig-
nated as Fellows, and as such, assessors of the Provost.
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of the Committee of the Irish House of Commons in 1641, and
the Visitors may have resented their act. But the formal action
of acceptance of the new charter by Chappel with Newman and
Conway, as being the greater part of the Senior Fellows, is not
now extant. It was probably given to the Committee of the
House of Commons, with other documents, in 1641, and another
act of acceptance was substituted for it, and this alone appears
in the College Register. In the latter action of the College
Chappel is joined by five Fellows (all but one of those who
were then existing), and Newman’s name is not among them.
In the act of abrogation of the clause in the statutes we find
that Newman and Conway style themselves the majority of
the Senior Fellows ; so it is likely that the number had been
then reduced to three, of whom XKerdiffe was the third.
The Visitors seemed to have laid the entire matter before
the Chancellor, Archbishop Laud, who writes to Strafford*
that he had a letter from Primate Ussher stating the entire
case. e says, “If the relation be true, the Provost is much
to blame.” He sends to Strafford a copy of the Visitors’ last
act against the Provostt and the two Senior Fellows that joined
with him in this business. The Provost also had petitioned the
Chancellor on the subject. Strafford writes to Laud on the
17th August, 1636 :—

‘“ As concerning the difference between the Provost and Fellows of
Trinity College, they are grown very high. Methinks the act of the Visitors
was very precipitate and violent, so sharply to expel the two Senior Fellows,
and all this for a Fellow’s sake that never wore a surplice,} but now being
in danger otherwise to lose his preferment. Indeed I judge this hot pro-

* Vol. ii. p. 24.

t This was only a censure passed by the Visitors upon the Provost, for in his
letter to Ussher Laud writes, ¢ His Majesty was of necessity to be made acquainted
with the business, because the censure of the Provost, if he deserves it, is referred
to himself ** (Elrington, vol. xvi. p. 23).

I Nathaniel Hoyle. He was afterwards Vice-Provost during Provost Wash-
ington’s absence in 1641, 1642, 1643. He resigned in 1646, and was admitted

Fellow of Brazenose College, Oxford, in 1648; but he was restored to his Senior
Fellowship in 1660,
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ceeding to come from the vehemence of Dr. Martin, Bishop of Meath, rather
than from the mild and gentle disposition of the Primate.”

Laud writes to Strafford, 18th October, 1636 :—

It is in my judgment a great business in itself that the prime prelates
of the kingdom and the Provost of the College should be at such an eager
difference in the open face of that state, and in view of so many Romanists
as swarm there, and cannot but look upon it with joy. But it is far more
dangerous in the consequence, if I much mistake not ; for that College, as
_ your Lordship hath often acknowledged unto me, both by letters and other-
wise, having been as ill governed as any College in Christendom, or worse,
will never be able to recover and settle to be a good seminary for that
Church if hoth the power and credit of the Provost be not upheld by his
superiors.* And should a Provost that is otherwise vigilant and careful err
in some circumstantial business, it is far better for the public, if not to
maintain his errors, yet to pass by them, rather than give countenance and
encouragement to such young heads, who seek for no other liberty than
that which may make way for licentiousness.”

Laud also alludes to papers which were sent to him both by
the Primate and the Provost, and to a personal interview which
he had with Feasant, and asks Strafford to have, if possible, a
true account of the facts of the case agreed upon, and signed by
all parties, in order that he may give his decision. Laud wrote
to Ussher on the same day? to the effect that he had attentively
read over all the papers which had been sent to him, and that
he had carefully and with all indifferency drawn up a brief
history of the facts and of the whole proceedings, with refe-
rences in the margin to each paper. It is to be lamented that
this document has not come down to us.

It would appear that through the influence of Strafford
and the moderation of Ussher these differences were amicably
settled, and that Laud had nct to give a formal decision as

* It must have been in consequence of these opinions of Ussher and Laud, that
sufficient power was not vested in the Provost by the old statutes that Laud intro-
duced into his statutes clauses, which gave the Provost alone the authority to proceed
to the expulsion of Fellows and Scholars, having first summoned the two Deans as
witnesses. This power was exercised afterwards by several Provosts.

t Parr’s Life, p. 482 ; Elrington, vol, xvi. p. 22.
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Chancellor. This would account for the silence of the Register
of the College as to the matter. Very probably there was a
compromise effected, and while Feasant was expelled, Newman
and Conway were restored to their Fellowships. We know that
Hoyle and Cullen were afterwards co-opted to Senior Fellow-
ships. Laud writes to Strafford on the 28th August, 1637,
expressing satisfaction that the differences in the College had
been appeased ; but he urges him “to keep a continual eye
upon the malady in the College till we shall be able to place
the Provost elsewhere, and have another fit man ready to suc-
oeed him.” In reply Strafford writes to Laud, 18th October,
1637 :—*1 hope all is very right now between the Primate and
the Provost, and I trust will so continue.”” He states that he
would be glad to promote Chappel to a bishoprie, provided that
it would not entail his resignation of the Provostship, *for he
is & very worthy person. ... I assure,you he hath begot a
mighty reformation among them, and I see that good work
hath and will prosper in his hands; and therefore great pity it
were to move him from there. . . . In the mean space he hath
better than £500 a-year,* and is passing well contented withal.
I have so great an opinion of his government and integrity
that I am putting my son thithert under his eye and care, by
which you will judge I purpose not to have him one of Prynne’s
disciples.”

Within a year from this Chappel was made Bishop of Cork,
and was consecrated on November 11, 1638. He was induced,
however, to retain his Provostship for eighteen months longer.}

* This must have included the income of the Deanery of Cashel.

t On the 12th of January, 163}, William, eldest son of Lord Strafford, entered
Trinity College at the age of eleven and a-half years, under the Vice-Provost, Mr.
Harding, who had been M.A. of Cambridge, and was probably his private tutor,
and was elected Fellow in the previous year by mandamus from Strafford. On the
same duy, and under the same tutor, was entered Thomas, son of Sir George Rad-
cliffe, a friend of Strafford, at the age of fourteen and a-half years; and on the
18th of May, 1638, George, son of Christopher Wandesford, aged fourteen and
a-half, also under Mr. Harding.

1 In Ussher’s letter to Laud of July 9, 1638 (Elrington, vol. xvi. p. 36), he
writes, “I was very sorry to see that clause of his Majesty’'s letter whereby-the
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He informs us that he was anxious to leave at once upon his
consecration, but the King would not allow it. In his narra-
tive, written after his ceasing to be Provost, he lays upon
Primate Ussher and Bishop Martin the blame of having re-
duced the College to the bad condition in which he found it
when he became Provost ; and he asserts that it was really they
who were the authors of all the confusions and distractions for
which Ussher blamed the Fellows.*

There is an interesting account of Provost Chappel to be
found in Borlase’s Reduction of Ireland: Dublin, 1695, p.
154, sqq. :—

¢¢ Certainly the exercises of the University were never stricter looked to,
or Discipline (if it were not too ceremonious) better observed than in his
time, only the lecture which was set up for teaching Irish (whether through
indulgence merely, or enjoined by statute, I am uncertain) was, after his
admission, wholly waived ; to which (whilst it was kept up) some diligently
resorted, the better to improve themselves for their future employment in the
country, that the Irish (finding men speak in their own tongue) might be
the sooner won over to the truth, no nation being more tenacious or better
affected to their language than themselves.”

Borlase also informs us that Chappel * was a close Ramist,t
and one who in his middle age favoured Mr. Perkins and that

Provostship of the College was granted to be held in commendam with the bishop-
rics of Cork and Ross ; of which the party himself whom it concerneth is sensible
enough that it can hardly stand with the solemn oath which he took upon the send-
ing over of the new statutes. . . . The eluding of oaths in this manner I do
conceive to be a matter of most pernicious consequence.”” He names others who
might succeed him suitably in the place.

hd ¢¢ Primatis in me odium interim est

Midensis haud languet (subige Deus animos)
Collegii male administrari arguor

(Quod ipsi adegerant miserrimum in statum
Ego reparaveram).”

1 The Ramists were the followers of Peter Ramus, who opposed the philoso-
phical principles of Aristotle. Cambridge was the great centre in England where
these views prevailed. One of the most prominent supporters of the opinions of
Ramus was Provost Temple, when he was a Fellow of King’s College. He wrote
in 1581 a letter to John Piscator on this subject, which attracted considerable at-
tention at the time, and in 1584 there was printed in Cambridge a book bearing the
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side. He, moreover, relates an amusing anecdote which has
reference to King James I.’s taste for logical disputation. On
one occasion at the Cambridge Commencement the King was
present, and Dr. Roberts of Trinity College was respondent in
St. Mary’s. Mr. Chappel was the opponent, and he argued so
closely, and with such subtlety, that Dr. Roberts, feeling him-
self so pressed in argument, fell into a swoon in the pulpit.
The King, desirous to sustain the Commencement, undertook
to maintain the thesis, which Chappel (by his syllogisms) op-
posed so forcibly, that the King admitted himself to have
been beaten.

Laud having completed the new statutes, and having had
them passed under the Great Seal, arranged that they should
take effect on the 5th June, 1637, being Trinity Monday, which
was in future to be the day of elections of Fellows and Scholars.*
John Kerdiffe, one of the Senior Fellows, was known to be
inimical to the acceptance of the new charter. He was chaplain
to Bishop Martin. On the 15th of the previous March he was
provided for by being presented to the Rectory of Desertereight.
However, he remained a Senior Fellow until June. There then
remained only Conway, Hoyle, and Ware, as Senior Fellows;
for Feasant had been expelled, Newman’s Fellowship had ex-
pired, and Ince’s place had not been filled up. It was necessary
that four Senior Fellows should co-operate with the Provost.
Newman had been favourable to the charter, and it was thought
fit to supply his place by another of similar views. Conse-
quently Strafford sent a mandamus to the College to elect John
Harding, M.A., a Cambridge man, to be a Senior Fellow,

following title: P. Rami Dialectice Libri duo Scholiis G. Tempelli Cantabragiensis
tllustrati. This is supposed by Mullinger to have been the first book printed at the
Cambridge University Press (see vol. ii. p. 405). In the Introduction to this book
Temple speaks of the logic of Ramus as having been widely spread through the
best Universities of Europe. It is remarkable that a century after the death of
Ramus, an enlarged edition of Ramus’ Logic was produced by John Milton, the
celebrated pupil of Provost Chappel.—Artis Logice plenior Institutio, ad Petri
Rami Methodum Concinnata, 1672.
* In the old Statutes there was no time specified for these elections,
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which they did on the 20th April, 1637.* And on the 9th
May another mandamus came to the College from Strafford,
ordering them to elect Thomas Marshall, M.A., another Cam-
bridge man, as Senior Fellow, in the place, probably, of Feasant,
expelled. There were thus four of the Senior Fellows clearly
in favour of the new charter and statutes—Conway, Marshall,
Harding, and most probably Ware. Hoyle was opposed to
Provost Chappel, but he seems to have come round to the
acceptance of the new statutes; and on the 11th of May, at a
Board, the Provost, Harding, Marshall, Conway, Ware, and
Hoyle, decreed to accept the new charter and statutes. Kerdiffe
alone did not sign, but he resigned his Fellowship on the 5th
of June, before the oaths to observe the new statutes were
taken by the other Fellows. There were on that day then two
Senior Fellowships to be filled. On the 5th of June the Arch-
bishops of Armagh and Dublin came into the Chapel® about
three o’clock in the afternoon. Mr. Harding, the Vice-Provost,
read the new charter, which recited the old charter and con-
firmed it in all points that were not attended with the danger
of forfeiture ; the Provost took the Provost’s oath, not having
been sworn on his institution, and all the Fellows were sworn
afterwards. The oaths of the Scholars were postponed for a
week. After the departure of the Archbishops, the Provost
and Senior Fellows went into the Chapel, and in conformity
with the new statutes co-opted Mr. Cullen and Mr. Davis into
the two vacant Senior Fellowships. The Provost and seven
Senior Fellows then elected one Master of Arts and five Ba-
chelors of Arts of Trinity College into the six vacant Junior
Fellowships. .

According to the new charter the Visitors were reduced to
two—the Vice-Chancellor and the Archbishop of Dublin. The
Vice-Chancellor was no longer elected by the Fellows, but

* In the following year after Harding had taken the Fellow’s oath under the
new statutes he accepted a living from Lord Strafford, and consequently his Fel-
lowship became vacant ; but immediately after his resignation he procured a King’s
letter, directing the College to re-admit him to his Senior Fellowship without the
necessity of taking the statutable oath.
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appointed by the Chancellor. Laud restored the words nempe
quatuor, which Provost Chappel had removed from the statute
with regard to the Senior Fellows. He retained in his own
power the election of a Senior Fellow when the Board neglected
to co-opt within three days; and also he had it enacted that the
decision of the Visitors should not be conclusive in rebus gra-
vioribus, but retained in those matters the final decision in the
hands of the Chancellor himself. The power of expulsion of
Fellows and Scholars was given to the Provost himself, reserv-
ing, however, to the person so expelled an appeal to the Visitors
of the College. The difficulty of having the College filled with
and governed by very young Fellows—the standing of none of
whom could have exceeded fourteen years from entrance, and
none of whom could consequently have taken any degree in
Divinity—was met by making the Fellowships tenable for life,
unless the holder married, or accepted an ecclesiastical benefice ;
and the power of making College statutes was taken from the
Fellows and reserved to the Crown. In other respects the pro-
visions of the old statutes were largely retained. There is no
doubt of the wisdom which is conspicuous in Laud’s emenda-
tion of the statutes, and of the excellent fruit which it affer-
wards produced in the growth and success of the College. '
There was one point in which Laud perpetuated a practice
which we should scarcely expect him to have approved of. The
old rules of the College required that a short sermon, or com-
monplace, on some Scriptural text, should be preached weekly
during Term by every resident Master of Arts, although a
layman, in the College Chapel. To this statute Archbishop
Abbott had taken great exception, on the ground that it was
“flat puritanical.”’* Bedell, however, extended these common-
places to two each week during the entire year,t and Laud
confirmed this practice in his statute * De Cultu Divino.”
‘Although Strafford acted in an extremely arbitrary manner,
and set at nought the chartered privileges of the University, it

* Ussher’s letter to Chaloner, April 9, 1613.
1 Bedell’s letter to Ussher, September 10, 1627.
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is clear that he took a sincere interest in the fortunes of Trinity
College, and exerted himself in every way to advance its real
interests. He went so far as to induce the Privy Council to
issue a proclamation, illegally and arbitrarily interfering with
the rights of the citizens, in order to secure the discipline of the
College. By a proclamation of the 9th February, 1636 [see
Appendix xxxi1.], in conjunction with the Counecil, he forbade
all innkeepers and tavern keepers in the city of Dublin from
receiving into their houses any Fellow, Scholar, or Student of
Trinity College, to make any stay there, without first receiving
the Provost’s permission ; and this proclamation gave the Proctor
of the University power to search houses for the Students, and
for any goods belonging to them. And we find that, in pur-
suance of this proclamation, on the 29th of May, Daniel Wild,
a student, and Eliza Jones, an ale-house keeper, were brought
before the Council, and each was fined £40. Eliza Jones was
further ordered to stand in the market-place for an hour with a
paper on her head, stating her offence, and was forbidden for
ever to keep a victualling or an ale-house. Wild was, by the
Provost, further suspended from his M.A. degree, had his name
removed from the College books, was deprived of his scholarship
and of his testimonium of good conduct.

" Chappel was evidently a favourite of the Lord Lieutenant,
and there is no doubt that during his Provostship an at-
tempt was made to enlarge the College by the addition of
new houses for the residence of the increased number both
of the Fellows and the Students, and that Strafford and his
friends, members of the Privy Council, contributed liberally
for the purpose. John Fitzgerald, D.D., Dean of Cork, and
M. Fitzgerald, Archdeacon of Emly, erected a bay of build-
ings on the north side of the College at their own expense;
George Baker,* a citizen of Dublin, bequeathed £500, and
a building called after his name was erected on the north

® On a brass plate in the College Library we find the following inscription :—
MDCXXXIX. D.M.S. Georgius Bakerius, Cantabragie Incola, Dublini Vixit -
hospes quoque diu. Moriturus urbi pratulit academiam, ubi vivet hospes eminens,
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side of the old quadrangle, most probably on the site of the
present Chapel, and on the north side of the front square; and
Sir Richard Scott gave £300 for the building of lodgings for
the Scholars; and Mr. Calcott Chambre, 200 tons of oak timber
from Shilelagh Wood. On the occasion of Chappel’s finally
leaving College on July 20, 1640, we find the following entry
in the Register :—

“The Right Rev. Father in God, William, Lord Bishop of Cork, being
chosen Provost 21 August, 1634, after he had graciously reformed the
Students, happily procured new Statutes and rich amplifying of the build-
ings, beautified the Chapel, Hall, Provost’s lodgings, and the Regent House,
with the garden and other places, by the good advice and assistance of our
worthy, learned, and pious Vice-Provost, Dr. Harding, and wonderfully
increased the College plate and stock, reduced all things into a blessed
order, and faithfully governed by the space of six years as a glorious Pattern
of sobriety, justice, and godliness, resigned his Provostship this day.”

Before Chappel finally left College there was an election of
Fellows and Scholars, which was accompanied by an unusual cir-
oumstance. There was one Fellowship vacant, and for this there
were two competitors, William Raymond, M.A., of the second
year, and George Lovelock, B.A., of the second year. Both
answered well at the examination, the latter in a very distin-
guished manner, considering his standing. Raymond, as being
senior, was unanimously elected to the Fellowship. But the
Provost and Senior Fellows considering Lovelock’s ¢ good cha-
racter, and that his father had lately died, being a pious man
and a Protestant, while his mother was a zealous Romanist, with
her heart set upon the perversion of her son by promises, by
intreaty of herself and others, and by the detention of his patri-
mony,” with the consent of Archbishop Laud, the Chancellor,
Archbishop Ussher, Vice-Chancellor, and the Archbishop of
Dublin (Bulkeley), the Visitors, elected him to the next vacancy
without requiring him to sit again at an examination. He

et excipiet tuos Apollo filios chara capita ®dibus quas sumptu suo paravit splen-
didas : vivet, et amplo fruetur laudis praemm, alii dum sud perierint pecunid. Qui
satis magnum haud putat Bakerium, majore magnus esto beneficentid. —Guls
Chappel, Corc. et Ross. Episcopus, hujus Coll. Prespositus.
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never did, however, succeed to a Fellowship. Chappel’s reten-
tion of the Provostship, after his consecration to the See of
Cork, was at the instance of Strafford, and with the approval of
Laud,* but it was strenuously opposed by Primate Ussher and
by the Bishop of Derry as being in direot opposition to the
Statutes. The Bishop of Derry (Bramhall) was anxious that
Mr. Howlitt should succeed Chappel as Provost.

A petition having been presented to the Irish House of
Commons, by certain enemies of Bishop Chappel, it was referred
to a committee, who “met and repaired to the College, as well
to examine the Charters and Statutes as to hear and consider
all grievances and innovations by disorderly government intro-
duced there’’; but information was given unto several of the
Committee that a Statute lately made prohibited the students
from making such complaints to any other than the Provost
and Senior Fellows, under penalty of expulsion. On reporting
this refusal of the members of the College to the House of
Commons, there was an order of that House declaring that
Statute in this particular void, and of none effect. February
26, 1649 :—

1. ¢ That Chappel had not taken the Statutable Oath on his first appoint-
ment to the Provostship, and, notwithstanding, had acted as Provost.

2. “That he had stated, when the new Statutes were promulgated (July
20th, 1636), that they had the assent of the Provost, Fellows, and Scholars,
while, in fact, they had the assent only of himself and two Senior Fellows,
William Newman and Robert Conway, and these two had been previously
deprived of their Fellowships by the Visitors.

3. ¢ That whereas the old Statutes directed that natives should be pre-
ferred in elections to Fellowships and Scholarships, Chappel had, both before
and after the promulgation of the new Statutes, put back the natives and
fetched in strangers from his own pupils in Cambridge, and preferred them
to Fellowships and Scholarships, though they were unfitted by learning, and
it was stated that at that time there was only one native among the Senior
Fellows. )

4. * That he had discontinued the Hebrew and Mathematical Lectures.”

* See Strafford to Laud, vol ii. pp. 194 and 262, and Laud to Strafford, vol.
ii. p. 248.
G
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The committee examined Newman, Conway, and Kerdiffe,
and had all the documents before them.

The proceedings relative to this case may be found in the
Journals of the Irish House of Commons.* The result was a
resolution, unanimously passed June 9, 1641, ‘ That proceed-
ings of the Rev. William Chappel, late Provost of Trinity, are
great grievances, and fit to receive redress ’’; and the House of
Commons passed an order forbidding the Provost and Fellows
to hold any further elections of Fellows and Scholars until
further order.t This was modified by a subsequent resolution
of August 2, 1641, allowing the Provost and Fellows ¢ to elect
such natives as had sat for Scholarships that year ; the same to
be elected Scholars as from the last Trinity Monday, giving a
preference to such natives as were educated in Dublin schools.”
They also passed a resolution authorizing a Committee of the
House, then in England, to supplicate the King to have an
Act of Parliament passed in Ireland to annul the late charter,
and to re-establish the first foundation and charter. This pro-
secution of Chappel recurred from time to time in the proceed-
ings of the House until June 12, 1647.

The following is the account of the College receipts from
the estates for the year ending November 22, 1636; Arthur
‘Ware, Bursar :—

£ s d.
Munster lands, per Mr. Mead, . . . . 69 8 4
Sir Barnaby Brian, half-year’s rent, . . . 114 1
Mr. Robert Maxwell, half-year’s rent, . co 1210 0
8ir R. Loftus, half-year’s rent of Toaghy, . . 18710 0O
Sir John Temple, one year’s rent of Slutmulrooney
and Toghie, . . . . . . . 100 0 O
Lord Caulfield, one year’s rent of Colures, . . 30 0 0

* Vol. i. pp. 196, 226, 228, 232, 259, 279, 286, 367, 369, 372.

1 The reason of this is said to have been that certain members of the College
refused to give evidence or information of alleged malpractices in the College dur-
ing Lord Strafford’s administration, concerning themselves, prohibited by cap. xi.
of the College Statutes (Carte’s Ormonde, vol. i. pp. 147-8). In 1644 three Senior
Fellows were appointed by mandate of the Lord Deputy, and in 1646 a Royal letter
enabled Bishop Martin, then Provost, to elect Fellows, and he elected four—Vale,
Coghlan, Boyle, and Neilan.
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£ s d

Bishop Richardson, Tyrhew and Kilmacrenan, half-
year’s rent of four quarters, . 211 4 3

Bishop Richardson and Bishop of Kilmore, half-year s
rent of two shares of do., . 105 12 1
8ir John Temple and Sir William Anderson, do do ., 10512 1
Mr. Tallis, year’s rent of the Park, . . . 13 0 0
From Exchequer, . . . . . . 319 811
Mr. John Crofton, year’s rent, . . . . 2 06
” Wicklow, do., . . 0 3 0

8ir Ra.lph Gore, half-year s rent of four quarters in
Tyrhue, . . . . . S0 00
Dromloghan, half-year, e e e e 05 3
Mr. Hussey, Culmullen Tithes, . 8 2 6

Lord Dillon, on account of half-year’s rent of Bun-
doran, . . . . . . . 50 0 0

Total, .  £1236 11 0

Among other entries in the Bursar’s book we find 2s. 6d. in
the pound allowed to Denis Brien for collecting the Munster
rents (1628).

Received from Mr. Arthur Ware in lieu of a Piece of
plate, . . . 2 00
Received from the Blshop of Ossory a yea.rs rent
of the outward marsh, pasture ground, meadow
ground, and firr park near the College (December
10,1628), . . 13 0 0
From Mr. Floyd in lieu of two pleces of plate to be
bestowed on the Colleve, . . 4 0 0
Commencement money, viz.—
M.A, .
D.D., . . .
B.D, . . .
F ellow Commoner, B. A
Pensioner, B. A., .
Entrance fee,* F ellow Commoner,
Pensioner, . .

£ s d

h
[

O N =S D
OO oCOoOCO

—19 5 Ot

* The Earl of Cork in his diary (Lismore Papers, vol. iii. p. 20) writes:—
5 May, 1630. My sons Lewis and Hodge cam to Dublin with their sister
the Countess of Barrymore, and were presently admitted into the Colledge.”
9 May. I gave my Chaplain 50s. to pay the ffees to the Officers of Trynitie
Colledge near Dublin, for the admittance of my two sons Lewis and Hodge into
that house, and must also present plate.”

t In June, 1635, the Commencement money came to £101.

G2
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V £ s d
Rent of Chambers, entrances, and detriments extra-
ordinary, for September Quarter, 1632, . 9 6 4
Received from the Provost, one year’s rent of the
little parks beyond the gardens, . 300
Nov. 18, 1635. Reoceived from Denis Bryan of the
Munster rents and arrears, which was brought
here by Mr. Meade, . 55 0 0
Received more of our Munster rents, collected by
Mr. Meade, . 14 9 9*

The finances of the College seem to have been in a satisfac-
tory condition at this time. But the troublous times which
came on very soon reduced the resources of the College to the
very lowest ebb, as will be manifest from what follows.

Chappel was immediately succeeded in the Provostship by
Richard Washington, B.D., Fellow and Vicegerent of Uni-
versity College, Oxford, who was appointed by Letters Patent,
and was admitted on August 1, 1640, at 10 a.Mm., before prayers.
He continued only for one year, and fled to England at the
breaking out of the rebellion in 1641. He was soon after re-
elected Fellow of his College in Oxford. He submitted to the
Parliamentary Visitors at Oxford in 1648, and he was the only
one of the old members of that foundation who was allowed to
remain in the College.t When Washington was leaving Dublin
on the 29th Ootober, 1641, the Irish Council requested the Bishop
of Meath and the Master of the Rolls{ to repair to-the College,
and to bring the remainder of the plate and the money to the
Castle for safe keeping ; and the Lords Justices appointed Dr.
Faithful Tate, and Dr. Dudley Loftus, Master in Chancery,
and Judge of the Prerogative Court, as temporarii subrectores.
Dr. Tate was licensed to reside in the Provost’s buildings until
February, 1644, when the Bishop of Meath, Anthony Martin,
formerly a Fellow of Trinity College (1610), but who had been
educated partly in France and partly at Emmanuel College,

# £11 15s. of above sum was given for his journey, and £2 14s. 9., the balance,
put in the trunk.
+ Wood’s dthene Oxonienses, vol. i. p, 876. 1 Sir John Temple.
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Cambridge, and who had been driven by the rebels from his
See, was admitted Provost. He continued to administer the
affairs of the College under extreme difficulties. The rents of
the College from the Ulster lands practically ceased on the
breaking out of the rebellion, and no receipts of the Munster
rents appear for some years in the Bursar’s books.

The old memoranda of the receipts of the Bursar in these
disastrous years remain in a book in the office, and they indi-
cate the great straits to which the College was put, and which
rendered it necessary to pawn and sell the College plate, and
afterwards to appeal for public contributions to enable the
community to keep together.

The College had accumulated a considerable amount of
valuable plate, which had been presented to it from time to
time by noblemen and wealthy gentlemen, whose sons had
entered as students. In one of the early books there is an in-
ventory of the plate, viz. “8 Potts; 14 Goblets; 2 Beakers;
9 Bowles; 3 Standing Pieces ”’; and the names of the donors
are preserved.

In the Bursar’s books we find the following entries : —

£ s d
1642. Aug. 27.—Borrowed of Mr. J. Roles, the College stock
being then all spent, . 20 0 O
. Sept. 15.--Borrowed from Jacob Kirwan (for whlch there
was deposited with him in lieu thereof, for
the space of nine months, the worth thereof
in plate, the names whereof are written in
the College book of plate), . 5 0 0
»  Nov. 24.—Borrowed from Anne Hinson, WldOW (for
which there is deposited with her a parcel
of plate, the particulars whereof are written
in the plate book—the moneys were bor-

rowed for twelve months), . . 5 0 0
. ” Received for some small pieces of plate, viz.
gold spoons, . 2 70

" Dec. 24.—Borrowed fromAbraham Butts and John Rwe,
Executors of John Allen, Bricklayer, for
twelve months, at 8 per cent., on a mort-
gage of 2730z. 14dwts. of plate (viz. 4
Bowles, 7 Tankards, and 4 College Potts), )50, 0. 0
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1643.

"

1644.

1645.

D)
1644,

”
1646,

”

164%

1647.
”»
”
»

Sale of College Plate.

July 22.—Received for some broken pteees of plate

Oct.

which were coined, .

24.—Received the overplus whlch arose out of the
coining of the plate pawned to Dr. Roak
and the Widow Hinson.

»» 20.—Received for some parcels of plate which

were coined,

April 19.—The plate which had been pawned as above,

Dec.

"
Jan.

Feb.

to Abraham Butts and John Price, was
made over by them to Mr. Stout in 1643,
who, upon non-payment of the moneys,
had the plate coined, and the principal and
interest being retained, handed over to the
Bursar the balance, .

12.—Received for two College potts, welghmg
670z, 3dwts., . . . . .

24,—Received for one College pott .

17. —Received for two parcels of plate, wexghmg
390z. 4dwts., . . . .

12.—Received for three parcels of plate o e

May 28.—Received for a Spanish cup coined,
Aug. 16,.—Received for Mr. Courtenay’s ﬂagon, whlch

Oct.

1"

1

was coined, . .

8.—Received for a piece of plate wluch was broken
up and coined to supply the College with
provisions against the approaching siege*
(it had been presented by Sir Robert Trevor
of Trevillin, Co. Denbigh, Governor of
Newry, a former benefactor of the College,

10.—Received for Sir Richard Irven’s College

pott, . . . . . .
17.—A candlestick coined, . . . . .

Nov. 30.— do. do., . .

”

27.—Certain parcels of plate coined (vxz 9402
5dwts. toucht plate, 160z. 12dwts. uncer-
tain plate, .
Received for Sir Wllllam Wentworth’s basln
and ewer, weighing 1280z. 4dwts., .

April 17.—Received for some parcels of plate,

May 25.— do. do., . . .
June 12.— do. do., . . .
» 29— do. do., . .

July 22.—Received for some parcels of plate oomed .

£ s
19 15

12 6

'30 19

18 3
15 17
15 15

26 10

30 19
15 17
18 14
11 18
1 4
22 12

d.

(-] QWS

WO WO®XD

* Of the corn laid in on this occasion there was sold by Mr. Kerdiffe (now
Bursar) on January 23, 1644, 15 pecks of wheat for £85s.
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£ s d
1647. BSept. 4.—Received for a dozen of spoons coined, . 316 0
’ Oct. 21.— do. do., 6 1 0

y»  Nov. 13.—In part from Mr. Tounge for a gilt salt and
six spoons, toucht plate, . . 5 00
’ ss 20.—The balance of same, . 110 0
sy  27.—For Adam Ussher’s double gllt salt comed 313 0

”
16437, Feb. 7.—Received for Mr. Alvey’s College pott and
salt, which were pawned for ten pounds, . 10 0 0
1648. April 12.—Received in lieu of a silver bowl from Mr.

Taylor, . . 4 0 0

. . —Received from the Provost ona plece of plate
for covering the House, . . 2 5 0

" May 20.—From Mr. Van Syndhoven for a gilt bowl
pawned, . . 6 00

1649. sy 24.—For Mr, Alvey 8 plate, from Alderman
Huitcheson, . . . . . 1110 4

We find also sums collected in England for the support
of the College : by Dr. Jones at several times ; by Dr. Maxwell ;
Collected in Cheshire; by Mr. Veale; Mr. Thomas Rich of
London ; Mr. John Watson (by virtue of a Royal Commission) ;
Bishop of Clogher ; Sir Paul Davis; Sir Maurice Eustace, and
Mr. John Bysse, Recorder of Dublin ; given by the Marquis of
Ormonde and the officers of the army ; collected by Mr. Nalton
of 8t. Leonard’s, Foster Lane, London; Mr. Roberts of St.
‘Woonat’s, Lombard-street ; Mr. John Williams of St. Peter’s,
Paul’s Wharf ; Mr. Crawford (minister); anonymous; Mr.
George Baker and Mr. Perkins in London; from the Company
of Stationers; Mr. Newsom, London; Mr. Hall of Little St.
Bartholomew’s, London; and Mr. Puller of St. Botolph’s.
Collected in all from May 19, 1643, to November 18, 1648,
£269 17s. 94.

In addition to the above there were given by the State in
Dublin, from March 27, 1643, to February 14, 164§, sundry
sums of £3 10s. per week, granted by the Marquis of Ormonde.
This was effected by reducing each of the thirty-five com-
panies of foot soldiers in the garrison of Dublin by one man,
and granting his pay of 2s. per week to the College, in all 70s.
weekly. And on the 29th February eight barrels of herrings,
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granted by the State, were sold to Mr. Huetson for £4. And
from April 6, 1646, there was a weekly allowance to the Col-
lege by the State, out of the Barony of Naas, of £3 8s., from
which 2s. 4d. was deducted each week. We find that on
December 14, there was received £1 for a cow seized on account
of this contribution from Naas. This allowance seems to have
been continued by the Parliamentary Governor of Dublin,
Colonel Jones ; for we find sundry sums received from him in
the year 1648, amounting in all to £68, and also £20 10s. in
the same year from impropriate tithes in the county of Kildare,
given to the College by the Governor of the city.

‘We find in the Bursar’s receipt-book, November 20, 1648,
the following entry :—*The receipts and disbursements of the
last year being made equal, there remained in the trunk for the
beginning of the next year the sum of nine pounds and seven
pence.”

In 1644, John Kerdiffe, James Bishop, and William
Raymund, Junior Fellows, petitioned the Marquis of Ormonde,
Chancellor of the University, as to the vacant Senior Fellowship,
there not being a sufficient number of Senior Fellows resident
in the College to make a legal co-optien; and the appointment
having lapsed to the Chancellor, their petition was granted. In
1646 four Fellows were elected by order of the King’s letter of
September 1: one of these, Richard Coghlan, was expelled by
Bishop Martin, Provost, on October 20, 1647, on his being
oconvicted of the following charges:—1. Coming to a meeting
of the Board without being called when he was only a Junior
Fellow. 2. Disturbing the members of the Board with im-
proper language. 3. That he hath often abused Fellows and
others. 4. That his habit of dress was unstatutable. 5. That
he exhibited to the Lord Lieutenant, the Chancellor of the
University, a petition against the Provost and Senior Fellows.
6. That he did not take priest’s orders. 7. That he publicly
charged the Provost and Fellows with great offences, called the
Provost a fool and knave, and swore he would kick him.

~ In June, 1647, the Marquis of Ormonde surrendered Dublin
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to the Commissioners of the English Parliament, and they at
once abolished the Liturgy, and substituted the Directory in its
place. Sir James Ware* tells us that Bishop Martin had the
courage to disregard the order, and used the Book of Common
Prayer in the College Chapel, and that he preached against the
heresies of the times with an apostolic liberty in a crowded
congregation. He died in the College in 1650, of the plague,
which then raged in Dublin, and in great poverty, and was buried
in the ante-chapel, near the north wall, under the old steeple.

Mr. Samuel Winter,t household chaplain to the four Parlia-
mentary Commissioners, who had been formerly Minister at
Cottingham, in Yorkshire, was appointed by that body to govern
the College, then left destitute of Fellows and Scholars. He
was designated Provost or Master of the College, and on the
18th November, 1651, we find the following entry in the
College Registry :— Memorandum that Mr. Samuel Winter,
Provost of the College, having performed such acts as were
required for a Bachelor of Divinity, the Fellows this day met
in the Regent House, and with an unanimous consent conferred
a private grace for the degree of B. D. on the said Mr. Winter,
which act was the same day allowed by the said Provost.”}
There is entered on the College Register an appointment of
Samuel Winter to be Provost or Master of Trinity College,
signed by Oliver Cromwell, June 3, 1652. When he became
Provost, Joseph Travers, whose Fellowship was vacated in 1630
on his acoepting the benefice of Clonfeacle, returned from Eng-
land, and was made Senior Fellow and Professor of Civil Law,
September 3, 1652. He continued to act as such until May 22,
1655. Ceesar Williamson came from England, and his name is
signed as Senior Fellow, from May 5, 1654, to the Restoration,
when he was re-appointed by the Crown. John Stearne, M.D.,

* Page 158.

+ See Baxter’s Life and Times, by Calamy, vol. ii., College Library, HH i. 2.
Winter was born in 1603, and gave up his living, worth £400. The Commissioners
in Ireland allowed him only £100 yearly.

. 1 This was probably to qualify Winter for election as Provost, in conformxty
with the statutes.
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grandnephew of Archbishop Ussher, and who had been a Scholar
in 1641, was appointed a Fellow in 1652, and re-appointed after
the Restoration. He was made Hebrew Professor for life in
1656, at a salary of £30.* Miles Sumner, Major in the Parlia-
mentary army, who had been elected a Scholar in 1626, was
made Fellow and Professor of Mathematics in 1652, by order
of the Parliamentary Commissioners, on the ground that there
was then a great occasion for surveying lands in Ireland, and
that there were divers ingenious persons, soldiers and others,
who were desirous of being instructed and fitted for the same.
He was given a salary of £50 a-year, in addition to his Fellow’s
allowances, and his lectures were to be open to the public. He
continued Fellow until the Restoration, when he appears to
have taken Holy Orders, after which time he was re-appointed
Professor of Mathematics and Auditor until his death in
1686. He was, moreover, Archdeacon of Clogher in 1661, and
took the degree of D.D. on July 7, 1664. He was probably
the first holder of the Lectureship in Mathematics, which was
founded by the Earl of Donegall in 1668.

The Marquis of Ormonde having been compelled to retire
to the Continent, Provost Winter and the Fellows elected Henry
Cromwell, Lord Deputy, Chancellor, in his place, on March 16,
1653. Henry Jones, Bishop of Clogher, having been appointed
Vice-Chancellor in 1646, continued to act as Vice-Chancellor,
but he did not assume his title of Bishop.

All the records show that the new Chancellor toek a lively
interest in the welfare of the College, and in the moral and
religious character of the students. On the 23rd March, 1654,
the following order was made by the Lord Deputy and
Council : —

¢ The Lord Deputy and Council being desirous to give all due encourage-
ment to the advancement of learning, and to promote Godliness, and on the
contrary to discontinue vice, and what hath a tendency to looseness and

* This Decree of November 24, 1666, was approved by Henry Cromwell, Locum
tenens, and General Governor of Ireland, and Chancellor of the University, on June
5, 1669.
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profaneness ; it is therefore thought fit and ordered, that Dr.Winter, Maister
of Trinity College, Dublin, do call the respective Fellows, students, and other
members of the College together, exhort them to a careful walking, becom-
ing the Ghospel, and to build up one another in the knowledge and fear of
the Lord, and diligently to attend public prayer, preaching the Word,
expositions, and other religious duties; and also by encouraging and
countenancing private Christian meetings together in the College or else-
where, for the edifying and encouraging one another in conference, and
repeating what they have heard preached of the Way of the Lord, and by
frequent seeking God by prayer, instructing and admonishing one another,
to edify each other that they may increase in the saving knowledge of Christ.
And the Lord Deputy and Council do further order, that when it shall at
at any time hereafter appear unto the said Master that any member of
the said College be scandalous in his life, or walke disorderly by being
either swearer, gamester, haunting of taverns and alehouses, Sabbath-
breaker, obscene in his conversation, or scoffer at the profession of Godliness,
or any other way profane, the said Master and Fellows, or any two of
them, are to cause the said person or persons so offending to be publicly
convented before them, and upon due proof thereof before the Master and
any two or more Fellows of thut College, to expell such corrupt persons out
of their society and service, and to inflict such punishment upon such
offender as is, and shall be agreeable to Law, and the Laws and Statutes of
the said College.
¢ THo. HERBERT,

““Clerk of the Council.
*“ DuBLIN, 28 March, 1654.”

There remains in the Register a decree of Provost Winter
and the Fellows which was made on June 14, 1659, to the
effect that—

¢ No student shall be admitted A.B. unless he produce the Senior Greek
Lecturer’s Certificate of his competent proficiency in the Greek language,
and also certificates from the Hebrew Lecturer, and the Rhetoric Professor
of his diligent attendance upon their lectures and his considerable progress
in these studies ; and that no one shall be admitted to the Degree of A. M,
unless he produce a certificate from the Hebrew Lecturer of his competent
skill in that language.”

The writer of Winter’s life tells us that—

¢, . .out of his care and zeal to promote so pious a work, he in a short
time encouraged and procured the return of divers Fellows and Scholars to
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the College ; as also the coming over from England of several hopeful young
scholars, whereby the College was suddenly replenished with many religious
and hopeful young men ; to whom he preached and expounded the Serip-
tures, often praying with them both in College Chapel and sometimes in his

own lodgings.”

By an entry in the College Register of September 11,
1652, the porter was directed not to permit clothes to be dried
in the quadrangle, nor any scholar to go out of College without
a ticket, or any woman to enter within the College except those
approved of by the Provost.

That Winter and the Senior Fellows were quite indepen-
dent of Henry Cromwell in their actions is proved by an entry
in the Register of 23rd June, 1659. Three days previously
Henry Cromwell wrote to the Provost and Senior Fellows,
directing them to pay Stearne his salary as Hebrew Professor
from November 20, 1657, on the ground that, ¢ although he had
not commenced the duties of the Professorship from that time,
because the appointment had not been ratified, yet forasmuch
as that day was mentioned in the instrument, the salary small,
and because he must be at the expense of buying books ne-
cessary for a life Professorship.” Notwithstanding this the
Provost and Senior Fellows voted him only £20 (instead of
£45) in full discharge of all arrears up to the 20th May
previous. _

On the 17th of November in the same year Stearne re-
signed his Fellowship, probably foreseeing the Restoration and
the changes in the College which it would bring about, for we
find him appointed Senior Fellow by king’s mandate, Decem-
ber 29 of the following year. He was Professor of Laws, and
was the first Regius Professor of Physic, June 3, 1662; but he
never appears to have acted as Hebrew Professor. It is clear
that Stearne had been considerately treated by Winter and the
Senior Fellows of his time, for in May, 1665, they gave him
permission to sleep out of the College whenever he pleased, as
he was engaged in the practice of the medical profession.

. .The payment of the rents of the College lands had, ceased
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when Winter was appointed Provost; and his first care was to
restore the finances of the College. He appears to have taken
four journeys to visit and collect rents from the northern
estates, principally those in Donegal. He was absent from the
College on this business from 17th August, 1653, to January
10th, 1654; from 20th September, 1654, to 17th January,
1655; from 1lst October to 18th December, 1656; and from
26th July to 22nd December, 1668. He also visited the
College estates in Kerry, leaving on May 29, and returning
on September 20, 1655. In this journey he inspected the
lands of Carrigafoyle and of Glanerough; and we find that on
one day in July of that year he baptized fifteen persons in
Nadeen Fort on the latter lands. Indeed in his diary he enu-
merates a large number of cases in which he had baptized,
buried, or married persons on his several journeys. We find
that he made a serious attempt to obtain a more suitable re-
venue to the College from the Munster lands; for in the year
1658 the Provost and Fellows entered into an arrangement with
Robert Stearne to lease to him all the College lands in Limerick
(except those let to Dr. Worth or Mr. Cardiff, or intended to
be let to Alderman Smith) for twenty-one years, Stearne under-
taking to let those lands to the best advantage, and to pay in
the rents to the College, receiving himself for his own care and
trouble £30 for the first year, and £20 each subsequent year.
By an error in the presentation to the College living of Clonoe,
‘Winter lost the advowson to the College for nearly a century
and a-half. This living had been episcopally united to Arboe,
and both were held by William Darragh, who was murdered in
1641, along with several other Protestant clergymen. Winter,
who was ignorant of this ecclesiastical arrangement, presented
Tempest Illingworth to Clonoe, and another clerk to Arboe,
and the latter dying first, the College presented a clergyman
to succeed him. When Illingworth died afterwards, in 1682,
the Primate instituted a clergyman into Arboe, and retained
the nomination until 1825, when it was by a suit in law re-
stored to the College. It is to be presumed that the College
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remained in ignorance that Clonoe had been a part of the union
of Arboe.

On the 15th December, 1657, we find Winter and the
Senior Fellows appointing John Dale, B.A., to be Master of
the school of Enniskillen, and in the registry of the trans-
action they state that “the College has hitherto made the
appointment.”

With respect to his surrendering his office, Winter’s bio-
grapher states that “the reason of his leaving that University
and kingdom is known to many ; and he came away to his
great outward prejudice, the College being indebted to him in
a considerable sum of money, which he had disbursed for the
use thereof, some part of which they have, since his decease, paid
his son.” We find in the College Register the following
order made by the general Convention of Ireland, 29th March,
1660 :—

¢ Upon reading the Petition of several of the Scholars of T.C.D., and
consideration had thereof, it is ordered that Dr. S. Winter, Prov., and the
several Fellows of the said Coll., upon sight hereof, déliver into the hands
of Mr. Ceesar Williamson and Mr. Francis Saunders, or one of them, the
original Charter of said College, and that the said Mr. Saunders do deliver
to the said Petitioners a true copy of the Oath mentioned in the local Statutes
of the said Coll., which the respective Provosts thereof did usually take
at their Admission, to the end the said Scholars and their Counsel might
peruse the same.

¢ Signed by Order,
¢ MATTHEW BARRY,
¢ Clerk of the General Convention of Ireland.”

Carte tells us in his Life of Ormonde,*  Neither Provost
nor Fellows, according to the statutes, had been placed there,
and the intruders were for the most part insufficient, disloyal,
and eminently active in spreading faction, schism, and rebel-
lion. The pretended Provost had lately, on complaint of his
tyrannical and arbitrary proceedings, and for contempt of their
authority, been suspended by the Convention of Ireland.”

* Vol. ii. p. 200.
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Winter was suspended for not having taken the Provost’s oath.
The Bishop of Clogher, the Lord Chief Baron, and Dr. Dudley
Loftus, were appointed to take charge of the College. Winter
returned to England, where he died in 1666.

Some of the men whom Winter* joined with himself as
Fellows were persons of earnestness, piety, and learning, among
the Noncorformists. Samuel Mather was educated at Harvard
College, where he took his degree. He spent some time in
study at both Oxford and Cambridge; he was Chaplain at
Magdalen College, Oxford, and preached frequently at St.
Mary’s. After he came to Dublin Winter made him a Senior
Fellow in 1655 ; and he afterwards preached every Sunday at

* The following Testimonium of the Degree of Doctor of Divinity is given in
Winter’s Life. London, 1671 :—

¢ Omnibus Christi fidelibus ad quos presentes literse pervenerint. Salutem in
Christo Domino Sempiternam. Nos Vicecancellarius Universitatis et Socii Seniores
Collegii Sancte et Individue Trinitatis juxta Dublin, Testamur Virum Venerabilem
Dominum Samuelem Winter, Anglum, Verbi Divini predicatorem fidelem, vere
religionis vindicem acerrimum et de Collegio SS. Trinitatis in Illustri Academia
Cantabrigiensi olim studiosum, adductum fuisse ad nos cum uberrimis testimoniis
ingenuitatis, probitatis, doctrine et Scientiz Theologice (quorum meritorum suorum
et studiorum luculentissimum documentum jampridem tam publice quam privatim
in celeberrima civitate Dubliniensi laudabiliter et egregie dederit) ad capessendum
gradum Doctoratis in Theologid ; et illorum plurimorumque doctissimorum de
meliori nota virorum, optime habilem, idoneum, et dignum testimoniis judicatum
fuisse, munere, officio, dignitate et honore Doctoratus in Theologia. Nos itaque
quibus ejus virtutiim excellentia, meritorum copia, diuturna studia, pervigilantes
labores innotuerunt, habita ratione, scientiw, cloquentie, doctringe, facultatis Theo-
logicee, peritise disputandi, interpretandi, concionandi, et aliarum virtutum et morum
ejusdem Samuelis Winter, quorum omnium -certissimum specimen, laudabiliter,
egregie, magistraliter et more Doctoreo dederit publice e suggesto per tres dies in
Collegii Sacello. Nos igitur in venerando Universitatis nostre consessu, eundem
Samuelem Winter unanimeter, omniumque suffragiis in Christi nomine approba-
mus, et sic approbatum Doctorem in Universa Theologia solenniter pronunciavimus,
declaravimus, ac fecimus. Quod nostrum Testimonium ut omnibus innotescat
subscriptis singulorum nominibus et publico Collegii nostri Sigillo corroborari et
muniri curavimus. Decimo septimo die Augusti anno Domini Millesimo sexcen-
tesimo quinquagesimo quarto.

HEN. JoNs,
Pro-Cancellarius.

MiLEs SYMNER. Nata. HovLe.
C. WILLIAMSON, JOHANNES STERNE.
Apau Cusacke:”
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St. Nicholas’ Church, and took his turn of preaching before the
Lord Deputy and Council.* Gamaliel Marsden was educated
at Trinity College, Dublin, and spent ten years in the College,
during six of which he was a Fellow.t Robert Norbury was
also educated in the College.; Edward Veele was a Graduate
of Christ Church, Oxford. He was a man of learning and
moderation, and wrote the Commentary on the Epistle to
the Ephesians and on the Epistle of St. Jude, in Poole’s
Annotations.§

NOTE ON THE EARLY COLLEGE STATUTES.

By the Charter of Elizabeth full power was given to the Provost and
Fellows of the College to enact such regulations as were required for the
government of the University and the College: these should receive the
approval of the Chancellor of the University. And it was indicated that
the authorites of the College should seleot such of the Statutes which were
in force in the Universities of Oxford and Cambridge as were suited to the
circumstances of the new foundation. From the very commencement such
regulations were made, although it is now impossible to arrange them in
chronological order. The early Provosts were all Cambridge Graduates,
and as such were more familiar with the Statutes and customs of their own
University, Sir William Temple appears to have been the first of the
Provosts who framed a Code of Statutes in a systematic manner. He had
been a Fellow of King’s College, and Luke Chaloner a Fellow of Trinity
College, Cambridge ; hence it was natural that the Statutes of these Col-
leges should have been largely used.

In the Charter the head of the College is designated Provost, and not
Master. In this respect the usage of King’s College was followed ; and we
find that in the Statutes the officer who was in charge of the revenue and
expenditure of the College was designated Bursarius, as at King’s College,
and not Zhesauriarius, as at Trinity and St. John’s.

In conformity with the Statutes of King’s College the Vice-Provost was
obliged to dine always in the Hall. The Statutes of that College direct that

* Calamy's ‘‘ Ejected Ministers,” vol. ii. p. 355, where his portrait is preserved.

+ Calamy, vol. ii. p. 436.

1 Calamy.

¢ See Calamy, vol. i. p. 210, and Wood, Atk. Oxon., vol. iv. p. 604, ed. Bliss,
and Wood, Fasti Oxon., vol. ii. p. 617.
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a portion of the Bible, or some work of the Fathers or Doctors of the Church,
should be read during dinner by a Clerie, or by a Scholar, or a Non-Gra-
duate Fellow. A similar regulation was introduced into our early Statutes.
On the other hand, the designation Prelector Primarius, and the four
Sublectores, are derived from the Trinity College Statutes. From these
‘latter are derived the rules for the election of Fellows, Scholars, and the
annual officers of the College; and the regulations with respect to the
Fellowship and Scholarship Examinations follow very closely the Trinity
Statutes. In the early College Statutes the power of election was given
simply to a majority of the Provost and Senior Fellows; and it is remark-
able that the restrictions which were found in the cotemporary Statutes
of Trinity and St. John’s College, Cambridge, which must have been before
the compilers of our Statutes, were studiously omitted. In the Trinity
College, Cambridge, Statutes there are elaborate rules laid down, that
when the eight Senior Fellows vote, four of these, along with the Master,
voting for a candidate, secure his election ; but when the whole eight vote
in one way, and the Master alone votes for another candidate, the eight
Senior Fellows prevail. In all other cases where, after three scrutinies, the
Master is found to vote with a minority, his vote determines the election.
The Statutes of St. John’s College differ very slightly from those of Trinity
in this respect. In the Statutes which Laud drew up, and which were
enacted by Royal authority, there was a clause inserted in the following
words :—‘In quem vel quos major pars Sociorum Seniorum una cum
Prwposito, vel eo absente, Vice Preeposito consensisse deprehendetur, is vel
illi pro eleoto vel electis habeantur; quod si primo vel secundo scrutinio
electorum major pars cum Preposito, vel eo absente, Vice Preposito non
consensuerint, eo in casu, is vel illi pro electo vel electis sunto quem vel
quos Prepositus vel eo absente Vice Preepositus nominabit.” From these
ambiguous words the right of the nomination at any election was, in the
last century, claimed by the Provost when the majority of the Senior Fellows
differed from him. It was exercised on two occasions by Provost Baldwin,
and once by Provost Hutchinson ; but this Provost’s negative was always
exercised in the face of a strong protest from the majority of the Board.
Provost Andrews contented himself with nominating when the electors were
equally divided ; and he appears to have held this to be the true interpre-
tation of the Statute. Bishop Young,* by a comparison of our Statutes with
those given about the same time by Laud to the University of Oxford,
makes it quite clear that the ambiguous sentence cannot properly be taken
in the sense which Baldwin and Hutchinson claimed, and that the words of
the Statute are derived from Oxford, and not from Cambridge.

¢ ¢ Inquiry into the Provost's Negative,” pp.‘ 94, &e.
H
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Bishop Bedell had added, as we have seen, a clause to the Statute, taken
from those of Emmanuel College, which restricted the competition of Ba-
chelors for Fellowship to men of seven terms standing. This, however,
was removed by Laud at the revision of the Statutes.

There was also a statutable custom which prevailed in Dublin from the
earliest time, and to which we have already referred, namely, that which
required all Masters of Arts, whether clerical or lay, having chambers in
College, to preach in turn short sermons or ¢ commonplaces ’’ in the College
Chapel after evening prayer. We have seen that Archbishop Abbott, who
was himself an Oxford man, objected to this. By referring, however, to
‘Whitgift's Statutes for Cambridge, given by the authority of Queen Eliza-
beth,* it will be found that the 50th Statute, which concerns Colleges,
contains an enactment that ‘‘ commonplaces” should be delivered in the
several College Chapels twice each week by Fellows and Pensioners of the
Colleges, who are above the degree of Bachelors of Arts, and under that of
Doctor in any faculty; and these were to be delivered by them in turn,
under a specified penalty, This practice continued at Dublin until the year
1836 ; and at Cambridge such commonplaces were delivered in Christ’s
College Chapel, at least, on Monday mornings, up to the present century.t

¢ See Heywood and Wright’s ¢¢ Cambridge University Transactions during the
Puritan Controversies,” vol. i. London: Bohn, 1834.

t A volume of such Commonplaces was published a few years since by Mr.
Swainson and Mr. Wratislaw.



CHAPTER V.

FROM THE RESTORATION TO THE REVOLUTION.

ONE of the first acts of the Government after the Restoration
was the arrangement of the governing body of the College
upon a proper and legitimate basis. The Duke of Ormonde,
who returned with Charles, was still the Chancellor of the Uni-
versity, and his first care was to appoint Jeremy Taylor, D.D.,
Bishop Designate of Down and Connor, to be Vice-Chancellor.
At this time none of the existing Fellows or Scholars had any
legal title to their positions, and no election of Senior Fellows
could be made according to the statutes, unless four Senior
Fellows co-operated with the Provost in their votes, which was
impossible under the existing state of things. Taylor ac-
cordingly suggested to Ormonde that he and the Archbishop
of Dublin should be authorized to nominate five new Senior
Fellows. The Chancellor preferred to keep this power in his
own hands, and directed Taylor and the Archbishop to recom-
mend to him the names of such as they considered should be
appointed to the office. They selected five names of men
who were qualified according to the statutes to be designated
as Senior Fellows by the Crown—one of them, however, Dr.
Stearne, through the fact that he was married, created a
difficulty ; but his scholastic attainments and knowledge
of the affairs of the College rendered him an indispensable
member of the newly constituted governing body.* In order
that the College should recover the rents which were due
to the Corporation, and the lands which had been alienated

¢ See Bishop Taylor’s letter on this subject, addressed to the Duke of Ormonde,
in his Life, vol. i. of his Works, edited by Heber.

H2
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from it, and also for the purpose of making leases, it was
necessary that no legal taint should exist in the title of
the Provost and Senior Fellows. By a King’s Letter, dated
from Whitehall on the 29th December, 1660, five new Senior
Fellows were consequently appointed by the Crown. Two of
the existing Senior Fellows were retained, Nathaniel Hoyle*
(who had been elected a Fellow in 1631, and was Vice-Provost
during Washington’s desertion of his post in 1641, 1642, and
1643, and who resigned his Fellowship in 1646, and was ad-
mitted a Fellow of Brazenose College, Oxford, in 1649 ; he was
in the College during the Usurpation in 1652, and was elected
Vice-Provost in 1659), and Ceesar Williamson,} who had been
appointed Senior Fellow in 1654. John Stearne, M.D., as has
been said, was also nominated. He had been appointed a Fellow
in 1652, but had resigned his Fellowship in November, 1659.
By the King’s Letter the Provost and Senior Fellows were
empowered, after the admission of the five new Seniors, to fill up
by election the vacant Junior Fellowships ; it being a condition
that Lambert Gougleman, M.D., should be one of them. They
deferred the election until after a Commencement was held for
conferring degrees, and on January 29, 166¢, they elected eight
Junior Fellows, including Henry Styles, B.A., of Magdalen
Hall, Oxford, who was appointed Jurist; he had been pre-
viously incorporated B.A. at the Commencement held on
January 26. It is probable that Edward Veele, M.A., of
Christ Church, Oxford, who had been appointed a Fellow
in 1654, was retained as the ninth Junior Fellow. He was
elected Junior Proctor at this Commencement. The Reverend
Thomas Seele, B.D., Fellow of Trinity College (1635), who
had been co-opted to a Senior Fellowship in 163%, was ap-
pointed by the Lords Justices on November 6, 1660, to take
upon him the government of the College, and he was admitted

*® Hoyle, who was a Puritan, seems to have resigned his Fellowship in the same
year. -
+ Williamson accepted the College living of Ardstraw on the 15th of February,
1662, and became Dean of Cashel in 1671. He died in 1676.
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as Provost by Letters Patent on the 19th of the following Ja-
nuary. He was selected ““on account of his learning and piety,
and also from his fitness and ability to exercise the office of
Provost, owing to the circumstance of his having been trained
up from his youth in the College, and his knowledge of its laws
and statutes, and his experience of the best way of governing
the Society and of educating the students.”* Seele was the
first Provost who had been wholly educated in the College.

On the 7th March, 166, the Provost and Senior Fellows
elected forty-nine scholars, twenty-six of whom were Bachelors
of Arts, and twenty-three Undergraduates. This irregular
election was confirmed by the Visitors—Bishop Jeremy Taylor
(Vice-Chancellor), and the Archbishop of Dublin—on the 5th
of April; and in the year 1663 the full number of seventy
scholars appears to have been completed by an election in the
manner prescribed by the statutes.

Thomas Seele was the son of the sexton and verger of
Christ Church Cathedral. He entered Trinity College on the
15th Ootober, 1625, and graduated B.A. in 1629, and M.A.
in 1632. He was examined for Fellowship according to the
old statutes, on Monday, January 27, 1633, and was elected on
January 31. He vacated his Fellowship by taking a.benefice
shortly afterwards. On the 4th of June, 1635, a few months
afterwards, on his own supplication, he was restored to his Fel-
lowship by the Provost and Senior Fellows, who stated that by so
doing they testified their respect for a hopeful member of their
Society. This act was confirmed by the Visitors. He was
co-opted a Senior Fellow in January, 1637-8. In the follow-
ing year he was appointed to the Vicarage of Coolock, near
Dublin, which he could hold with a Fellowship. He became
Vice-Provost in 1647, in which year he resigned his Fellowship
(the King’s authority having ceased in Dublin), and he was col-
lated to the Prebend of Rathmichael, in St. Patrick’s Cathedral.
During the Puritanical rule of Cromwell, Seele preached and
officiated in Dublin, according to the rites of the Church of

* ¢« Liber Mun. Hib.,"” p. 97.
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England, whenever he could gather a congregation, until he
was silenced by the Council in 1658. At the Restoration he
was made Chancellor of St. Patrick’s in 1660, and Precentor of
Christ Church Cathedral in 1669, and he was installed in the
Deanery of St. Patrick’s in 1671, which office he held along
with the Provostship until his death in 1674.

Seele laboured under many bodily infirmities during the
latter period of his life, which to a certain extent impeded him
in the important duties of his office. He was seized with
paralysis on the 30th of January, 1674, and died in Trinity
College three days after. Notwithstanding his collegiate and
ecclesiastical appointments, he died in very poor circumstances,
and £5 was given for the relief of his widow by the Dean and
Chapter of Christ Church, and a donation of £10 was granted
to her by the College to enable her to go to her friends in
England.*

Stearne’s name has been already mentioned as holding a
Fellowship in Provost Winter’s time. He was a grandnephew of
Archbishop Ussher, and was born at Ardbraccan in 1624, when
Ussher was Bishop of Meath. His father, John Stearne, was
descended from a Suffolk family. Stearne entered Trinity
College in May, 1639, at the age of fifteen, and it is probable
that he was informally appointed to a Scholarhip in 1641, and

* Seele was buried in the Antechapel of the old College Chapel, and the follow-
ing inscription remains upon his monument :—

P.M.S. Taomx Serre s.1.p. Hujusce Collegii Dignissimi preesidis et in-
stauratoris qui obiit Feb. 1. Anno Domini MmpcLxxiv. Ztatis Sue LxIm.

Nuper ab exilio cum Principe Regna redibant,
Et posuere suas Prelia lassa minas.

His solis deerant tam publica commoda tectis ;
Exilium Ars passa est, exiliumque Fides.
Preeposuit Seelum Carolus, quo preeside Musa

Proscripte veteres incoluere Lares.
Tecta Chalonerus pia condidit ; obruta Seelus
Instauravit ; erat forte creasse minus.
Magna viri doctrina ; modestia magna ; ruberet
Si sua perlegeret carmina iusta cinis.
Convenit urna loco, debebaturque Sacello.
Non alio sterni pulvere templa decet
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that he had been elected to a Fellowship in 1643, although no
record remains of the fact. He was, however, among those
who were ejected by the Rump party, and left Ireland for
Cambridge, where he was probably incorporated as B.A. into
Sidney Sussex College, then under the government of Dr.
Samuel Ward, a friend of Ussher. Stearne spent there a con-
siderable time in the study of medicine, and most likely took the
degree of M.D. in that University. However, when Emmanuel
College was seized by the Republicans, Stearne left Cambridge
for Oxford, where he was received by Dr. Seth Ward, the
Savilian Professor of Geometry. He was restored to his Fel-
lowship in Dublin by Henry Cromwell in 1651 ; and we find
him acting as Registrar on September 3, 1653, and as Senior
Proctor in 1654. He engaged in medical practice in Dublin
during the Commonwealth, and he appears to have been suc-
cessful as a physician. In 1659 he married Miss Dorothy
Ryves, when he appears to have resigned his Fellowship. He
was appointed a Senior Fellow at the Restoration, and was
exempted from Chapel attendance, and (as a favour) received
his Commons in money. But he did not long remain a Senior
Fellow, for, in 1662, he was appointed Public Professor of Me-
dicine in the University, and he became the Founder of the
College of Physicians, and the first President of that Society.*

-Stearne’s name is intimately associated with Trinity Hall,
and this is a suitable place to give some account of that
building.

It would appear that there was at the commencement of the
seventeenth century an unoccupied piece of land belonging to
the Corporation of Dublin, which formed part of the green,
commonly called Hoggin Green, and lying between the present
Trinity-street and Exchequer-street. At that time there was

* Long before Stearne’s time such a College was contemplated, for on April
1, 1628, Provost Bedell wrote to Ussher: ‘¢ At my being in Dublin there came to
me one Dr. de Laune, a physician bred in Emmanuel College, who in speech with
me discovered their purpose to procure a patent, like to that which the College of
Physicians hath in London.”” (Elrington’s ed., vol. xv. p. 390.)

Stearne’s monument was removed from the old Chapel, and remains behind
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an influx of vagrants from the country parts into Dublin, which
caused inconvenience to the citizens, and it was proposed by
Dr. Chaloner, and other influential persons, that the Corpora-
tion should grant this site to them for the purpose of erecting 4
bridewell, to be governed by the same regulations as those which
had been adopted in the case of a similar institution in London.
In 1604 the Mayor, Sheriffs, and Commons of the city granted
to these gentlemen a portion of land, the dimensions of which
were thirty-three yards by one hundred and twelve yards, with
the provision that if these premises were not utilized for a
bridewell, they should serve for the erection of a College Hall,
or Free School. The project of establishing a bridewell ended
in failure, and in 1616 the land was accordingly handed over to
Trinity College for the alternative purpose of a College Hall.
Buildings were erected upon it, and a Master was appointed to
reside and take charge of such students as should live there.
It was arranged that they should attend lectures and chapel
services, and perform scholastic exercises in Trinity College.
This was carried on until 1641, although there were certain
grave inconveniences attached to the arrangement. It was

the present Chapel along with that of Provost Seele and that of Provost George
Browne.

The following is the inscription on it, supposed by some (notwithstanding the
mediseval Latinity) to have been composed by his pupil, the celebrated Henry
Dodwell :—

KATAPA ESTI MH ANTOGANEIN

Dixit Epictetus, Credidit
JOHANNES STEARNE

M. & J.U.D. Collegii 8S Indiv.

Trinitatis Dublin Socius Senior
Medicorum ibidem Preeses primus qui nat-
us fuit Ardbrache 26 Novembris 1624
Denatus fuit Dublin 18 Novembris 1669 ;
Cujus exuvie olim resumenda hic deposite sunt.

Philosophus Medicus Summusq. Theologus idem
Sternius héic, nullus jam, requiescit humo
Scilicet ut regnet, Natura quod edidit unum,
Dividit in partes Mors inimica duas,

Sed modo divisus coalescet Sternius, atque

Ibit ab extremo, totus in astra, die.
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urged in 1668, after the Restoration, that this Hall, called
Trinity Hall, was  in nowise fit to entertain the actual students
‘of the College, for there were so many buildings interposed
between it and Trinity College, that it was not possible in
Trinity Hall to hear Trinity College bell, by which the actual
students thereof were summoned almost hourly to Divine ser-
vice, meals, and exercises; not to mention many inconveniences
and interruptions that must necessarily happen by the students
going often backwards and forwards on account of prayers,
meals, lectures, disputations, declamations, and other exercises
and public meetings, not to speak of the dangers arising from
the residence of young men near suspected places.”

In 1641 the College had let a portion of these premises to John
Sammes for forty years, at £1 10s. yearly rent. The remainder
was occupied by poor persons, and was going rapidly into a state
of dilapidation, so much so, that in 1654 the Corporation threat-
ened to resume possession. Stearne then proposed to take Trinity
Hall, and construct buildings suitable for a Medical College,
and a house for the College of Physicians, which he was anxious
to found. Provost Winter seems to have favoured this proposal,
but matters remained in an unsettled condition until the Res-
toration. After the reconstitution of the College, Trinity
Hall was let to Stearne (who appears to have resided in it after
his marriage in 1659), as he proposed, and it was, among other
things, arranged that he should have and enjoy for his natural
life the sole use of so many rooms in the proposed Medical
College, as those which he was at that time occupying, namely,
two lower rooms, three upper rooms, and the whole garret,
together with the garden adjoining the Hall, in consideration of
the great expenses to which he had been put in repairing these
rooms and making the gardens. The students of the Medical
Hall were to be first admitted into Trinity College, and were
to attend Divine service in the College Chapel. It wasarranged
that Trinity College should have the nomination of the Presi-
dent of the College of Physicians, and that the President and
Fellows of that College should give their professional services,
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without fees, to the Provost and Senior Fellows of Trinity
College, and their successors, whenever they should require
them to attend them during illness.

In reply to the objection, which appears to have been made,
that such an arrangement did not come within the purposes for
which the premises were granted by the Corporation, it was
urged (in 1668) that—

¢ Trinity Hall is now a College Hall in a twofold sense, either of which
doth better entitle it to be a College Hall than any use to which formerly
it has been applied. It is now a College Hall, for it is a Hall of the College
of Physicians, which are more considerable than a small number of Under-
graduates. It is now a Hall also to Trinity College, because Trinity Col-
lege has the nomination of the President for ever, which alone makes it more
a College Hall than the residence of a few Freshmen and Sophisters, which
formerly were entertained therein, and of whom it hath been observed that
generally they miscarried by reason of the remoteness of the situation from
Trinity College, under whose government they were.”

It was added—

‘¢ After the death of Dr. John Stearne, and perhaps before, there will be
accommodation for students in Physic, which are first to continue for some
time students in Trinity College before they can be admitted to be students
of the College of Physicians, and are as considerable a portion of scholars
as any number of Undergraduates wherewith the said Hall was heretofore
stored, and as useful to the whole kingdom.”

It is uncertain whether there were any medical students
residing in the Hall before Stearne’s death in 1669. There
were several, however, before 1680, between which year and
1683, the lease and the buildings were surrendered to Trinity
College by the College of Physicians, on a payment of £70.
The next thing we can ascertain about it is from an entry
which we find in the College Register, that *“Sir Smith was
chosen Master of the School in Trinity Hall ” in 1694, and in
1691 chambers in Trinity Hall were assigned to Mr. Carver.
The Hall does not appear to have survived many years longer,
but it was in existence as late as 1710.*

* In November, 1694, a lease of Trinity Hall and the land adjacent,_reserving a
place for a school, was made to Nathaniel Shaw for forty-one years, at-an annual
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On the return of Ormonde he appears to have entrusted
the Vice-Chancellor, Jeremy Taylor, with the reconstruction of
the College ; and the Bishop seems to have devoted himself to
his duties in a very energetic manner. He wrote to Ormonde
on October 3, 1660, giving a description of the state of things
in Trinity College. He found “ all things in perfect disorder—
indeed so great as can be imagined to be consequent on a sad
war, and an evil incompetent Government set over them.”
And on the 19th December, 1660, he speaks of it as an *im-
perfect University.” There were “no University Statutes,*
no established forms of conferring degrees, no Regius Pro-
fessor of Divinity, scarce any ensigns academical.” 1Ie offered
to collect and frame such statutes, and to present them to
Ormonde, “ that upon advice with persons skilled in such things
he may approve them, and obtain a sanction and confirmation
of them.”

Bishop Taylor appears to have resided in Trinity College,
while he was in Dublin, during the time he was so engaged, for
we find an entry in the College Register in 1667, to the effect
that ¢ the great middle chamber in Sir Richard Scot’s buildings
adjoining unto the steeple, lately in the possession of the Right
Reverend Father in God Jeremy, Lord Bishop of Down, is
ordered by the appomtment of the Provost to be for ever

rent of half-a-crown for the first half-year, for the following nine years £2, and
for the remainder £3; and on June 13, 1710, a lease was made to the Rev. John
Barton, Dean of Ardngh, of the ground belonging to Trinity Hall that is enclosed
with a stone wall, for forty years, at £80 13s. 4d.; and on the same day another
lease of part of Trinity Hall next to the above-mentioned ground, containing two
rooms in front, with a proportionate part of the rear belonging thereto, for three
years, at £4 6s. 84. per annum.

* I'aylor must have mcant that the University statutes were neglected or dis-
used during the Commonwealth, for we have seen that University statutes were
drawn up by Sir William Temple when Provost, and the first eleven chapters re-
main in his handwriting. The concluding paragraph of chapter xvii. is in Provost
Bedell’s handwriting. It is not improbable that the Regulie Universitatis Dublin-
iensis, first printed with the College statutes in 1778, were arranged, revised, and
completed by Taylor, after the model of the old University statutes, which had been
accepted by the Provost and Senior Fellows from time to time, but had never been
confirmed by Royal sanction, and had never been approved by the Chancellor or
Visitors,
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separated and appropriated to the sole use of the Provost and
Fellows for the transaction of public affairs, and their ordinary
conference and meeting.”

One of the first records which we find upon the College
Register after the Restoration is an account of a large number
of Degrees conferred at the Commencement held in January,
1664, when thirteen candidates, including the Bishops of Wa-
terford, Cork, Limerick, and Elphin, were raised to the Degree
of Doctor of Divinity, and five Doctors of Divinity were in-
corporated ; eleven Bachelors of Divinity were admitted, and one
was incorporated : of Doctors of Medicine one was admitted,
and three were incorporated; and of Doctors of Laws three
were admitted, one LL.D. and one LL.B. were incorporated ;
twelve Masters of Arts were admitted, and eight were in-
corporated.

The Fellows who were at that time elected do not appear
generally to have continued long in the service of the College, for
we find that of the fifteen who were Senior and Junior Fellows
in 1661, nine had vacated their posts in the space of three years.
The resources of the College seem to have been at a very low
ebb. No rents were received from the Munster lands, and
all the College tenants found great difficulty in selling their
cattle. The annuity from the exchequer was unpaid, and the
College was at very considerable charges for recovering pos-
session of the lands reserved to them under the Act of Settle-
ment (14 & 15 Charles II., cap. 2), and supporting their rights
before the Court of Claims both in England and in Ireland.

In consequence of the poverty of the College, the Board
decided that the usual election of Fellows should not take
place in 1664, 1665, and 1666. In the latter year the election
of Scholars also was deferred for the same reason; and pro-
bably the same thing would have recurred in 1667, had not the
Archbishop of Dublin ordered an election of Scholars in that
year, which took place at the regular time; but the Scholars,
thirty-five in number, were not sworn and admitted until
August 20. In 166§ four vacant Fellowships were filled by
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King’s Letters without examination. As far as we can gather
from the censures and punishments recorded in the College
Register of the time, a good deal of insubordination and ill
conduct existed among the students. Several of the Scholars
were punished for holding secret meetings against the authority
of the governing body. In 1667 the Bachelors were admo-
nished in the Hall by the Provost and Senior Fellows for
behaving themselves insolently towards the Junior Fellows,
and for not *capping ” them.* It was decided that whoever
should offend in this way hereafter should be suspended from
his degree. Several students were expelled for violating the
College statutes by crossing the College walls, sleeping in the
oity, and bringing disgrace upon the College by their conduct
there. Provost Seele appears to have diligently exerted him-
gelf to restore the relaxed discipline of the students. As to the
education of the scholars, we find that the Professorship of
Divinity was by Letters Patent of 9th May, 1674, more largely
endowed, and put upon a higher University basis. The Pro-
fessorship of Civil and Canon Law was founded by Letters
Patent of 1668, and endowed with a salary of £40 per annum.
The Professorship of Mathematics was incorporated with the
Mathematical Lectureship founded by the Earl of Donegall;
and it was ordered on November 20, 1664, that ¢ none be ad-
mitted Bachelors of Arts who has not a certificate from onespf
the Greek Lecturers of his knowledge of Greek.” The services
in the College Chapel appear to have been put upon a more
attractive basis, for we find that Thomas Patrickson was ap-
pointed Organist on May 12, 1675, at a salary of £4 a-year;
and on November 20, 1669, four University preachers appear
to have been appointed for the first time at the annual election
of officers. The Library keeper seems to have been regularly
appointed each year; and Mr. Acton, who held that office in
1675, was allowed £10 for his trouble and pains in making a
catalogue of the Spanish books. In 1670 Sir Jerome Alex-
ander, one of the Justices of the Common Pleas, had bequeathed

* The objection to this statutable practice continued in the-year 1734.
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to the College all his books and manuscripts, principally
pertaining to Civil Law, and a sum of £500 to be expended in
making an addition to the College buildings, and £100 addi-
tional for the building of a particular library for his books in
these buildings. This bequest was supplemented by a dona-
tion of £200 for the same purpose by the Bishop of Kilmore,
in 1671. On May 4, 1672, an agreement was made between
the College and Richard Mills, bricklayer, for the erection of
Sir Jerome Alexander’s library.

Rachel, Countess of Bath, expended £200 in the purchase
of books for the Library, as a memorial of her husband, who
had been formerly a Fellow of the College.*

The library of Archbishop Ussher, consisting of 10,000
volumes, had been purchased at his death by the English army
in Ireland in Cromwell’s time, for a sum of £22,000, with the
design of presenting it to the College; but when the books
were brought back to Ireland, Oliver Cromwell had them de-
tained in Dublin Castle, where they were kept with such great
negligence that a large number of valuable books and manu-
scripts were stolen or destroyed. At the Restoration, Charles IT.
gave all that remained to the Library of Trinity College.

Further sums for new buildings in the College were coun-
tributed by Doctor Jeremy Hall and by John Hudson, D.D.,
Bishop of Elphin.

Nothwithstanding the ascertained fact that several wells
of excellent water existed in the grounds attached to the Col-
lege, it appears from the College Register that on July 7, 1670,
the Board decided that ¢ upon consideration of the want of
water in the College, it is ordered that a convenient well, with
pump and cistern, be made to supply the great need of it
in the College.” This pump was placed in the centre of the
“Quadrangle,” and it was not removed to its position behind
the new Chapel until 1801. It became the celebrated College

pump.

* Henry Bouchier, Fellow 1601, died 1654.
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By the Act Explanatory of the Act of Settlement, the
right of the University of Dublin to its property was saved.
Three hundred pounds per annum was allowed to be granted
to the Provost out of forfeited lands in the Archbishopric
of Dublin ;* and all lands held under the College by grant
lease in fee-farm, and forfeited to his Majesty by the late
rebellion, were granted and confirmed to the Provost, Fellows,
and Scholars of Trinity College, and their successors, for ever.t
By this Act the possession of all the Munster lands, which had
been formerly granted in perpetuity by the Provost and Fellows
in the reign of James I., at a rental of under £100 a-year, was
restored to the College, and they proceeded to make twenty-one
years’ leases of the lands. It was with extreme difficulty that
they were identified. Commissioners were appointed to define
the boundaries and to ascertain their value, communibus annis ;3
and Mr. William Vincent, one of the Senior Fellows, was de-
puted to be present at the valuation of the lands, and was urged
to take care that the valuers were independent persons who had
not themselves been in occupation of them. This Vincent did
so carefully, that the College presented him with a piece of
plate of the value of £20 for his trouble. Some of the lands
were so circumstanced that it was difficult to recover them
except at an expense which the College was not able to bear ;
and this induced the Provost and Senior Fellows to make “a
lease for twenty-one years of all their lands in the counties of
Limerick and Tipperary to Sir William Davys, Recorder of

* Letters Patent were passed on the 27th May, in the 21st year of Charles II.,
granting to the Provost certain lands in the Baronies of Leme, Skreen, and Lower
Kells, in the County of Meath, and in the Baronies of Ballynahinch and Ross, in
the County of Galway. For a detailed list see the Report of the Dublin University
Commission, 1853, p. 278.

1 Letters Patent, dated 10th November, 18th year of Charles II., granted to
the College, in conformity with the above Act, the Munster estates forfeited by
their tenants; also the lands of Ballycahill in the Barony of Eliogarty, county
of Tipperary, decreed to the College by the Court of Chancery in England, in
satisfaction of Dr. Elias Travers’ legacy of £1000 to purchase an impropriation.

1 In conformity with the Irish Act of Parliament 10 & 11 Charles 1., chap. 3.
A.D. 1634. )
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Dublin, a warm and reliable friend of the College, at a small
rent, on the understanding that he would undertake to recover
possession of them. At the same time some considerable parts
of the Kerry lands were let on similar terms to Lieutenant
Launcelot Sands. The College dealt liberally with the old
tenants, whose lands had been forfeited to the Crown ; and also
with those who showed themselves friendly to the College, by
giving information as to the boundaries of the lands: they
appear to have been awarded such annuities as the finances of
the College would admit. About the same time we find that a
lease was given to William Hawkins on the 13th June, 1672,
for ninety-nine years (with the consent of the Lord Lieutenant
and Council), of the strand, north of the College—which he had
reclaimed from the sea, at a considerable expense, by building
quay walls—in consideration of the payment of a fine of £50,
at a rent of £5 for the first twenty years, £10 for the next
fifty-nine years, and £20 for the last twenty years. On this
land the present Hawkins’-street, Poolbeg-street, Tara-street,
Burgh-quay, and George’s-quay, now stand.

It is recorded in the College Register that, on March 26,
1675, the admission fee for a Pensioner was fixed at 25s., of
which the Senior Lecturer received 5s., the Butler and the
Cook 2s. each, the Clerk of the Buttery 1s., the Manciple, the
Porter, and the Provost’s Sizar, 1s. each, while 12s. was given
to the College for a spoon. Fellow Commoners paid double
the above sums.* A Sizar paid on admission only 2s. 6d. to
the Senior Lecturer, and 6d. to the Provost’s Sizar. The
butler was from these fees to provide candles and bottles for

* Up to the year 1809, the admission fees, £2 17s. 23d., were divided thus:—
Plate, 12s.; Porter, Cook, and Butler, 3s. 44d. each; Steward, Clerk of the But-
tery, and Provost’s Sizar, 2s. 3d. each ; Premium Fund, 8s. 1}d. ; Senior Proctor,
3s.; Registrar, 1s.; and Provost’s Sizar (on matriculation), 6d.; the Mathema-
tician received 13s., and 2s. 83d. was charged for a copy of the Statutes. A Fellow
Commoner paid £6 Plate money, £2 to the Servants, 7s. 64. to the Butler, 5s. to
the Clerk of the Buttery, £1 to the Premium Fund, and (on matriculation) 12s. to
the Senior Proctor, and 6s. to the Provost’s Sizar, £1 6s. to the Mathematician,
8s. 3d. for the College Statutes, and £1 6s. for the Bowling Green—in all £13 4s. 9d.
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the buttery, and the cook and manciple candles for the kitchen.
A grant of £10 a-year was made to the porter for supplying
candles for the Chapel services, also for the Hall at supper-
time, and for night roll.

On the death of Provost Seele in 1674, no time was lost in
conferring that office upon a man who was very remarkable in
his day, although he has left no writings for posterity. Michael
Ward, a native of Shropshire, had entered Trinity College at
the age of thirteen, under Doctor Stearne, in 1656, and was
elected a Junior Fellow in 1662, at the age of nineteen. Dr.
‘Ward appears to have at once become a favourite College tutor,
for in the following year he and Mr. George Walker appear to
have had by far the largest number of pupils. He was made
Regius Professor of Divinity, and Dean of Lismore, at the age
of twenty-seven, and Provost at the age of thirty-one. He
presided over the College for four years, when he was con-
secrated Bishop of Ossory, and made Vice-Chancellor in 1678,
He was promoted to the See of Derry in the following year.
Bishop Ward died at the early age of thirty-nine. Harris, in
his edition of Ware, tells us that ¢ besides his accomplishments
in learning, he was esteemed a person of fine conversation, and
of great sagacity in dexterously managing proper conjunctures ;
to which qualities his rise to so many preferments in so short
a time was ascribed.” It would appear that none of the
eminent scholars who had been educated in Dublin was avail-
able for succession to the Provostship. Dodwell had resigned
his Fellowship, having had an objection to take holy orders;
Dopping had been lately made Bishop of Kildare; George
Walker had died when only seven years a Fellow; and Pal-
liser, who had been appointed Regius Professor of Divinity on
Provost Ward’s promotion, was perhaps not considered suitable
for the Provostship. Ormonde, who was Chancellor of Oxford,
as well as of Dublin, selected a member of the former Uni-
versity, Narcissus Marsh, D.D., who was at that time Principal
of St. Alban’s Hall. Marsh continued to hold the office for
five years and a-half, when he, like his predecessor, was

I
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consecrated Bishop of Leighlin and Ferns. He afterwards held
in succession the Archbishoprics of Cashel, of Dublin, and of
Armagh. His monument in St. Patrick’s Cathedral states that
he devoted his leisure hours to the study of mathematics and
of natural philosophy, that he was distinguished for his ac-
quaintance with languages, specially the Oriental, and that he
was endowed with the highest knowledge of the sacred Serip-
tures and of ecclesiastical history. In his diary, preserved in
manuscript in Marsh’s Library, he writes thus: —

¢ Finding the place very troublesome, partly by reason of the multitude
of business and important visits the Provost is obliged fo, and partly by
reason of the ill education that the young scholars have before they come
to the College, whereby they are both rude and ignorant, I was quickly
weary of 340 young men and boys in this lewd, debauched town, and the
more 8o because I had no time to follow my dearly beloved studies.”*

Among the Smith MSS. in the Bodleian Library is pre-
served a lettert from Marsh when Primate, in which he gives
some account of the condition of the College during his resi-
dence as Provost. He was particularly anxious, as he states,
that the thirty Irish-born Scholars, who then enjoyed salaries
equal to those of the Junior Fellows, should be thoroughly
trained to speak and write the Irish language. He desired
that these should be a body from which the parochial clergy of
Ireland might be recruited, in order that the people should
have the ministrations of religion in their own language. The
majority of the Natives; had been born of English parents,
and were “ mostly of the meaner sort,” but by having learaed
to speak Irish from their Irish nurses, or fosterers, acquired
some acquaintance with the vernacular. However, they knew
nothing of the grammar of the language, and could make no
attempt to read it, or to write it. In order to counteract

* For an interesting account of Archbishop Marsh, see Christian Ezaminer,
vol. xi. p. 647. 1831.

+ Printed in the Christian Examiner, vol. ii. p. 762, 2nd series. 1833,

1 Marsh tells us that ‘‘most of these native Scholars bred up in the College
turned Papists in King James’s reign.”’—Page 769.
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this ignorance, Marsh determined that he would not elect to
a native’s place any scholar who was not ready to learn the
Irish language thoroughly, and that he would not allow them
to retain their places unless they made satisfactory progress.
To enable them to do this, he employed a converted Roman
Catholic priest, Paul Higgins, who was a good Irish scholar,
and who had been admitted as a clergyman of the Irish Church,
to reside in his house, and to give instruction to the Scholars of
the College,* at a salary of £16 a-year and his board. He
had also the Church Service read in Irish, and an Irish sermon
preached by Higgins in the College Chapel on one Sunday
afternoon in every month, at 3 p.M. These services seem to
have been open to the public; and we learn from Marsh’s
letters that the ancient Chapel was crowded by hearers on the
occasion of the Irish sermons, the congregation numbering as
many as three hundred. We have no record of the continu-
ance of these Irish services after Marsh ceased to be Provost.
He seems also to have taken a particular interest in the study
of mathematies in the College, for it was in his Provostship
that the Professorship of Mathematics, established in the time
of the Commonwealth, was united to the Donegal Lectureship,
founded in 1668, and the Provost and Senior Fellows first
exercised their right of election by appointing Dr. Miles
Sumner, the holder of the former office, for which there was
no certain endowment, to the latter office, which was endowed
by the liberality of Arthur, Earl of Donegal. These mathe-
matical lectures were delivered on three days each week.
Provost Marsh also was one of a number of scientific men,
resident in Dublin, who founded a Philosophical Society, which
for a short time met in the Provost’slodgings. Sir William Petty
was the President, William Molyneux, Secretary. St. George
Ashe and other of the Fellows were active members of this society.

# Bishop Dopping, in his letter to the Hon. Robert Boyle (Boyle’s Life and
Correspondence, vol. i.), gives an interesting account of these classes, at which he
states Fellows and Students attended to the number of eighty, and that they, fol-
lowing the Provost’s example, made considerable progress in the Irish language.

12
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Papers on scientific subjects were read at the meetings, many
of which were afterwards communicated to the Royal Society
of London, and published in the early volumes of the Philo-
sophical Transactions.* They contemplated the foundation in
Dublin of a scientific body similar to the Royal Society of
London, and to apply for a Charter ; but the unfortunate cir-
cumstances which occurred in the reign of James II. scattered
the members of this body and put an end to its meetings.

Provost Marsh having already published an edition of
Philip de Trieu’s Introduction to Logic, wrote a short elementary
treatise on that subject for the use of the Undergraduates.
This appears to have been the earliest text-book prepared for
the Students. The principles upon which it was written are
muoch more akin to those of Bacon than to the scholastic logie
based upon Aristotle’s system. The theory of the Inductive
Method is clearly and correctly stated, and the method by
which we arrive at scientific knowledge by sense, by experi-
ment, by experience, and by induction, is very briefly but as
acourately expounded as it would be in the best modern
treatises on this science.

Marsh, in his letter to Smith, above quoted, writes thus :—

¢ Whilst I was Provost of the College, both the Hall and the Chappell
being too little and streight to receive the number of Schollers that was
then increasing very much each year, I resolved upon building a new Hall
and Chappell (as well as enlarging the College, to which considerable acces-
sions y* made to the value of above 6000™, nearer 7000"). But I thought
it most proper to begin with the house of God, and thereupon caused the
foundation of a new Chappell (much larger than the former) to be laid, and
before the Structure was half finished I was removed, and D* Huntingdon
(who succeeded me) compleated the work, the College Treasury being at
that time sufficient to pay all charges. In the meantime the Schollers were

forced to attend prayers in the College Hall. When the Chappell was
finish?, the next work was to build a larger Hall, and because the old one

# Provost Marsh contributed an Essay on Sounds, with proposals for the im-
provement of Acoustics. This has been published by the Royal Society. He is
said to have been an accomplished musician, and to have understood thoroughly
the scientific principles of harmony. Mr. Ashe’s Papers on Geometry and As-
tronomy are also among those in the Philosophical Transactions.
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could not be conveniently enlarged as it stood, it was necessary to pull that
down and to build a larger in its place, both in length and breadth, which
was the work of some years. Whilst this was doing the Schollers having
no place to eat in, they were forced to make use of the Library for y* pur-
pose, and because the books were not chaind, ’twas necessary that they
should remove them into some other place . . . they laid them in heaps in
some void rooms.”

The following entry is in the Register of the Dmcese of
Dublin :(—

¢1684. 5 October. The ABp consecrated ye New Chapel of ye College
of ye H. Trinity, extending from E. to West 82 feet and from N. to South
38 feet, reserving to himself and his successors ye right of visiting ye same
manner as by the Statutes he has a right to visit the College at large.
Provost Robert Huntingdon, D.D., and ye Fellows and Scholars, in their
petition for this consecration, set forth that ye old Chapel built in proportion
to the Model and Fabrick of Q. Elizabeth’s College was too small to contain
ye Students and was also much decayed. Therefore Dr Narc. Marsh, ye late
Provost, and Fellows were encouraged by Benefactions to proceed in rebuild-
ing and enlarging their Chapel, which was now completed.”

This Chapel, so rebuilt, received the addition of a gallery
in 1762, and was used for a period of one hundred and fifteen
years; that is, until the erection of the present Chapel, on a
different site, in 1798. The old fabrie then pulled down was
about the size of the present Chapel.

Dr. Campbell, in his thlosoph:cal Survey of Ireland, thus
describes it in 1775:—

¢ The Chapel is as mean a structure as you can conceive; destitute of
monumental decoration within; it is no better than a Welsh Church with-

out. The old Hall, where College exercises are performed, is in the same
range, and built in the same style.”—Page 12.

Marsh was consecrated Bishop of Ferns on May 6, 1682, but
he continued to be Provost until August, 1683. He resided in
College until Easter, 1684.

On the vacancy of the Provostship in 1683, Ormonde again
turned to the University of Oxford, in order to select a suitable
successor to Narcissus Marsh. He consulted Dr. Fell, then
Bishop of Oxford, who strongly recommended Dr. Robert
Huntmgdon, Fellow of Merton College, as pre-eminently, suited
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for the place. On the proposal being made to Huntingdon, he
expressed great reluctance to undertake the duties of the office ;
and it was only after the most urgent solicitations that he yielded
an unwilling assent. He always spoke to his intimate friends
of his residence in Ireland as an exile. Huntingdon was an
eminent Oriental scholar. After being elected to his Fellow-
ship he obtained the Chaplaincy at Aleppo, and for eleven
years he lived in the East, collecting Syrian and other manu-
scripts connected with the Holy Secriptures and the early
history of the Eastern Church. The literary treasure which
he thus procured, e afterwards gave to the Bodleian Library.
Thomas Smith, the biographer of Huntingdon, states that
the revenues of his Fellowship at Merton had been kept
intact by his College, and were restored to him, on his
return to reside at Oxford, after his long sojourn in the East.
During that time his whole attention seems to have been de-
voted to his Oriental studies, and he does not appear to have
had much experience of University life, or of College men and
College studies. His biographer tells us that when he did
come to Dublin he sedulously applied himself to the main-
tenance of College discipline, and by associating himself freely
with the Fellows, encouraged them in their work of educating
the Students.

Provost Huntingdon was an intimate friend of Narcissus
Marsh, and was a man of similar tastes. He felt that the only
way to promote religion and civilization among the native Irish
was to spread among them the Holy Seriptures in their own
language. The New Testament had been already translated
and printed ; and, in conjunction with Marsh, Huntingdon set
himself to have the Old Testament also placed in the hands of
those who could read the Irish tongue. The translation of
the Canonical books was made under their direction, and was
printed at the expense of the Honourable Robert Boyle.*

* Full details of this Irish translation of the Holy Scriptures may be found in.
the letters of Bishop Dopping and Provost Marsh to Boyle, in Boyle’s Life and
Correspondence, vol. i.
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Provost Huntingdon does not appear, however, to have con-
tinued the instruction in Irish of the native Scholars, which
Marsh had provided at his own cost; and it was probably a
false rumour of an endowment of an Irish Lectureship, which
remained unfilled, which led & man named Arthur Greene, a
convert to the King’s religion, and a Bachelor of Medicine, to
apply to King James II. for a Royal letter to have him
appointed to the supposed vacant place. No inquiry seems to -
have been made either by the Government or by Greene as to
the existence of this endowment ; but a King’s letter was sent
to the Provost and Senior Fellows on the 7th August, 1686,
ordering them to admit Greene * to the place of Irish Lecturer,
founded by Sir Thurlough O’Neill, for which lands were settled
upon the College, which was bound to pay £30 a-year to the
lecturer.” The letter stated that the place had been vacant for
several years since Paul Higgins ceased to occupy the office ;
and it directed that the accrued arrears should be paid to
Greene. There was a meeting of the Board, and the following
result of their deliberations appears in the College Register : —

¢¢ The result of this matter is, that whereas the groundwork or supposition
whereon the King’s grant was founded was altogether fictitious and untrue—
no such foundation of any Irish Lectureship appearing in any of our Regis-
tries, nor any other way whatever—therefore Greene’s letter could huve no
effect, it being wholly grounded on a misinformation of his Majesty. And
it was further agreed upon by the Society that letters should be sent into
England, to the Duke of Ormonde our Chancellor, and to the Earl of Sun-
derland, containing an humble representation of the whole matter, and
reasons why we cannot in this case do what the King requires, which might
be shewed to his Majesty, if anyone offered to accuse us of disobedience.
And the letters were accordingly sent into England.”

¢ On the 20th August, 1687, a letter from Mr. Secretary Sheridan was
delivered to the College, wherein was signified that the Lord Deputy
(Tyrconnell) did require an account why the Irish Lectureship was dis-
continued in the College, and also demanded a copy of the Statutes of the
College.”

On the following day a reply was sent to the Lord Deputy,
to the effect that as far as the College was aware there was



120 Address from the College to the King.

never any such foundation; but that a few years ago some
private persons did maintain an Irish lecture in the College;
and in consequence of the withdrawal of their allowance the
lecture had been discontinued. The Provost and Senior Fellows
professed their readiness to have a copy of the statutes tran-
soribed for the Lord Deputy, if he had not one already lodged
with him.* With this answer the Lord Deputy seemed to be
satisfied. On the 20th of October a copy of the statutes was
delivered to Mr. Secretary Sheridan for the Lord Deputy.

In September, 1687, the King had come to Chester, and
"Tyrconnell had crossed over to confer with him, and to take his
directions as to his future dealings with the Protestants of
Ireland. The College took occasion also to send two of the
Fellows, Mr. George Browne (afterwards Provost), and Mr.
Barton, to wait upon his Majesty while at Chester, and to
present the following Address:—

¢ Your Majesties near approach to your Kingdom of Ireland, as it does
influence your subjects here in generall, so it particularly affects your Uni-
versity and College of Dublin, founded, endowed, and defended by your
Royal Predecessors and Ancestors of glorious and immortal memory. Where-
fore we readily embrace this advantageous opportunity, and humbly beg
leave to express our thankfulness to your Majesty for the great quiet and
freedom we enjoy under your most gracious protection and government, to
improve both ourselves and others in all manner of vertue and good littera-
ture. The principles of our loyalty being the same that the Church of
England professes, whilst we keep our Religion we can never foregoe our
allegiance ; and therefore we presume upon the continuance of your Ma-
jesties goodnes and clemency, and shall always, as conscience and gratitude
indispensably oblige us, make our devoutest prayers to Almighty God for
your welfare and felicity, that you may enjoy a long and prosperous reign
in this world, and eternal glory in the next.

“ Your Majesties most loyal, most humble, and most obedient subjects

and servants,
“ THE ProvosT, FELLOWS, AND SCHOLARS,

¢« Of Trinity College, near Dublin.”

* The College Statutes had not at that time been printed, but were copled in
manuscript as occasion required.
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‘When the Address was read to the King by George Browne,
he returned a very curt answer in the fewest possible words :—

¢« 1 thank you for your Address, and I don’t doubt of your Loyalty, or
of any others of the Church of England.”

In taking this course the Provost and Senior Fellows must
have been influenced by the knowledge that in the previous
year the King had appointed a Roman Catholic, John Massey,
to the Deanery of Christ Church, Oxford, and that both in that
College, and in University College, Roman Catholic rites were
publicly performed ; and that, in the April of 1687, the High
Commission had deprived Doctor John Pechell of his office of
Vice-Chancellor of Cambridge, and of his emoluments as head
of a College, for refusing to act in opposition to the laws of
England. :

On the 13th of the following February (168%) a mandamus
came from the King to the College to admit a man named
Bernard Doyle to a Fellowship, vacant by the deprivation in the
previous June of George Mercer, who had been reported by
the Archbishop of Dublin (Francis Marsh), the Visitor of the
College, to the Provost and Senior Fellows as being married.
Doyle, who had been a Sizar of the College, and who had been
admitted to the M.A. degree, per specialem gratiam, in 1685,
was at that time an assistant master in a school at Drogheda.
He had become a Roman Catholic. The King’s letter ordered
the College to admit him as a Fellow, without administering
to him any oath except that of a Fellow. There had been
several cases in the reign of Charles II. in which the King had
exercised this dispensing power reserved to the Crown by the
statutes, and had ordered the admission of Fellows without the
usual statutable examination and election. The oath of a
Fellow at that time was not only that prescribed by the College
statutes to be taken before the Provost, and which the Crown
on several occasions had already dispensed with, but also an
oath imposed by the Act of Uniformity of Charles II., which
every Fellow of a College was bound to take before. the Vice-
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Chancellor, pledging himself, among other things, to conform
to the Liturgy of the Church of England.

Doyle was present at a meeting of the Board at which the
mandamus was read, and he was asked whether he would take
the oath of a Fellow. When this was read to him, he refused to
be sworn, and he was directed to meet the Provost and Senior
Fellows again the next day at nine o’clock in the morning, that
the case might be represented to the Lord Deputy. There is
no record in the College Register that he did so attend; but
we find that on the 17th of February the Provost waited on
the Lord Deputy, and acquainted him with the reason why he
could not admit Mr. Doyle. The principal ground assigned
was that he refused to take the oath prescribed by the King in
his mandate. Other reasons were assigned, namely, Doyle’s
dissolute habits and his want of learning.* The Lord Deputy -
immediately sent orders to the Mayor of Drogheda to make
investigation into the conduct of Mr. Doyle while he was usher
in a school there, and lived in that town. Mr. Dive Downes,
one of the Fellows, was deputed to proceed to Drogheda on the
8th of March, and on the 9th, 10th, and 12th of that month
the depositions on oath of several witnesses were taken, by
which it was clearly proved that Doyle had been guilty of
immorality, having had two illegitimate children in that town ;
also of thefts, drunkenness, and other crimes. Copies of these
depositions remain among the College papers.t

‘We cannot fail to be struck with the similarity of the cha-
racter of Doyle to that of Anthony Farmer, whom the King
had attempted to force the Fellows of Magdalene College,
Oxford, to elect as President in April, 1687. And if we bear
in mind that the King’s treatment of the Fellows of Mag-
dalene in the October of that year, when they resisted the

* The full representation made by the Board to Tyrconnell may be found in the
Dublin Magazine for August, 1762.

1 Archbishop King informs us that in consequence of this refusal of the College
to admit Doyle, Tyrconnell withdrew the College Concordatum of £388 paid by the
Exchequer, from Easter, 1688, and could not by intercession or entreaty be per-
suaded to grant his warrant for it after that time (State of. Protestants; sec. 1xxix.).
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intrusion of Bishop Parker on their College, was widely known,
we must admire the courage displayed by the Provost and
Fellows of Trinity College Dublin, under similar circum-
stances, four months afterwards.

It would appear that King James had been imposed upon
by Doyle, for we hear no more about him. Archdeacon Rowan,
in his interesting work on The Case and Conduct of the College,
cites from the * Lansdowne MSS.” in the British Museum a
letter of James to the Lords Deputies of Ireland, probably
written about the end of 1685, in which he mentions an order
which he had previously sent to them on the 27th March in
that year, directing them to administer the oaths of allegiance
and supremacy to all officers and soldiers in the Irish army,
and to all governors of towns and castles; and that he had
decided to dispense with these oaths in the case of several
officers whom he named, among the rest Colonel Richard
Talbot, created Earl of Tyrconnell in March, 1686. The case
of Doyle is another instance of the King’s attempt to set
aside an Act of Parliament.

Lord Clarendon, who had succeeded Ormonde as Lord Lieu-
tenant, and who soon gave place to Tyrconnell, tells us in his
diary, under the date January 21, 168Z, that “the Provost of
the College was with me in some trouble, having met with a
report of a plot being discovered as if some of the Students
had a design to murder Lord Tyrconnell! When he came,
he could not trace it to the bottom, but it was said Judge
Nugent had taken some examinations upon it.” Clarendon
laughed at the idea, and recommended the Provost to take
some discreet person with him, and to call on Judge Nugent
on the matter. The Provost, accompanied by Dr. Browne, at
once called on Nugent, who admitted that he had taken some
informations, but refused to allow the Provost to see them.
When asked further on the subject, he said that all the
examinations he had taken were upon hearsay. Clarendon
“thought it looked like a design to ‘make a plot,” a method
with which he had been sufficiently acquainted in Englandjin
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the time of Oates’s plot.”” He pressed the Judge upon the
matter, who said there was still another person to be examined.
Clarendon ordered Sir Paul Rycout to be with the Judge when
that person was examined. On the 25th of January, Judge
Nugent, after some pressing, having been ordered to bring all
the informations to the Liord Lieutenant, Clarendon writes :—

¢ In the afternoon Judge Nugent brought me an account in writing of
the matter relating to the College, which he owned was a very ridiculous
business. So that whatever becomes of me, the College can have no pre-
judice from this sham project; and for that reason I left those papers the
Judge gave me with the Provost, who was with me this evening.”

It is quite clear that an attempt was made by Nugent,
Sheridan, and some others, to bring the College into disrepute
with James through the influence of Tyrconnell.

It was about this time that the difficulty arose between the
Irish Government and the College as to the sale of the College
plate.

‘We have seen that from the foundation of the College con-
siderable presents of plate had been made to it on the occasion
of the entrance of the sons of leading Irish families. A fixed
sum out of the admission fees of every Pensioner and Fellow
Commoner was set apart for the purchase of plate; and as
there were no means of investing money at that time in such a
way that the amount invested, or put aside, could be readily
realized, the purchase of plate was a safe way of keeping assets
which could be easily turned into money at any emergency.
The College had a considerable accumulation of plate which,
as we have seen, was all sold or pawned to meet the daily
wants of the College between 1641 and 1649 ; yet in the years
between the Restoration and 1686, a large amount of surplus
plate had again accumulated.

At that time the extension of the buildings of the College
was in progress. We have seen that in addition to the original
Quadrangle, several sets of chambers had been erected by pri-
vate individuals on the site of the present Parliament|Square.
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These were called after the names of the donors—such as
Baker’s Buildings, Radcliffe’s Buildings, Scot’s Buildings, or
Alexander’s Buildings. Other benefactors had liberally com-
tributed ; and the front square (as it then existed) was closed
in by the erection of a gate-house by the means of £200
given by Dr. Michael Boyle, Archbishop of Armagh; and it
was considered necessary to complete what was called the
“ Great Court.” We find in the College Register of January
17, 168 :—

¢ The Provost and Senior Fellows considered that at this time materials
for buildings are cheap, and that workmen may be hired at easy rates, have
agreed on to finish the buildings, where the foundation is laid on the south
side of the Great Court,* and to that end they have resolved to ask leave of
the Visitors of the College to sell so much of the plate as will be sufficient
to defray the charge of the said buildings.”

A memorial was presented to the Visitors, and their answer
was received by the 24th January, permitting the sale of the
plate for the purpose of either building or of purchasing land.
On the 26th of January a petition was presented to the Earl of
Clarendon, then Lord Lieutenant, asking permission to sell the
plate in London, instead of in Dublin, “since exchange runs
so high at present.” On the 29th of January the Lord Lieu-
tenant granted leave to the College to transport into England
5000 ounces of wrought plate, duty free. On the 7th of
February 3990 ounces of plate were shipped on board the
“Rose ”” of Chester, consigned to Mr. Hussey, a merchant of
London, who was directed to insure a considerable portion of
it. On the 12th of February Lord Tyrconnell was sworn into
office as successor to the Earl of Clarendon ; and on the 14th
he gave directions to have the College plate seized on board

# From an entry in the College Register, February 19, 1684, it appears that
the cost of one, bay of building in the south side of the great Quadrangle was
£607 19s. 9d., of which Mr. William Worth contributed £202 13s. 34.; and in
consideration of this he and his heirs for ever were granted the disposal of one
middle room on the first stairs of this building to his son or other relation ; and
four Worth Exhibitioners were given rooms in this house.
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ship ; and it was brought on shore, and lodged in the Custom
House by order of the Lord Deputy. Whereupon the College
made application to have the property belonging to the Body
given back to it; to which the Lord Deputy’s reply was, that
he had written to the King concerning it, and that he had no
doubt they should have it ultimately restored to them.

On the 2nd of April the plate was restored to the College
on a promise that they would “no otherwise employ it but for
the public use, benefit, and improvement of the College, nor
transport it from Ireland without the permission of the au-
thorities ;” and on the 7th it was brought from the Custom
House, and deposited for safe keeping “in a closet in the
Provost’s lodging ;”” and the Board at once decided that the
produce of the plate should be laid out in the purchase of land,
and that such purchase should be inquired after.

On the 8th of June an offer was made by Mr. John Sandes,
in the Queen’s County, to sell Monaquid, Coolnapish, Cappa-
beg, and Cappaneary, in that county (the estate now called
Monaquid and Cappaneary), to the College for £1150. On
the 5th of July the Board offered to Mr. Sandes to pay him
£1000 in money from the sale of the College plate, and to give
him a twenty-one years’ lease of the lands at £80 a-year. If
he refused the Board decided to offer Sir George St. George
eight years’ purchase for his land in the county of Kilkenny.
On the 21st of November the plate was ordered to be sold to
Mr. Benjamin Burton, at 8s. per ounce, to purchase Monaquid
from John Sandes. On the first day of April following Burton
purchased 39604 ounces, for which he gave his bond to pay
£990 2s. 6d.* On the 7th of February, 168%, the Lord Deputy
sent for the Provost about the sale of the plate by the College,
which he said was ‘against his command, and their former
obligations.” The Provost told him that it was to purchase
£80 a-year for the College. The Lord Deputy said that ‘“he

* £15 was afterwards repaid to Mr. Burton for a portion of the plate that was
not sterling.
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did not know but £80 a-year might be as good for the College
as the plate ;”” but he directed them to hold their hands until
he had consulted the Attorney-Gteneral (Nagle).

It is clear that Nugent, having now become Chief Justice,
was a bitter enemy of the College, and at the bottom of all this
trouble, for we find that he took upon himself to send for Mr.
Burton, and to examine him as to the purchase of the plate.
Burton admitted that he had done so, and the Chief Justice
charged him with having bought stolen plate which belonged
to the King, and bound him over to prosecute the Provost and
Senior Fellows at the next Term.

The Provost afterwards consulted the Attorney-General,
who, upon hearing the whole matter, approved of the design
of the College to buy land with the proceeds of the plate, and
promised to give a true representation of the affair to his Ex-
cellency. On the 17th February the Lord Deputy told the
Provost that he had discoursed with the Lord Chancellor and
some of the Judges about it, and thought that matter might be
accommodated. He bid the Provost to beware of the title of the
land, and to consult the Attorney-General, which the College
afterwards did; and Nagle gave his advice and assistance in
the drawing up of the deeds relating to the purchase of the
land ; and on the 12th of April, 1688, the purchase of Mr.
Sandes’ estate was completed at £1150, the balance of the
plate money being paid out of the common chest.

It was during the progress of these negotiations that the
College presented the Address to the King at Chester, and the
affair of Bernard Doyle occurred.

The events of the years 1689 and 1690 are best related in
the words of the College Register :—

¢ January 9, 1688.—The College stock being very low, and there being
little hopes of the coming in of the rents, the following retrenchment of
the College expenses was agreed upon by the Vice-Provost and Senior
Fellows.

“ January 24, 1688.—The Visitors of the College did approve of the
said retrenchment, which is as follows :—Ordered by the Vice-Provost and
Senior Fellows, because the College is reduced to a low condition‘ by ‘the
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infelicity of the times (no temants paying any rents, and at present our
stock being almost exhausted), it was ordered that there should be a re-
trenchment of our expenses according to the model following ; the approba-
tion of our Visitors being first obtained :—
¢ Inp.—That there shall be but one meal a-day in the Hall, and that

a dinner, because the supper is the more expensive meal by reason of
coals, &e. 2. That every Fellow be allowed but three pence in the Kitchen
per diem, and one penny in the Buttery. 3. That the Scholars be allowed
their full allowance according to the Statutes, but after this manner, viz. :
To each Scholar in the Kitchen two pence per diem, except on Friday, on
which but three half pence. To each Scholar in the Buttery his usuall
allowance, which was one penny half penny per diem. To each Scholar at
night shall be allowed out of the Buttery one half penny in cheese or butter,
except on Friday night, and that will compleat the Statute allowance.
4. That whereas the Statute allowance to each Fellow in Buttery and
Kitchen is five shillings and three pence per week, and the present allow-
ance comes but to two shillings and four pence, therefore it is ordered that
whenever the College is able, the first payments shall be made to the Fellows
to compleat their Statute allowance in Commons. All these clauses above
mentioned are to be understood in relation to those that are resident. And
if it shall happen that the Society shall be fore’t to break up, and quit the
place through extreme necessity, or any publick calamity, that then all
members of the said Society shall for the interim have full title and claim
to all profits and allowances in their severall stations and offices respectively,
when it shall please God to bring about a happy restoration. 5. That pro-
portionable deductions be made from what was formerly allow’d to the
Cooks for decrements, furzes, &c. 6. That the additional charge of Satur-
day’s dinners be laid aside. 7. That for the future no Scholar of the House
be allow’d Commons that is indebted to his Tutor, and that no Master of
Arts, Fellow Commoner, or Pensioner, be kept in Commons that has not
deposited sufficient caution money in the Bursar’s hands. 8. That whereas
we are resolved to keep up the Society as long as possibly we can, therefore
*tis ordered that as soon as the College money shall fail, all the plate now
in our custody be sold or pawned to defray the charges above mentioned.
We, the Visitors of the College above mentioned, having considered the
expediency of the above retrenchment, do allow and approve thereof.

¢ Francis DuBLIN.

¢ ANT. MEATH.

¢ RtcHARD ACTON, Vice- Provost.

¢ GEORGE BROWN.

¢ DrIve DOWNES.

¢ JouN BArTON.

‘¢ BEN. Scroa6s.”
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¢ January 24, 168§. —It was agreed upon by the Vice-Provost and Senior
Fellows that the Manuscripts in the Library, the Patents, and other writ-
ings belonging to the College, be transported into England. At the same
time it was resolved that the remainder of the plate should be immediately
sold, excepting the Chappel Plate. The same day the College waited on the
Lord Deputy, and desired leave to transport the remainder of their plate
into England, because they could not sell it here without great loss.

¢ The Lord Deputy refused leave.

¢ February 19, 1685.—It was agreed on by the Vice-Provost and Senior
Fellows that two hundred pounds of the College money should be sent into
England for the support of those Fellows that should be fore’t to fly thither,
At the same time the dangers of staying in the College seemed so great that it
was judged reasonable that all those that thought tit to withdraw themselves
from the College for their better security might have free liberty so to do.

¢ February 25, 168§.—All the Horse, Foot, and Dragoons, were drawn
out and posted at severall places in the town, from whence they sent parties,
who searcht the Protestant houses for arms, whilst others were employed in
breaking into stables and taking away all their horses. Two Companies of
Foot, commanded by Talbot, one of the Captains in the Royal Regiment of
Foot Guards, came into the College, searcht all places, and took away those
few fusils, swords, and pistols, that they found. At the same time a party
of Dragoons broke open the College stables and took away all the horses.
The Foot continued in the College all night; the next day they were drawn
off. On the same day it was agreed on by the Vice-Provost and Senior
Fellows that the Fellows and Scholars should receive out of the College
trunk (the two hundred pounds not being sent into England as was de-
sign’d) their salaries for their respective Fellowships, Offices, and Scholar-
ships, which will be due at the end of this current quarter, together with
their allowance for Commons for the said quarter.

¢ Mareh 1, 1685.—Dr. Browne, Mr. Downes, Mr. Barton, Mr. Ashe,
and Mr. Smyth, embark’t for England ; soon after follow’d Mr. Scroggs,
Mr. Leader, Mr. Lloyd, Mr. Sayers, and Mr. Hasset. Mr, Patrickson soon
after died ; and (of ye Fellows) only Dr. Acton, Mr. Thewles, Mr. Hall,
and Mr. Allen, continued in the College.

¢ March 12, 1688.—King James landed in Ireland ; and upon the 24th
of the same month, being Palm Sunday, he came to Dublin. The College,
with the Vice-Chancellor, waited upon him, and Mr. Thewles made a speech,
which he seemed to receive kindly, and promis’d ’em his favour and pre-
tection ;* but upon the 16th of September, 1689, without any offence as much

# < He promised that he would preserve them in their liberties and properties,
and rather augment than diminish the privileges and immunities granted to them
by his predecessors.”’—.dbp. King's State of Protestants, scc. 1xxix,

K
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as pretended, the College was seized on for a garrison by the King’s order,
the Fellows turned out, and a Regiment of Foot took possession and con-
tinued in it.

““June 13, 1689.—Mr. Arthur Greene* bavmg petitioned the King for
a Senior Fellowship. The case was refer’d to Sir Richard Nagle ; upon
which he sent an order to the Vice-Provost and Fellows to meet him at his
house on Monday, the 17th, to shew reason why the aforesaid petition shud
not be granted. The reasons offer’d were many, part of ’em drawn from
false allegations in the petition, part from the petitioner’s incapacity in
several respeots to execute the duty of a Senior Fellow ; and the cunclusion
was in these words: There are much more important reasons drawn, as well
from the Statutes relating to religion, as from the obligation of oaths which
we have taken, and the interests of our religion, which we will never de-
sert, that render it wholly impossible, without violating our consciences, to
have any concurrence, or to be any way concerned, in the admission of him.

¢ July 24.—The Vice-Provost and Fellows, with consent of the Vice-
Chancellor, sold a peece of plate weighing about 30 ounces for subsistence
of themselves and the Scholars that remained.

¢¢ September 6.—The College was seized on for a Garrison by the King’s
order, and Sir John Fitzgerald took possession of it. Upon Wednesday the
11th, it was made a prison for the Protestants of the City, of whom a great
number were coufined to the upper part of the Hall. Upon the 16th the
8cholars were all turned out by souldiers, and ordered to carry nothing with
’em but their books. But Mr. Thewles and some others were not permitted
to take their books with ’em. Lenan, one of the Scholars of the House,
was sick of the small-pox, and died, as it was supposed, by removing. At
the same time the King sent an order to apprehend six of the Fellows and
Masters, and commit em to the main guard, and all this without any pro-
vocation or crime as much as pretended ; but the Bishop of Meath, our
Vice-Chancellor, interceded with the King, and procured the last order to
be stopt.

¢ September 28.—The Chappel-plate and the Mace were seized on and
taken away. The plate was sent to the Custom-house by Colonel Lutterel’s
order; but it was preserved by Mr. Collins, one of the Commissioners of the
Revenue.

¢ October 21.—8everal persons, by order of the Government, seized
upon the Chappel and broke open the Library. The Chappel was sprinkled
and new consecrated and Mass was said in it ; but afterwards being turned
into a storehouse for powder, it escaped all further damage. The Library
and Gardens and the Provost’s lodgings were committed to the care of one

* See before August 7, 1686,
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Macarty, a Priest and Chaplain to ye King, who preserved ’em from the
violence of the souldiers, but the Chambers and all other things belonging
to ye College were miserably defaced and ruined.”*

We find in the Dublin Magasine for August, 1762, p. 54,
the following petition of the Roman Catholic Prelates of Ire-
land, which was probably presented to James II. at this time :—

¢ HUMBLY SHEWETH

““That the Royal College of Dublin is the only University of this
Kingdom, and now wholly at your Majesty’s disposal, the teachers and
scholars having deserted it.

¢'I'hat before the Reformation it was common to all the natives of this
country, as the other most famous Universities of Europe to theirs, re-
spectively, and the ablest Scholars of this Nation preferred to be professors
and teachers therein, without any distinction of orders, congregations, or -
politic bodies, other than that of true merit, as the competent judges of
learning and piety, after a careful and just scrutiny did approve.

¢ That your petitioners being bred in foreign Colleges and Universities,
and acquainted with many of this Nation, who in the said Universities
purchased the credit and renown of very able men in learning, do humbly
conceive themselves to be qualified for being competent and proper judges
of the fittest to be impartially presented to your Majesty, and employed as
such directors and teachers (whether secular or regular clergymen) as may
best deserve it, which as is the practice of other Catholic Universities, so it
will undoubtedly prove a great encouragement to learning, and very ad-
vantageous to this Nation, entirely devoted to your Majesty’s interest.

“Your petitioners therefore do most humbly pray that your Majesty
may be graciously pleased to let your Irish Catholic subjects make use of
the said College for the instructivn of their youth, and that it may be
a general Seminary for the clergy of this Kingdom, and that either all the
bishops, or such of them as your Majesty will think fit (by your Royal
authority and commission), present the most deserving persons to be di-
rectors and teachers in the said College, and to oversee it, to the end it may
be well ruled and truly governed, and pure orthodox doctrine, piety and
virtue be taught and practised therein, to the honour and glory of God,
propagation of his true religion, and general good of your Majesty’s subjects
in this realm, and as in duty bound they will ever pray,” &e.

¢ <« Many of the chambers were turned into prisons for Protestants. The Gar-
rison destroyed the doors, wainscots, closets, and floors, and damnified it in the
building and furniture of private rooms, to at least the value of two thousand
pounds.”’— King, sec. lxxix.

K 2
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And the following petition of the heads of the College
appears upon the Register:—

¢ To THE K1Ne’s Most EXCELLENT MAJESTY.

« Tae HuMBLE PETITION OF THE V1CE-PROVOST, FELLOWS, AND SCHOLARS
ok TriNITY COLLEGE, NEAR DUBLIN,

¢ HuMBLY SHEWETH

“That your Petitioners have continued in the College under your
Majesty’s most gracious protection, acting pursuant to the Statutes and
Charters granted by your Majesty’s Royal Father and others your Royal
Ancestors, And during your Majesty’s absence upon the 6th day of Sep-
tember last, by orders pretended to be derived from your Majesty, Guards
were placed in the said College, That upon ye 16th of ye said month Sir
John Fitzgerald came with a great body of armed men, and forceably dis-
possest your Petitioners, and not only dis-seized them of their tenure and
freehold, but also seized on the private goods of many of your Petitioners, to
their great damage and the ruin and destruetion of that place; that upon
the 28th of the said month, under pretence for a search for arms, seizure
was made by one Hogan of the Sacred Chalice and other holy vessels be-
longing to ye Altar of the Chappel, and also of the Mace; that upon the
21st of October several persons pretending orders from the Government
broke open the door of the Library, and possest themselves of the Chappel :
by all which proceedings your Petitioners conceive themselves totally ejected
out of their freehold, and despoiled of their propertyes and goods, contrary
to your Majesty’s laws, tho’ your Petitioners have acted nothing against
their duty either as subjects or members of ye College. May it therefore
please,” &e.

¢ November 20, 1689.—The Vice-Provost and Fellows met together and
elected the same officers that were chosen the year before.

“Facta est haec Electio a Vice Preeposito et suis Junioribus locum Soci-
orum Seniorum supplentibus, quam Preeposito et Sociis Senioribus (cum
conveniat) vel confirmandam, vel irritam reddendam reliquimus. R. Acton,
G. Thewles, Js. Hall, J. Allen.

¢¢ December.— About the beginning of this month Dr. Acton died of a
fever.

¢¢ At the Court at Dublin Castle, April 11th, 1690. Present the King’s
Most Excellent Majestie in Council.

¢ Whereas His Majestie has been gratiously pleased to appoint the Right
Honorable the I¢ High Chancellor of Ireland to visit and view Trinity
College, near Dublin, and the Records and Library thereunto belonging, and
whereas his Majestie is given to understand this day in Council that Mr.
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George Thewles and Mr. John Hall have several Keyes belonging to ye said
College in their custody, and refuse to deliver the same to his Lordship in
order to view the said College records and Library; his Majestie is gra-
tiously pleased to order, and doth hereby order the said Mr. George Thewles
and John Hall, or either of them, forthwith to deliver the said Keyes to the
L4 High Chancellor, as they shall answer the same at their peril.

‘“ Huen REILY, Copia Vera.

[ ]

¢ Upon receipt of this Mr. Thewles and Mr. Hall consulted the Vice-
Chanoellor and delivered the Keyes.

“ April 15, 1690.—Then received from Mr. George Thewles and Mr.
John Hall, by his Majesties order in Council, ten Keyes belonging to the
trunks and presses in the repository of ye College of Dublin by me.

‘ Fyrrow, C.

“ June 14, 1690.—King William landed at Carrick Fergus, and the
same day Mr. Thewles died of a fever.

“July 1, 1690.—The armies of the English and Irish engaged at the
Boyne, and the Irish being routed, King James returned that night to
Dublin, and commanded his army not to plunder or do any harm to the
city, which order was observed by ye Irish.

“July 15, 1690. —Mr. Scroggs landed, and immediately after Dr.
Browne, and then Mr. Downes, Mr. Reader, the Provost, &e.

¢ The Fellows and Scholars that returned were allowed their Commons,
but their salary was reduced by agreement to the old Statute allowance,
both for Fellowships and places, till the College revenues shall increase.

“Before King William left Ireland he gave order to ye College to
seize upon all books that belonged to forfeiting Papists; but the order not
being known till about half a-year after, the greatest part of the books were
lost, but those which were recovered, and worth anything, were placed in
the Countess of Bath’s library.”

Archbishop King, when detailing the circumstances which
attended the passing of the Act of Attainder by the Irish
Parliament of James II., states the reason why the Provost,
Fellows, and Scholars of the College were omitted. Mr.
Coghlan was one of the Representatives of the College in that
Parliament, and heing disgusted with the proceedings he ab-
sented himself from the House; but when the Bill of Attainder
was about to pass he was sent for by the House of Commons
and asked to supply the names of the absent members of the
College, in order that their names should be inserted in|the
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Bill. He declined at first to do so; but the House insisted ;
and he then went out to consult Doctor Acton, the Vice-
Provost ; and on returning he moved that the Clerk of the
Buttery should be sent for in order that the College books
should be before the House, as without these he could not
supply the names. The Sergeant-at-Arms proceeded to the
College to bring up the Clerk of the Buttery, but that offifler,
having received a hint from Mr. Coghlan, could not be found,
and was absent for some days until the Bill was passed.

In the year 1689, James, at the instigation of Tyrconnell,
placed a secular priest of the Church of Rome, Doctor Michael
Moore, over the College. In this he was supported by the
unanimous advice of the Roman Catholic Bishops. The College
was then occupied as a barrack by James’s soldiers ; the Chapel
was used as a magazine for ammunition ; and in many of the
chambers Protestants were imprisoned. Dr. Moore, aided by
Teigue MacCarthy, a Roman Catholic priest, and Chaplain to
the King, preserved the Library and manuscripts in the general
disorder.

November 20, 1690.—The elections for the year ensuing
were made as follows : —Dr. Browne, Vice-Provost and Bursar ;
Mr. Downes, Senior Dean and Mathematical Professor ; Mr.
Scroggs, Senior Lecturer and Registrar; Mr. Reade, Proctor
for both degrees; Mr. Hall, Junior Dean and Sub-Lecturer ;
Mr. Allen and Mr. Hasset, Sub-Lecturers.

It is interesting to know something of these four Fellows
who so nobly adhered to their duties to the College in such
evil days. Dr. Acton was born in Cheshire in 1646; Mr.
Thewles was of a Meath family, and born in 1659 ; Mr. Allen
was of a Down family, and born in 1664 ; Mr. Hall was born
in Kerry, in 1659.

Mr. Hall afterwards became Vice-Provost and Rector of
Ardstraw and Rahy. He died in 1735, having rebuilt the
Church of Ardstraw, in 1724. Mr. Allen was Sub-Lecturer in
1691, and ho resigned his Junior Fellowship on February 24,
169%. We have no further record of his life.
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On the 1st of May, 1691, a notice was fixed upon the
Chapel door by the Provost and Senjor Fellows, stating that
in consequence of the poverty of the College, and the late
troublous times which had interfered with the studies of the
Students, the election of Fellows and Scholars was deferred
until the 20th of November following. And on the 13th of
November it was, for the same reasons, postponed until the
statutable time in 1692. At the election of annual officers
which followed, a Sub-Lecturer of the third, or Junior Sophister,
class was not appointed, on the ground that ¢there were no
Students in that class by reason of the times.” On the 3rd of
May, 1692, a notice was placed upon the Chapel door stating
that the usual examinations for Fellowship and Scholarship
would be held, but that the Provost and Senior Fellows would
elect only as many as the very slender funds of the College
would enable it to support, and that those elected would not
receive any emoluments until after the 20th of the following
November. On the 21st of May, the Provost being in Eng-
land, the Vice-Provost and Senior Fellows met to consider the
revenue and charges of the College, and finding that ¢the
income would, in all probability, be sufficient by next All
Saints, to maintain half the number of Scholars and all the
Fellows, according to the new allowance both for Fellowships
and places, it was ordered that what Fellows were found fit
should be chosen, and also Scholars to the number of thirty-
five or forty; but if the income should be less than was
expected, that their allowances should be proportionately
abated.” Eventually three Fellows and twenty-two Scholars
were elected. To others half the henefit of a Scholar’s place
was allowed, and to some a third part.

On the 12th September, 1692, *the Vice-Provost, Fellows,
and all the Scholars, Masters, Fellow Commoners, Pensioners,
and Sizars, went to Stephen’s Green, and afterwards to the
Hospital,* to vote for Parliament men for the city ;+ and

* King’s Hospital, Oxmantown
t This was not the first occasion upon whu,h the College, as a Corporation,| took
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accordingly Sir Michael Mitchell, Lord Mayor, and Mr.
Thomas Coote, the Recorder, for whom they voted, were
elected burgesses. On the 17th September the Vice-Provost,
Fellows, and Scholars met in the Hall, and unanimously gave
their votes (one by one according to seniority) for Sir Cyril
‘Wych and Mr. William Moleyneux, the first having the Grace
of the house given him for Doctor of Laws, and the other for
Master of Arts.” (College Register.)

On the resignation of the Provostship by Dr. Huntingdon,
St. George Ashe was appointed to that office on October 3,
1692, and a piece of plate was ordered to be presented to Dr.
Huntingdon as a testimonial of * his great care and kindness
to the Society and the members of it, especially in their neces-
sity, lately in England.” And we find by the list of benefactors
that Dr. Huntingdon gave to the College a large piece of plate
value £30—a salver, on which his Arms are engraved, and
which is still preserved with the other College plate. Dr.
Huntingdon was consecrated Bishop of Raphoe on July 18,
1701. On the following day he became ill, and lingered until
the 2nd of September, when he died, in Dublin, and was buried
near the door of the College Chapel. A large number of persons
followed his remains; the Provost, Fellows, and Scholars, in
order of seniority. Dr. Baldwin delivered a Latin oration on
the occasion.

The first Centenary, or Secular-day, since the foundation of
the College, was observed on the 9th of January, 1693—the
Bursar having received directions on the 30th December to lay
out so much money as should be necessary in order to prepare
matters for the due celebration of the day. The order and
method of the ceremony were published on the day before :—

¢“In the morning there were the customary prayers in the Chapel and a
sermon.

part in the election of burgesses for the City of Dublin. The Register of the Col-
lege records that on April 18, 1661,  The Provost, Fellows, and Scholars voted
upon 8t. Stephen’s Green for two hyrgesses for the city, viz. Alderman Smyth,
and William Davis, Esq,, Recorder, and in the afternoon subseribed thejindenture.”
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‘“At 2 p.M., after a musical instrumental performance, an oration was
made by Peter Browne, F.T.C., containing a panegyric in honour of Queen
Elizabeth : ¢ Deus nobis h®o otia fecit,” - Dominus Maude, Fellow Com-
moner, followed with a Carmen Seculare in Latin hexameters—

¢ Aspice venturo letentur ut omnia seclo
« « « « . sequitur ramis insignis olivee.’

Then Benjamin Pratt, F.T.C., followed with praise of King James the
First: ¢ Munificentissimi Academise auctoris;’ ¢pariter pietate vel armis
egregii.’

¢ George Carr, F.T.C., commemorated the Chancellors of the Uni-
versity during the preceding century—

¢ Nec nos iterum meminisse pigebit Elise.’

¢« 8ir Richard Gethinge, Bart., followed with an English poem in
memory of the illustrious founder of the College.

¢¢ Robert Mossom, F.T.C., delivered a Latin oration in praise of Charles
the First and Charles the Second—

¢ Heu pietas, heu prisca fides . . .
. . . Amavit nos quoque Daphnis.’

Then followed a recitation of some pastoral verses by Dr. Tighe and Dr.
Denny, Fellow Commoners, bearing upon the revival of the University by
William and Mary—
"¢ Jam fides et pax, et honor pudorque
Priscus, et neglecta redire Virtus
Audet.’
¢ A thanksgiving ode was then sung, accompanied by instrumental

music.

¢« A grateful commemoration of the benefits which the City of Dublin
had conferred upon the University, by Richard Baldwin, F.T.C.—

¢‘Laudabunt alii claram Rhodon aut Mitylenen.’

¢ Verses commemorating the hospitality shewn to the members of the
University when dispersed, by the sister Universities of Oxford and Cam-
bridge, were recited by Benjamin Hawkshaw, B.A., William Tisdall, B.A.,
Jeremiah Harrison, B.A.—
¢. . . Quales decet esse Sorores.’

¢ Then there was a Latin debate on the subject, ¢ Whether the Sciences
and Arts are more indebted to the Ancients or the Moderns.’

¢ For the Ancients—Nicholas Foster, B.A.
¢ For the Moderns—Robert Cashin, B.A.
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Then followed a ¢ Carmen seculare lyricum,’ recited by Anthony Dopping,
son of the Bishop of Meath—

¢ Alterum in lustrum meliusque semper
« o o o « o + Proroget #vum.

¢ Concerning the increase of University studies, in an humourous speech
by Thomas Leigh, B.A.

¢“ Eugene Lloyd, Proctor of the University, closed the Acts.

¢ A skilled band of musicians followed the procession as they left the
building.”*

The Sermon was preached by the Provost, Dr. Ashe, upon
Matthew xxvi. 13, concerning the duty of Gratitude, which
he applied to the commemoration of our Royal Foundress.
Several of the Senior Fellows assisted at Divine Service. The
First Lesson was 1. Chronicles xxix., verses 3-19 ; the Second
Lesson, Ecclesiasticus xxxix., verses 1-16. The Epistle, Ezra
vi., verses 7-13 ; the Gospel, Matthew v., verses 13-17. The
Anthem was Revelation vii., verses 9-18.+ The solemnity was
honoured with the presence of the Lords Justices, accompanied
by the Lerd Bishop of Meath, Vice-Chancellor (who at the
opening of the Act made a Latin speech concerning the an-
tiquity of learned Foundations, and their udefulness to the
public), and by several other bishops, by the Lord Mayor,
the nobility, and most of the gentry of the city. The whole
ceremony concluded with the illumination of all the windows
of the College, and of that part of the town next to it.

The several Compositions recited were deposited in the
Manuscript Room of the Library.

* The above is a translation of the Latin entry in the Register. The quotations,
or paraphrases, are either the mottoes appended to the compositions, or selected from
them as a kind of key to the tenour of the poems.

t ¢¢I beheld, and lo, a great multitude.”” (Blow.)



CHAPTER VI

THE STUDIES OF THE UNIVERSITY DURING THE FIRST CENTURY
OF 1T8 EXISTENCE.

In the Statutes prepared by Laud, very express directions are
given with respect to the details of the education to be imparted
to the Students. These appear to be in harmony with the
. teaching which was prevalent from the first foundation of the
College ; and although they were long obsolete before they were
finally repealed, they left an impress upon the studies pursued
in the College for more than a century. The Undergraduates
were divided into four classes, and every Student remained in
each class for four Academic Terms, or one year. The exer-
cises common to all these classes were as follow:—The Student
was required to exhibit to his lecturer once a-week a commen-
tary on the teaching conveyed in his prmlection; and also to
hand to his lecturer every Saturday a Latin theme, or a trans-
lation from English into Latin of some passage set by the
lecturer, who was bound to examine it and to point out its
defects.

Two Students in turn declaimed memoriter in the Hall on
each Friday and Saturday after morning prayers. It was the
duty of the Senior Lecturer to be present at these declamations.

All Students were lectured in Greek on Monday, Wednes-
day, dnd Friday—the Bachelors of Arts and the two Senior
Undergraduate classes at 7 a.M., by the Senior Greek Lecturer,*
who was appointed on each 20th Nevember from among the
Senior Fellows, and the two Junior classes on the same days at
9 A.M., by the Junior Greek Lecturer, selected from the Junior
Fellows, or from the Masters of Arts.

* Afterwards raised to a Regius P'rofessorship of Greek in 1764+
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At the same time four Sub-Lecturers were also nominated,
one for each class, who gave instruction in Science to the
Students every morning.

The first class (or Junior Freshmen) studied Logic, and
specially the Isagoge of Porphyry, which was required to be
read over twice at least in the year. The Students were
examined each day in the subjects of the previous lecture, and
were required to satisfy the lecturer before he proceeded with
his course of instruction.

The Lecturer of the second class (or Senior Freshmen) ex-
plained some part of Aristotle’s Organon as briefly as possible,
not allowing himself to wander from the context into com-
mentaries upon the text.

The Lecturer of the Junior Sophisters read with his class
some portions of the Physics of Aristotle.

The Lecturer of the Senior Sophister (or fourth class) took
up the Metaphysics of Aristotle, except in Lent Term, when
he read with his class the Nicomachean Ethics.

The Students in each class were required to dispute publicly
in the Hall, in Syllogistic form, every Monday, Wednesday,
and Friday, during Term—the first and second classes upon
subjects taken from Logics; the third and fourth classes upon
questions taken from Natural Philosophy and Metaphysics.
These disputations lasted each day from 2 p.M., to 4 P.M.

The Students of the four classes were brought into the Hall
on one day at the beginning of each Term, and examined by
the Junior Fellows and the resident Masters of Arts.

In addition to the above statutable instruction, each Student
was daily taught by his College tutor. It was thus that in-
struction in the Latin authors was given, for there were not at
that time, or for a long period afterwards, any public lectures
in the Latin Classics. We have no records of the subjects of
the several Term Examinations; but as they took place at the
beginning of each Term, they doubtless had special reference
to the reading of the previous Term. One Examiner conducted
the examination of the division of the class entrusted to him
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by the Senior Lecturer, both in Classics and in Science. A roll
of the names of the Students was handed to him, and he
marked on this roll the attendance of the Students at each two
hours of the examination, and the judgments which he assigned
to each in Logics, Natural Philosophy, Moral Philosophy,
Greek, Latin, and Theme (or Latin prose composition), accord-
ing as the Students of each class were liable to these subjects.
A bad judgment did not necessarily cause the Student the loss
of the examination ; but if he got two such unfavourable judg-
ments at any examination he was cautioned, or warned, that if
such negligence occurred again he would be put down to the
bottom of the class, or degraded to a lower one; but he had
always the power, even after being so degraded, of restoring
himself to his former class by diligence in his studies, as evinced
at succeeding Terms. There was no special examination for
the B.A. degree ; and as these degrees were generally conferred
on Shrove Tuesday, the Student had an opportunity of com-
pleting his Term Examinations either in the Michaelmas Term
or at the beginning of the Hilary Term. Students who answered
badly at this examination were sometimes sent to the Regent
House to be examined by any Master of Arts.

The most essential test of the fitness of the Student for the
Bachelor’s degree was the performance of the necessary ex-
ercises before the Proctor, the officer of the University. The
candidate was obliged to write and read two declamations, one
in Greek and one in Latin, in laudem philosophic. The Proctor
had previously delivered to each candidate three papers, each
containing four questions in Logics, Natural Philosophy, or
Moral Philosophy. One of the candidates was appointed
Moderator of the disputation, and he selected a set of three
Candidate Bachelors, and appointed them to defend each one
of the three papers of questions, and to oppose the other two.
He was respondent so far as the first set of questions was con-
cerned, and opponent so far as the second and third. He
opposed the questions which the other two candidates de-
fended, by bringing an argument, consisting of three syllogisms,
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against each of the eight questions contained in those papers.
He defended his own by showing the error of his opponents,
and also responded in two short Latin theses on any two ques-
tions, not consecutive, of the set which he defended.

There is no record in the Register of the College as to any
examination for admission, or of the classical authors which
boys were required to read at school. But that candidates for
entrance were examined, and sometimes rejected, appears from
a letter of Provost Marsh* (April 8, 1679) to Mr. Bernard,
Professor of Astronomy at Oxford, in which he states that a
boy named Shirley, “having been examined in order to his
admission into the College before I came, was rejected as not
being scholar good enough.”” Goldsmith, in his Life of Parnell,
mentioning his extended knowledge of classios at his entrance
at the age of twelve, in 1693, states that this entrance exami-
nation was more strict at Dublin than at Oxford or Cambridge.

During the first century of the existence of the College, and
indeed until nearly one-half of the next century had elapsed,
there were no prizes given at the Term Examinations, nor were
there any stimulants to industry and extended reading among
the Students, except the Foundation Scholarships, which were
always given as the result of a competitive examination. There
were separate lectures for Bachelors of Arts, who were obliged
to attend the instruction given by the Professors of Mathe-
matics and Hebrew, and those of the Senior Greek Lecturer,
and of the Regius Professor of Divinity.

The discipline of the Students appears to have been care-
fully attended to. The usual routine of College duties was
defined in the statutes and strictly observed. At 6 a.m. there
was a short service in the Chapel, taken from the morning
prayer; and at 10 a.m. and 4 p.M. the regular morning and
evening prayers were read in the College Chapel. On Sunday
mornings sermons were preached by one of the four preacherst

* Smith MSS., vol. Ixix. p. 15, Bodleian Library.
T In 1680 it was ordered that ‘¢ £20 a-year should be allowed, in addition to the
_salaries of the four preachers, provided that they always preach memoniten.”’
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nominated each 20th of November; and on Sunday evening
and Friday evening a short English commonplace, treating on
some text of Scripture, was read by one of the Fellows or re-
sident Masters, whether in Holy Orders or not, in turn after
prayers in the Chapel. Students took their dinners and their
suppers in common in the Hall. Morning lecture in science
was attended by the Students every day, immediately after
six o’clock Chapel. No Student was allowed to go out of
College at any time without a written ticket or pass, signed by
his College tutor, and then only for two hours at a time—from
2 o’clock to 4 .M., or from 7 o’clock to 9 p.M.; and Students
who transgressed these rules were fined for town haunting. The
porter was ordered to stand continually at the outer gate in a
gown, and to keep the College gate locked.* The Register
records many instances of public admonition and expulsion of
Students for frequenting taverns, for engaging in unseemly
riots in the streets, for being drunk and wounding citizens,
for playing cards and gambling in houses in the city, and even
for insulting respectable ladies.

It is difficult to asoertain the number of Students at the
time. The matriculations from 1660 to 1680 amounted in all
to nine hundred, which would give an average of forty-five
each year: this was increased to a little over sixty in the years
between 1680 and 1690.+ The ages of the Students on ad-
mission were generally less than they are now; and as all the
Undergraduates at that period resided in the College, there
oould not have been less than two hundred and twenty in re-
sidence.; Two Students resided in each set of chambers, so

* Register, April 22, 1679.

+ In Swift's year, 1683, 58 Students entered the Collegg—5 Fellow Commoners,
48 Pensioners, and 5 Sizars. The average age of the Students of that year on ad-
mission was 16°2 years. The 68 pupils were distributed among the College tutors
at entrance as follows :—Mr. Ashe, 20; Mr. George Browne, 8; Mr. Dive Downes,
5; Mr. Foley, 8; Mr. Griffith, 6 ; Mr. Barton, 6; Mr. Smith, 3; Mr. Acton, 1;
Mr. Scroggs, 1. Among the Students entering in that year were Thomas Wilson,
afterwards Bishop of Sodor and Man; Edward Chandler, afterwards Bishop of
Durham ; and Peter Browne, afterwards Provost and Bishop of Cork.

1 Provost Marsh estimated the number at three hundred and forty. See p. 114.
In 1695-6 there were one hundred and forty-four hearths in Trinity College.
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that there must have been over one hundred sets of chambers,
in addition to those occupied by the Fellows and the resident
Masters. The houses in the College were not more than three
stories high; and it would require at least twenty houses to
provide the accommodation for these. Provost Marsh states -
that between £6000 and £7000 had been spent in enlarging
the College before his time.

None of the buildings in the College at the end of the
first century of its existence are now standing. Indeed there is
not a single trace of the College as it appeared in Dean Swift’s
time, or at the period of the battle of the Boyne. ¢ The old
buildings were extravagantly timbered after the old fashion,”*
says Dr. Madden. Every building now visible was erected
after the reign of William III.

Each of the Students had one of the Fellows as College
tutor, who was responsible to the Cellege for the sums owed
to the House; and in order to protect the tutor, the ¢ Caution-
money” to be lodged in the hands of the tutor by the Student at
entrance was fixed by Decree of the Board, February 19, 1678,
to be as follows :—¥or a Nobleman, £20; for a Fellow Com-
moner, £15; for a Pensioner, £8 ; and for a Sizar, £3 10s.

There does not appear to have been any arrangement for
the recreation of the Students inside the College until 1684,
when we find the following entry on August 13:—¢The
ground for the Bowling-green was granted, and the last Com-
mencement supper feest were allowed towards the making of

* Dr. Madden’s Letter to the Students of the University. Dublin, 1734.

+ The College quarterly accounts contain the following entries as to these
fees:—¢¢ 1685. Received for the two Commencement suppers in the year ending
Nov. 20, 1685, £28 10s. Feb. 168§, Commencement supper came to £7 15s. It
was, according to order, given to Mr. Brereton and Mr. Gilchrist. July, 1686, Com-
mencement supper, £6 15s. The above sum of £36 5s. [namely, £28 10s. and
£6 15s.] was disposed as followeth :—Mr. Mullan, £30; Mr. Mitteau, £3; Mr.
Barber, 16s. Feb. 1694, Received £10 for the Commencement supper, of which
laid out in the repair of the Bowling-green, £3 15.”’ Mr. Mullan must have been
the Master of Arts whom Provost Marsh and, afterwards, Provost Huntingdon
employed to transcribe for the press the translation of the (01d Testament into Irish
which had been made by Denis Sheridan for Bishop Bedell.
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it.” The bowling-green, which was near the present gymna-
sium and racquet-court, and probably on the site of the existing
tennis-courts, was maintained until early in this century, and a
portion* of the entrance fees of Fellow Commoners was applied
to maintain it. On July 28, 1694, leave was given to build a
fives-court at the east end of the Fellows’ garden. In Brooking’s
map of Dublin there appears to have been, in 1728, a quad-
rangular walled-in court on the site of the present New Square,
for the recreation of the Students. There were two gates giving
access to this in the arches under numbers 24 and 25 in the
Library Square, which is the oldest existing part of the College,
and which was erected after 1700. As the Students were pro-
hibited from going out into the city without leave, it was
obviously necessary that opportunities should be given for out-
door amusements within the bounds; and the College Park
had not been at this time laid out and planted. A number of
small paddocks occupied at this period the site of the present
Park; and the College Park, as we have it now, was first
formed and planted with trees in 1722.+

# In 1809, £1 6. from each Fellow Commoner.

+ See Winstanley’s Poems, vol. i. p. 269. On the 8th June, 1722, a large
number of young trees were cut down in the College Park, and a Student named
Thomas Colgan was expelled for this offence, and a reward of £50 was offered by
the Board to secure the conviction of the perpetrators of the outrage. In the same
year a wall was built on the north-east side of the Park, with a lodge for a porter.
—College Register, May 7, 1722. See Sir Bernard De Gomm’s Map in Halliday’s
Scandinavian Kingdom of Dublin.



CHAPTER VIIL

THE CONDITION OF THE COLLEGE DURING THE REIGN OF
WILLIAM 11I.

St. GEORGE AsHE,* who was appointed Provost in 1692, had
been educated in Trinity College, and he was for thirteen years
engaged in the teaching of the College as College tutor and as
lecturer in Mathematics, in succession to Ceesar Williamson. -
Among other well-known names, his College pupils included
Jonathan Swift, the celebrated Dean of St. Patrick’s; and he
is said to have been the clergyman who married Swift to Stella.

Ashe, when Provost, was, as Molyneux wrote to Locke, “so
wonderfully pleased and satisfied with the Essay on the Human
Understanding, that he ordered it to be read by Bachelors in the
College, and strictly examined them in their progress therein.”
From that time to the present that work has continued to be a
text-book in the University, but it was some time before it
was introduced into the Undergraduate course.

Dr. Ashe remained Provost only for three years, when he was
consecrated Bishop of Cloyne. His successor in the Provestship
was Dr. George Browne, who had been born in Northumber-
land, and had entered Trinity College as a Student in 1667.
He was elected a Scholar in the same year, and a Fellow in 1673,
six years before Dr. Ashe, and he appears to have been the
senior member of the College foundation. Browne is said to have
been a ruler both loved and feared.t He died in the College on

* Ashe was a contributor to the Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society,
He wrote a Paper on a New Method of Proving the Propositions of Euclid, and
another containing an Account of an Eclipse of the Sun observed in Dublin in 1684.

+ During his Provostship the Board passed the regulation that ‘¢ No one shall
be allowed to sit for Scholarship until he has resided in the College four Terms at
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Trinity Sunday, 1699, after holding the office for only four
years, and at a comparatively early age.* He was succeeded by
a more illustrious Fellow of the same name—Peter Browne—
who had been elected to a Junior Fellowship only seven years
previously. Browne was the well-known metaphysical writer,
whose principal work was on The Procedure, Ertent, and Limits
of the Human Understanding. He was the author also of several
controversial works against the Deists of his time. Peter Browne
presided over the College for eleven years, and was promoted
to the bishoprie of Cork in 1710. Dr. Benjamin Pratt, who
had been elected to a Junior Fellowship in 1693, was then
appointed Provost ; and he retained the office for seven years,

least.”” April 21, 1697. And it was in the same year that a new Fellowship was
founded, in q of the bequest of Carriglass in the county of Longford, by
Dr. John Richardson, Bishop of Ardagh, one of the earliest Fellows.

* During the administration of Provost George Browne happened one of the
worst riots in the history of the College ; and it was thought that a blow which he
had then received from a brick-bat, was the occasion of his death a few years after.s
He was buried in the Antechapel of the Chapel then existing. The monument,
which has been removed to the rere of the present Chapel, contains an inscription

which manifests the opinion which his contemporaries entertained of his merits : —

P. M. 8.

Reverendi admodum viri GEorG1i1 BROWNE 8.T. P.
Alumni Socii et tandem Preepositi hujus Collegii
Qui rem literariam ingenio diligentia aliorum institutione
Per triginta annorum spatium promovit
ZEdes has dimidia sud parte auctiores amplificavit pecunid
Partim a regni ordinibus impetratd partim suo ipsius
Testamento legatd quod feliciter inchohavit alteri
Perficiendum Reliquit
Qui charitate in pauperes studio in bene meritos
Benignitate erga omnes tantum profecit
Ut solus etiam inter bonos optimi preesidis partes
Implevisse videretur
Quem vivum viventes colebant mortuum mirabuntur poster
Monumentum hoc publicis Collegii Sumptibus extructum
Preepositus et Socii Seniores poni curavere.
oBUT
Quinquegenarius die quarto Junii Dominica Trinitatis
Anno Domini
1699.

» See a Pamphlet in the College Library, P. ii. 31, page 6.
L2
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when he resigned it for the Deanery of Down. Pratt appears to
have been an easy, good-natured Provost; he was often absent
in England; and, when in Dublin, was the mildest of rulers.
In his time ¢ the lecturers seldom attended lectures, even the
public ones. The Fellows were seldom seen at prayers. Com-
mons was greatly neglected by them. There were Deans who
never once attended dinner in the Hall during an entire year.™*
One of the first acts of the Board, after Dr. Baldwin became
Provost, was intended to remedy this gross irregularity. On
the 20th August, 1717, a form of programme appears in the
Register, which was ordered to be put on the College gates,
enforcing residence, during Term, upon all Students; and on
October 22, 1718, the Board passed the following regulation :—
« Bachelors of Arts, who are Scholars or Exhibitioners, are to
attend College Terms, or they will lose their Scholarships or
Exhibitions.”

During Pratt’s absence the College was first ruled by Vice-
Provost Hall, and afterwards, from March 30, 1713, by Vice-
Provost Baldwin, who was made Provost in 1717, after Dr.
Pratt was made Dean of Down. Dr. Baldwin was a vigorous
ruler in both capacities, and he endeavoured to repress with a
steady hand the insubordination which prevailed in the College
for the first twenty-five years of his administration, the causes
of which will be treated of in the next chapter.

In King William’s time the Irish Episcopal Bench was
more largely filled by Dublin graduates than at any period
of the eighteenth century. There were at the same time ten
Irish bishops who had been Tellows of Trinity College, Dublin,
namely, William Lloyd, Nathaniel Foy, William Palliser,
Samuel Foley, Edward Walkington, Tobias Pullein, St. George
Ashe, John Pooley, Edward Smith, and Dive Downes. The
King was very considerate to the College in consequence of the
distress to which it was brought during the Williamite wars by
the non-receipt of the Munster rents. He was induced, through

* Pamphlet, College Library, P. ii. 31, page 30.
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the influence of Archbishop Tenison and others, to remit a very
large amount of quit and crown rents due by the College on
these estates for ten years.*

James, the second Duke of Ormonde, who had been elected
Chancellor of the Universities of Oxford and of Dublin in 1688,
at the death of his grandfather, appears to have claimed rights
in Trinity College which the Provost and Senior Fellows felt
themselves bound to resist. On July 11, 1698, he recommended
the Board to grant a grace for the degree of Bachelor of Arts
to John Hopkins, who had formerly been a Student, but who
had not completed his education in the College. This was an
unusual request, yet the Provost and Senior Fellows consented
to the proposal. Three years after this the Chancellor pro-
ceeded further, and desired to interfere with the election of
Scholars.

‘We find in the College Register, under the date June 15,
‘1701, the following entry :—

““ Whereas there were three letters to the Provost from his Grace the
Duke of Ormonde,+ in the behalf of James Finglas, Lucas Greene, and
‘Ossory Meddlycott, for Scholars’ places, they being persons not sufficiently
qualified, according to the Statutes, in their learning, standing, and other-
wise, and therefore the House being under such obligation by the Statutes
that they cannot possibly comply with his Grace’s recommendations, which
otherwise they would with readiness obey, ’tis resolved that the House
will forthwith represent their reasons to his Grace, and lay before him the
great discouragement of such recommendations to learning in College.”

The Board on this occasion consisted of Dr. Peter Browne
(Provost), John Hall (Vice-Provost), Owen Lloyd, Robert

¢ Letters Patent, granted 14th November, in the fourth year of William and
Mary, on account of the late troubles, reduce the quit and crown rents on all the
College lands to £10 for three years; and similar Letters Patent, dated 11th May, in
the seventh year of William III., continue the above reduction for seven years
longer.

+ Ormonde had been with King William at the battle of the Boyne; and he
was one of the few Englishmen of whom the King took leave on his deathbed. He
was Lord Lieutenant of Ireland, February, 19, 170%, and again in 1710, and was
appointed by Queen Anne Commander-in-Chief of her land forces.
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Mossom, Benjamin Pratt, Richard Baldwin, Claudius Gilbert,
and John Wetherby.

In consequence of the increasing number of Students, it
was found necessary largely to extend the College buildings.
But as the funds of the College did not admit of any expendi-
ture of this kind, in 1698 the Irish House of Commons sent an
address to the King, asking him for a grant of £3000 to enable
the College to provide additional accommodation for the Stu-
dents. On the 25th of October, 1699, Mr. Pratt, then a Senior
Fellow, was sent to England to negotiate both the matter of
the quit-rents, and the grant of this sum of £3000, in both of
which he was successful with the King. The Register states
that Mr. Pratt was allowed £10 per month for his expenses on
this mission. In the meantime the Irish bishops and gentry
took up very warmly the matter of the building, for we find in
the list of benefactors published in the University Calendar,
that a sum of £2500 was contributed for this purpose, includ-
ing the handsome bequest of £1200 by Provost George Brown,
in addition to a sum of £100 towards building the Provost’s
House. We cannot accurately state at what time the erection
of the present Library Square, which was built by means of
this money, was commenced, but from the inseription on Provost
George Brown’s monument, it is clear that it was begun before
the year 1700. The erection of this square was not completed,
however, until 1725.*

The Library Square, as it remained until 1839, was built of
red brick, and consisted of three sides of a quadrangle, of which
the Library formed the fourth. The dimensions of this square
were 262 feet by 208. 'We have no exaot details as to the cost
of erecting it. We know, however, that between September,
1718, and January, 1722, about £2600 was expended upon
these buildings. Moreover, we find, in 1725, the following

# In a memorandum in Dr. Barrett’s handwriting, about one hundred years old,
it is stated : ¢ On digging the foundation of the west side of the Library Square
there was found a large stone, cut and formed as if intended to serve the upper part
of a stone coffin. It serves now as a seat for the badgemen,”
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entry in the Bursar’s books :—¢ To Mr. Maple and Mr.
Brooking, in full for six staircases, with the buildings ever
the two gateways, and the additional roof adjoining the Chapel,
£2452 8s. 94.” This would include the whole of the east side
of the square. And when we remember that it contained four-
teen houses before the west side was taken down in 1839, it
may be estimated that the total cost could not have fallen short
of £6000. The Governors of Erasmus Smith’s Schools con-
tributed £940 towards the erection of the Library Square, and
afterwards £580 towards the repair of some houses in that
square, which were partially destroyed by fire in 1726.

It must be remembered that when the Fellows and Scholars
'were enabled to return to the College after the defeat and
overthrow of James II., it consisted only of the old small
quadrangle, erected in the reign of Elizabeth, and of portions
of a new square lying towards the west, and which occupied
very nearly the site of the present front square; along with
some detached buildings to the north of the quadrangle, all of
which were afterwards removed.*

* Dunton, in his account of a visit to Trinity College in 1698, states that the
Library was over the Scholars’ lodgings, and that a portrait of Chaloner was at the
upper end of the Library, and another at the entrance into the Library. He tells
us that the College consisted ‘¢ of three squares—the outward being as large as both
the inner, one of which, of modern building, has not chambers on every side, the
other has ; on the south side of which stands the Library, the whole length of the
square ; the Hall and Butteries run the same range with the Library, and separate
the two inner squares. It is an old building, as is also the Regent House, which
from a gallery looks into the Chapel ”’ (Life and Ervors, p. 623). It is difficult to
reconcile Dunton’s statement with the old maps of the College. He possibly alludes
to a small square north of the ‘‘ Quadrangle,’”” which occupied the space to the
south of the present Dining Hall, and which extended as far as a line drawn from
the present entrance gate to the Campanile.



CHAPTER VIII.

TRINITY COLLEGE IN THE FIRST HALF OF THE EIGHTEENTH
CENTURY.

Durine the reigns of Queen Anne and of the first two Georges,
the annals of the College show that the Society suffered from
much insubordination on the part of certain of the Students.
This partly arose from laxity of discipline, and from the influ-
ence of some disorderly and violent Students, and partly from
political causes which were connected with the party feelings
which prevailed with regard to the Revolution and the Hano-
verian Succession. It is quite clear that the great majority of
the Fellows, especially of the Senior Fellows, were loyal to
Queen Anne and to the House of Hanover. Yet it could not
be expected that an unanimity of views should prevail among
the Students. There appears to have been a small, but de-
termined, body among them warmly attached to the fortunes
of James the Second and his family, while the governing body
of the College resolutely determined to suppress all manifesta~
tions of disloyalty to the reigning Sovereign. The earliest
instance of this is a case which occurred in 1708. One Edward
Forbes,* on the same day on which he was admitted to the M.A.
degree (July 12), took occasion to make a Latin speech, in
which he asserted that the Queen had no greater right to sit
on the throne than her predecessor had—that the title of each
Sovereign eodem wnititur fundamento. This speech is said to
have been made at the Commencement supper. Forbes’ words,
having been repeated to the authorities, gave great offence to

* Edward Forbes was a Master of Arts of Aberdeen, who on the 12th June,
1704, had been admitted to perform the Acts for the B. A. degree.
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the loyal feelings of the heads of the College, and to the lead-
ing members of the University, and the orator was consequently
expelled from the College, and suspended from his degrees by
the act of the Provost and Senior Fellows. On the 2nd of
the following month, at a meeting of the Vice-Chancellor,
Masters, and Doctors of the University, Forbes was deprived
of his degrees, and degraded from his University rights; on
the same occasion a declaration of loyalty was put forward
by the leading members of the University Senate, and signed
by the Vice-Chancellor, the Archbishop of Dublin, and the
Provost. This dooument, with the names of the signatories,
is preserved in the College Library, and a copy will be found
in the Appendix xxx1V.

A strong party of Graduates was dissatisfied with the action
of the Provost and Senior Fellows in the case of Forbes, partly
from political reasons,* and partly, perhaps, from a feeling
that the punishment awarded was more severe than the circum-
stances of the case required. There can be no doubt that the
sentiments of the members of the Board agreed very closely
with those of the Whig party. We learn, however, from Dr.
Edward Synge, afterwards Archbishop of Tuam, that Forbes
had a party of sympathisers in the University. He says in his
pamphlet, which he wrote vindicating his well-known sermon
on Toleration, preached in 1711+ :—

¢T remember particularly the constant efforts made in the University
of Dublin (by persons without doors against the judgment of the Provost
and Senior Fellows, who did all they could to oppose them, and, thank God,
prevailed), at every Commencement for several years, to procure a repeal of
the sentence against Forbes, and a rasure of those wicked words, eodem
nitutur fundamento, which placed the title of the late Queen on the same
foot with that of her glorious predecessor ’—(namely, from the Register
of the University).

There was still a small, but troublesome, party among the

* Dr. Lawson, in his Latin Sermon at Provost Baldwin’s funeral, asserts that
there was a strong and growing Jacobite faction in the College when this occurred.
1+ Dublin, 1726, page 75.
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Students who agreed with Forbes in his political opinions,
for we find from the College Register, under the date August
17, 1710, that Thomas Harvey, John Graffan, and William
‘Vinicomes, were proved to have been intoxicated in the College,
and to have crossed over the College walls into the city, and
Harvey was convicted of inflicting an indignity on the memory
of King William, by wrenching the baton out of the hand of
his equestrian statue erected in College Green in 1701. The
other two aided and abetted him in the act. They were all
three expelled by the Board.

The heads of the College, as well as the leading Doctors
and Masters, found it necessary to clear the character of the
College from the charges of disloyalty to Queen Anne which
were persistently brought against it. Accordingly we find in
the records of the proceedings of the Provost and Senior Fel-
lows, 14th July, 1712, that the Vice-Chancellor having signified
that an address be presented to her Majesty from the congre-
‘gation in the Regent Houses, leave was given that such an
address be brought in.

On the 8th of February, 1713, Theodore Barlow was ex-
pelled for drinking in the rooms of one of the Scholars to
the memory of the horse from which King William was thrown,
to the great danger of his life, and also to the health of the
Pretender, and for denouncing with a curse the Hanoverian
succession. The heads of the College still deemed it necessary
to set forth their loyalty in the strongest terms, for the decree of
expulsion of Barlow runs as follows. The words are evidently
those of the Vice-Provost, Dr. Baldwin :—

¢¢ Visum est igitur Vice-Preeposito et Sociis Senioribus, quibus imprimis
chara est Wilhelmi Regis Memoria, qui ex animorum suorum sententia
juraverunt Annee Serenissimee Reginee nostre dignitatem et indubitatum
Imperii titulum necnon successionem in Illustrissimd domo Hanoverienso
per leges stabilitam pro virili defendere et conservare.”

They had still to combat the hostile spirit of a portion of
the University, who had now a new Vice-Chancellor, Dr, John
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Vesey, Archbishop of Tuam, a man at that time of the age of
seventy-seven ; and on the day after Barlow’s expulsion, at the
Shrovetide Commencements, several Students were prepared to
take their degrees ; but some of the Graduates and non-resident
Masters of Arts having caused a motion to be made to the Vice-
Chancellor that the sentence of Forbes’ degradation should be
read before any public business should be proceeded with, the
Archbishop was in favour of having this done; but the Vice-
Provost, Baldwin, believing that this was for the purpose of
having a resolution passed repealing the sentence on Forbes,
and relying on the College regulation that no grace could be
presented to the Senate of the University without the consent
of the Board, negatived the motion. The Vice-Provost’s
negative was not allowed by the Vice-Chancellor, whereupon
Baldwin withdrew from the Regent House into the Provost’s
house, followed by the rest of the Senior Fellows, the Junior
Proctor, and the Beadle. Then the Vice-Chancellor and Masters
sent to them by two of the Doctors of Divinity the following
message :—

¢ The Proctors, Registrar, and Beadle, are cited and required to repair
to the Regent House, under pain of contempt.”

To which message the Vice-Provost and Senior Fellows sent
the following reply :—

¢“The Proctors, Registrar, and Beadle, having communicated to the
Vice-Provost and Senior Fellows the message sent to them by the Reverend
Doctors Hamilton and Gourney, with all humility offer their opinion that
they hold that without the consent of the Vice-Provost and Senior Fellows
nothing can be safely done in this matter. And, moreover, the Vice-Provost
and Senior Fellows notify that they, with their above-named officers, will
return without further delay, if the Vice-Chancellor will proceed to confer
degrees, and to transact the other business to which the Vice-Provost shall
have consented. Otherwise they most humbly beg to be excused, being
unwilling to do anything contrary to the Charter of Foundation, and the
Laws and Customs of the University.”
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Upon receiving this reply, the Vice-Chancellor adjourned
the Commencement to the 11th of February.*

A final outburst of political feeling took place in 1715. On
the 8th of April in that year, a Student named Nathaniel
Crump was expelled for saying that Oliver Cromwell was to
be preferred to Charles I.; and five of the Students were pub-
licly admonished for breaking out of the College at night, and
attacking the house of one of the citizens. On the 31st of
May, a Master of Arts, a Bachelor of Arts, and an Under-
graduate, were publicly admonished for reading a scandalous
pamphlet reflecting on the King, under the name of “Nero
Secundus ;” and a notice was placed upon the gates of the
College denouncing this pamphlet, and threatening the expul-
sion of all Students who should read it, or make a copy of it.
The examinations for Scholarships and Fellowship proceeded as
usual ; and on Saturday, the 11th of June, two days before the
election, an order came from the Lords Justices to the Provost
and Senior Fellows forbidding the election,t based upon a King’s
Letter of the 6th of June, and stating as the grounds of this
prohibition the several disputes and tumults in Trinity College,
which disturbed the Students, and prevented them from study-
ing for these examinations. The elections, consequently, were
not held, although there was one Fellowship and eleven Scho-
larships vacant.

On the 27th of June a Master of Arts was expelled for
making a copy of the pamphlet ¢ Nero Secundus,” and two
Bachelors of Arts were expelled for using language disrespectful
to the King; and on the 3rd of August two more of the
Students were expelled on a like charge. On the 12th of July

* For an account of the above proceedings, see Boyer's Political State of Great
Britain, and Dr. Miller on the University Charter, &c., page 6. The above is a
translation from the Latin of the message and reply.

t It may be questioned whether the Crown did not on this occasion outstep its
constitutional powers. The King had the right to dispense with a Statute of the
College, but not with the Charter. In 1798 it was found necessary to obtain an
Act of Parliament for a similar purpose.
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the Provost and Senior Fellows petitioned King George I. with
respect to the above-mentioned prohibition. They denied that
there were any disputes or tumults in the College which
prevented the Students for preparing for their several ex-
aminations, and stated that the number of candidates for Fel-
lowship was greater than usual, and the answering entirely
satisfactory. They stated, moreover, that none of the can-
didates for the vacant Fellowship or Scholarships were either
accused or suspected of any crime ; but they had on all proper
occasions expressed dutiful zeal to the King’s person and go-
vernment. They asked permission to hold the election. Mr.
Elwood and Mr. Howard were sent to London to present this
petition to the King.

On the 16th of February, 1714, the Prince of Wales was
elected Chancellor,* on the attainder of the Duke of Ormonde,
and the Provost and Dr. Howard were sent to London to
present to his Royal Highness the formal instrument of
appointment.

On tho 28th of April a letter was received from the Lords
Justices, enclosing a copy of a letter from the King, removing
the prohibition to the election of Fellows and Scholars, and the
statutable examinations were held in the usual manner. On
Trinity Monday one Fellow and thirty-four Scholars were
elected.

The following extracts from the MS. letters of Archbishop
Kingt in the College Library, will throw some light upon these
proceedings : —

June 4,1715, To Mr. Delafoy. —¢¢ The business of the College makes the
greatest noise. Ten years ago I saw very well what was doing there, and
used all means in my power to prevent it; but the strain was too strong

# See a Paper on this subject by Addison in the Frecholder, No. 33 ; and Swift’s
Works, by Sir Walter Scott, vol. xii. p. 354, for a satirical speech composed by
Swift for Provost Pratt on the occasion of the Inauguration.

+ It will be remembered that the Whigs were now in power, and Addison was
the Irish Chief Secretary at this time, resident in London, and that Archbishop
King was one of the Lords Justices.
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for me, as you very well know, and ’twill be necessary to use some effectual
means to purge that fountain, which otherwise may corrupt the whole
kingdom. Their Visitors are only the Chancellor and I. We ought to
visit once in three years, but I could never prevail on their Chancellor to
join with me, though I often proposed it ; nor is there any hope that I shall
be able to do any good whilst I am under such circumstances. I take the
Chancellor to be for life, and this makes an impossibility. I believe the
Parliament when it sits will be inclined to look into this matter.”

June 21, 1715.—¢ The College readily submitted to his Majesty’s order
to forbear their elections, and I hope will acquit themselves much better
than the University of Oxford has done by their programme.”

July 7, 1715. To Mr. Addison.—* The business of the College gives a
great deal of trouble to every honest man, and a peculiar pain to me. ’Tis
plain there’s a nest of Jacobites in it : one was convicted last Term ; two are
run away ; and I believe bills are found against one or two more. But we
can’t as yet reach the fountains of the corruption; but I assure you no
diligence is wanting, and everybody looks on it to be of the last consequence
to purge the fountain of education. I believe next Parliament will look
into the matter.”

In addition to political feeling, there appears to have been
from the beginning of the eighteenth century a few very dis-
orderly Students in the College, who were always giving trouble
to the authorities.

During the Provostship of George Browne, one of the worst
riots took place in the College, fortunately unattended by loss
of life at the time. College discipline had become disorganized
in the unsettled period which succeeded the battle of the Boyne,
and the Provost and Senior Fellows resolved to subdue the
disorderly spirit which had manifested itself in the College.
They determined* to admonish publicly three or four of the
Students who had been particularly disorderly, and the heads
of the College proceeded in a body to the Hall for that purpose.
A few determined Students advanced resolutely, tore the Ad-
monition paper out of the hands of the Dean, and turned the
Provost out of the Hall. It was probably on this occasion that
Provost George Browne received the blow which has been
mentioned in a previous page. A later instance of similar

# Library, P. ii. 31., page 18.
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insubordination occurred about thirty years afterwards, when
the Provost and Senior Fellows proceeded to the Hall for the
like purpose of punishing some turbulent Students. They
were met on their way with unseemly affronts and reproaches.
The doors of the Hall were locked against them by the Students,
and they were obliged to break open the doors in order to pro-
mulgate their sentence.

In 1733 the rooms of one of the Fellows were attacked by
six or eight of the Students, and they perpetrated there dis-
graceful mischief and outrage. The rebellious spirit of some of
the Students went so far that, when they were expelled, or
rusticated, they refused to leave the College, and the authorities
could not put them out without violence. One of the Students-
so expelled actually assaulted a Senior Fellow in the Hall
while the sentence of his expulsion was being read out. These:
violent proceedings on the part of a few reckless Students were
aided by outsiders, who always came into College when riots
were expected. Thus the unhappy disorders in the College
had become widely known, and were fast bringing the insti-
tution to the lowest disrepute.

A contemporary pamphlet* complains that while there were
in the College from five hundred to six hundred Students,
between seventeen and twenty-four years of age, there were
only twenty Masters to control them. The Scholars objected
to the statutable custom of capping the Fellows, and it states
that—

¢ When the Board meets to inquire into a violation of the Statutes on
the part of the Students, the young gentlemen who are conscious of their
guilt assemble in the courts below ; they have secured a number of their
friends ; they are surrounded by a great crowd of their brethren; how many
they may have engaged to be of their party is not to be discovered, and
they give, perhaps, plain intimations that they will not suffer them to be
censured. Trusting in their numbers, they will not suffer any one man to
be singled out for an example.” . . . ¢ Physical violence is consequently to

be expected, by the Provost, Senior Fellows, and the Dean, proceeding to
the Hall to read out censures.”

* College Library, P. ii. 31, page 14. Dublin, 1734.
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Primate Boulter’s letters* throw some light upon the state
of discipline in the College at this time. Baldwin, now become
Provost, most likely from his known devotion to the Whig
party and the Hanoverian Succession, and his efforts to subdue
the Jacobite faction in College,t was a man of a very arbitrary
and determined character. He appears to have used the full
authority which the Statutes gave him, and frequently sum-
moned the two Deans, and removed from the College books
the names of disorderly Students without consulting the Board.
Some of the Senior Fellows, notably Dr. Delany,{ a strong
Tory, whose politics were shared by his friend and colleague,
Dr. Helsham, were opposed to these arbitrary proceedings, and
took measures in London to bring the matter before the Council,
in order to have the Provost’s statutable power in these matters
curtailed. We learn from Boulter’s letters to the Duke of
Newecastle, that early in 1725—

¢ Two Undergraduates of the College, one of them a Scholar, had com-
pany at their chambers till about an hour after the keys of the College were
carried, according to custom, to the Provost. When their company was
willing to go, upon finding the College gates shut, and being told the keys
were carried to the Provost, the Scholars went to the Provost’s lodgings,
and knocked there in an outrageous manner. Upon the Provost’s man
coming to the door to see what was the matter, they told him they came for
the keys to let out their friends, and would have them, or they would break
open the gates. He assured them the keys were carried to his master, and
that he durst not awake him to get them, and then the man withdrew.
Upon their coming again to knock with great violence at the Provost’s
door, he was forced to rise, and came down and told them they should not
have the keys, and bid his man and the porter take notice who they were.
The next day he called the two Deans to his assistance, as their Statutes
require, and sent for the lads to his lodgings. The Scholar of the house
came, but not the other. To him they proposed his making a submission

* Vol. i. pp. 13, 145, 153.

1 Burdy, in his Life of Skelton, tells us that Baldwin’s strong opposition to
Queen Anne’s last ministry caused him to be noticed by George I., and promoted.
« 1 One of the Senior Fellows, eupposed to be Delany, is said by Boulter to have
abused the Provost in a sermon in the College Chapel on this occasion. He after-
wards made satisfaction to the Provost for this.
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for his fault, in the Hall, and being publicly admonished there. This he
made a difficulty in doing; and upon their proceeding to the Hall, when he
came out of the lodgings be put on his hat before the Provost and walked
off. The Provost and Deans went on to the Hall, and after waiting there
some time to see whether he would come and submit, they expelled them
both.”

The Scholar’s name was Annesley, a relation of Lord
Anglesea, and through his influence with the Lord Lieutenant
(Liord Carteret) and the Visitors he was restored ; but he must
have submitted and apologized, otherwise Baldwin would have
been inexorable. We find that he took the B.A. degree in
1726, and that of M.A. in 1729.

The Duke of Dorset became Lord Lieutenant in 1731, and
proved himself to be a strong friend of the College. In order
to encourage the Irish nobility and gentry to educate their sons
in Ireland, he himself showed them an example by entering
his own son, Lord George Sackville, as a Student. Having the
‘privileges of a nobleman, he graduated B.A. in July, 1733,
and M.A. in July, 1734. The College, as his example was fol-
lowed by others, greatly improved in character and reputation ;
the sons of gentlemen of fortune, who used before this to seek
education elsewhere, began to come in numbers to Trinity
College. In the ten years, 17256-1734, there were admitted as
Students 5 Noblemen*, 1 Baronett, 96 Fellow {ommoners, and
921 Pensioners and Sizars; while in the early part of the
century the matriculations averaged only about 70 each year.
Among these sons of the higher gentry some appear to have
been difficult to control, and to have led others of the Students
into excess. 'We are told in a pamphlet, supposed to have been
written by Dr. Madden,} that one of the Students, after a long
course of neglect of duties, as well as for a notorious insult
upon the Junior Dean, was publicly admonished. In order to
resent this punishment, ten or twelve of the Students behaved

* Lord Tullamore, Lord Mountcashell, Lord Strangford, Lord Clotworthy
Skeffington, Lord George Sackville.

1 Sir Charles Moore.

+ Letter to the Students of the University. 1734.
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themselves in a most outrageous manner; they stoned the
Dean out of the Hall, breaking into his rooms, and destroying
everything in them. They continued to ravage other parts of
the College until the middle of the night, evidently endanger-
ing the life of the person who was the object of their resent-
ment. - Dr. Madden adds that this was done “in a time of
great lenity of discipline— perkaps too much so.” “ The Board
offered considerable rewards for the discovery of the perpe-
trators of these riotous proceedings; the Students retorted by
offering higher rewards to anyone who would bring in the
informer, dead or alive. A threatening letter was sent to the
Provost. Strangers from town, as was usually the case, came
into the College to assist in the pillage. One of these attempted
to set fire to the College gates; and had not some of the well-
disposed Students prevented this, they would have laid the
whole College in ashes, as the flames would have caught hold
of the ancient buildings, extravagantly timbered after the
old manner, and would have reached the new buildings [the
Library Square], and the flames could not then have been
extinguished.”

One of the Junior Fellows, named Edward Ford, who had
been elected in 1730, had rendered himself particularly ob-
noxious to the Students. He was not Junior Dean ;* and he
appears to have been an obstinate and ill-judging man, who
took upon himself to restrain the Students in an imprudent
manner. They resented this interference. He had been often
insulted by them, and had received a threatening letter. This
caused him much dejection of spirits; and as his rooms had
suffered in the previous tumult, he kept loaded arms always by
his side. One night he was asleep in his rooms (No. 25), over a
passage which then led from the Library Square into the play-
ground (a walled-in enclosure which at that time occupied the
site of the present New Square). A loaded gun lay by his bed-
gide. Some of the Students threw stones against his windows,

# As has been assumed by the late Isaac Butt in his story of ¢ The, Murdered
Fellow,’’ in the Dublin University Magazine, vol. v.
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which was the usual way in which they annoyed the College
authorities. Ford rose from his bed and fired upon them from
his window, which faced the play-ground. Determined to reta-
liate, the band of Students rushed to their chambers, seized the
fire-arms, which they had persisted in keeping (although such
had been forbidden, under pain of expulsion, by a decree of the
Board, March 24, 1730), and they ran back to the play-ground.
In the meanwhile one of the Scholars, who resided in the same
house, seeing the danger in which Ford was placed, and know-
ing the character of the man, managed to get into his bedroom,
and strongly urged him to remain in bed. Ford, with his cha-
racteristic obstinacy, would not listen to this advice, but went
to the window in his nightdress, when the Students seeing him,
fired at the window, and wounded him mortally. Poor Ford
lingered in great agony for about two hours before he died.
The Board immediately met and investigated the circumstances
of the murder, and expelled Mr. Cotter,* Mr. Crosby, Boyle,
Scholes, and Davis, as being the authors of or participators
in Mr. Ford’s murder. The Board employed Mr. Jones, an
attorney, to prosecute them for murder at the Commission
Court, at which trial, however, they were acquitted.

‘We learn from contemporary pamphletst that the feeling
among the upper classes in Dublin was greatly excited about
this affair. Many, especially ladies, strongly took the part of

the young men—

¢“The Fellows were the subjects of common obloquy; every little in-
discretion of their former lives was ripped up; everything they said or did
had a wrong turn given to it. Numberless false stories about them were
spread throughout the kingdom. Some of them were publicly affronted in
the Courts of Law by one of his Majesty’s servants for appearing to do the
common offices of every honest man. One noble Lord declared that a Fellow’s
blood did not deserve an inquisition which might detain a man one day from
his ordinary business.” However, ‘‘the Judges (except one) all spoke
loudly in favour of the College, and specially the Chief Baron.”

* Afterwards Sir James Cotter.
t See Coll. Library, P. mm. 3, No. 1, page 13 ff. Dublin, 1735,

M2
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Primate Boulter is said to have often appeared astonished
when he heard gentlemen talk as if they were determined to
destroy the Irish seat of learning. It is added (p. 15), that
“many did this for the purpose of injuring religion.” No
doubt the true explanation of the animosity to the College is
to be sought in the strong political feelings which prevailed
at the time. The Fellows were mainly Whigs, and their op-
ponents belonged to the Tory party.

Early in March, 1734, the Visitors cited the Provost,
Fellows, and Scholars, to appear at a Visitation on the 20th
of that month. Primate Boulter* wrote to the Duke of Dorset
that—

¢ There have been such difficulties started from the College, and so much
listened to by their Vice-Chancellor, the Bishop of Clogher [Dr. Stearne],
that I fear the Visitation will not prove such as will answer expectation.
I have taken all opportunities of desiring the Fellows and their friends to
avoid all needless disputes and oppositions for fear of their falling into the
hands of worse Visitors next Session of Parliament. I hope and fear the
best ; but things do not promise very well.”

The above cited pamphlet states that *“at the late inquiry
into the condition of the College, there could not be discovered
more than two or three insignificant points in which the statutes
were deviated from by the Fellows,”

The state of insubordination in the College appears to have
abated after the tragical event which has been narrated.

Doctor Richard Baldwin, whose name has been frequently
mentioned in connexion with these proceedings, was for a long
period the foremost character in the College. He was Senior
Fellow for twenty years, and was Provost for forty-one. He is
stated in the book of admissions to the College to have entered
on the 29th of April, 1684, at the age of sixteen. He was,
consequently, a fellow-student of Swift, who was senior to him
in the College, and who had been his schoolfellow. Baldwin

= Letters, vol. ii., page 107.
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is recorded to have been born at Athy,* and educated at Kil-
kenny College, under Dr. Hinton. He was elected Scholar in
1686, and took his B. A. degree in 1689.

There is a statement in Dr. Barrett’s handwriting to the
effect that Baldwin’s family was probably located at Dysart,
near Stradbally, not far from Rathleague, a seat of the Parnell
family, which was a short mile from that town.

The Register of Kilkenny College shows that Richard
Baldwin, of the first class, entered the University of Dublin
in April, 1685; and that those who entered in the same
-College class with him from that school were Sandes, Spencer,
Burdett, Maynard, and Gorges. Sixty years afterwards, on
July 25, 1745, it is recorded that Baldwin went down to
Kilkenny as Visitor, to inspect his old school.

During Baldwin’s Scholarship James II. seized on the College,
and the Scholars, as we have seen, were driven away. Baldwin
went over to England, and is related to have supported himself
there by teaching in a common school.+ After the overthrow of
King James, he returned to the College, and was elected a
Junior Fellow in 1693. He was co-opted a Senior Fellow four
years later, in 1697, and from that time until his death, in
1758, he took an active part in governing the College. If his
age at his death was ninety-two, he must have been eighteen
at his entrance, and the Senior Lecturer’s entry is incorrect.
He would then have been a Senior Fellow at thirty-one.

From his sufferings in the time of King James IL., we
cannot wonder that he was strongly attached to the prineciples of
the Revolution, and intolerant to the last degree of any tendency
to restore the fallen dynasty. He hated the Tories with a bitter

* Dr. Lawson, in his Latin sermon at Baldwin’s funeral, stated that he was
born in England, and was brought into Ireland in his infancy.

+ Dr. Barrett stated that he was informed by Dr. John Forster, who was a
Senior Fellow from 1743 to 1750, that there was a College tradition that Baldwin
fled to England along with Archdeacon Wall ; that he kept a school at Chester, and
while there boxed with Wall. In the Library MS., F. 4. 3, among a list of Pro-
testant refugees in England in 1688, the name Richard Baldwin, Dublin College, is
mentioned ; and two grants to him of £15 cach are recorded.
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hatred, and he had an utter aversion to-Dean Swift,* of whom
he was in the habit of saying, that ‘“he was remarkable for
nothing else while a Student than his skill in kindling a good
fire, and that he would never allow his College woman to do it
for him.” There is no doubt that Baldwin, although tyran-
nical and imperious in his conduct, was on the whole an ex-
cellent Provost. He possessed a kind of solemn gravity suitable
to the station ; his person and external behaviour were dignified
and striking ; he required a strict adherence to College discipline,
and he set the example himself. Living, unmarried, in College,
he attended regularly the daily service in the College Chapel
at 10 A.m., and at 4 p.Mm. In the early part of his Provostship
his conduct towards Scholars and Students whom he suspected
of Jacobite views was tyrannical and unfair. He vetoed
Skelton’s degree because he was represented to him falsely by
another Student, hostile to Skelton, as holding these opinions ;
and Skelton was obliged to resort to an amusing ruse to induce
Baldwin to permit the degree to be granted, so that he might
leave the College, with the object of taking holy orders. At
the elections of Fellows and Scholars, Dr. Baldwin was at times
disposed to strain his supposed statutable rights to nominate
the candidate whom he preferred.t And at the election for
Members of Parliament it was his habit to send for the
Scholars (with whom and the Fellows the election then lay),
and to order them to vote for the candidate of his choice,
who was always a Whig.

It is narrated of Baldwin, by Burdy in his Life of Skelton,
that in the year 1728, on the occasion of a vacancy which was
caused by the death of Samuel Molyneux—the Tory candidate

* Burdy’s Life of Skelton, which gives many striking incidents in Baldwin’s
Provostship, and of the College life in the early part of the eighteenth century.

+ Thus we find an entry on the College Register, that in 1727 Provost Baldwin
nominated John Pellisier as a Junior Fellow, the only Senior Fellow who voted for
him being his College tutor, Dr. Gilbert. The other five Senior Fellows, Dr.
Helsham, Dr. Delany, Mr. Thompson, Dr. Clayton, and Mr. Rogers, voting for
Mr. Arthur Ford, a young man of the best promise, a native, and born of native
purents, while Pellisier was a foreigner.
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was Dr. Helsham, a Senior Fellow, and he was opposed by Mr.
Palliser, son of the Archbishop of Cashel, a great benefactor
of the College, a man of moderate political views—the Provost
sent for the Scholars, and ordered them to vote for Palliser;
but Helsham’s party, finding that they had no chance of suc-
cess, transferred their support to Dr. Elwood, a Senior Fellow,
and a Whig; whereupon Baldwin sent for the Scholars a
second time, and ordered them to withdraw their promises from
Palliser, and to vote for Elwood. Skelton refused to break
his promise, and voted for Palliser. However Elwood was
returned, and continued to represent the College till his
death.

On one occasion Baldwin felt himself compelled to take
very severe measures against one of the Senior Fellows, who
had been for some years joined with him in the government of
the College. Dr. Lambert Hughes had been seventeen years
a Fellow, and had filled some of the most important offices in
the College. According to the College tradition of the last
century he had gone in October, 1739, with several of the
Fellows, after dinner in the Hall, to a wine party at Dr.
Clarke’s rooms in No. 35. The conversation was about the
Provost and his proceedings at the Board. Hughes used some
very violent and inexcusable language with regard to Baldwin,
which is recorded in the College Register. John Forster, one
of the Junior Fellows who was present, endeavoured to induce
him to moderate his expressions, but without effect: and it
would appear that he took the earliest opportunity to commu-
nicate to the Provost the words which Dr. Hughes had uttered.
‘Whereupon Baldwin sent for Hughes, and charged him with
making use of this language.* It would appear that the latter
partly admitted and partly denied the accusation made against

* The conversation in Dr. Clarke’s rooms most probably had reference to a
transaction which is recorded in the College Register as having occurred on the
20th of the previous July. Fourteen scholars were appointed to Natives' places by
the Provost alone; and there is appended the following protest:—¢‘ We, whose
names are underwritten, do dissent to the above nomination of Natives b\ the
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him : whereupon the Provost sent for the two Deans on the
2nd November, and expelled him. Hughes appealed to the
Visitors against this act, for we read in the Dublin Newsletter,
June 3, 1740, that on the previous day (Trinity Monday) the
Bishop of Clogher, Vice-Chancellor, and the Archbishop of
Dublin, met in the College Chapel, pursuant to their adjourn-
ment, and confirmed the Provost’s proceedings with regard to
Dr. Hughes; whereupon a Fellow was elected in his place.*

Provost Baldwin is stated to have been courteous in his
manners, easily accessible to the Students, and successful in
settling disputes among them. He was a man of command-
ing presence and great determination; and we are informed
that on one occasion when the Students went in a body on
Sundays in Lent to St. Patrick’s Cathedral, in conformity with
the College Statutes, as they then existed, they were attacked
by the butchers’ boys of St. Patrick’s market. Baldwin always
headed the procession ; and when the Students desired him to
keep in the background during the onslaught, he insisted on
retaining his place at the head of the Students; and, unarmed
as he was, he so completely subdued by his bearing the up-
roarious and savage mob, that they desisted from their attack
on the Students, and retreated.

On the 30th September, 1758, the Provost died, and on the
4th of October he was buried in the middle aisle of the old
Chapel, close to the chancel steps. The choirs of both the
Cathedrals attended.t

Provost, and do enter our Protest against the same, because by the Fourth Chapter
of the Statutes all elections are vested jointly in the Provost and the majority of
the Senior Fellows, and the election of Natives is not in any subsequent Statute
particularly transferred to the Provost.

““JouN Erwoop ; Lams. Hucues ; HeN. CLARKE; Woop GiBsoNn.”

* For some scurrilous verses with regard to Baldwin’s conduct on this occasion,
see London Magazine, December, 1739, p. 660. Also a scurrilous attack on Provost
Baldwin, in 1721, is contained in Mist’s Miscellany Letters, vol. ii., Letter LxvIm.

+ The funeral procession moved in the following order:—1. The Porters.
2. The Choir. 3. Officiating Clergyman, the first of the Senior Fellows. 4. The
Body, with the Senior Fellows as bearers. 5. The two Visitors. 6. Noblemen.
7. Doctors of Divinity and Gentlemen invited, such as Members of Parliament



Dr. Lawsow’s Eulogium of Baldwin. 169

Dr. Lawson pronounced the Latin oration, in which the
following passage occurs, indicating the vigour of Baldwin’s
mental powers in extreme old age :—

¢“Quantd nimirum cum laude circumstantium, quid scirent egregii
juvenes in oratoribus et poetis, in historia et temporum ratione, audivimus
illum, extrema licet in Senectd, peracute examinantem ; id enim commodi
perpetua et Sancta temperantia, ut intellectum illeesum, facultates omnes,
externos quinimo sensus vegetos et acutos ultra nonagesimum annum con-
servaret, quod et multum forsitan adjuvit mitis indoles, ab omni turbido
affectu immunis.”

Provost Baldwin devoted himself to the College which he
loved, and, on the whole, successfully governed ; and at his
death bequeathed to the Provost, Fellows, and Scholars, abso-
lutely, the sum of £24,000, together with all his real estates in
the counties of Wicklow, King’s County, Kildare, Meath, and
Down.

representing the University, Professors, and Lecturers. 8. Junior Fellows, Masters
of Arts, and Fellow Commoners. 9. All other Students in order. All Graduates
wore the hoods of their degrees, and the Doctors their scarlet gowns. The prayers
and the lesson were read by a member of the Cathedral choir. This was by mis-
take, as the intention had been that two of the Senior Fellows should have officiated
on the occasion.



CHAPTER IX.

THE COLLEGE LIBRARY—THE DINING HALL—THE PRINTING
HOUSE—THE MEDICAL SCHOOL—PARLIAMENT SQUARE.

Tue LiBrary.

Frou the very foundation of Trinity College it was felt to
be necessary that a good Library should be a part of the
institution. Even as early as 1600 there is a catalogue of
about forty volumes, detailed in the first Register, as belong-
ing to the public Library of the College at that time. In the
year 1601, after the battle of Kinsale, the English army in
Munster subscribed out of their pay £700 to buy books for
the newly-founded College.* Accordingly, Luke Chaloner and
James Ussher were sent to London in 1603 for the purpose of
purchasing books. Here they met Sir Thomas Bodley, who
was at that time engaged in a similar employment for his
library at Oxford. There is in our Library a catalogue made
in the year 1604 by Ambrose Ussher, which would indicate
that the purchases made at that time would amount to about
4900 volumes. Books continued to be bought for the College
by James Ussher, who through his life was engaged in procur-
ing valuable books and manuscripts for his private collection.
The earliest account given of the College Library by a visitor
to the city is that of Sir William Brereton, the Parliamen-
tarian general, who visited Dublin in 1635 :—* They glory

* The ‘“Book of Benefactors’’ states that in this year ¢‘ there was a Contribu-
tion made by severall persons of Quality, and especially Souldiers and Officers then
in her Majesty’s Service, the names of whom ly upon Record in the College Bookes,
which being collected then by Sr James Carroll, Knight, Receiver of her Majesty’s
money, came to about seaven hundred pounds.’”” Parr, in his Life of Ussher, states
the amount to have been £1800, and this has been generally followed.
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much,” he says, “in their Library, whereof I took a full view,
and there were shewed unto me many manuscripts ; one they
highly esteem, which they call Friar Bacon’s Work. This
Library is not large, well-contrived, nor well furnished with
books. They say it is to be disposed of to some other uses,
and a new Library and schools to be erected.”

In the meanwhile Ussher had continued to collect his own
library, which, when he became Primate, was in Drogheda,
under the care of his chaplain, Dr. Bernard, The town was
beseiged in 1641 by the Irish rebels. After the siege was
raised, both the books and the manuscripts belonging to Ussher
were transferred to Chester, and afterwards to Chelsea College,
where they were seized by the English Parliament. They were,
however, restored, although with a loss of some of the books.

In September, 1645, Ussher, when travelling in Wales, was
roughly handled by some soldiers. ¢ They broke open,” says
Bernard, ¢ two of his trunks full of books, and took all away ;
amongst which he lost two manuscripts of the History of the
‘Waldenses, which he never got again. Most of the other books
were returned by the preachers exhorting of all sorts in their
sermons to that end; but those two manuscripts, though the
most meanly clad, he never could hear of”” Sir William
Brereton had seen these volumes with Ussher while he was in
Dublin. He tells us that they were about “ten or twelve
volumes, in a miscellaneous language ’twixt French and
Spanish. These were sent him from a counsellor in France,
and cost him £22 sterling.” ¢ Ussher had intended,” says
Dr. Parr, his chaplain, “to bestow at his death his library,
consisting of near 10,000 volumes, prints, and manuscripts,
which had cost him many thousand pounds, on the College of
Dublin, in gratitude to the place where he received his educa-
tion; but having lost all his other property by the political
troubles of his time, he left it to his daughter, the wife of Sir
Timothy Tyrrel ; but Cromwell having by an order in Council
prohibited its being sold without his consent, it was bought by
the soldiers and officers of the then army in Ireland, who out of
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emulation to the former noble action of Queen Elizabeth’s army,
were incited by some men of public spirits to the like perform-
ance, and they had it for much less than it was really worth.”

At the Restoration we find in the journals of the Irish
House of Commons, under date 31st May, 1661, an order
‘“that the Vice-Chancellor and Provost of the College of
Dublin, and Mr. Richard Lingard, with such others as they
will take to their assistance, be decreed, and are hereby
empowered, with all convenient speed, to cause the library,
formerly belonging to the late Lord Primate of Armagh, and
purchased by the army, to be brought from the Castle of
Dublin, where they now are, unto the said College, there to
be preserved for public use; and the said persons are likewise
to take a catalogue of all the said library, both manusecripts
and printed books, and to deliver the same into this House, to
be inserted in the journals of the House.”

The next statement with regard to the condition of the
Library is found in a letter from Dr. Thomas Smith to
Axrchbishop Marsh, dated London, November 24, 1705,* in
which these words occur :—* A learned man at Oxford, with
whom I correspond, writes to me in a letter of November 5,
now lying upon my table, in these very words, ¢that he
hopes greater care wil bee taken of them [the books] than of
Trinity Coll. Dublin, w*® as I am informed is quite neglected
and in no order, and upon that account is become perfectly
useless.” The other reflexions, w® are very severe, I forbear
to transeribe.” In reply to this letter Marsh wrote the state-
ment already quoted in page 117 (that, during the rebuilding
of the Hall in Provost Huntingdon’s time, the books were
removed from the Library and placed in some of the empty
chambers). And he adds to that statement :—

¢ 8. this is the true Reason why the College Library was rendred
utterly uselesse for some years, but now the building being finisht (as it
has been for a considerable time) y¢ Books are again plac’d in the Library,

* Smith MSS., vol. lviii. p. 221, Bodleian Library.
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and ’tis become as usefull as ever ; only I must adde, That whilst the Papists
got possession of the College and Library in the late Calamitous times, many
good Books both printed and MSS. were lost, which cannot be attributed
to negligence. I have this further to say That the Books not being chained
cannot easily be secur’d especially seeing they have no standing Library
Keeper, But one of the Junior Fellows is chosen every year into that office,
for which He only has six Pounds Salary. Whereupon when I was Provost
of the College, finding the Books by Degrees to be embezzled, I took this
Course, besides the general Alphabetical Catalogue, I caus’d Tables to be
drawn up & hung at the end of each Classes of the Books (They being dis-
posed in Classes as yours are in the cross part of the H in the Bodleyan
Library) conteining the shelves & y* numbers and names of all the books on
every shelf ; y° Books likewise being number’d or figur'd; & when a new
Library Keeper was chosen, I carry’d Him into the Library, examined all
the Books in his presence, and gave him a charge of them, & then at the
end of the year w® another Library Keeper was chosen, I carry’d both the
old and new Library Keeper up, & run over all the Library, as before
(which was not above two Hours’ work), & what books were wanting I made
the old Library Keeper restore or pay for to buy others of the same kind in
their stead, & gave the New Librarian his charge; and doing this every
year I kept the books entirely together, whilst I govern’d that Colledge.

¢ But that which renders the Library almost uselesse to all, but some of
ye College, is this, That by the College Statutes no man, besides the Provost
and Fellows is permitted to study there, unless carry’d up thither by one of
them, who is bound to be present all the time the other staies in the
Library ; and *twas this, & this consideration alone, y* at first mov’d me to
think of building a Library in some other Place (y» in the College) for pub-
lick use, where all might have free access, seeing they cannot have it in the
College: nor are our Booksellers’ shops furnisht anything tollerably with
other books than new I'rifles and Pamphletts, and not well with them also.”

John Dunton, who visited the College in 1704, states :—
“At the east end of this library [probably the museum] on
the right hand is a chamber called the Countess of Bath’s
library, filled with very handsome folios and other books in
Dutch bindings, gilt with the Earl’s arms impressed upon them,
for he had been some time of this house.” At the west end
was ‘“ a division made by a kind of wooden lattice-work, con-
taining Ussher’s books.”

The old Library, or series of chambers in which the books
were deposited, was in the reign of Queen Anne in a most
useless condition, as we may learn from a letter of Dr. Berkeley
(afterwards Bishop), written in 1722, which is preserved in
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Lord Egmont’s Collection. Berkeley was then in residence-as
a Fellow, and in reply to an application made for permission to
take copies of some of the books, he wrote—* The Library is at
present so old and ruinous, and the books so out of order, that
there is little attendance given.”” This state of matters was
brought under the notice of the Irish Parliament, and in the
Journals of the House of Commons, June 1, 1709, is found the
following entry :—

¢¢ Resolved, that this House, taking into consideration the proceedings of
the University of Trinity College, near Dublin, in censuring Edward Forbes,
by degradation and expulsion, for speaking dishonourably of and aspersing
the memory of his late Majesty King William the Third, and also the steady
adherence of the Provost, Fellows, and Scholars of the said College to the
late happy Revolution, her present Majesty’s Government and the succes-
sion to the Throne as by law established, for the encouragement of good
literature and sound Revolution principles, do address his Excellency the
Lord Lieutenant that he will lay before her Majesty the humble desire of
this House that five thousand pounds be bestowed by her Majesty on the
Provost, Fellows, and Scholars of Trinity College, Dublin, for erecting a
public Library in the said College.”*

A sum of £5000 was consequently granted by Queen Anne
for this purpose, after the delay of a few years.t

The following petition was presented to the House of Com-
mons from the College when this fund had been exhausted : —

“To tTHE HoNBLE THE KNIGHTS, CITIZENS & BURGESSES IN PARLIAMENT
ASSEMBLED,
¢« Tae HoMBLE PETITION oF THE PROVOST, FELLOWS & SCHOLARS OF
TRIN. COLL., NEAR DUBLIN,
¢ HuMBLY SHEWETH,
¢¢ That. the hofible House of Commons did in the year 1709 address her
late Majesty to give out of her Royal Bounty the sum of 5000£ towards

¢ In connexion with these Addresses from the House of Commons we find the
following curious entry in the College Register : — ¢ September 24, 1717.—The
Degree of LL.D. is to be offered to all Members of the House of Commons who
desire it, in consequence of an Address to the King for £5000 to complete the
Library.” At the Commencement, held on the following Shrove Tuesday, thirty-
seven Members of Parliament availed themselves of this privilege, and four more
at the ensuing Summer Commencement.

+ In the College Register, May 16, 1712, it is ordered that £50 be paid to the
person who solicited the payment of the £5000 in England.
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building a Library in the College of Dublin for the encouragement of
Learning & advancement of Religion: and in consideration of the steady
adherence of the Provost & Fellows to the late happy Revolution, her
Majesties Government, and the succession in the Protestant line as by Law
established, and their Proceedings in censuring Edward Forbes by Degrada-
tion & Expulsion for aspersing the glorious Memory of King W= the 3
our great Deliverer under God from Popery and Arbitrary Power.

¢ That your Petitioners, pursuant to the said Address, have received the
sum of 5000£ & have faithfully and carefully laid it out, towards erecting
the said Library, but that it is not sufficient to finish it so as to answer the
Ends for which it was intended and be of use as well as Ornament to the
University & Kingdom.

¢ Your Petitioners do thankfully acknowledge the great obligations they
lie under to the House of Commons, at whose request the said sum was
given to the College; and they beg leave to assure this House, that they
have the highest sense of the Blessings they enjoy by the late happy Re-
volution by which they were restored to all their Rights, Liberties &
Privileges, which had been taken from them by a Popish & Arbitrary
Government, their whole Society being dissolved and dispersed, & the Coll.
made a Prison for Protestants.

¢ They have also zealously and steadily opposed the attempts that have
been made to take off the Degradation of the said Edward Forbes, and dis-
couraged all Principles and Practices tending to the prejudice of the present
happy Establishment, by censuring and expelling such as have appeared
disaffected to his Majesty.

“And as a farther evidence of their Duty & good Affection, they have
chosen the Prince of Wales Chancellor of the University, and his royal
Highness, out of his great Indulgence, has been pleased to take the College
into his Patronage & Protection.

¢¢ And they are resolved to instruct the Youth committed to their care,
in Principles of zeal & Affection to the Constitution, as by Law established
in church and state ; and of Duty & Loyalty to his Majesty King George,
& his royal Family, to which they are bound by the most sacred Ties of
Religion & the highest obligations of Duty and gratitude.

¢« May it therefore please your Honours to take the Premisses into your
consideration and do, as to your great Wisdom shall seem most convenient
for the finishing of the Library.

¢¢ And your Petitioners as in Duty bound shall ever pray, &c.”

A second sum of £5000 was granted by George I. in 1717,
on the Address of the Irish House of Commons; and)a third
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sum of equal amount, in 1721, towards the completion of the
building. The foundation of the new Library was laid on
the 12th May, 1712, the Provost and Senior Fellows being
present ; and it was completed about 1733.

Although the Library was externally finished in 1724,*
some years elapsed before the internal fittings and the ar-
rangement of the books were completed. We cannot find the
details of expenditure before 1721, for the first quarterly
accounts which remain in the Bursar’s office are of that
year; yet we can ascertain that from that date to 1733 the
payments for building the Library amounted to £5234 16s. 3d.
Dr. Madden, in a pamphlet before cited, mentions that the
total cost was £17,000.

On November 20, 1733, a sum of £60 was granted to Mr.
Hudson, the Librarian, for his trouble in placing the books in
the new Library; and on November 21, 1739, Mr. Conolly
was paid £42 for making catalogues of the books.

The College accounts show that the expenditure on binding
the books in the four years after the Library was completed
was in all £543 7s. 9d.

The dimensions of this noble building are as follows :—
Long room, 209 feet 3 inches long; width, between the stalls,
23 feet 7 inches; depth of stalls, 8 feet 4 inches on each side.
Total interior width, 40 feet 3 inches. Fagel Library, 28
feet 3 inches ; entrance hall, 29 feet 6 inches. Total interior
length, 267 feet (in addition to the thickness of the inner walls).

The name of the architect who designed the Library of
Trinity College was long unknown. However, a very rare
bookt has preserved an account of the person to whom the
merit of carrying out this beautiful work is to be attributed.

* We find the following entry in the College Register, under the date April 16,
1724 :—*“ £5 was given to Story for services done in discovering the Scholars who
broke the windows of the New Library, namely, Robert Bonham, Nicholas Wade,
and Thomas Carr. Frederick Trench, Fellow Commoner, was admonished for
reviling and scoffing at the above Story.

+ ¢¢The new Book of Constitutions of the Most Ancient and Honourable Fra-
ternity of Freemasons,’’ &c., published at Dublin by Edward Spratt, 1751,
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Thomas Burgh,* ancestor of Mr. De Burgh of Old Court,
Naas, was in charge of his Majesty’s fortifications in King
William’s reign, and under his direction the building was
erected. The only portion of the fabric of the old Library
which was utilized in the new structure were the curiously
designed oak staircases which lead to the gallery; these were
erected in the former building by Bishop Jones of Meath, in
1651.

‘When the new Library was completed, the printed books
in Ussher’s Library were placed by themselves in several com-
partments which were allocated specially for their reception,
and designated by the name Bibliotheca Usseriana. These in-
clude valuable editions of the Fathers, and large numbers of
Theological and Antiquarian works. In 1726 the Library
received an addition of upwards of 4000 volumes, under the
will of Dr. William Palliser, Archbishop of Cashel, who had
been a Fellow for twenty-four years, during which he was
Professor of Divinity from 1678 to 1692. He made it an
express stipulation that his books should be kept together and
placed in the Library, next to those of Archbishop Ussher, and
be called by the name of Bibliotheca Palliseriana.

In 1735 Dr. Claudius Gilbert, who was Vice-Provost and
Regius Professor of Divinity, accepted the College benefice of
Ardstraw, and soon after presented to the College his valuable
library of 13,000 volumes, which he had spent the greater part
of his life in collecting. His gift included very rare and choice
early printed books, and several highly prized editions of the
classical authors. In 1742 Mr. Edward Worth of Rathfarn-
ham bequeathed 1000 volumes to the Library. Many other
benefactors had in the seventeenth century either given their
libraries to the College, or had bequeathed sums of money to
purchase books, which were as soon as possible removed to the
new Library. Ussher’s invaluable manuscripts, including the

# Along with Sir Edward Lovet Pierce, Architect, he built the Royal Barracks,
and the old Custom House in Essex-street, and he commenced a splendid mansion
for himself at Old Court, of which the wings alone were ever completed.

N
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Book of Kells, the Gospels in the old Latin Version, the Codex
Montfortianus, and such of the Waldensian Manuscripts as re-
mained, were carefully preserved in the Manuscript Room, in
which were also placed many valuable Oriental manuseripts
formerly belonging to Provost Huntingdon, the Book of
Durrow, which was presented by Henry Jones, Bishop of
Meath, and Vice-Chancellor; and, in 1741, the valuable manu-
scripts which were bequeathed by Dr. John Stearne, Bishop
of Clogher, and Vice-Chancellor of the University (son of Dr.
Stearne, the founder of the College of Physicians), who was
in many respects a most generous benefactor of the College.
These manuscripts include the well-known depositions of the
sufferers in the rebellion of 1641, which had been formerly in
the custody of Matthew Barry, Clerk of the Council, and were
sold along with his books to Dr. John Madden, after whose
death they were purchased by Bishop Stearne.* We may
gather from an examination of the College accounts that
comparatively few books were added by purchase during the
eighteenth century.

In 1743 Dr. Claudius Gilbert, whose very valuable addition
to the contents of the Library has been already mentioned, be-
queathed & sum of £500 to purchase busts for the adornment of
the large room. The College authorities appear to have con-
sulted Sir Edward Walpole as to the sculptor who should be
properly employed to carry out this work. He had casually
become acquainted with a Frenchman named Louis Frangois
Roubiliao, living at that time in London, a young man of
great promise, but not as yet known as an artist. At Walpole’s

# ¢¢The Originals or authentick copies of the Examinations taken by virtue of
Coiissions issued under y* Great Seal, for inquiring into y¢ Losses chiefly of y*
Brittish Subjects, y* cruelties, horrid murders & perfidious dealings coriiitted by y*
Irish and English Rebells; with ye publick Dispatches, Acts, Relations, private
Letters and particular Discourses sent by Gentlemen out of several parts, and many
other Papers concerning y* Affairs of this Nation during y° Progress of y* Rebellion
in 1641, to y* Settlement of this Kingdom by y* Restoration of the King and Con-
stitution in 1660 ; Being ranged into order according to y* several counties that y*
Papers relate to, & disposed into 33 volumes.”’—Entry in Lyon’s Catalogue.
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suggestion the College gave him a commission to execute about
fourteen of the busts at present in the Library. These, when
finished, brought him into notice, and he soon became the most
successful sculptor of his day. Roubiliac was also employed to
execute the bust of Swift, which was a gift from the Senior
Sophister class in 1745.

The busts of Dr. Baldwin and Dr. Gilbert were executed
by Verpoyle, and that of Dr. Lawson by Cunningham. The
prices paid for these three was £34 2s. each. We have no
means of knowing the sculptor of the most striking and cha-
racteristic bust in the room—that of Dr. Delany. However,
a8 the Dean spent a good deal of time in London at this period,
it is not unlikely that the same artist who had executed the
bust of his friend Swift was employed also upon that of
Delany.

Tue DiNine HaLL.

The want of a separate and commodious Hall for the use
of the members of the College was long felt. In a pamphlet
of the year 1734,* it is stated that the Fellows’ attendance
at Commons was never as good as could be wished, and this
was attributed to the uncomfortable condition of the Hall.
It was “a large and spacious room indeed, flagged under
foot, but open in a manner at both ends; never aired by
fire ; in fact the coldest room in Europe.” There was, more-
over, no Common-room in the College in which the Fellows
could pass the evening together. In 1740 Dr. Elwood, the
Vice-Provost, bequeathed £1000 for the use of the College,

" which the Board determined to apply to the purpose of build-
ing a Hall. The new building was completed in 1745. We
find that in that year three of the portraits at present in the
Hall were placed in it—one of Provost Baldwin, a gift from
the Scholars to testify their respect for him ; one of the Chan-
cellor, Frederick Prince of Wales, and his gift : this was painted

* Coll. Library, P. ii. 31.
N2
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by Hudson; and a third, of Dr. Price, Vice-Chancellor of
the University, and Archbishop of Cashel, painted by Wilson.
But the Hall, so erected (at a total cost of £3020, paid be-
tween 1743 and 1748), was unsafely built, for we find that
at a meeting of the Board, November 13, 1758, it was ordered
that the Dining Hall be pulled down, the foundation of it
having given way upon laying the foundation of the new
kitchen ; and Mr. Plummer, the bricklayer, was dismissed from
the College service for his negligence in laying the foundation
of the Dining Hall. And in the Quarter’s accounts for 1759
we find the following sums paid by the Bursar :—

£ s d
Pulling down Dining Hall, . . . . 46 010
Alexander Pellisier, for cart work at new Hnll . 49 11 0
Cart work at the foundations of Kitchen, . . 49 4 1
Turner, for work done at the same, . . . 1412 9

On September 30, 1760, it was ordered—

“That the large stomes lately brought from Toone’s quarry shall be
worked up with the old materials of the Dining Hall, and that what will be
further necessary for the working up of the remainder of the old materials
shall be got from thence.”

The Dining Hall, as we now see it, must consequently have
been finished about 1761.

The present Common-room of the Fellows was built at
the same time ; although it does not seem to have been applied
to its present purpose until after the lapse of eighty years.*

Tur Printine House.

Dr. Stearne, the Bishop of Clogher, who had been in
other respects a benefactor of the College, presented, in the

* It was first used as a room for the meetings of the College Historical Society,
and afterwards for a lecture-room for the Professor of Natural Philosophy ; and in
1845 the Fellows’ Common-room was removed there from No. 7, ground floor.’
‘That it may have been used as a reception-room at banquets very frequently given
to the Lord Lieutenant in the years after the Hall was comploted is probable from
entries in the College accounts. March Quarter, 1767 :—¢¢ Cranfield for Giran-
doles for the Common-room, £3 16s. 114. Coals for the Common-room,; £2 1s.”’
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year 1726, a sum of £1000 for the purpose of erecting a
University Printing House, and when it was completed he
added another donation of £200 to purchase type for the
use of the Press. The building was finished in September,
1734, at a total cost of £1212 16s. 1d. Mr. Cassels was the
architect. The first book printed at the University Press was
an edition of seven select Dialogues of Plato, according to the
text of Serranus, dedicated by the Provost and Senior Fellows
to Bishop Stearne, 1738. A well-printed edition of the text of
the works of Horace was issued in 1745. In this the engraved
plate of the Doric portico of the Printing House appears on the
title-page. Several classical authors were edited by Fellows of
Trinity College, and were issued from the University Press
during the remaining part of the eighteenth century, to the
expense of which the College liberally contributed.

In the year 1747 Mr. Leland and Mr. Stokes, two of the
Junior Fellows, obtained from the Board the use of the Print-
ing House for seven years, for the purpose of publishing a
series of classical authors, edited in a manner which would be
creditable to the University. Leland’s Philippics of Demosthenes
(1754) seems to have been the only book of this series which
appeared. As far as we know the earliest scientific book which
issued from the University Press was Helsham’s Lectures on
Natural Philosophy, edited by Dr. Bryan Robinson, and printed
by R. Reilly, 1739.

Tur MEepIcAL ScHOOL.

There seems to have been but little facility for the study
of Medicine during the reign of King William III. Since
the time of Charles I. there was always one of the Fellows
who was elected Medicus, and who was consequently exemptod
from taking Holy Orders, and bound to study Physic. But
the majority of Medical Fellows do not appear to have taken
Medical Degrees, and they certainly were not in any real sense
engaged in teaching Medicine in the College.

The design which Dr. Stearne had entertained of founding
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a College for the instruction of the Students in Medical Science
had produced no permanent results; and although there were
many able and scientific medical practitioners in Dublin, there
was neither a school for the study of anatomy nor an hospital
in Dublin for clinical instruction in the practice of medicine and
surgery. We find it stated in the College Register that one of
the Junior Fellows, Mr. William Carr, who had been elected
Medicus, was obliged, in order to study medicine, to obtain,
in February, 1694, a Royal Letter permitting him to absent
himself from Dublin for three years. Mr. Carr died before his
leave of absence had expired.

On the 14th June, 1710, ground was assigned by the Board
for the erection of a Medical School ; but the buildings were of
the plainest character, inasmuch as the College had no money
to spare ; for we find that—

¢ £100 given by the Widow Parsons for the support of a poor scholar
was ordered to be applied to this purpose; and the Lecturers on Anatomy
and Chemistry were required to pay £6 yearly to this poor scholar.”

The Laboratory and Anatomical Theatre were erected at
the south-east corner of the Physic Garden, which at that time
seems to have occupied the site of the present Library. On the
16th of August in the following year (1711) the building was
completed. It was formally opened on that day by the re-
citation of verses composed for the occasion by one of the
Scholars, William Thompson, B.A.,* and by the delivery of
lectures. Dr. Hoyle lectured in Anatomy, Dr. Griffith in
Chemistry, and Dr. Nicholson in Botany.

On the 19th of the following January (1743}), at the request
of the College of Physicians, it was ordered that—

¢ Besides the usual acts required by the University regulations, every
candidate Bachelor of Physic be examined in all parts of Anatomy relating
to the (Economia Animalis, and in all parts of Botany, Chemistry, and
Pharmacy ; and that every candidate Doctor in Physic be examined as to

the aforesaid subjects, and likewise in the explanation of Hippocrates’
Aphorisms, and in the theory and cure of external and internal diseases.”

¢ He was afterwards a Fellow, and one of the three who volunteered to go with
Berkeley to Bermuda to found a College there.
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It was arranged that this Examination should be conducted
by the President and Fellows of the College of Physicians,
who had the right, under their Charter, to grant licences in the
practice of Physic in Dublin and within seven miles of the city.
Another part of the Charter provided that every Doctor of Physic
of the University of Dublin should be admitted to the mem-
bership of the College of Physicians, without examination, on
the payment of the usual fees.

On the 8th September, 1716, Dr. Bryan Robinson [M.B.
1709, M.D. 1711] and Surgeon Greene were appointed to
officiate in the Anatomy School as Lecturer and Anatomist ;
and on the 17th of January following Dr. Robinson* was, for
some reason which is not on record, deprived of his Lectureship
by a majority of votes. At the same time £60 was voted
to Surgeon Greene to purchase preparations illustrating the
several parts of the human body.

On February 14, 1733, the Provost and Senior Fellows
enacted that “no person be admitted to take a degree in Physic
or in Law unless he first commence as Bachelor of Arts.” This
probably had reference to some previous acts of the Board;
for in 1695 Dr. Pratt and Dr. Cummin, who had eommenced
Doctors of Physic at Leyden, were admitted ad eundem by
Trinity College, in order to enable them to be admitted mem-
bers of the College of Physicians. With the view of pre-
venting uneducated men from seeking this privilege, it was
decreed, in 1701, that ¢the house after next Commencement
will observe what the custom is in Oxford and Cambridge
in admitting Graduates from Scotland and other foreign

* Dr. Robinson was an emiuent, and one of the most scientific physicians of his
day. He was the author of many medical treatises, and especially of a work on
the Animal (Economy, which was a remarkable treatise for its time. Robinson
was elected Regius Professor of Physic in the University in 1745. He was Pre-
sident of the College of Physicians in 1718 and 1739. For an account of Dr.
Robinson’s medical writings, see Sir Charles Cameron’s ¢¢ History of the College of
Surgeons,’”” p. 17. Dr. Robinson, besides being a scientific physician, was well
versed in Mathematics and Natural Philosophy, as appears from his notes and
additions to Helsham’s Lectures.
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Universities.” On July 12, 1701, Dr. Wetenhall, who had
‘ commenced Doctor in Physic” in Leyden, was admitted ad
eundem ; and on July 13, 1702, Philip Lloyd, Doctor in
Physic of the University of Aix, received the grace of the
house for the degree of Doctor of Physic. With these ad-
missions from foreign Universities the practice appears to have
terminated.

In order to understand fully the reason of these rules, it
must be borne in mind that when the King and Queen’s
College of Physicians obtained their new Charter from William
and Mary, one clause in this Charter provided that every
Doctor of Physio of the University of Dublin should be ad-
mitted to membership of the College of Physicians, without
examination, on the payment of the usual fees. In order to
satisfy that College that this privilege would not be abused by
the admission of incompetent men to Medical Degrees, Trinity
College made a regulation, at the end of the seventeenth cen-
tury, that every candidate for such academic distinction should
give timely notice to the President and Fellows of the College
of Physicians, in order that they might be present at the per-
formance of the Acts or exercises by the candidate, so that
they should be able to form a judgment as to his due qualifi-
cations for the Degree in Medicine. In consequence of this
concession by the Board of Trinity College, the President and
Fellows of the College of Physicians, on the 2nd October, 1695,
passed a rule to the effect that no one should be elected a
Fellow of that College who had not first been admitted to
the Degree of Doctor of Medicine in the University of
Dublin, and no Graduate of a foreign University be admitted
a Fellow unless he were first admitted to an ad eundem degree
here.

On the 18th October, 1697, the College of Physicians made
a further order that the four Censors of that College should be
bound, under the penalty of a fine, to attend in Trinity College
at the disputations of every candidate for a medical degree,
and be ready to oppose at these Academic exercises. The
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Provost and Senior Fellows on their part promised that they
would not grant the grace of the house for the M.D. degree to
any candidate who should be reported by the College of Phy-
sicians as not duly qualified. It was, however, provided that
this bar to a medical degree should apply only to the Com-
mencements ensuing to the objection, Trinity College reserving
its right to exercise its discretion as to granting or withholding
the Degree at any future Commencement. Such was the
mutual agreement between the two Colleges in the year 1700,
and it continued in force until the year 1760.

The cause of the arrangement being rescinded was this :—
Mr. Fielding Ould,* an eminent practitioner in Midwifery in
Dublin, and who had been engaged in teaching in the Trinity
College Medical School, was anxious to obtain a medical
degree. He had not received an Arts education, and in
order to qualify him for the necessary examination the Board
granted him the grace of the house for the degree of Bachelor
of Arts.

On the 23rd of May, 1757, it was proposed at & meeting of
the Board that Mr. Ould should have a Ziceat to be examined by
the College of Physicians for the degree of Bachelor of Physic.
The motion was not complied with, as being judged incon-
venient at the time, and likely to occasion much uneasiness in
the College of Physicians. However, the liceat was granted on
June 2nd, 17569. The College of Physicians, when called upon
to examine him, refused on the grounds that he had no previous
Arts education, his degree of B.A. by diploma being only a
colourable qualification. It is supposed, however, that this
decision arose from the feelings which then existed on the part
of the Dublin physicians towards practitioners in Midwifery.t

* Afterwards Sir Fielding Ould, and Master of the Rotunda Lying-in Hospital,
1759.

t Indeed this is expressly stated in the letter from the College of Physicians
which is preserved in the Trinity College Register. The President and Fellows
speak of Fielding Ould as ‘“ a person who has no academical education, and whom
you know to be disqualified by his occupation for a Licence to practise in our pro-
fession.””
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The Provost and Senior Fellows then determined to dispense
with the examination by the College of Physicians, and on the
9th June, 1761, they resolved that the examination for degrees
in Medicine should in future be committed to the Preelectors in
Chemistry and Anatomy, and to the Professor of Physic. Dr.
Robert Robinson, the Preelector in Anatomy, being at that time
‘Vice-President of the College of Physicians, refused to examine
Ould. Whereupon, on the 29th June, the Board deprived him
of his office, and elected Mr. George Cleghorn* in his room.
The degree of M.B. had been granted to Ould by the grace of
the house on January 27, 1761, and he was admitted M.D. at
the Summer Commencements of that year.

Tue BeLL Towkr.

The old Hall, which extended from the present Cam-
panile in the direction of the College gate, and parallel to
the Library, had a plain end towards the west, and in this
the doorway was situated. The view of the Hall as the
visitor approached it from the gateway was unsightly. A
sum of £600 had been bequeathed by Dean Pratt, formerly
Provost, for the purpose of having an ornamental front erected
at this end of the Hall, and Dr. Gilbert had also left by his
will a further sum of £500 towards the erection of a new
steeple. Accordingly, the Board employed Mr. Cassels to
furnish a design for the combination of the two objects. The
building was commenced in 1740, and in 1746 the new front
to the Hall, with a bell-tower, surmounted by a dome and
lantern, was completed at a total cost of £3886; and in 1747
there was placed on the top, as a vane, a harp and crown of

* Cleghorn was not a Graduate, but the College gave him an honorary degree
of M.D. in 1768. He was very successful, and highly esteemed as a lecturer in
anatomy, in which capacity he appears to have laboured until 1790, when he was
succeeded by James Cleghorn.
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copper gilt. The great bell of the College, which had been
cast at Gloucester in 1742, was then hung. On the north side
of this tower was an arched passage leading to the interior
of the Library Square. The upper portion of the building

The Bell Tower, 1746.

was removed in 1791, having been considered to be unsafe,

and the entire of the front was taken down, along with the
Hall, before 1800.
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PARLIAMENT SQUARE.

The buildings which had been erected in the College be-
tween 1660 and the end of the seventeenth century were
necessarily of an unsubstantial character. The means which
the authorities had at their disposal for the purpose were
very limited, and it is therefore not a matter of surprise that
the front square of the College, after a lapse of eighty years,
became so ruinous that it was quite useless to expend money
in attempting repairs. The front square, as it existed in 1750,
consisted of twelve houses, of no great elevation, built of brick,
each comprising a basement, a first floor, and an attio story,
the latter furnished with dormer windows.* There was also
urgent need of enlarged accommodation, because the number
of Students had then considerably increased. But the College
had very insufficient resources for providing new buildings,
and accordingly a petition was presented to the Irish House
of Commons in November, 1751, stating the facts, and asking
for a grant of £20,000 for the purpose of rebuilding a portion
of the front square in a manner which would be ornamental
to the city. The House agreed to an address to the Lord
Lieutenant, and the King granted £5000 for the purpose.
Accordingly, on the 17th of June, 1752, the four houses which
formed the north side of the old square were ordered to be
taken down. The occupiers were repaid two-thirds of the
prices which they had given for their rooms, and were per-
mitted to take away all their movable furniture. There was
very considerable trouble and delay in securing a good foun-
dation for the new buildings. On November 2, 1753, a
further petition was presented asking for another grant to
enable the College authorities to complete the north side, and
to rebuild the front of the College, in complianoe with which
£10,000 was conceded. In 1755 the northern half of the

* The plan of the College, as it existed in 1750, taken from Rocque’s map,
will be found on page 191, and the elevation of the old front of the College is given
on page 189. The dates of the erection of the several portions of the College are
specified in the map.
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old front was taken down; and in November of that year a
further sum of £20,000 was asked for and granted by the
King on an address of the House. Finally, £10,000 more was
conceded in 1757, making in all grants to the extent of £45,000
during the reign of George II. This was reduced by  pells
and poundage ”’ to £42,518, and of this there remained £1079
unpaid, in consequence of the failure of the Teller of the Ex-
chequer.* The College accounts show that between 1752 and
1763 a sum of £45,173 had been expended on new buildings,
while the sale of old materials realized £2187, and the salet of
chambers in the new buildings to the new occupiers £1460.
‘We have no recdrd of the architect who designed the present
front of the College. It would appear from an entry in a
memorandum-book of the proceedings of the Board, that it
was originally intended to complete the central entrance by the
erection of a dome over the gateway, with two cupolas over the
pavilions at the north and south ends, one of which over the
north pavilion had been actually erected. On the 22nd No-
vember, 1757, it was directed that this should be taken down,
and the front of the College finished, as it stands, without a
dome. The new front was completed in 17569, and in October

* These statements are made upon the authority of the Journals of the Irish
House of Commons, in which the several petitions from the College are printed
in full.

+ From an examination of the books of the College it would appear that during
the last century there existed a kind of tenant-right in College chambers. The
incoming Student paid a fixed sum to the outgoing occupant as the ¢ price of the
rooms.’”” When new rooms were built this sum was paid in the first instance to the
Bursar, in order to recoup the College for a portion of the expense of building the
chambers. Thus, for example, in the Bursar's Receipt Book for 1723, immediately
on the first occupying of the Library Square, we find the following entries :—
Dobbin and Helsham, for their chamber in 31, 2—£20 ; Downes and Kelly, for
their chamber in 29—£26 ; Mr. Echlin and 8ir Byrne, for 31, G. L.—£15; Cox
and Hicks, for the garrett in 34—£9. It appears that the price originally paid to
the College for a set of rooms in the Library Square was, for the ground floor, £15 ;
first floor, £26; second floor, £20; and attic, £9. Afterwards (Feb. 7, 1774),
when money had to be expended on the repairs of the staircases, the Registrar of
Chambers was directed to increase the prices of the rooms in order to recoup the
expenditure by the College. These prices were fixed and paid through the Registrar
of Chambers. In 1758 the Tutors signed an agreement that ‘¢ in purchasing and
selling rooms for ourselves or our pupils, we will not directly or indirectly connive
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of that year a valuation of the rooms was made, and the
chambers were assigned by the Provost.

The Board had, in 1759, determined to erect a new residence
for the Provost ; and on May 25th of that year the members had
before them designs for the present Provost’s House, which was
built almost exactly after the plan and elevation of a house
erected in 1723 in Piccadilly, London, for General Wade,
from the designs of the Earl of Burlington, so well known for
his architectural taste. The designs may be seen in Campbell’s
Vitruvius Brittanicus (vol. 3). The plans were prepared by a
Dublin architect named Smith, and he was paid for them
£22 15s., as shown by the College accounts. The designs were
approved, and the foundation prepared at once. We have no
means of ascertaining exactly either the year of the completion,
or the cost of erection, of the Provost’s House.

In the year 1775 the College received from the Governors
of Erasmus Smith’s Schools a donation of £2500 towards the
erection of a Theatre for public meetings of the University
and the recitation of exercises. The Board lost no time in
securing the services of Sir William Chambers to furnish
designs for the completion of the south side of Parliament
Square; and he agreed to furnish plans in detail, to be placed
in the hands of a competent clerk of works. The Theatre (the
present Examination Hall) was commenced in 1777. It was
intended to complete the front square by an ornamental range,

at any private bargain contrary to the rules made by the Provost and Senior
Fellows.”” In 1805 the Registrar of Chambers reported that there were at that time
¢¢ one hundred and fifty-one sets of chambers appropriated to the use of Students
in general, of which two are rented; fifteen Vice-Chancellors’, or Provosts’ rooms,
and the rest are obtained by purchase; and the total sum of the purchase-money
for these will be £3806, if none were held by Scholars. Making allowance for the
latter the total price would be under £3000.””

The total price of the eight sets of rooms in a house in the Library Square in
1723 was £140, and in 1803 it has been raised to £210, or one-third more, for
repairs to the house. There does not appear to be any trace of chamber-rent as
received by the Bursar in the accounts of the last century. When the ¢ Caution-
money ’’ was abolished, the ¢ price of rooms’’ was changed into a deposit for the
protection of the Tutor, and a quarterly rent was charged. Fixed chamber-rents
first appear in a resolution of the Board, April 26, 1806.



Petition of the College for a further Grant. 193

with a bell-tower, and arches dividing it from the Library
Square.* And on March 26, 1787, a petition was presented to
the House of Commons from the Provost, Fellows, and Scholars,
in which the sums which had been expended in building since
1760 were enumerated, and which amounted in all to £53,876.
The total exceeded the sums granted by Parliament by £11,358,
towards which they received the above-mentioned donation of
£2500, and a sum of £4277 by the sale of chambers and of
old materials.

The petitioners stated that the extremity of the northern side
of the Parliament Square was then terminated and deformed
by a cross line of brick buildings in a ruinous condition ; and
that they had since 1775 caused, in addition, a new square on
the north of the Library Square to be begun, consisting of
plain stone buildings, two of which [the present numbers 11
and 12] were at that time nearly finished, and would cost,
when completed, £4726. They stated that the completion of
the Parliament Square, according to the plans laid before the
House, would cost £20,000; and they expressed themselves as
ready to finish it if the House would make an additional grant
of £12,000, payable in four years.

On the 28th of March a resolution of the House was passed,
making a grant of £3000, which appears to have been the final
sum which the College received from Parliament for the pur-
pose. The Chapel was the last portion of the front square
which was erected. Preparations for the foundation of it were
made in 1787, by the removal of part of Palliser’s buildings,
then called No. 12; and it was consecrated in 1798, after
which the old Chapel and Hall were removed and the materials
sold. The internal dimensions of the new Chapel were ordered
to be 85 feet in length (exclusive of the antechapel and apse),
and 40 feet in breadth.

The total cost of erecting the present College Chapel
amounted to £22,000. The woodwork, which is very elaborately

* This design may be seen in Pool and Cash’s ¢ Views of Dublin.”’
(]
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carved, including the entire of the carpenter’s work, cost
£56319 10s. 2d. The organ for the new Chapel was built by
Mr. Greene, at a cost of five hundred guineas.

The College authorities at the time of building the new
Chapel and the square, north of the Library Square—since
that time known as “Botany Bay’—in order to give room
and air to the new parts of the College, purchased in 1786, for
£780, the tenant’s interest in the lease of the College lands
north of the College, called Marsh Park, containing 10 acres,
3 roods, and 16 perches, and two other parcels of waste land.
On the former a number of small houses had been built, which
were then removed, and an open space was provided.

The statements in the College Register of the period show
that it was not intended that the Theatre should be a Hall for
Examinations. In July, 1791, after the Theatre was finished,
a resolution of the Board was passed that a new Hall for Ex-
aminations should be erected at the north side of the present
“ Botany Bay’ Square. In 1792, when the number of
Students had so increased that the four Undergraduate classes
could not be conveniently examined in the old Hall at the
same time, a proposal was made to divide them into two sets,
to be examined on different days; but it never seems to have
occurred to the Fellows at the time that a portion of the
Students should be examined in the Theatre.

‘When the Theatre was completed, a commission was given
to Mr. Hill, an artist, to -paint all the portraits which are
now to be seen there, except those of the Earl of Clare and
Edmund Burke. The former was painted by Stewart, and
the latter by Hopner.* The portrait of Henry Grattan, at
present in the Dining Hall, was also painted by Hill, and was
originally intended to occupy the place of Provost Baldwin’s
monumentt in the Theatre.

* The price of this picture was £188, and that of the frame £17 17s. 6d. Hill
was paid 35 guineas each for eight portraits.

+ This was executed between 1772 and 1781, by Mr. Hewitson, an Irish
sculptor, at Rome, at a cost of £1000. The charges for bringing it from Rome to
Dublin were £416 13s. 84., including freight and duties.
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The organ of the old Chapel, the case of which is at present
in the Examination Hall, was presented to the College by the
Second Duke of Ormonde. It was built in Holland for a
Church in Spain, but was taken from the Spaniards in Vigo
Bay, 1702, and repaired and enlarged by Cuvillie in 1705.

The last portion of the old quadrangle of Queen Eliza-
beth’s reign which was removed was the south side, facing
the Fellows’ Gardens.

South Side of Queen Elizabeth’s College.

In Walker’s Hibernian Magasine for December, 1793, will be
found a graphic description of the old Hall and Chapel before
they were removed. The Hall is described as being a spacious
building ; greatly dilapidated. The lower parts of the walls
had been formerly wainscotted, but the woodwork had in many
places disappeared. The upper part of the walls and the ceiling
had been once whitewashed, but were then in a very dirty
condition. The walls were decorated with several portraits of
former Kings, Queens, and Bishops, some of which were<in

02
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costly frames, but for the most part they were without any.
Some of the frames were empty. Adjacent to the further end
was the Chapel; a gloomy edifice—a long building, with but
two windows at one side and one at the other. The altar was
under an old-fashioned oak moulding, which intercepted every
ray of light from a venerable window over it. The walls were
kept constantly white, to the vast annoyance of those who had
to squeeze along a narrow gallery. The writer of this article
states that in 1793 it was not possible to see the Theatre from
the window of the present Chapel in consequence of an inter-
vening range of ancient brick buildings, and that at that time
the outer stonework of the College Library was crumbling
away. The granite facing of the walls of the College Library -
was afterwards replaced by a better class of stone.

The view of the old front of Trinity College, which was
removed in 1755, is taken from an engraving upon Brooking’s
map of Dublin. The elevation of the Bell Tower and the front
of the old Hall is enlarged from a vignette in the Gentleman’s
Magasine of the period; and the south side of the old quad-
rangle of Queen Elizabeth’s reign is a portion of an old
engraving of the College Library from a drawing by Tudor,
published in 1745, being one of six views of public buildings
of Dublin, presumably published in Paris.



CHAPTER X.

SOCIAL AND EDUCATIONAL CONDITION OF TRINITY COLLEGE IN
THE EIGHTEENTH CENTURY.

TaE STupIES OF THE UNDERGRADUATES.

WE have no means of ascertaining exactly what were the
particular subjects in which the Students were lectured and
examined during the reign of Queen Anne. We know that
in conformity with the College Statutes the Undergraduates
of each of the four classes were daily instructed in Science and
in Classics ; and, moreover, that they were all brought together
into the Hall on two days at the beginning of each Term,
and were examined in the subjects in which they had been
instructed by their lecturer in the previous Term.

The lectures in Science were chiefly upon Logic, Metaphy-
sics, a limited course of general Physics, and Astronomy. The
Undergraduates only appear to have been instructed in Mathe-
matics to a very limited extent. The Elements of Euclid did
not form any part of the subjects either taught by the tutors,
or examined in, until after 1758.* There was little inducement
to the Students to cultivate these subjects beyond the standard
necessary for them to pass the Term Examinations, as there
were no prizes or honours to stimulate their ambition. The
Examination for Scholarships, which was altogether in the
olassical authors, was the only occasion on which the Under-
graduates of the same year could compete with each other for
College distinctions. By an order of the Board in 1697, it was

¢ See the Preface to Theaker Wilder’s edition of Newton’s Universal Arithmetic.
Algebra was not introduced into the Undergraduate Course until 1808.
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the rule that no one should be admitted as a candidate for
Scholarship until he had resided in the College during four
Terms at the least. The Students who competed for these
places were practically Undergraduates of the Sophister Classes ;
and we have reason to believe that the custom prevailed at that
time, as it did afterwards, according to which they were ex-
amined in all the classical authors which they had previously
studied for the Term Examinations.

The first proposal of a plan for the purpose of stimulating
exertion among the Students in preparing for their College
Examinations emanated from Dr. Samuel Madden,* a clergy-
man of considerable means, residing at Manor Waterhouse
(now Hilton), in the county of Fermanagh, about the year
1730. Dr. Madden took a very warm interest in Trinity
College, and was the author of some valuable pamphlets upon
the condition of the College. He proposed that premiums
should be awarded to the best answerers in each division of the
Term Examinations ; but, the College having no means of sup-
plying the money necessary for the purpose, he suggested that
a fund should be created for this purpose, partly arising from
the subscriptions of the Fellows and other persons throughout
Ireland who were interested in the advancement of the cha-
racter of the College as an educational institution, and partly
by a charge upon the 8tudents at their entrance. In 1731 the
Board made a rule which continued to be in force, with few
changes, for a century, to the effect that a charge of eight
shillings should be required from all Students (except Sizars)
on their admission into the College, in order to form a Premium
fund ; and it was added, that * if a Student on entering refuse
to pay this, he can never benefit by the fund.” The Fellows
of the College contributed annually for some time to this pur-
pose, the Seniors subscribing £3 a-year, and the Juniors,
according to their standing, £2 and £1. On the 23rd June,
1732, the rules for granting premiums were fixed as follows :—

* Dr. Madden was one of the original founders of the Royal Dublin Society.
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£2 was given to the best answerer in each division at the Term
Examinations ; and at the Fellowship Examination there were
constituted three grades of prizes for unsuccessfnl candidates,
whose answering was creditable to them, of £50, £40, and
£30, respectively. In the year 1734 this fund had increased
to £1009 12s. 6d., and it was arranged that £190 only should
be given each year in prizes; and on the 20th of November,
1740, this fund had increased to £2513, of which £2500 was
invested in Government Debentures. The interest of this sum
was carried annually to the income of the Premium fund,
which was always kept in a separate account.

No records of the Term Examinations prior to this time
remain. The first Senior Lecturer’s Examination-book con-
tains an account of the Examinations from the commencement
of the Premium system, and continued until Hilary Term,
1749. The institution of College premiums speedily acted
upon the Undergraduate Course; and in the year 1736 was
set forth by the Provost and Senior Fellows the first list of
subjects for the different Term Exammatlons of which we have
any record :—

““The Students recently admitted were examined in Michaelmas Term
in Cornelius Nepos and the Greek Testament.

Junior FRESHMEN.—Hilary, . ... Lucian, by Dugard ; Sallust.
Easter, . . ..Homer, Iliad, i.-vi.; Virgil, Zneid,
i.-vi.
Trinsty, . . . . Hero and Leander, with some Idyls of
Theocritus ; Virgil, ZAneid, vii.-xii.
Michaelmas, . Iliad, vii.-xii. ; Terence.
SENIOR FRESHMEN.—Hilary, . . . . Iliad, xiii.~xviii.; Juvenal.
Easter, . ...Iliad, xix.-xxiv.; Ceesar’s Commen-
taries.
Trinity, . . . . Epictetus Enchiridion, with the Tabula
of Cebes: Justin’s History.
Michaelmas, . Homer, Odyssey, i.-viii. ; Horace.
Juxios SopnistERs.—Hilary, . . . . Odyssey, ix.-xvi.; Virgil, Georgics.

Easter, . . . . Lucian, by Leeds; Cicero, De Officiis
(or Pliny’s Letters).
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JUNIOR SoPHISTERS,— Trinity, . . . . Odyssey, xvii.-xxiv.; Velleius’ Pater-
culus.
Michaelmas, . Xenophon, Cyropeedia ; first third part
of Livy.

. . Sophocles, (Edipus Tyrannus, Electra
and Trachinie; second third part
of Livy.

« . « Zschines and Demosthenes, De Coroni ;
last third part of Livy.

. . Demosthenes, Philippics ; Suetonius,
History of the Cesars.

Michaelmas, . Longinus on the Sublime ; the Works

of Tacitus.

8ENTOR SoPHISTERS.—Hilary, . .

Easter, .

Trinity, . .

The following is a list of the books which formed the sub-
jeot of the Science Course at Morning Lectures in 1736 :—

SENIOR SoPHISTERS.—Eustathius’ Ethics; Small Puffendorf; Saunderson’s
Prelections ; Baronius’ Metaphysics (selections).

Junior Sopmisters.—Colbert’s General Physics; part of Clerk’s Physios;
Varenius’ Geography; Wall’s Astronomy.

SEnIoR FrREsEMEN,— Clerk’s Logic; Art of Thinking; Singlerius (selec-
tions).

Jux1or FRESHMEN.— Burgersdesius’ Logic.

Prizes, amounting altogether to £40, were offered also for
compositions in Latin or English at the Shrovetide Commence-
ments. These were open to all Graduates. The following
subjects have been preserved ; but in many cases the prize was
withheld for want of merit :—

1733.—O0n Queen Elizabeth. 1741.—O0n a City life.
1734.—On a College life. 1744.—On the Library.
1735.—On the Printing House. 1746.—On Peace and War.
1736.—On the Linen Manufacture. 1747.—On the Public Examina-
1737.—O0n the death of the Queen. tions.

1738.—On Horse-running.

1739.—On the Battle of the Boyne.

1740.,—On the British Fleet.

1748.—0n Commerce.
1751.—On the death of Frederick
Prince of Wales.
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In the first Senior Lecturer’s books we find recorded the
names of the Students who obtained premiums* and certificates.
The same Student could not obtain more than one prize in each
year; and if his answering at a second examination was su-
perior to that of the Student who obtained the premium, he
was awarded a certificate. Consequently, the January premium
was considered a high mark of honour, while the Trinity Term,
or Michaelmas Term Prize, was not much regarded.

In the Senior Lecturer’s books were also recorded the names
of the Students in each class who were diligent in their studies
at Morning and at Greek Lectures; and in some cases the
thanks of the house was awarded to them for their attention to
their studies ; also the names of those whose answering was bad
at the Term Examinations, and of such as had insufficiently
prepared their subjects, both at lectures and at examinations.
These were first ¢ cautioned,” and if the offence was repeated
they were put down to the bottom of the class, or put back into
a lower class,} from which, as we observe in several instances,
good answering at a subsequent examination sufficed to restore
them to their original class. At the Degree Examination they
were *stopped’’ if very bad; and if they had been ¢ cau-
tioned ” before, or if their answering was not sufficient to pass
the Examination, they were ¢ cautioned to the Regent House,”
which probably meant a supplemental Examination in the
subjects in which the candidate was deficient. There was
no record kept of the answering of the large number of the
Students who were not awarded premiums, on the one hand,
or were cautioned, on the other. Hence it is impossible now
to trace the collegiate history of many men who became dis-
tinguished in after life.

On June 19, 1738, it was ordered by the Board that

¢ The name of Edmund Burke is only once mentioned in these records. He
was awarded a Premium at the Easter Examination of the Senior Freshman Class.

+ Thus, Oliver Goldsmith is recorded on two occasions as being remarkably
diligent at Morning Lecture ; again, as cautioned for bad answering at Morning
and Greek Lectures; and finally, as put down into the next class for neglect of his
studies.
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¢ Undergraduates who miss either Terms or Examinations are
to be obliged to fill up the number of twelve Examinations, and
a competent part of each Term, before they are admitted to
a degree.”

There remains a poem, published in Dublin in 1731, which
gives a very graphic account of a College Examination in
Provost Baldwin’s time, and which continued to be true in all
its essential traits until late in the present century. The bell
tolled at 7 a.m., and again at 8 A.M. Some verses of this very
scarce pamphlet are worth reprinting, and many a Graduate
now living will feel how true they are to life.*

In addition to these Lectures and Examinations, we find in
one of the Senior Lecturer’s books of the period (1743) the
following rules laid down for Declamations :—

¢“Two Bachelors and two Undergraduates to declaim every Saturday
morning after Morning Lecture; and for Disputations, two Bachelors to
dispute every Tuesday; and all the Undergraduates are divided into two
parts. The Senior and Junior Sophisters make one of these parts, and the
Senior Freshmen alone the other. One set, consisting of five out of each of
these parts, to dispute on Monday, Wednesday, and Friday, which makes
the number of those among the Undergraduates who dispute in a week,

* ¢ Again at Eight they hear the boding sound
Din dreadful in their ears ; from every dome
In wild amaze, confused the scholars haste,
Jostling along, and with a mmgl’d noise,
Crowd to the Hall .

Behold the Senior Lect’rer now appears 5
Quick all are seated ; and the spacious Hall,
‘Where many a mingl’d voice hum’d indistinct,
Falls into silence. Gently down each Form
The stern Roll-gerent walks, and in his hand
His faithful nomenclator dreadful waves.
Now, one by one, some solemn Fellows come
With gravity affected. Arm in arm

Some walk less serious, chatting up the Hall.
‘While in the midst the Senior Lect’rer stands,
Divides his Rolls, and gives to each a part.
They talk facetious, or in circling jests
Inhuman laugh ; Ah little they regard i
‘What ceaseless panics throb in Freshmen's hearts !
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thirty. The Junior Freshmen are excused Disputations on account of their
inability to dispute syllogistically ; but this is made up to them by disput-
ing so much oftener while they continue Senior Freshmen.’

There is no record of any stated course for the examination
for Entrance into the College. It would appear that the ex-
amination was conducted by the Tutor in the first instance,
and afterwards by the Senior Lecturer. We have fortunately
a very interesting account of the entrance of a Student into
Trinity College, given in a letter from the celebrated Edmund
Burke to his schoofellow, Richard Shackleton, in April, 1744,
on his arrival in Dublin from Ballitore School® :—

¢ I was sent immediately after breakfast next morning to Dr. Pellesier,
Fellow of Trinity College, near Dublin, a gentleman accounted one of the
most learned in the University, an exceedingly good-humoured, cleanly,
civil fellow (N.B. I judge by outward appearances). We were admitted
into his rooms ; and he has three grand ones. ... At last he brought out
Francis’ Horace, Dauphine’s Virgil and Homer, with'I don’t know whose
notes. He made me construe ¢Scriberis Vario,” &ec., ¢ Eheu fugaces Post-
hume,’ &c. ; and in Virgil I began the 103rd line of the sixth Zneid, and
in Homer with the 227th line of the third Iliad, and the 406th of the sixth ;
and he was pleased to say (what I would not say after him unless to a
particular friend) that I was a good scholar, understood the authors very

Lo! Baldwin comes, how dreadfully serene!
How grand his looks! while at his itching cheek
His nimble finger, faithful to its trust,

Incessant labours.- As he walks along,

The scholars moving thick on either hand,
Respectful rise. He passes stately on,

‘While awful majesty around him shines.

Now on the upper aisle the Fellows stand ;
‘With heads uncovered, and submissive bow,
They own their monarch. Hence they all disperse,
And down each crowded form, in order ranged,
Begin th’ important business of the day.

In these while posing Fellows are employ’d,

The awful Provost saunters o’er the Hall.

Attentive here and there he list’ning stands

Andtumsxmportantears . e e . B
* Leadbeater Papers, vol. ii. p. 73.
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well, and seemed to take pleasure in them (yet, by-the-bye, I don’t know
how he could tell that), and that I was more fit for the College than three
parte of my class; but he told me that I must be examined again by the
Senior Lecturer. He was sent for, but was not at home; therefore Dr.
Pellesier told me I must have the trouble of calling again. He was going
out, and introduced me, according to custom, I believe, to the Provost, who
was an old sickly-looking man. To be short, I was examined very strictly
by Mr. Obbins, the Senior Lecturer, in the Odes, Sermons, and Epistles of
Horace, and am admitted. . . . Tell Master Peare, for his comfort, that I
was examined in 4s in Present:.”

These examinations for admission appear to have been at
no fixed times, and in no settled course of classical authors.
The first occasion upon which public Entrance Examinations
were arranged to be held on fixed days and in specified authors,
was not until the year 1759, after Provost Baldwin’s death.
It was then announced that four public Entrance Examinations
should be held in future on July 8, November 1, February 1,
and on the second Monday after Easter Day. And it was
further notified that Students entering on the last days were
expected to be prepared in the whole of the ZFneid, and in
fourteen Books of the Il/ad. It was added, that at the
Sizarship Examination the entire of the Iliad and of the ZEneid
would be required. It would appear from the Entrance-book
that the first general competitive examination for Sizarships
was held in June, 1710. Up to the year 1709, Sizars were
admitted singly at several periods of the year without com-
petition. No distinction between the candidates who passed
the Examination for the Degree of Bachelor of Arts appears to
have been made until the year 1751, when we find the name
*¢ Moderators ” first applied to the most distinguished answerers.
At the Michaelmas Examination of that year nine of the
Students were honoured by this name. They all obtained
Valde Benes with one Bene at most. One of them, Mr. Cooper,
was awarded Optime as a judgment.*

* This judgment was awarded by the Examiners in the middle of the last cen-
tury more frequently than is commonly supposed.
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In 1759 there was a great advance made in the exten-
sion of the list of classical authors which were read by the
Undergraduates. The following works were then omitted from
the list :—Dugard’s Dialogues of Lucian; Hero and Leander,
with some of the Idyls of Theocritus; Epictetus Enchiridion,
with the Tabula of Cebes; Velleius’ Paterculus; Justin’s His-
tory; and Suetonius’ Lives of the Csesars. The first six books
of the Aneid and the first eight books of the Iliad were
supposed to have been studied at school, and they were not
repeated in the Undergraduate course. In order to make room
for Twelve of Plutarch’s Lives, it was necessary to omit alto-
gether Homer’s Odyssey; but there were added, along with
portions of Plutarch, Xenophon’s Anabasis and Memorabilia,
Euripides’ Hippolytus and Iphigenia in Aulis, a larger number
of the Philippics of Demosthenes, and five select Orations of
Cicero.

It will be noticed that this list does not include the great
Greek historians; but we shall see that the studies of the
Scholars, at least in Greek, were eontinued for three years after
they were admitted to the degree of Bachelor of Arts.

In the same year, 1759, the College for the first time
brought its influence to bear upon the education of boys in the
Irish schools. The Dublin schoolmasters had addressed a letter
to the Provost and Senior Fellows, in which they asked for a
list of authors which were proper to be read at school ; and the
Senior Lecturer, Dr. Wilder, was directed to prepare such a
course and submit it to the Board. The list, which was
ultimately adopted and forwarded to the schoolmasters, was
as follows:—

¢In Latin.—Castalio’s Dialogues, select Colloguies of Erasmus, Cor-
nelius Nepos, first twelve Books of Justin’s History, the Fables of Phedrus,
Ceesar’s Gallic War, select portions of Ovid’s Metdmorphoses, Sallust, Virgil,
(Eclogues, and first six Books of the Aneid), Cicero’s Orations against Cata-
line, Terence, Horace, and Juvenal.

“In Greek.—St. Luke’s Gospel, first four Books of Xenophon’s Cyro-
pedia, first eight Books of the Iliad of Homer, first Book of Hesiod, select

Idyls of Theocritus, Bion, and Moschus, Muswus, the Golden Verses, and
Dugard’s Lucian.”
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In the letter which the Senior Lecturer was directed to
reply to the application of the schoolmasters we find the
following interesting recommendations of the Provost and
Senior Fellows with regard to the education of boys in clas-
sical schools :—

¢ In reading these books they recommend to you that you forbid your
scholars the use of literal translations.

¢ That you instruct your scholars early in quantity, and exercise them
continually in Rhetorick, and in the Composition of Latin Verse; that you
oblige your scholars constantly to translate from English into Latin, and
from Latin into English, to write Themes, and to make use of the double
translation as recommended by Ascham.

¢ That particular care be taken that they may be well instructed in the
Mythology and fabulous History of the Ancients, in the Greek and Roman
History and Antiquities.

¢ That Globes and Maps, such as those by Cellarius, be used in every
school. It has been found of singular advantage to oblige the young gen-
tlemen themselves to draw maps, and to trace out the boundaries of Countries
and Provinces, and that you instruct them in the composition and proper
pronunciation of English.

¢ There is another article the care of which does not indeed so properly
belong to you, but it is of great consequence, and yet much neglected ; it is
probable that your recommending it to the young gentlemen themselves and
to their parents will gain it the attention which the importance of it de-
serves. It is that every young gentleman be completely instructed in the
Common Rules of Arithmetic before he shall think of entering the College ;
and they recommend to you to exercise your scholars in those Rules by
Examples taken from the coins, weights, and measures of the Ancients.”

The examination of candidates for Scholarships was con-
ducted by the Provost and Senior Fellows, for two days, in the
classical authors. Edmund Burke writes* to his schoolfellow,
Shakleton, an account of his experience of this examination, on
June 1, 1746 :—

¢ The advantages of a Scholarship are Commons for nothing, fifty shil-
lings a-year in the cellar,t a vote for M.P., the ground-rent of our chamber,

¢ Leadbeater Papers, vol. ii. p. 79.
1 In 1746 the salary of an ordinary scholar was £2 10s. per annum; and of each
of the thirty ¢ Native scholars > £15. A scholar’s'allowance in ‘the kitchen was
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our decrements, between three and four pounds a-year, forgiven, and when
we take our degrees we have a good chance of £15 per annum more.

““We were examined for two days in all the Roman and Greek aunthors
of note. Dr. Foster, who examined me in Cataline’s Speech in Sallust,
seemed very well pleased at my answering, and asked me from whose school
I came (a question I did not hear asked besides), and I told him.”

TaE STUDIES OF BACHELORS OF ARTS.

The original intention of the founders of the University
was that the Students should continue under a course of instruc-
tion for seven years, during four of which they were Un-
dergraduates, and three Bachelors of Arts. While this full
course of studies was intended to apply to all students, it was
generally the Scholars only who continued to reside after they
took the first degree. They were all obliged to attend the
lectures of the Professor of Divinity, and certain of the courses
of the other Professors. Candidates for Fellowship would
be likely to study the mathematical works of Newton and
Maclaurin, and conic sections treated geometrically, with the
Donegal Lecturer, before 1762, and after that year either with
him or with Erasmus Smith’s Professor of Mathematics. The
Professor of Greek had a large class of Graduates, who read with
him the more difficult and advanced Greek eclassical authors.
The Professor of Oratory was obliged by the conditions attached
to the tenure of his office to deliver annually four public pre-
lections, and in addition to these he explained to his class,
and questioned the students in, the works of certain specified
authors, both ancient and modern, which treated of the subject
of his course. The members of his class were also instructed
in the practical application of the principles laid down in his
lectures by his exercising them in English Composition.*

1s. 114d. per week, and in the buttery 1s. 24d. per week. The kitchen allowance of
a scholar was fixed, in 1676, at £3 11s. 64., and was raised, in 1722, to £5 15s. 11d.
per annum,

® See the letter to the Governors of Erasmus Smith’s schools, prefixed to Dr.
Lawson’s published Lectures on Oratory.
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The Professorship of Natural Philosophy was founded and
endowed by Act of Parliament in 1724, out of the rents of
lands given for charitable purposes by Erasmus Smith, at the
same time and under the same regulations as the Professor-
ship of Oratory and History. Dr. Helsham held the Professor-
ship of Natural Philosophy for fourteen years; and the lectures
which he delivered, and which were published after his death,
have been always considered to be a work most creditable to
the College. A. selection from these lectures was afterwards
prepared as a text-book for the use of the students, and it
continued to hold its place in the Undergraduate course for
nearly a century. The two Professorships founded in 1724
were by the terms of the Act of Parliament open to all members
of the College, and, in conformity with this Act, they were
(and still continue to be) filled up, as the result of a publie
competitive examination of the candidates.

In 1762, through the influence of Provost Andrews with
the Board of Governors of Erasmus Smith’s estates, three ad-
ditional Professorships were founded in the departments of
Mathematics, of Modern History (then separated from the Chair
of Oratory), and of Oriental languages. These Professorships
are confined to Fellows of Trinity College, who are elected
by the Governors on the recommendation of the Provost and
Senior Fellows.

For a long period after the foundation of these Professor-
ships they continued to be held by Senior Kellows, who also
were annually elected to the Professorships of Greek and of
Civil Law, and to the Divinity Lectureship founded by Arch-
bishop King. We cannot exactly ascertain in what year the
Senior Fellows ceased to take pupils, but we may assume that
it was in the middle of the eighteenth century, when the value
of the College lands had increased, and the renewal-fines, which
were divided among the members of the governing body of the
College, enabled them to leave the office of College Tutor to the
Junior Fellows, the Seniors devoting themselves to the instruc-
tion of the Divinity Students and the Graduate Scholars of the
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College. These latter were stimulated to a diligent attendance
at the Professorial Lectures by the custom which prevailed in
the College of electing to vacancies in “ Natives’ Places”’ those
of the Graduate Scholars who were most regular in discharg-
ing this part of their duties.*

There is ample evidence that those of the scholars who were
able and promising were greatly benefited by the private advice
and directions of their College Tutors. Thus, for example,
Bishop Berkeley, in his Introduction to his Arithmetica, at-
tributes the zeal with which he pursued his mathematical
researches to the suggestions of his College Tutor, Dr. John
Hall, who was Vice-Provost during Berkeley’s residence as a
Student.

Tue FeLLows.

The number of the Junior Fellows fixed in the Charter of
Charles I. was nine ; one was added to this number by a Royal
Letter of William IIIL. in 1698, on the foundation of Dr. Rich-
ardson, Bishop of Ardagh. Three additional Fellowships were
founded in 1723 by Act of Parliament (10 George I.) out of
the rents of the lands given by Erasmus Smith for charitable
purposes, and two new Fellowships were founded by the Letters
Patent of 1 George III. (1761) out of the increased revenues of
the College. In 1676 the annual salary of a Junior Fellow
was £10; this was raised in 1722 to £15, and in 1758 the
statutable salaries of the Senior and Junior Fellows were fixed
at their present amount, £100 and £40, late Irish currency, re-
spectively. The annual allowance of each Fellow in the kitchen
was, in 1676, £8 15s. 6d., and this was raised, in 1722, to
£11 7s. 11d. The annual salaries of the offices which Junior
Fellows held were fixed, in 1722, at £20 for each of the four
morning Lecturers, and £20 for each of the four assistant
Greek Lecturers. Thus the total income of £60 was attached

* See Duigenan’s Lackryme Academice, pp. 134, 135, and Dr. Fitzgerald’s
evidence before the Committee of the House of Commons, Case of Trinity College,
pp. 88 and 92.

P
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to a Junior Fellowship. To this was to be added the fees paid
by their pupils, which were fixed by the Statutes of Charles I.
at £4 annually for each Fellow-Commoner, £2 for each Pen-
sioner, and £1 for each Scholar. These fees remained unaltered
until 1800.

In the first half of the eighteenth century the Senmior
Fellows were College Tutors, and as they were longer in the
College, and better known to the public, it is most likely that
they had the larger part of the Students as their pupils. Conse-
quently the income of a Junior Fellow during the ten or twelve
years of his tenure of the position must have been but small;
and at the same time his duties were laborious, and during
Term wearisome. For several of these, such as examining in
the Hall, reading prayers in the Chapel, and preaching Com-
monplaces in his turn, there was no remuneration. The scanty
income of the Junior Fellows in Berkeley’s time will explain
the readiness with which three of them consented to join him
in undertaking Collegiate work in a new world for the salary
of £40 a-year. Berkeley himself, while a Junior Fellow, with
a salary of £15 a-year, held for one year a small lectureship in
the College, and for two of the remaining years of his residence
as a Junior Fellow the laborious and, at that time, badly paid
office of Junior Dean. Professor Fraser states that George
Berkeley had in all but five pupils only, of whom two were
Fellow Commoners.

The income of a Senior Fellow depended upon the number
of his pupils. In 1725 Primate Boulter estimated that of Dr.
Delany, who from his ability and large acquaintance in society,
had from his Fellowship and pupils £600 or £700 a-year. In
1730 Swift estimated Delany’s income at over £900. In 1777,
after the Senior Fellows ceased to take pupils, Duigenan con-
sidered the average income of a Senior Fellow at £800. The
Provost and Senior Fellows at that time divided among them-
selves the profits in the kitchen and cellar, chamber rent, and
entrance fees, all of which have for nearly a century been paid
into the general funds of the College.



CHAPTER XI.

PROVOST ANDREWS AND HIS CONTEMPORARIES.

ON the death of Provost Baldwin, in 1758, Francis Andrews,
LL.D., one of the Senior Fellows, and a layman, was appointed
to succeed him in the office. According to the Caroline Statutes
the Provost should be in Holy Orders, and a Bachelor in
Divinity at least ; and this rule had been adhered to for more
than a century ; but the King had the power of dispensing
with any of the Statutes ; and in the Letters Patent appointing
Dr. Andrews this dispensation is recited. Andrews had been
a native of Derry, and he entered College in 1732, in the
fifteenth year of his age. His name does not appear among
the Scholars, and we have no record of his Collegiate distine-
tions. * He graduated B.A. in 1737, and three years afterwards
he was elected a Fellow. There was no vacancy in 1739, and
in 1738 Francis Sullivan was elected.* Sullivan was a very able
man, whose treatise on Feudal and English Law and the Con-
stitution of England was considered in its time to be a work of
great merit. It cannot be ascertained whether Andrews was a
candidate on this occasion. He does not appear to have been
much engaged in Collegiate work after his election. Andrews
had but few pupils; and he appears to have been a College
lecturer for two years only. After thirteen years he was co-
opted a Senior Fellow, and during the five years in which he
had a seat at the Board he was not engaged in any of the im-
portant work of the College. One year he was Registrar ; but

* Sullivan was elected a Fellow at the age of nineteen ; and in 1740 he ten-
dered his vote at a Parliamentary election, but it was set aside by a Committee of
the House of Commons, as he was a minor.

P2
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he generally held the office of Senior Proctor. Andrews had,
indeed, soon after his election, adopted the Bar as a profession
(having obtained a Royal letter dispensing with his taking
Holy Orders) ; and his tastes seemed to have been more turned
to the pursuits of law and polities than to the routine of aca-
demic labour.

‘When Dr. Andrews was made Provost three of the Senior
Fellows were laymen, and the only two clergymen of note
among the others were Dr. Lawson, who must have been in
failing health, for he died in the following January, and Dr.
Disney, afterwards Regius Professor of Divinity.

Dr. Andrews entered the Irish House of Commons as
member for the borough of Midleton in 1759, after he was
appointed to the Provostship; and he afterwards represented
his native city of Derry until his death. Our principal source
of information with respect to him is Hardy’s Life of Charle-
mont. Hardy, who was personally acquainted with Provost
Andrews, informs us that he soon became a leading member of
the House ; that he spoke often, and with admitted ability ;
and that he was a courtier, and popular not only with statesmen,
but with the gay and fashionable men of the day. ¢ Such was
the versatility of his talents that we are told* that when in
Italy he no less charmed and almost astonished the learned
Professors of Padua by his classical attainments, and the un-
common quickness, purity, and ease with which he addressed
and replied to them in the Latin language, than he captivated
our young men of rank, then resident at Rome, by his lively
and accommodating wit, and his agreeable, useful, and mis-
cellaneous knowledge. Yet his manners were not refined ; but
they were frank and open, accompanied with so much good
humour, good nature, and real benevolence, that he had few, if
any, personal enemies.”” We learn also, on the authority of
Hardy, that Dr. Andrews was fond of and indulged in the
pleasures of the table, and that he was very popular in general

¢ ¢ From the information of the late Duke of Leinster and many gentlemen
who lived much with him at Rome."’
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society. His intimate companions called him, familiarly,
“Frank with many friends.” He was particularly intimate
with Mr. Rigby,* the Irish Secretary of the day, a man
whose tastes and habits were very similar to those of Andrews.
Hardy tells us that Rigby ¢ wept like a child at the intelligence
of his death.” He informs us that Dr. Andrews expressed
to an intimate friend his regret that he had relinquished the
Bar for the Provostship; and that a year or two before he
died he expressed the opinion that his academical engagements
were totally incompatible with political pursuits.

Dr. Duigenan, who was a Junior Fellow for thirteen years
during Andrews’ Provostship, statest that although Dr. An-
drews ‘ was what his enemies called a bon-vivant, and was
sometimes too unguarded in his private life for a Provost, yet
malice never laid anything else to his charge,” and that * his
behaviour in the College was decent and regular, and as a man
of integrity and honour his character was unexceptionable;”
and also, “that though naturally of a warm temper, he took
care never to let his warmth hurry him into indecency, much
less outrage. He governed the College for sixteen years with
great reputation.”

There is no doubt that the meetings of the Provost and
Senior Fellows in his time were characterized by an amount of
harmony and good feeling which were wanting during the
times of his predecessor and of his successor in the office. There
were then no traces of division between the Senior Fellows;
none of them were marked as being members of *“ the Provost’s
party,” whose votes he could always count upon at meetings of
the Board.

When Provost Baldwin died it was found that the rental of
the Provost’s estates in Meath and Glalway was much less than
Dr. Andrews had been led to expect. Oninquiry he ascertained

* (¢ A gay, jovial, not over-scrupulous placeman,” the secretary and favourite
of the Duke of Bedford.—See Earl Stanhope’s History of England. His bust was
placed by Dr. Andrews in the Provost’s House, and remains there.

1 Lachryme Academice, page 54. 1 Page 12.
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that Baldwin had taken large fines, and had made leases of
these lands at rents considerably under those which the law per-
mitted (half of the actual letting value one year with another) ;
whereupon he proceeded to break these leases and to eviet
the immediate tenants. Baldwin had left all his property to
the College, and the Corporate Body paid the costs of these
proceedings, which amounted to £1215. One of the tenants
8o evicted proceeded against the executors of Dr. Baldwin for
damages, and recovered £4500, with £72 for costs. On the
whole the College lost £5787, which had to be taken from the
Baldwin bequests, and in order to pay this they were obliged
to call in a mortgage bearing interest at five per cent.

Provost Andrews, on receiving possession of the lands, pro-
ceeded to make leases of the Galway and Meath property in
trust for himself at rents greatly under the legal value; so
much so, that while the rents reserved on the Galway estates
came to about £400, the beneficial interests of his trustees was
about £800. This he did under legal advice, firmly believ-
ing that he had full power to do so; and it is to be noticed
that the original lease and the annual renewals had always the
approval of the Board, and they had the College seal attached
to them, which was both unusual and unnecessary in the case
of Provost’s lands.

// In his will Dr. Andrews devised his leasehold interests, so

acquired in Glalway and Meath, to Robert and George Gamble,
sons of his mother’s adopted daughter, subject to his mother’s
life interest, and to certain annuities. He also bequeathed his
own estates in Antrim to trustees for the life use of his mother,
with remainder to her heirs; and after her death they were
directed to raise a sum of £3000 on these estates for the pur-
pose of erecting and furnishing an astronomical observatory
for Trinity College, and he charged the Antrim estates with an
annual payment of £250, in perpetuity, for the salaries of a
Professor of Astronomy and an Observer. It was stated by his
intimate friends in College that he had long cherished this
project, and that inasmuch as he had no relations except his
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mother, he placed this, which he considered always to be a __——
great want in the College, first in his desires. / His successor,
Dr. Hutchinson, was advised that this leasing of the Provost’s
lands was illegal, and instituted suits in Equity to oust the
Gambles from their interests in these trust leases. He was
unsuoccessful, and his appeal to the English House of Lords*
was dismissed. He then proceeded at law against the trustees
of Andrews to break their leases of the Galway property, and
to recover the lands; and he obtained the verdict of a jury
in his favour. The Gambles were put to a cost of £2000
by these proceedings. A compromise was effected by which
Hutchinson remitted to the executors of Dr. Andrews the
entire surplus rents for the first three years, along with £600
of the rents then payable, amounting in all to £3000, defraying
also out of his private resources £1000 in costs. The College
also remitted to the representatives of Provost Andrews a legal
demand which they had against him for £585.

These proceedings delayed the building of the Observatory
and the appointment of a Professor. It was stated to the Com-
mons’ committee (1780) that Provost Andrews had always in-
tended Dr. Ussher for this post, and had furnished him with funds
to prepare himself for the practical work of an Observatory.

During the Provostship of Dr. Andrews, as we have seen in
Chapter X., the front of the College and the greater portion of
Parliament Square was erected ; the Provost’s House was huilt,+
and the Dining Hall, as it exists at present, was completed.
The internal decorations of the Provost’s House indicate con-
siderable elegance of taste on the part of Dr. Andrews, under
whose superintendance they were carried out.

It is not stated what political influence led to Dr. Andrews
appointment as Provost ; but he must have had powerful friends
in London to forward his interests. The Duke of Bedford was
sent to Ireland as Lord Lieutenant on September 25, 1757,

# Sce 2 Brown's Parliamentary Cases, page 518.
+ Dr. Duigenan in his Lackryme Academice, p. 262, states that the erection of
the Provost’s House cost £11,000.
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and on the 10th of October he was presented by the College,
according to the usual custom, with the Grace of the House for
the Honorary Degree of LL.D., and an illuminated testimo-
nium in a gold box, which cost thirty guineas. He was
immediately afterwards entertained at dinner by the College
in the accustomed manner. It may be assumed that Provost
Baldwin’s extreme age and infirmity prevented him from
taking an active part at this festivity, and Dr. Andrews may
have been brought specially under the Duke’s notice. We
cannot say whether his intimacy with Mr. Rigby commenced
at the same time. 'We know that in July in the following year
leave was given to Dr. Andrews to go to England for three
months. On the 30th of September, 1758, Provost Baldwin
died ; and on the 18th of October, at a meeting of the Board,
the Vice-Provost read a letter from Dr. Andrews, who was then
in London, acquainting him that on the 11th of October he
had been appointed to the Provostship by the King. And on
January 22, 1759, we find the Board passing a Grace for the
Degree of D.D. to the Rev. Maurice Gough, Rector of Wrat-
ness, in Essex, “ at the application of the Right Hon. Richard
Rigby, Esq., principal secretary to the Lord Lieutenant.”

Early in January, 1758, a memorial was sent from the
College to the Duke of Bedford, asking that the salaries of the
Provost and Fellows should be increased in consequence of the
increased revenues of the College (the value of money had also
altered from the time when they had been settled in 1721);
and on the 7th of February a King’s letter was received au-
thorizing this increase* of the statutable salaries of the Fellows
and Scholars to the present amount.

On the death of Frederick Prince of Wales, in 1751, the
office of Chancellor of the University, which he had held for
more than twenty-two years, became vacant. His brother, the
Duke of Cumberland, was elected in his room, and he died on
October 381, 1765. The Duke of Bedford had ceased to be

* For the alterations of the statutable salarics at different times, see Table at
the end of the chapter.
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Lord Lieutenant in 1761; but he had become a warm friend
of Provost Andrews, and he was naturally selected by the
Provost and Senior Fellows to succeed to the office of Chan-
cellor. He was elected on the 11th of November, 1765, and
the Provost and Dr. Mercier, one of the Senior Fellows, pro-
ceeded to London to have the new Chancellor sworn into his
~office.* The Duke came over to Ireland three years afterwards
to be installed; and as it was the first instance of a public
ceremonial of the kind, the following complete account of the
proceedings was set forth in full in the College Register by
Dr. Theaker Wilder, who was also Senior Proctor on the
occasion :—

¢ Friday, Sept. 9.—This day his Grace John Duke of Bedford was
installed Chancellor of our University.

¢ The Hall had been previously prepared by erecting a platform at the
upper end, and a gallery for the musicians at the lower end. The platform
was erected 2 feet 6 inches from the floor and railed in. At the back in the
middle under a canopy of green damask and upon a semicircular step, raised
six inches above the level of the platform, was placed a chair for the Chan-
cellor, on the right-hand a chair for the Vice-Chancellor, and on the left
another for the Provost. From these chairs on each side along the back
and sides down to the rails were raised seats and forms, and on the right
side, advanced before those seats, were placed two chairs of state for the
Lord Lieutenant and his Lady. Over the door of the Hall, and eight feet
above the floor, was erected the gallery for the musicians, and along the
sides of the Hall, between the platform and gallery, were seats raised and
forms placed, leaving a passage in the midst seven feet wide. On the right
side, next to the platform, part of the seats were enclosed as a box for the
reception of such ladies of quality whom the Chancellor should invite, The
platform with its steps, the gallery and the seats, were covered with green
broadeloth. The passage through the midst of the Hall was covered with
carpeting, and the semicircular step under his Grace’s chair ornamented
with a rich carpet.

““ When the Lord Lieutenant and his Lady, the Nobility, the Lord
Mayor and Sheriffs of the city, the ladies of quality and fashion, and all
who walked not in the procession, had taken their seats in the Hall, the

* Their expenses were 180 guineas, which were paid by the Bursar, and also
the cost of an ‘“ express to the Duke of Bedford,’” amounting to £28 8s. 94., which
had been defrayed by the Provost.
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procession moved solemnly from the Regent House, the chamber over the
gateway, to the Hall in the following order, according to juniority:—
Undergraduates, Bachelors of Arts, candidates for Degrees, Masters of Arts,
Bachelors in Musie, in Law, in Physie, in Divinity, Doctors in Musie, in
Law, in Physie, in Divinity, Senior Fellows, Noble Students, Vice-Provost,
Beadle with his Mace, Proctors, Chancellor between the Vice-Chancellor on
his right, and the Provost on hisleft, Archbishops, Dukes, Earls, Viscounts,
Bishops, Barons, &c. &eo.

‘“Every gentleman who walked in the procession was habited in the
robes of his Order and Degree. The Undergraduates and Bachelors of Arts
stopped at the Hall-door, opened to right and left, and after the Nobility
entered the Hall according to semiority. The candidates for Degrees,
Masters in Arts, and Bachelors in Musie, Law, Physic, and Divinity,
stopped at the steps of the platform. The Doctors, &ec., ascended the plat-
form by four steps. During this pr ion the musicians played a solemn
March composed on the occasion by the Earl of Mornington, Professor of
Music.

¢‘ The musio having ceased, the Registrar read the Act of the College
constituting his Grace their Chancellor. Upon which the Vice-Chancellor
and the Provost, assisted by the Seniors, led his Grace to the canopy and
installed him. And the Vice-Chancellor having taken his place on the
right, when the Mace and the University Rules were laid at his feet, the
Provost, assisted by the Seniors, delivered into his Grace’s hand a printed
copy of the College Statutes elegantly bound, promising for himself and the
University all due and statutable obedience. His Grace then arising re-
turned them thanks for the honour they had done him in electing him their
Chancellor, expressing that it was more pleasing to him, as this mark of the
confidence of a Body so distinguished by their learning, virtue, and loyalty,
gave him reason to hope that his conduct during his administration was not
disagreeable to the people of Ireland in general, whose prosperity and wel-
fare, and particularly the honour and privileges of the University, he would
seek every occasion to advance, &e.

‘ The Provost having taken his place on the left, and the Seniors having
retired to their seats, after a short pause the Provost arose and addressed
the Chancellor and University in a most elegant Latin oration, in the close
of which he addressed himself particularly to the Professor of Music, who
thereupon gave the signal to the musicians, and gave copies of the Ode to
the Lord Lieutenant and the Chancellor. The Ode was written on the
occasion by Mr. Richard Archdale, an Undergraduate, and was set to music
by the Professor, the Earl of Mornington.

¢ After the conferring of the Degrees by the Chancellor, the Commence-
ment was closed, and the musicians played the March, as before, and the
Procession, as before, attended his Grace to the Provost’s House:
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“ His Graoce, with the Nobility, Fellows, Professors, &o., dined in the
Eating Hall. There were two chairs placed at the head of the table; the
Lord Lieutenant sat on the right hand.

¢ Sunday, Sept. 11.—His Grace the Chancellor was sung into Chapel by
the Choir. He sat in the Provost’s stall, the Provost in the Vice-Provost’s ;
the Vice-Provost, Nobility, and Professors, were seated in the adjoining
seats. Two Senior Fellows read the Lessons, the Deans the Communion
Service. The Professor of Divinity preached from Proverbs, chap. xv.,
verse 14, There were two Anthems. The Te Deum and the Jubtlate were
composed by the Earl of Mornington.

¢ On Tuesday, Sept. 13, the Chancellor, attended by the Provost, Fel-
lows, and Professors, visited the Elaboratory, Anatomy School, Wax-
works, &c. In the Natural Philosophy School his Grace was addressed
by Mr. Crosbie, a Nobilis, son of Lord Brandon, in English verse. . .. As
his Grace was quitting the Library the Professor of Oratory addressed him
in an English farewell speech, which his Grace was pleased to answer with
great politeness.”

Hardy,* who was present on the occasion, states that
“ Provost Andrews made a speech which was much admired,
especially that part of it where he alluded with a gracious and
affecting tenderness to the death of the Marquis of Tavistock,
in the preceding year, by a